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wilful suppression of the details of the rebellious proceedings
and a hittle inflation of the figures of the rebel forces to show
the enormuty of the danger they confronted, but the account
of Indian rebelhion furmshed by the Brntsh themselves has at
least this saving feature that 1t automatically rules out the
charge of biased sources The mutiny agan 1s the subject of
nnumerable books and 1t cannot be pretended that the
author has gone through the legion ‘Histories’ of the great
revolt Sufficient notice has been taken only of those works
which directly or mndirectly touch upon the subject and have
sought to attam mmpartiality of judgement The valuable
works by Kaye and Malleson, ‘a sort of literary duet,
are the achnowledged authomties on the subject of the
Indian muumes The contemporary newspapers of both
Indin and England have also been copiously quoted to
throw hght on the piquancy of situatons as they developed
and to depiwct the trend of thought of the two peoples
engaged 1n this mortal conflict Rice Holmes 1n his hustory of
the Indian Mutiny mdicated the importance of this source
matenal The contemporanes whether journalists or officers
who watched day after day the throbbings of the vast con
timent 10 1ts convulsions could possibly conceive with a consider-
able degrec of thoroughness the extent, character and vanety
of this great revolt But the opposite view 13 equally plausible
that for those who were hiving 1n the mudst of those scenes 1t
was not mmprobable that they would fail to realisc mn 1ts
fullest measure the interest and ymportance that postenty
would attach to them

The authonties used are indicated 1n the footnotes with consi-
derable fullness and a st of them n the alphabetical order
has been appended The spelling of place names like Cavwnpore
and Benares has been retained advisedly as mutiny at ‘hanpur’
musses much of the flavour of the subject It has been deemed
destrable to place the grouping of chapters on a regionnl basis
as such a treatment has the eflect of drawing attention to the
charactenstic features of the rebellion, province by province
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FOREWORD

Dr.Sasibhusan Chaudhuri of the Presidency College, Calcutta,
and by now well-known as the author of Civil Disturbances
during the British Rule in India, has followed up his researches
by another book which goes out into the world under the
name of Civil Rebellion in the Indian Mutinies. That our national
celebration of the Centenary of the revolt of 1857 would call
forth a spate of publications on the subject, popular and
scholarly, was only to be expected. But what seems to be the
chief characteristic of Dr. Chaudhuri’s book is the academic
detachment that he brings to bear on the mass of documented
facts he has collected and presented to enlighten the readers
on an otherwisc neglected aspect of the revolt of 1857.

Now that we have had the fortune of freedom for the last
ten years we cannot afford to forget the inspiration which the
lives of those who struggled, suffered and fell for the achieve-
ment of freedom offer us. The death of Emperor Aurangzcb in
1707 hastened the disintegration of the Moghul empire. The
Rajputs, the Sikhs and later the Mahrattas resisted the Moghul
rule. In many parts the people could not bear cither their
vices or the remedies for them. Several European Powers came
in for purposes of trade and after the battle of Plassey in 1757
the British established themselves as the Paramount Power in
the country.

There was a general belief among many Indians that the
Company’s rule would come to an end, as it did, one hundred
years after the battic of Plassey in 1757. The two years 1857-
1859 were characterised by chaos, terror and violence. The
Sepoys fought grimly and gatlantly with incredible courage
believing that the stars in their courses were fighting with them,
Thousands, dared everything and sacrificed everything. The
magnificent feats of heroism and valour of the Rani of Jhansi,
Queen Hazrat Mahal, Nana Sahib, Tantia Tope, Bahadur
Shah and his queen Zinat Mahal, Kunwar Singh and many
others do honour to human nature and its love for freedom.
Their deeds are celebrated in song and story. The uprising was
a great political event which left 2 deep mark on the minds and
hearts of the Indian people. It became an important part of
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our movement for national hiberation The resistance was,
however, broken though the rulers lost confidence and nerve
and reahised how near to the surface the peril to their rule was
and what unsuspected powers of self defence Indinn society
had It may be true to say that the year 1857 marked the
begmmng of a new era which ended 1n the transfer of power
m 1947

If the rcsistance was suppressed, 1t was not only because of
the superior technical power and discipline of the Bntish, 1t
was also because of the defective and diided leadership, of
personal jealousies and intngues on the Indian side Communal
differences were not pronounced As a matter of fact the Id
festival fell that year on the first of August and the Emperor
Bahadur Shah ordered that no cows were to be lilled within
the city during the fesival He himself set an example to lns
subjects by sacrificing sheep The revolt did not take a com
munal character but princes, lnndlords and sepoys fought on
both sides

Not beng a student of history I am not competent to
Judge the ments or demerits of Dr Chaudhun’s book But I
have felt impressed by the attention he devotes to the various
forces and factors of discontent that lay outside of the orbit of
immediate caunses of the so called Sepoy war To thus aspect of
the problem some attention was necessary Dr Chaudhun’s
two books provide the answer His conclusion that the move-
ment expressed a profound desire for freedom on the part of
the people of Indra and that it was not merely a feudal move
ment but had within 1t the germs of progress, seems to be
fully sustainable

The one feson winch gar past hestory grves us o5 thy, that
the country has not been conquered from without, 1t has
often been defeated from withun Religious differences, regional
differences, social differences, cconomic differences, have often
stood m the way of our umty When we were umted and
strong, we went out to the Far East, South-East Asia and West
Asa to spread the message of truth and love We hid the
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vigour and the dynamism, keen intelligence and deep humanity
to inspire the art and lterature of many other countries.
Borobudur and Angkor Wat are standing witnesses to the
spirit of India, A blight fell on us and all sorts of taboos were
imposed and we became small in mind and narrow in outlook;
subjected women to inferiority and millions of men to social
degradation.

Freedom is not fulfilment. The country is not to be an old
curiosity shop of ancient monuments; nor can dams, hydro-
electric projects and tractors, essential as they are for feeding
our millions, make a people great. Governments come and go
and nations change and lose their faces. We are now living in
the midst of exciting transformation. Internaily we effected
the integration of the States which had a population of 80
millions who were governed by the Princes, introduced land
reforms and are striving to raise the standards of the peaple.
We are trying to tackle the problem of poverty with limited
resources and through democratic processes. We have suc-
ceeded to some extent. Many of our critics did not feel that we
would travel so far and so fast though we have yet a long way
to go. We should not become rootless. It is for the sake of
preserving the soul of our country that we demanded and
struggled for freedom and achieved it. We should not forget
the profound thought of our sages and the serene light of our
art. We should not lower our moral standards in our public
life, national and international. We must shake off the factious
spirit which threatens to become a national disease. We think
that we are open-mined because we criticise one another
furiously.

We are today at the cross-roads. Whether we take the path
which leads to triumph or that which ends in abysmal failure
depends on us. We make our own history though we may not
be able to make it as we please. Only stupidity and selfishness
are in the way. The sizc of the task, the challenge of the
situation, the heroie qualities they demand, require us to adopt
the principles which Gandhi insisted on, service, sacrifice and
dedication. This is not a time for annoyance and aggressive-
ness; it is a time for humility, dedication and social discipline.
We must sacrifice our personal intercsts, loyalties and attach-
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ments for the national good Let us all work together in ths
spint, free from fear, hatred and selfishness, to make our
country strong and umted; for only a strong India can help
humanty.

S. RADHARRISHNAN

New Delhe
The Tth September, 1957



APPROACH TO THE SUBJECT

The mutinous praceedings of the Bengal Army are well-
known and have been the subject of many trite remarks, From
the military point of view, we find every extreme of indiscipline
and insubordination, The infection of revolt which seized
regiment after regiment is equally obvious. From the political
point of view, the mutiny has been often described as the first
war of Indian independence in which all classcs of people of a
vast portion of India joined, ranging from the ryot to the king,
from the primitive tribes of the forest to the polished gentry.
That large bodies of people became martyrs to over-excited
political sentiment, became more sensitive to the alarm pro-
duced by alien rule, was largely the cause of rendering more
prominent the total rebellion which characterised the
Indian mutiny. From the social point of view, it has been
regarded as a war of the expropriated feudal classes who bad
suffered, owing to the introduction of the British rule, loss of
property and had experienced diminution of their importance
and of the arbitrary power which they possessed. The crowd of
landed chiefs who joined the fray supported by the delusive
strength of their huge levies gave the movement a unity of
purpose transcending the innumerable diversities of India’s
Life. Again, the rumours that the government meditated a
general conversion of the people to Christianity had exasperated
large communities not otherwise hostile to the government and
the later proceedings of the government gave rise to a feeling
of hatred of the English name, a deep-rooted sluggish
hatred which developed into a war of cxtermination. The
sepoys fighting for fear of castes, the chiefs for their kingdoms,
the landlords for their estates, the mass for fear of conversion
and agrarian grievances, and the Muslims especially for
restoring their old sway, yct all in their own way against the
common enemy, the English, all this may be said to have given
the events of 1857-59 a national colouring,—what began as a
mutiny scemed to assume the proportions of a rebellion. And
the marauding activities of a number of tribal communities
such as the mewatls, gujars, ranghars, Jats, palwars, bhogtas
and a host of other tribes, prompted more by motives of

XV
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plunder than by seditious 1dcas, collaborated to praduce a
scene of general upnsing against the Brtish power.

The difficulties, ansing from the mamfold aspects summanly
indicated above, are real and present serious obstacles both to
the writer and to the reader of histones of sepoy mutimes A
treatment of all these features, and of many contradictory impul-
ses and communal tenstonand promiscuous fighting with winch
the history of the Mutiny abounds, 1s mamifestly impracticable
1n a book of hmited ambition ke the present worh Yet the
broad fact of the Indian mutiny, which stands on official
admssion, 15 that 1t was actually a rebellion The so called
sepoy mutiny of 1857 has an internal consistency 1f we regard
1t as both a mutny and a rebellion, unmistakably umted, the
mutiny resulung in popular disturbances The underlying
rebellion being less obvious than the mulitary excesses, 1ts
nature and hmitations ment expositton The mere fact that the
government establisk were d yed, records burnt, and
telegraph hnes cut off did not help to rase the mutiny of
troops to the rank of a cvil rebellion any more than the
application of the name revolution to the events of 1857 59
could make a history of that movement feasible The rebellion
of the cival populace which existed must have been of a nature
more fundamental than that implied 1n the currency of a
pohitical term

Articulate expression of pohitical and social theones by the
Indian leaders and their determination to fight for their imple-
mentation would, of course, have been sufficient to make
smooth the path of the historian But such theones were never
clearly placed before the masses nor very perfectly understood,
excepting those appealing to religious feelings Yet many avil
disturbances of a serious nature did t<ke place n the pre-
mutiny pertod which pointed to some settled disaffection of the
peaple agaunst the fragn system, some acute grievances of the
landed and agncultural classes aganst the ruling authonty,
and of other classes as well, which found expression 1n clashes
and conflicts These cvil disturbances of the earlier period
afford a welcome foothold to the historzan in evaluating and
estimating the civil rebellion of the mutiny period, and in dis
covening that the latter are connected m a long cham of




xvil

causes with the former and in some cases are even a continua-
tion of them.

The link that connccts the civil rebellion of the pre-mutiny
and mutiny periods is furnished by the fact that these were-
primarily anti-British, anti-colonial movements running through
feudal channels. The landed chief in the earlier period took
up arms to resist the encroachment made upon his position and
purse, in the mutiny period he fought in defence of his title to
the land, and ali throughout the first century of British rule in
India, the zamindars remained the targets of attack of British
administration excepting those who were living in areas under
permanent settlement. The position of the inferior agricultural
classes however changed. The surrender of the field-proprictors
to the tender mercies of the zamindars under permanent
settlement provoked the cultivating classes to rebel against the
Iatter and their protectors in the carly period, and this condi-
tion of social restiveness remained a chronic feature of the land-
economy of Bengal. In the North-West provinces, however, the
village system, that was introduced in complete reversion of
the talukdari system, and also in Oudh immediately before the
mutiny, secured the rights of the peasant-proprietors as
against the zamindars. But the results were equally disastrous.
The liquidation of the talukdars and the exaltation of the
village proprietors produced a kind of social imbalance and
caused grave cconomic dislocation which mingled with the
religious discontents and fears of the mutiny period. Nor were
the fieldowners of upper India satisfied. Apparently the
situation was baffling which in some way indicated that the
British administrators could not formulate, for any practical
purpose, a plan of land economy in which the Jarge proprietors
and village proprietors could co-exist on the soil. The new set
of viilage landowners had many grievances to complain of in
respect of taxes, impositions, and imposts; they also certainly
shared the general anxietics of the public with the result that
eventually they landed on the side of the dispossessed talukdars
and rallied round them. Thus both in the pre-mutiny and
mutiny periods it was the class of the landed chicfs who led the
struggle against the British, The feudal framework of these
movements indced cannot be doubted though they were not
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of the reactionary type directed mamnly for the preservation
of the nghts and privileges of an obsolete anstocracy The
distinction between baromal and popular nsings against the
ruling power, the one for sfafus quo ante, and the other for a
future, had no special import 1n the Indian situation as the
frctor of foreign rule impinged on all alike and this blurred
the edges of purely feudal motives Moreover, nearly all
classes and duisaffected commumties thronged round these
landed chiefs, they bemng regarded as the natural leaders of
their respective locahties which lent these movements a
representative character The rebels also adopted the Brtish
mode of war, the artillery and the enfield, and not the obsolete
feudal methods, and railways and telegraphs which were burnt
mn the fury of the revolution would not certainly have been
discirded, on the contrary, they would have been widely used,
along with other mnovations, had the movement succeeded

Along with these changes which a huge revolt ushers in,
the feudal spint of these ant1 British movements was likely
to have faded before long So basically, the rebellions of the
mutiny peniod were not without therr social and political
content and their anticipations of progress

Great convulsions of history usually bear mamfold aspects
and this particular aspect may be permitted to be taken up for
mvestigation and scrutiny in the following pages It was
Disrach who said that the nise and fall of empires was not an
affair of greased cartnidges A few years later, ] W Kaye, the
celebrated histonan of the sepoy war mn India, 1 course of a
dissectton of the ‘moral anatomy’ of this great revolt against the
white man similarly recorded his impression that there werc fears
and discontents which had no connection with the greased
cartidges and upnsings not motivated by the spoils of the
treasury The first symptoms of the revolt of 1857 were un
doubtedly of a military character, but 1n many places the first
attack came from the disaffected commumues while sull the
sepoys were outwardly staunch and 1 quite a few cases rebel
lion of a violent type brohe out without the aud or presence of
sepoys and 1lso simultaneously with their movement Generally,
howeser, the msings of the chiefs nd the people were
subsequent in date to the mutiny of troops This led to a confus
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sing situation in so far as the origins and connections of the
mutiny and rebellion were concerned and contemporary news-
papers both in England and India commented that the rising of
the chiefs was a thing quite apart from the mutiny of the
soldiers. It was even reported that after Havclock’s entry into
Lucknow the sepoys dispersed in different dircctions, but
simultancously, the talukdars rose as one man against the
British force. In the southern Maratha country therc was no
military emeute on a grand scale to incite the people to fury,
yet the landowners who were worse affected by the Jnam
Commisston stirred up commotions. The government despatch,
stating that the North-West provinces were lost for the present,
was obviously prompted by the deeper and more malignant
circumstances of the blaze of ravage and riot that had taken
root in the soil of upper India than what was outwardly
manifested in the professional insurrection of the sepoys con-
fined to scattered military cantonments. What Kaye says
gives an approsimately correct version of the sitnation:

The fears and discontents of the powerful classes, who felt that they
had been downtrodden by the English, that their old dynasties had
been subverted, their old traditions ignored, their old systems vio-
lated...... that everywhere the reign of annexation and innovations

d, and was tt ing to crush out the very hearts of the
nation, struck decp root in the soil.®

To a certain cxtent thesc were exactly the causes which
provoked the civil disturbances of the pre-mutiny period.
Kaye admitted that this was the legitimate line of approach to
the occurrences of 1857 which struck him as a revolt and not a
military insurrection. Similarly Malleson expressly stated that
the disturbances of 1857 were primarily excited by men who
were not soldiers.® Though fully convinced of the pos-
sibilities of a detailed study of this aspect they did not deve-
lop and treat it as such. Rice Holmes, while professing to deal
with the accompanying civil disturbances of the sepoy war,
deals more with military movements than with the other

+ John Malcoltn Ludlow, A Panghiet on the War is Oud, Cambridge, 1638, p. 4.

* Kaye (J. W.), 4 History of the Sefay War in Tndia (1880), i, 306.

3 Malleson (G B.), History of the Tudian Matiny, 1857-1856 (1678, 1879, 1880),
i, 399,
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exertions of the Indians, and not even one single chapter 1s
devoted to this aspect of study Nevertheless, he uses the
expression ‘Cuvil rebellion” 1n conneetion with the muuny and
states that, from the pomt of view of the historian, 1t 15 more
importnt to investigate nto the former than to analyse
the phenomena of the mutiny 1tself

But this trend of study was not followed up 1n later works
The *monumcntal work’ of Dr R C Majumdar throws new
Iight on the activities of the famous leaders which he has
discussed 1n detul in order to ascertain how far the nsing of
1857 can be called a strugglefor freecdom Dr § N Sen’s justly
celebrated worh—Eighteen Fifty-Seven—gives a bniliant account
of the political and military movements of the great revolt but
nelther of these great historians has given to the civil rising the
stress 1t deserves Dr Myumdar recogmises the importance of
the subject, as the utle of his book shows, but his hine of study
led him to a different conclusion Dr Sen’s book which
contams a vivad and vigorous account of military activities 1§
less than just to the part played by the gencral masses of the
Inditn people 1n the great upsurge

It 15 1 question of emphasis The revolt of 1857 was 1 a
sense the most formidable which had ever broken out 1gamnst
a foreign dommation Deep sympathy was felt for Englnd,
‘the cradle of liberty and 1ts invincible bulwark’ as well, 1n the
continent and n Amerca, 1n her hour of tral, fighting n
defence of her immortal honour Relations of Christian Europe
with the rest of the world of the time of the crustdes scem to
have been revived Pope Prus IX made a liberal and paternal
subscription on behalf of the Enghsh sufferers in India and
other countries of Europe offered the help of men and money
to Lngland The Amencan press was equally warm and
sympathetic to her cause It 15 impossible not to own that the
Baghsh fought i the mutunes with @ pacson aed deterrmna-
tion as though they were fightng for the defence of thar own
country and strugglng for the right The rebellion was being
sternly put down, but reprisals agamnst the property of Indins
as would be permutted agamst alien enemy were not generally

2 Holmes (T R) A Hustory of the Indian Mutiny (and of the d sturbances which

accompamed 1t among the cvil populaton), 1913, p 141 See also Holloway,
Lssaps ete 278
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resorted to. The denial of the claim of the Indians to the
ct‘)u{llry which belonged to them rested not merely on the con-
viction of the superiority of British arms, certaminis gaudia, but
on the tremendous cnergies which they had brought to bear
on India to make it as much as possible their own land. The
British had a strength, in the strength of their civilization, and
so when challenged, the nation was stung to the quick and
reacted sternly, The new fronsides marched with an elan that
was irresistible; the spirit that had animated and inspired
Raleigh, Drake and Cromwell, that had laid to dust the
power of Napoleon, lived on in Nicholson and Campbell, in
Havelock and Rose. Maude and Sherer, Mowbray Thomson,
the Red Pamphlet, Forbes-Mitchell, Malleson and even Kaye
—some of the classics of mutiny literature—abundantly reflect
this spirit, that, being Englishmen, they were bound to sup-
press the mutinies and reconquer Indiat

But the sympathy felt for England and her attitude is
more casy to explain than justify, The political theory of the
need for suppressing the mutiny was 2 little confusing. What
sympathy could England justly bestow on Lombardy, and
Poland, whilst in India they were following the cxample of
their foreign oppressors? Besides, the revolt of the Indians,
even if they were a subdued race, was produced by causes not
exterior to their immediate interests and as such they had a
right to demand the respectful attention of British obscrvers
and historians. But very few thought of them in a way as
would be just and proper, and in all the works cited above
there are not cven fifty names of Indian rebels who confronted
the English. Forrest, in particular, considered it worthy of
historical attcntion to take extreme pains in collecting tlie
names of even the lowest subalterns who took part in the
mutinies, a ‘noble epic’ which spoke to every Englishman. The
same might be said of the Indians, but no notice was taken of
them, of their ideas and activities, if only to complete the
history of this cpoch. And no souvenir of the deeds performed

1 ' it n the mutiny had manifested this spint—cf. Cel
Moy other write, S Cavaley at Meerut (Mutvy Memavs, 35); Job
e o e G Sewice (Buwys of fhe Tnkan Matiny, 75) and Gooper of
Asaritsat (The Cross m the Purgab, 244-5)-
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by them has been preserved 1n the ‘pleasurable remimscences’
of the mutiny.

This attitude was quite 1n heeping with the views of the
average Englishman who did not believe in the general
participation of the people in the mutinies. The comments of
the Saturday Revew are typical of this feelng*

The civil government having 1n some places been entirely swept away
for the time, by the overwhelming tide of military insurrections, 1t was
mewvitable that many of the whabitants  should be willng to
fraternize with the mutineers and to take advantage of the dis-
organisation attendant on the revolt by glutting themselves with
plunder, and running riot 1n unchastised crime *

Even Tablet, an Trish paper very hostile to England, wrote that
it had been a pure military rebellion, the civil population had
taken no serious part it 2

The following pages, therefore, aim, so far as 1t is possible
to bring within a convenient compass, at presenting the history
of the cval rebellion 1n the Indian mutinies 1n a connected and
indisputably authentic form, its scope and character, the class
of people participating in it, and the ¢ffect produced 1 the
direction and dimenston of this vast conflagration and in the
prolongation of the conflict and its consequences. It 1s a work
on perspectives, on emphasis and interpretation of a great
subject. It is not a work on the sepoy mutiny, and 1t does not
presume to enter into any discussion of the mulutudinous
causes of the mutiny of the Bengal Army, or to expatiate on
theories of its ongin or to discuss whether 1t was the result of
a pre-concerted plan worked out by the civil and mulitary
Jeaders 1 collaboration among themselves. Hawever essential
that enquiry might be in any estimate of the leadership of the
revolt, the attitude of the more famous leaders, 1t appears, had
nothing much to do with the causation of the civil rebellion
which broke out spontanconsly oo the rising of the sepoys or
even earlier. The leading object throughout has been to show,
in its true proportion and colour, this mmportant aspect of
the convulsion, the rclative share that the civil communities

-

3 14 August, 1857
231 July, 1858



had in the conflict generally, and ntmost care and research
have been taken to draw from all sources any information
tending to throw light on the part played and the influence
exercised by the people of the countryside and other men of
consequence in changing the course of the revolt from mutiny
to rebellion.
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CHAPTER ONE

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The causes of the mutiny in the army were in part purely
military, in part a discontent shared by the general population.
That = spirit of disaffection was lurking in many of the sepoy
regiments had long been known to a number of officers who
communicated their impression to others. Sir Charles Napier,
G.C.B,, prior to leaving India, warned the government that a
great portion of the Bengal Army was disaffected,! and offered
several suggestions intended to check the discontent then
prevailing, but Dathousie paid no heed to these suggestions and
no officer even dared to speak out his real impression to the
governor-gencral if he had any regard for his commission.

The history of the carly mutinies shows that the discontent
of the sepoys may be attributed either to an impolitic or
unjust cutting of pay or an interference with the refigious
prejudices of the soldiers. It is from the time of the Afghan
war that Indian officers like. Sheikh Hedayetali dated the
marked disaffection of the army. The Mahomedans were
displeased becausc they were employed against another
mahomedan power and the Hindus for living in o foreign
country and under conditions which offended the rules of
caste. Onc Zalim Singh of the 71st regiment was cven tried by
court-martial and dismissed from service for having criticised
the government for violating his caste. The Scpoys silently
mursed their discontent and only waited for a suitable oppor-
tunity.? So when in 1850, the fourth and sixty-fourth were
ordered {0 march to Sind they showed a most mutinous
spirit. But Dalhousic, as the Bengal Harkrfm wrote, was the first
governor-general to succumb to the mutinecrs: .whcn the 38t
regiment declined to go to Burma, he gave in. ‘From that
moment’, says the Red Pamphiet, ‘a revolt became a mere

1 For the Mutiny predicted by Sir Charles Napier, sce Keith Young Deléi;
1T i ve even before the outbreak
g dlemy Lovenee had e precnct i e e besn ey s

Scctirved in the ity of Kzbul may some day ocour at Delhi, Meerut or Bareilly"
(Quoted in Kaye, 4 Hislory of the Sipoy War in India, 3, 453n.).

1
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question of time and opportunity’. This temporizing policy
was calculated to change the attitude of the sepoys towards
their masters.?

But the most singular mstance of the sepoy revolt having a
definte bearing on the future took place at Barrackpore even
earlter than the Afghan war. It onginated in the refusal of the
government to allow two rupees each per month as travelling
expense while under orders to march to Burma On 2 Nov-
ember, 1825, when the mutinous regiment mustered as usual,
they were ordered to communicate their willingness to march
on pamn of death They were given ten minutes to consult—
ten minutes expired A Calcutta letter dated 3 November,
1825, published 1n the Glasgow Herald gives a graphic descrip-
tion of what followed
about 450 held out Sir Edward Paget gave orders to fire Ina
moment after, grape shot and cannon bullets played upon poor
fellows from all quarters, they then threw down their arms and ran;
some escaped by runmng nto Hooghly—some were taken prisoners
—upwards of 60 lay dead upon the field, and this afternoon about
a dozen or two are either to be hanged or shot. By the accounts
received yesterday from Rangoom we have recewed a check, the
sepoys did not fight with the same spiit as formerly, they lay down
before the enemy, and would neither fight nor run away 3

This military revolt was a disastrous event remotely fore-
casting the spinit of 1857, a matter of the ‘blackest hue and
the most awful omen’, as one of the ablest statesmen then mn
the East observed 8 Barrackpore thus became the histonic camp
where so many sepoys died 1 vindication of their discontent
and 1n defiance of the ruling authonty. The blood the sepoys
shed was not spilled 1 vam, their spint survived and encour-
aged and exalted others From Barrackpore flowed influences
which moulded the sepoy mind in far-off Lahore, where the
Bengal Army was posted

In the early months of 1857, the sepoys of Barrackpore
exhibited the same mutmous spint The contemporary view

1The Mutiny of the Bengal Army (By onc who served under Sir Charles
Napier), 9

* Norton, The Rebellion in Indha, 176

* Quoted n The Englishman (Calcutta), 20 July, 1857.

Ihid 14 August, 1857
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was that the commanding officer of the regiment, licutenant-
colonel Wheler, was responsible for this state of disaffection.
He was openly charged—and the charge has not been
refuted—with having distributed religious tracts ameng the
sepoys and addressed them with a view to prosclytization. It
was further allcged that he was in the habit of beguiling sepoys
to his bungalow and there attempting to convert them fo the
christian faith. In the public discussion of the fifties it was
revealed that for similar attempts to convert soldicrs, Wheler
was violently expelled by the scpoys of the old 34th from their
lines and that for the same reason he was ordered off the parade
of the 53rd regiment at Delhi, That Wheler was culpable to
a high dcgree was clearly manifested in his leiter to the
Christian Tract Society published in a Calcutta paper of the
25th July, 1840. It runs:

You will be happy to hear that I have had several applications from
different officers for native tracts in order to distribute to the villages
through which they were about to march; and I do hope and trust, .
would prepare the minds of the peaple 1o listen to a missionary. ...t

Seventeen years before the mutiny, licutenant-colonel, then
captain Wheler, combined religious duties with his military
pre-occupations, and, as the Zngliskman commented, ‘unless
we are vetry greatly misinformed he continues the practic
even with increased zeal to the present day.’ It was no wonder,
therefore, the daily added, that the men should be in this
excited state specially when such efforts at conversion are
openly avowed and that they would discover what they
considered 2 plot to betray them into loss of caste.?

Referring to the doings of such tract-distributing officers,
Sir Thomas Munro, one of the most sagacious rulers that ever
swayed the destinies of a people, bitterly wrote that it was the
declared intention of the government that the people of India
should be permitted to cnjoy their ancient laws and institu-
tions and that it was never intended to employ collectors and
magistrates as teachers of morality and to act as a missionaries.
He added:

In cvery country, but especially in this, where the rulers are so fow,

* The Englishman, 2 April, 1857 :

= Jpid. Also Holmes, op. cit,, 78.
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and of a different race from the people, 1t 15 the most dangerous of all
things to tamper with rehigious frehngs,  may brust forth as at
Vellore  set m motion by the slightest casual incident *

The mutiny at Bolurum was also caused solely by the
mbitary mmssionary major Mackenzie Even with this expen-
ence before them, the government hardly moved to make
examples of these offenders 1n the ‘tract distributing and
seed-sowing lines’, which naturally confirmed the suspicion
of the sepoy that there was some foul play in this business
The government came out repeatedly with overt assurances
1 respect of religious belief, but the sepoys looked upon these
assurances as mere eyewashes, and pomted to the tract-
distnbutimg officer as a complete refutation of them In fact,
1t was known that a brigadier was not dismussed for gross
intetference with rehigious ceremomes, and Wheler was not
pumshed exther 2

The adequacy of this religious thesis as one of the contn-
butory factors of the mutiny of 1857 cannot be doubted, and
thus sprrit of disaffection i the army was remnforced by similar
feehngs of the civil population 1n respect of religlon ansing
from the ever mcreasing pressure of western avibzation
including the whole series of progressive measures from the
establist of the ralways to the legalisaton of widows’
marnages and the disseranation of female education—all
being calculated, so the conservatives argued, to serve the
same purpose of converting Hindus and Mahomedans lthe 3
The missionary activities agamnst early marnage and the
purdah system,? the mesang system 1n jail, the compulsory
system of shaving, and the ¢nlstment order of 1856, com-
peling the scpoys to go wherever ordered—all these ruffed
the feelings of caste and strengthened the suspicion that the
government intended to force them all to embrace christamty ®

1 The Englishman, 30 May, 1857

2The mquiry into the conduet of colonel Mitchell was notinstituted until after
the 19th hn?i been punished and that of Wheler after the dibanding of the com
pamies of the 34th {Urqubart, The Rebellun m Indua, 5)

»Syed Ahmed Khan Bahadur The Couses of the Indion Revolt [1873] 20

¢Norton, op at, 199

5 A letter published 1n the Hindu Fatriot (30 Apnl 1857) by a “Native’, appar
ently a very well informed et probably gives us a ghmpse of 1} ¢ Indian muind
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The actual interference was not alarming enough but it was
supposed to foreshadow more. Under these conditions, it
was not unnatural that the sepoys should think that the greased
cartridge was only the beginning of that great object of the
government.t

The disaffection caused by the cartridge question extended
far and wide. The Engliskman’s correspondent of the North-
West provinces reported on [ May, 1857, that ‘the most absurd
stories are rife amongst all classes of Indians throughout the
country of our determination to seduce them by fair, if not
compel them by foul means to christianity.” A pumber of

in those critical days. Alter rcferring to the many acts of oppression committed
by English officers he adverts (o the judgments of the Supreme. Court af the three
Presidencies of Calcutta, Madras and Bombay by which young inexperienced
Hindu converts who ought to have been placed under the guardianship of their
arents, were forcibly made over with their wives to the missionarics against
their will. In one such casc when a similar judgment was awarded, a large con-
course of people surrounded the coust housc and began to fling sfoncs at the
judge. The Army had to be called 1n to save the judge and the court. “Onc such
instance™ he comments “and not ten thousand false rumours circulated by the
Native Press is sufficient to disaffect a whole nation towards their rulers.”

L1t appears that a warning was teansmitted from the military authorities
at home to those in India not to serve out the enfield cartridge to the native
troops. Major-General Tucker's letter published in the Times throws light on the
culpable ignorance of the authoritis in this matter. He says that the cxisting
disaffection among the troops would never have acisen if what be said in 1853
had not been disregarded and comments that it is truly wenderfu} that it should
not have occurred to any of the authorities in Calcutta that tallow made of thefat
of.. . .would seriously outrage (The Englshman, 10, 15 August, 1857) the feclings
of the sepoys {See also colonel Keith Young, Delfi, 1857, p. 3). Crawshay similarly
remarked that the suspicions of the sepoys were right because the cartridges had
been greased in this manner in the arsenal in Calcutia. He refers to the Blue
book and the official documents which were laid before the House of Commons
in July 1857, The evidence of licutenant Curry of the Ordnange, on the trial
of Salikram Singh indeed refers to the proportion of tallow which entered into
the compositions of the grease (The Immediate Cavse of the Mutiny, 7). The officers
of the Ordnance department also could not deny that fat of kine and swine had
been used (1bid), The statement of captain Martineau that 5o far as the cartridge
question went the mahomedan sepoys faughed at it and that it was only the
Hindus that made complaints is cntircly contradicted by many recorded
instances of the attitude of the Mahomedans and the nature of the ingredients
actually used (six parts of tallow and onc of becs-wax) in making the grease. The
opinion of the judge-advocate-g stated in with the wial of
Bahadur Shah (Trial of Bahadur Skah, 107, 141) that the objection to greased
cartridges was only a subterfige as the sepoys were found using the cartridges
at Meerut and Delhi with eagerness and afacrity is not borne out by th practice
of the mutinous sepoys in general who were mostly using ‘Brown Bess’ and the
usual musket ammumtion against the English (Cravshay, The Immediate Couse of
the Mating, 22).

2The Lahore Chronicle of 1 April, *57 stated that = paper has been found in the
lines occupied by the sepoys calling on them to resist the attempt ta break their
caste and to act like their ‘Bhaics” at Barrackpore.
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seditious letters intercepted by the government dumnng this
time make 1t abundantly clear that the scpoy and others
really did believe that the British intended to destroy their
caste by vanous devices, of which the induction of the impure
cartndge was one! Wilham Edwards, the collector and
magistrate of the district of Budaun 1n the province of Rohit
khand n 1857, had special opportumties of becoming
acquainted with the situation He recorded

and I most solemnly declare my belef, that with the mass of our
soldiery, the dread of these cartndges was the mmediate and most
powerful cause of their revolt Agam and agam have 1 discussed
thus subject with natives, before, during, and subsequent to the rebel
lion,and I am,  that the cartndges formed the real and proximate
cause of the mutiny The rural classes, who afterwards broke out
nto rebellion, had other causes which moved them, 2

This 15 the genesis of the mutiny The sepoys revolted
because they sincerely believed that their rehgion had been
wantonly nsulted, and under this impression which was never
before more clear to them than on the present occasion, they
revolted with a vehemence and combmation which was of a
far different nature from all former ones having for 1ts object
nothing short of the extermmnation of the finnghis Tt was
under this fanatical feehing that the sepoys of the 19th appear
to have acted and this relimous horror of beef appeared quite
systematically as an exciting factor in all insurrectionary
actuwvities n the early phase of the mutiny from Berhampur
to Meerut Acute discontent 1n the army undoubtedly existed
A consciousness of power had also grown up among the sepoys,

1Report on the Adminsstration of the Punjab (1857 1838) 1n Townsend
The Annals of Ind an Adm mstrat on vol wi 1859 pp 123 141 Grorge Le Grand
Jacob on the causes of the cnms of 1857 58 (Madras Government Records—
Home Muscellaneous No 725 P 807 14) A Moncy the magstrate of Gaya
1n his famous letter dated 11 March 1858 offered a smilar analyss of the situation
(Dustrict Gactteer Gaya 42 &%) Tl the views of Maude anabi erer (Alemor e:a{
the Mut ny1 19} the greased carindges—at least the match which fired the smoul
dering discontent _even if st was not the sole and orginal cause Also Cavenagh
Rem niscences ete 245 Urqubart op at 7 Crawshay op at, 1 Trtal of Bahadur
Skak 106 152 heh Young Deli—1857 p 17  Shepherds experience of
Cawnpore sepoys (Marratiee of the Mut ny 14-15)

1Faets and Reflectrons on the Indan Rebellion 11 See also the statcment of
Sankar Tewar a sepoy old enough to know the thoughts of his brethren (Quoted
in Nash Kol nteennginlnda 106 112) they were suddenly seized by 2 superstitious
pan ¢ and rushed like frenzied demons
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as reported by colonel Gicathed who was ashed to mahe
enquiry from desciters regarding the origin of the disaffection.
A general arder by the goieinor-gencral also referred to this
feeling which found encouragement in the idea that India
was weahly guarded by Eugland.! William Muir, sccretary
to the government of the North-West piovinces also believed
this to have been the case with the main body of the sepoys.?
But it is very doubtful if thus latent spirit of revolt would have
been more apenly displayed than it had been for many years
previous to the outbreak of the mutiny had not the cartridge
question occurred to nflame the disafiected clements in the
army. It was the only one question which by arousing religious
prejudices produced the unammuty necessary for united
resistance, no other ciy beng sufhicient to bring together
the Hindus and the Mahomedans.

The attach made by Mangal Pandey at Barrachpore, which
in a large measure was imtated by the cavalry corps at
Meerut, had given the sepoy moyvement a new turn; and yet
neither the Barrackpore not the Mcerut leaders had possibly
anticipated that what they considercd to be an emeute of a
limited character, dirccted manly at the preservation of caste
and religion was going to put the whole of North India and the
Bengal presidency an parucular, in onc terrible cauldron,
exposing in its extreme form the festening discontent nursed
against British rule in Indw. The vast upsurge o_f 185_7 was
something more than a purely military insurrection, it had
more than one source which fed ts rex olutionary stream, the
cconomic and pohtical motres beng no less articulate than
the threat to religion which was the immediate causc. The
general condition of the Indwans during the Britsh rule, was
not, on the whole, parucultatly 1ntolerable, but that was not

a1 Mcholson I have watched the
e apperuty oty s gt ik
us (Quoted n Bourchser, Light AMonths, etc &) 120, 122, 125
o g 10 M B O S i iy e sl o
mutin snd surrocion "The sepoy ey had been o eal sl L oty sense ot
power(The Crsss n the Pungab, Prefce, p ~av) But Mamuddin )
Delis rebel and a contemporary obsener ‘doubts whether the weakness of the

hether the
Brtsh o aegened 2 plan to tamper wath the army of whether,
mpcnl::;s‘f:ﬁ:\»c?ass ag sgc'(slud <o tusaffectian Whick exsted (Metealfe, Tico Natie

Narratizes, ete. 8).
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the point at 1ssue The guestion 15 whether thar social happi-
ness and personal secunity were large cnough to outweigh
the sense of degradation which must always accompany the
domnation of a foreign race. That they were not large enough
(or rather were very low), was estabhished by nothing better
as a result than musery and disaffection which prevaled 1n
the country at the end of hundred years of Brutish rule The
grievances under which the population laboured, the hatred
of the British amongst the higher classes, the fears and anxicties
of the lower classes, the restiveness of the agricultural classes
as manifested 1n the disturbances of the earlier pertod,! and
not any one cause, singly considered—rmust be regarded as
the true source of the revolt. The materials of disaffection,
produced by long sufferning, were ready to be ignited by the
shightest spark that fell upon them 2

The pohtical and social factors making for the revolt of 1857
were very much mterrelated While wars and conquests led
to the extermunation of the Indian powers, the sctilement
operations which accompanied them for the adjustment of
revenue and rent 1n the ceded or conquered provinces were
proving fatal to the interests of the landed gentry of the
country. Scttlement and resumption were the two processes
of the British revenue adminstration by which the anstocracy
of the land was obhitcrated This subversion of the supremacy
of the old Inndholders mvolved a grave social disorder The
awvil disturbances of the pre-mutiny perod demonstrate the
strength of this thesis ®

The government’s dishhe for the ‘Natne Gentleman’ and
1ts predilections 1n favour of the nferor agncultural classes
found 1ts practical exposiion mn the settlement of the North-

1 Chaudhurt, Crod Disturbances Durng the British Rule . India, 2191, Metcalfe,
Tuo Natwe Marratizes, etc 8, Thorahull The Personal Adientures, etc 331
*Kath }oung writing to colonel Henderson on 2 May says ‘therc 1 no lutle
uneasiness felt in India on the subject for the dasaflection appears o umwversal
that 1 am quite prepared to sce 1t show stself at any of our stavons” (Delhi—1857,
9) Cf Dusrack in the House of Commons for a considerable penod of tume
the State of India was one of menacing combustion and all that was wanted was
the occasion and the pretext’ (Hansards Parhamentary Debates, vol oxdva,
(1857), 444)
2 For a detaled study of the revenuc measyres and lhﬂrkcunntcuan with ant
Britsh ts 0 the pi y period, see Chaudhurs Cioal
1742
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West provinces. Inspired by the genius of James Thomason
and the ideas of Robert Mertins Bird of extending a system
of protection to the masses of the people who vwere supposed
to have suffered great wrongs in the past, the British challenged
the titles of the landed gentry and their rights and privileges
allowed to them by the former government. After a seres of
brief engagements with holders of different kinds which led
to grave commotions of an agrarian pature,! attempt was
made during the time of Lord William Bentinck to revise the
setdement of the North-West provinces on the basis of a
detailed survey and ascertainments of rights, Accordiag to the
new theory of land tenure adopted by the government, the
proprietorship of the soil was taken as vested in the caltivators,
and the so-called proprietors were regarded merely as agents
through whom the rents of the cultivators were to be paid to
the government. The government justified its policy on the
ground that in this part of the country, the proprictary right
of single families and village communitics survived in more
recognisable forms than anywhere else. Thus the talukdars
or owners of groups of villages werc deprived of their estates
which in many cases were held for ages. In Heu of their
revenues they were to receive allowances of money like merc
Life-pensioners. The other class of proprictors, the zamindars
or owners of villages in regions where the talukdars did not
exist, were allowed to continue. The government also laid
down a principle that the assessment should be such that the
zamindars might derive extra profits of the good scason in
order that they might balance the losses on ihe bad seasons.
But in practice the scttlement of the resenuc was fixed at
an amount that the zamindars were not long able to pay and
they were soon reduced to the position of mere agents, like
the talukdars, for the collection of the village rental. Drastic
as the tenure was, it tcemed, too, with difficulties in respect of
the location of landed rights. Land was held direct from the
government by large proprictors, with a succession of smaller
proprictors holding lcases from them. In this contest of Jand-
tenure in India, the position of the proprictor was not different
from that of a hereditary tenant but this posijon was

3 Ibid. 2124,
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converted into one of ownership in manynstances by purchase,
favour, or by regulinty of payment Thus the talukdars had
also proprietary right in many small estates, perhaps centuries
old Further 1t was not very easy to detect that the zimindan
or proprietary night of the peasant proprietors had its founda

tion 1n good many cases 1n a pre existing talukdar rght of
setting people in stretches of lands The talukdars also
possessed, quite 1n keeping with  the gentus and  tradition of
the country, all the digmity and power of feudal barons nd
though they often nusused their power, this landed anstocracy
constituted 1tself mto a recogmsed mstitution of the country,
and was not, by any means, regarded as “mpostor The
aboliton of the partniarchal authority of the landed gentry
tended to weaken the bond by which order was mamntained
1 India when the government succumbed to disruptive forces
apart from the fict that 1t destroyed the attachment of the
amstocrary to Btish rule This 1s what G J Chnstan, com

musioner of Sitapur actually complained of when the
mavement had started

The willage system which makes all men equal in their poverty, s
now fatrly on 1ts tral in the disturbed districts, and the government
has hardly a single man of influence, to look to in them!

Warmngs were given,2 but the government proceeded to
dnive out the talukdars who stood between the rulers and the
village proprietors and only the latter were recogmsed as the
lemitimate 1nheritors of the soil The raja of Manpurn was the
talukdar of a large estate compnsing nearly two hundred
villages but 1t was held that he was the proprietor of only
fifty one villages® nd so 1n 1846 the willage proprictors were
left to engage with government and not with him for all
the remamming villages® This vicions generahsing  system
broke up large cstates mnto munute fractions and almost
destroyed the cntirc anstocracy of the country As estates
became divided, and sub divded mnto fracttons the land
could no longer supply adequate food for those who subsisted

1Raikes Nofes on the Revolt ete. 22
YHolmes op ¢t 25

Kaye,1 1612

foid 3 1615
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on it. G. T. Harvey, whose service extended over a period of
upwards of thirty years in all parts of India, while recording
his opinion as to the causcs of the mutiny and the attendant
popular disturbances obscrved that in several properties, of
from two to threc hundred acres cach in Fatchgarh, the
number of sharcrs had increased to half 2 thousand.! A large
number of persons like the raja of Mainpuri were similarly
sitwated throughout the country who naturally desired a
total subversion of government in the hope of recovering their
estates. The case of Walidad Khan of Malaghar in Buland-
shahr, one of the most active and violent leaders of the rebel-
lion, is another instance in point. The vicissitudes of such
cases hanging on for a long time for ascertaining every
conceivable form of responsibility and liability in an estate
were 1o less distressing than the anxicty of losing an entire
property. Since the time of Sir David Ochterlony every
Resident of Delli had periodically re-opened the question of
the disposal of the property of Walidad Khan and it was
hardly closed finally when Harvey held the office of agent in
1855.%

In the districts of Rohilkhand where mahomedan influence
was very strong, the social conditions were nearly the same.
Numbers of dissolute, desperate and distressed Mahomedans
who had lineage to boast of, and old traditions to excite them,
as in Furrukhabad and Bareilly, werc casily disposed to
rebellion. In general the Mahomedans of Rohilkhand enter-
tained, t00, the old hatred of the Englishman, the old desire
to extirpate him root and branch.? The social state of Rohil-
khand was rendered still more grave by the operations of the
British revenue system which had ruined the land owners of
the country, William Edwards, an officer of longstanding
experience had marked how during the fifteen years preceding
the mutiny discontent was growing to a point making the
country ripe for revolt. ‘The landed rights and interests sold
for petty debts to strangers who had no sympnth)f with the
people brought the government into hatred. The disposscssed

1 Nacrative of Events etc. and the Restoration of Autherity in the Agra
Division by G. F. Harvey, commussionet, Agra Division (No. A, p. 1),

* Ibid.

3 Kaye, iir, 292.
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landowners smarting under the loss of thewr cstates were mn
complete understanding with the peasantry with whom they
were connccted for centuries This combination of the dis
affected soctal commumties spelt danger for the Brtish 2

In the fifues of the nmincteenth century the Bntish in India
gave the mmpression of a futhless people whose only principle
seemed to be to seize everything of value that fell wathin their
grisp The spohaton of hingdoms and the absorption of vast
estates were carried on with impumty After the third Maratha
war camel loads of silver and jewels were taken to British
camps Nor was this the only act of larceny and villainy The
lapse of Nagpur was made more mfamous by the sale by
public auction at Caleutta of the jewels of the royal famly 2
These proceedings naturilly rendered the Brish rule odious
to the people But 1t was the policy of confiscation which
more than anything else loosened the hold of the Brtsh on
the Indians 3

The rent free tenures were of different kinds, they vared
no less 1 the aircumstances of ther acquisiion than in their
mtrinsic character, having had therr onigin mostly 1 the
transition period following the assumption of the Dewam In
the early period the British upheld these nghts But as ther
power ncreased, they ventured to question those titles Even
m England as Disrach said, attempts to examune such titles
would be attended with danger But the government 1n India
wanted to do away with this system which exempted these
‘worthless sinecunists’ from payment of direct txes A plan
of investigation of titles was undertaken under the operation
of the act x of 1852, by which the tribunal thnt was set up
was empowered to call upon all landed proprictors to produce
the title deeds of their estates Thus they acquired arbitrary
junsdiction over a vast mass of property Those who failed
to make out a legil clum to ymmumty were deprived of
their free holds Ewidence tahen mn the commuttee of 1853

1 \alleson Hustory of the Inda Mutny 1 3212
*Norton of at 98 Hansard s Parl amentary Debates vol exlv  (July 1857)
456

2 For a sharp ¢ntiessm of the government policy 1n respect of resumpt on and
absorpt on of sl;pate: sec Disrach 1n Pa [ amentary Deba es July 1857 (Hansard of
et 410 81)
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showed that large portions of the land in India were frec
from land-tax. No documentary proof of the validity of pesses-
sion could be adduced owing to depredations of inscets,
climatic conditions and other factors, the only proof being the
proof of actual incumbency. These /akhirajdars, after so many
years of undisturbed possession, were threatened with extine-
tion, and a reign of terror commenced in consequence. The
titles of no less than thirty-five thousand estates in the southern
Maratha country alone were called for by the Inam commis-
sion during the period of five years 1852-7 and in twenty-one
thousand cases sentences of confiscation were pronounced.t
This policy of resuming every patch of unregistered Jand led
to immense results. The amount obtained in this manner
from the estates of ousted proprietors amounted in Bengal
alone to not less than £5,000,000 a year. The commission
was alse at work in Bombay and there the amount arising
from the like source was £370,000 per annum. The government
defended its policy on the ground that a social revolution-had
been accomplished without any popular discontent, and yet
to the manifest advantage of the state, but the critics were
full of alarm, As Disracli said:

1 ask the House for 2 moment to pause and consider what 2 revolu-
tion in property has been going on. . . .in India, when a sum exceed-
ing two-thirds of a million of pounds sterling per amum has been
abtained by the government as rental of land absolutely taken from
individual proprietors.

Thus a wave of indignation spread over the cougtry, :.md
with the annexation of Oudb the attitude of the Indian mind
became definitely hostile to the British and to their govern-
ment.? Undoubtedly it was the most important auxiliary cause

* Malleson, iii, 21-22.

; & e, 459, For the oxils of
* Hansards Parliomentagy Detates, vol. ciols, (1857}, 45
res e Chandurt, Cinl Ditirbances, 26:29; Towascad The dwals etc.

(1859), vol, iif, p. 416. e
3 G The spocch oF'a Satara rebel while being led to the gallows: Listen alll
the Englu:rll:p:gp]c hurled the Rajah from bis throne, in hk\:{n;]u;::r;:&gm éir:;::
them ont of the country {Quoted in Norton, eb. &ty 97)-h & \awmn e Dethi on
revolt to this bad faith (it 472). For the vivws of Munshi Metas 50t oy
the subject in his account dated 8 Novermber, 1&;7. sce Madres g

Records, Home Misccllancous, No. 725, pp. 389422
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of the outbreak of 1857, Disrach called 1t the ‘starting event’
and the Red Pamphlet® charactensed it as something nearly
approaching the seizure of Spain by Napoleon, quickly followed
by retribution 1n both cases The Indian opimon on the
causes of the mutiny was equally emphatic on this pomnt The
Anglo-Indian paper, the Athencenm of Madras charged
Dalhousie with having culpably ignored the following para-
graph 1n the report of Sir James Qutram on the state of
Oudh ‘every agricultural famuly in Oudh, perhaps without
exception, besides many other occupations, sends one of 1ts
members mto the Brtish army ® And when the news leaked
out 1n February 1857, that the Court of Directors had declined
taking into consideration the petition presented by the agent
of the hing of OQudh ‘all Oudh has been up in arms agunst’
the British 4 The immediate reaction was that a fatal attack
was made on the life of Botleau, the deputy-commussioner of
Gonda m Oudh by Fazlali 8 Willam Edwards, an able and
discermng British officer of the North-West provinces, noticed
a feehng of irntation—a marked change 1n the demeanour of
the Mahomedans since that time 8 Malleson’s estimate of the
situation possibly based on Lord Stanley’s despatch, 1s more
empirical He says it alienated the terntonal anstocracy who
were stripped of half of their estates by the action of the newly
mtroduced system, the mahomedan anstocracy, the mihitary
classes, the British sepoys and the peasantry, winch converted
the country mto a hotbed of discontent ? Mamuddin Hasan

*Hansard s Parhamentary Debates, op_at, 4669, Ball The History of the
Indhan Mutiny, 1 6256 Norton (op it 96), quotes the Bombay Times to show the
repugnance of feehing of the sepoys at the unfathful conduct of the company 1n

anneximg Oudh. See also Metcalle, Two Natwe Narrahuves of the Miutiny, 9, and
Mamuddin Hasan hhan's views (Id 31, 370)

20p ent, 8283

2 Quoted 1n The Englskmon, 11 July, 1857, and also n Norton op at, 135

4 Red Pamphlet, 82

5Tt will be interesting to quote here the remarks of the Lucknow correspondent
of the Lnegliskman on this political crime (18 March, 1857) * You will by this tme
have seen that the policy of Lord Dalhousie 1n Oude 13 commencing o bear the
fruit that might be mﬁcclcd from 1t, poor Borleau 1s the first vicum, to say nothing
of s four poor orderlies* Sce also Bonham, Qude 1n 1857, 15 16

® Facts and Reflect ons, 10

" Malleson 3, 349, m 478 81, Lord Stanley’s Despatch quoted i Innes,
Lucknow and Qude 1n the Muty (App x, para 22, p 324), Wlberforce, 4n Un
vecorded Chapter, ctc 23
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Khan, the contemporary narrator draws attention to the fact
that the 19th and the 84th regiments which later on revolted
were at Lucknow at the time of the annexation.

The diabolical nature of the annexation of Oudh was only
matched by the way in which it was administcred. The first
undertaking of the British government in the newly annexcd
province was the summary settlement based on the cxisting
statistics of the past few years. But unfortunately no records of
this settlement were available as they were all destroyed in the
sepoy war and later district officials knew nothing of it beyond
the bare knowledge of its occurrence.

On 4 February, 1836, the instruction was issued that a

summary settlement should be made with existing oceupants-
for three years. It was speciaily emphasized that the scttlement
should be made as much as possible in accordance with the
system which had brought the North-West provinces to a
state of prosperity; an cffort should be made to consolidate
the popular institutions of the country by maintaining the
village coparcenarics. Accordiugly, scttlement was made with
the actual occupants of the soil, the village proprictors, as the
officers would not suffer the interposition of ‘middlemen’,
whether talukdars or farmers. Not even the wildest Irish
Tenant Right Bill came near to the agrarian revolution thus
atiempted. Thus Lord Stanley observed:
... .but it appears to me from papers at my... .. That officers were
not sufficicntly regardful of the interests of the great landed proprictors
....but did in many instances ignore their acquired rights, and
overlooked them altogether in the three years’ summary scnlcmfzm,
although unquestionably persons actually in possession at the time
of the annesation of the country.®

The policy was to crush the talukdars but it would have
been better to tolerate for a time the possible injustice rather
than to imitiate fresh injustice It was no doubt difficult on
the part of the government 1o find out the party with \'\Jhom
the settlement contd be made with justice. Gaptain Hutchinson,

1DG. Lucknow, 111-2.

*Lord Stanley’s Despatch of 13 October, 1858, reviewing the treatment of

s ing 2 !
Oude aher the annesation: To the Governor-General of Tndia fn Counel! (quoted
o Trnes, Zuctnore and Oude in the Mutins, App. ¥, g 323, para. 19).

3 fid. para. 20,
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that therr claims were disnussed or decided aganst them by
exparte  decrees The objectionable feature of Jackson's
admimistration was that the nght to landed property was
wantonly violated Leading men of society possessing estates
through several changes of government and for successive
generations were made to surrender their estates to willage
occupants whose rights to land would not stand the test of a
Judicial mvestigation, and yet the spse divit of such occupants
of the soil was taken to be judicial evidence 1n their favour
agamnst the propnietors 1n hereditary possession, for the settle-
ment of revenue under the mmjunction of the government
meant that the admstraton should deal with no one but
willage occupants, and that 1t was not bound to respect the
nights of possession  The policy of the government! was clearly
directed to win populanty by elevating the agricultural masses
by the extinction of the upper orders, but the wrongful muta-
tions made 1n the most arbitrary manner to implement this
policy furmshed the ground for alarm and isecunty and
brought into existence a resolution in the laws of property
1 Oudh As one contemporary observer wrote

By these 1illegal dispossesstons, an 1nsurrectionary feeling 15 fast taking
hold of the agricultural masses 1 our own older provinces, a newly
acquired country ke Oude 1s but too likely to catch the infection
Let Canming do justice to the landed anstocracy of Ounde ?

These observations were borne out by the mutimes of Qudh,
the movement merging into an upsurge of the dispossessed
landed chiefs Many warnings had been given by officers
engaged m the work of settlement that the measures were
sowing seeds of future trouble As early as 1832 Tucker wrote
that the way to improve the condition of the peasantry was
not by dissolving their connection with the supenor talukdars
for the former would be mvanably ranged under the standard
of the latter i the event of any agitation against the govern
ment 3 In fact, the estrangement sought to be effected between

11n defence of this pol ¢y Martin Gubbins the finanaal commissioner (An
Account of the Mutimies in Oudh 488-91), cxaggerates the ymportance of the vi
lagers and refers to the case of Runwar Singh 23 an mstance of the failure of the
former system

2 The Engliskman 25 March, 1857

1 Quoted 1 Kaye 1, 165
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the agricultural classes and their landlords had very little
effect in strengthening the position of the government during
these critical days. The culiivators showed an inereasing
tendency to come under the protection of their chiefs to settle
accounts with the government. The rebellion showed that the
village proprietors preferred subordination to the talukdars
to the independence they gained by the summary settiement.
Thornhill of Mathura observed that it was undeniably true
that the peasant cultivators who had specially benefited by
the British rule voluntarily returned to the previous condition
of semi-serfdom.! Edwards of Budaun also detected the flaw
in this assumption of the government that there must be a
necessary antagonism between the Jandlord and the tenant
in India and that the former was to be abased in order to
make the latter an independent and uscful member of socicty.
He supports his contention in these words:

During the rebellion, society in the N.IV. Provinces righted itself, the
two classes—the proprietor and the tenant—resumed their natural
relative positions by mutual agreement, and thus practically shewed
that we had been wrong in considering that governmient interference
was necessary for the protection of one against the other.?

These considerations apart, the assessments were far too
heavy and all the agricultural classes were in such a state of
increasing destitution that a great convulsion of society was
considered highly probable even before the actual outbreak.
The antipathy of the people to the judicial and revenue
system of the British® was clearly manifested Dby their systematic
destruction of the revenue records not only in the district
towns, but also in the interior, As Kaye says, almost all that
the English had decreed had been wantonly destroyed as
though the British settlement was purposcly done in violent
scorn of the genius and instinets of the people.* The greatest

s Thornhill, The Personal Adsentwes, etc. 115; Townsend, The Annals, etc.
(1860), vol. iv, p. 35.

2 Faets, etc. 20.

* For the corruption and venality of British law-courts and the complexity of
the English legal procedure, see Chavdhuri, op. cit,, 2133 From Sepoy to Subadar,
127-8.

4 Kaye, i, 412-3.
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Joy of all these disaffected elements seems to have been to
reverse the decision of the English courts !

The sale of real property i execution of decrees 1ssued by
the British courts which reduced whole families to ruin was a
potent factor m producing social restiveness in the period
immediately preceding 2 The process continued The bigger
proprietors as well as the peasints were hard hit Esery year
large numbers of estates were put up to sale under the decrees
of the courts 1n satisfrction of arrears of revcnue and sometimes
even for simple contract debts This latter feature assumes
special significnce when it 1s found that m many places the
inducement to revolt was the chance to burn and destroy
buntya houses and property Three district officers, Edwards
of Budaun, Robertson of Saharanpur and Thornhill of
Mathura observed that the first proceedings everywhere were
to take revenge on the bumyas The bumyas were mostly
outsiders and purchased with avidity the proprietary nghts of
the zamindars and peasants when they came under the opera-
tions of the sale law ‘By fraud or chicanery, a vast number
of the estates of famlies of rank and influence have been
alienated, either wholly or 1n part, and hawe been purchased
by new men’ chiefly the buniyas who could not command any
mfluence over ther tenantry As village money-lenders they
also pracused unmitigated usury Naturally they became the
targets of attack Thewr 1ccount books and therr household
property werc thrown imnto the flames The Enghsh courts
which offered facihities to the most oppressive money-lenders
1n executing a decree for the satisfaction of an ordmary debt
aganst an 1gnorant peasantry produced the greatest resent-
ment amongst the agncultural population and a dangerous
dislocation of the social structure 3 The Santal insurrection
showed the great estent to which the British government
mcurred the hatred of the toihng masses, who were eauly
ruined m a strange judicial process, the sale of land, 1n the
interest of the money-lenders and mahajans ¢ The protection

R e B0 ¢ Disturbances, ete 18 19 23 26, Thorbull, Prranel Adeentres
elc’!‘ldwards Personal Adventures durng the Indian Rebellion 14 Thornhull, Personal

Adsentures etc 3435
& From Sepay to Subadar, 111
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thus afforded to this class through the medivm of English
courts is the sole reason why the peasants and other inferior
classes of wage carners. to whom borrowing was the only
resowice, were so vindictive and uncompromisinghy hostile
against the English during the rebellion.! Thus the sale of
land not merelv uprooted the eidinary people from their
small holdings but also destroyed the gentry of the country,
and both the orders being the victims of the operations of
British ciil law were united 1n the revolutionary epoch of
18537-8 in a common effort to recoser what they had lost.
This attitude was sndecd very marked in the acfivities of
rebels in everv district.? Sherer at the end of his long narrative
of the revolt at Cawnpore alse evpressed his opinion quite
emphaticaily that the selhng up of estates was the principal
cause that gave the rebellion sts popular character.3 Similarly
Thornhill of Mathura recorded that the new zamindars were
everywhere ¢jected and order was only maintained in the
towns and in a few solated arcas mn the country where the
ancient proprictors stll had possession of their villages.t It
was not cartndge or bone mined flour and the wsual cry of
religion which provoked the rural classes and the landed
chiefs to revolt in ail cases yas in Budaun):
Tt is question unolvmg therr nehts and interests 1 the soil and
heieditarv holdings, marably termed by them as ‘Fan see azeed’~=
dearer than hfe—which exaite ther to a dangerous degree ®

Similarly religion had little or notling t0 do with the risings
in the trans-Gangetic parganas. There the people naturally
sided with the zamindars 1n their hatred of the auctuon
puichasers who had replaced the former to whom the out-
breah was a grand opportunity for recosering their position.’

1H D Robertson, District D thes dunrg the Recolt, 135 137

INE 1. %51 Report by G P \lones

5 Cincl, op et . 620

<Thormbll Ti» Personal Ad arures, 35-36. 332

> Edwards quoted n Kave.m 283, 2870

“Ginch, o at 820 Report bx F Thomas, magnirate of Allahabad, 9
November, 1858 Cooper's analvwis of the great catses which operated 1n Leepmg
the people of the fronfier provinces well affected towards the gosernment shows
that there the people had not_much to complan agamst msessment and
nizhts and mterests n the sl The Doorances grounded the peovle to dust, the
Silh, Tevied annually tweke labhs from Swat alone, while the British callected
only < lakhy (T7¢ Crists m the Payeb cte 73) Rehigous ducontent, of ans. was
ot sufficent 1o produce a rebellion of the peopls m thowe parts
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Meanw hile the Court of Directors 1n a letter on the assump-
uon of the government of Qudh by the Company could
hardly conceal therr glee at the measures taken which were
Iikely to swell the amount of their revenue and ‘expressed
their delight at the peaceable manner 1 which the change
has been effected and the tranquibity that they thought
prevailed 1 Oudh But the Englshman which knew more
about the situation in India than the parasites of the India
Office entered a caveat months before Oudh flared up
We remember that shortly before the occurrence of our disasters i
Afghamstan the unfortunate Sit W Macnaughten and tus equally
infatuated colleague Sir A Burns used thus to express themselves on
the tranqulity and good feeling towards their conguerors that
exsted 1n the hearts of the natnes 1n and about Cabul 2

Esven before the outbreak 1t Meerut on 10 May, events
had occurred which clearly indicated that the excited state of
the sepoy rmind was the result of a spontineous evolution of
seditious sentiment which w1s so worked up that 1t wanted
but the shghtest incitement to set 1n motion gigantic forces of
destruction The st of halim At llah, 1n associate
of Bahadur Shah that the sepoys would have mutinied even
though Oudh had not been annexed ? recerves support from
well known 1ustances of sedition and contumacy The facility
with which the murderers 1n the 40th regiment at Dinapur
were screenied by the whole army was a significant prelude to
to the more open mamfestation of the spint of insubordinition
among the sepoys at Barrackpore on 29 March The 19th st
Berhampur similarly showed their teeth a month before the
outbreak at Barrackpore So great was the tension that,
suspicion from the minds of the sepovs could not be posubly
removed evenif all the cartridges mn the stores of Bengal were
destroyed 1n their very presence Therr officers had been dis
beleved, therr assurances treated with contempt and the
government proclamation of 27 March on the cartndge
question did mot carry the shghtest conviction Meanwhile
2 message from Benares indicated that the country swarmed
with bands of sepovs of the 19th and the 34th

230 \farch 1807

VTral of Bohadar Shah, 168
> Urqubare, The rebell ontn I 22, 5
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If, as the Anglo-Indian Press maintained, the country was
seething with discontent, it was natural that the situation
would be exploited to the full by the dispossessed political
clements to their advantage. It is impossible to look upon
the quick succession of the risings that had assailed the British
in the months of May and June 1857, without entertaining
a vaguc idea of some all-pervading cause which set in motion
the forces of revolt. This would further favour the supposition
that the sepoys contemplated a simultaneous rising on a parti-
cular day, probably 31 May, as investigated by Cracroft
Wilson, the special commissioner, and that the ill-advised
severities at Meerut caused the outbreak to take place there
before the plot was ripe! The form and manner in which
the mutinies were inaugurated also point to an understanding
or an intended co-operation among the sepoys of the Bengal
army in scattered areas.? Even Dr. R. C. Majumdar who has
confounded the theory of conspiracy as a cause of the mutiny
admits:
Tt is likely that some secret negotiations were going on hetween the
leading sepoys of different cantonments, though the exact nature of
this cannot be ascertained, It is probable that the object of these
negotiations was to organise a general mutiny, but for this we have
got no definite evidence.®
So these presumptions, though highly plausible, lack con-
vincing and numerous evidence for their supportd Dr.

1 Baurchier, Eight Montk's, etc. 2; Rowan, The Chaplawm's Nerratize, cte. 33
Kaye, &, 108-10. ;
. *In the trial of Bahadur Shah, the judge-advocate-general Harriott went
to the extent of asserting on the hasis of evidence placed ‘before him that there
was petfect understanding benween the Delbi and the Meerut s¢poys belore the
Iatter revolted (Trial of Bohadur Shat, 141}, For the theory that Pensian influence
was at the bottor of the mutiny see Martin, if, 113, Harriott in particular dqwc]ops
the thests that all through it was a conspiracy (Trial of Bahadur Shak, 726, 101,
15560 of the mahomedan powers of lndia and Persia in which Hasan askari
and the Abyssinian Sidi Kambar played a great part in bringing it to 2 head.
Nluir of the government of die North-West provinces is more emphatic in his
belief that the murny was an 2uempt to cstablish the ascendan;y ggslsgag,
(Recards of the Jntelligence Depariment, etc., i, 35, 46-47, 106, 133, 128, 190, 05, 3¢ Y
and so also was F. Williams, the commissioner, of Meerut {Naralite i;f cenuhaj
‘Hleerut, pp, 64.65; INE. J, 286). In the latest edition of the work of Hol mes, Jobn
Lawrence is quoted ta show that these was no evidence of any conniection :té»]een
the intrigues of the Shah of Persia and the mutiny m:l.f_(:l H_ulaz;, ete. 91n).

SR, C. Majumdar, The Sepyy Mutiny ar;:' the Recolt of 1857, ﬁ:&zlgﬁh e

ACf. inion of Santar Tewari, *If ever an army mul x -
mcdigfﬁoﬁcd?fu al:rzy belonged to Bengal’. Nash of the Bengal Yeomanry cavalry
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Mayjumdar concludes, after 2n exhrustive study of nalable
officral and non official records that by no stretch of imagina-
tton could the revolt be considered as a premeditated one
According to lum the mutinous proccedings were certainly
calculated to preclude the 1dea of conspiracy among the
sepoys themselves and the engineernng of the mutiny by
outaide agencies Bahadur Shah could hardly clatm ny credit
either for orgamsing the mutiny or contributing to 1ts success
or fnlure The statement of Sitaram Bawa, that Nana Salib
orgamsed a big conspiracy w1s unrelitble in character, the
adopted son of Bap Rao seems to have pliyed a part for
himself alone The avalable evidence also does not justfy
the view that the rami of Jhanst anstigated the sepoys to muuny
and to a certam extent this was also true of Kunwar Singh
of Bihar. The outbreal of 1857 was also not nspired by any
politicn] party m India or by any foreign power, Persia or
Russia, hostile to England Nor does 1t appear quite feasible
that a conspiracy was conducted through the arculation of
the chapates

While, therefore, 1t 15 difficult to s1y whether the country
powers or the dispossessed pohitcal elements ke the Nant
were mahing secret preparitions either among themselves or
with the collborauon of the sepovs to overthrow the Briush
from Indin,® 1t cannot be demed that the rcadiness to jomn
the revolt on the part of the people after the sepoys had
broken out, sets forth m clear hght the latent spint of sedition
while quoting the abote view opposes the theory that the revolt was a premeds
tated one (¥ ofunteening 1n Jnd ¢ 104-0> 108) Inneswas convinced that the Meerut
outbreak was not a prearranged part of anv concerted plan (Lu Ano o ond Oude
m the Mutny 1, 216) Colone! Sykes the late chawrman of the East Ind 1 Com
g:m\ also held that the mutiny crept so stowly from station to station (26 February,
50 \farch and 10 Mmy) that it dees not wiggest any previous combination
{Urquhart The Rebellron tn Irda 7-8) Halmn Absanullsh an associate of Bahadue
Shah emphatically stated that the native armv munmed of their own sccord and
not at the instigations of any chuels (T7al ete 166)

I\faumdar op af, 180-211

1Cooper refers to mamy consprrices of a local mature from snt: ted
correspondence (The Crsts cte 7-8 3001} Malleson hoy ever wntes vathout
referning to tources that abundant proofs 1ere obtamed that a consprracy had
been formed with xts ramifications all over Indm b}r’some mfluenual people i
Qudh 1n the 1terval between the annexation and the outbreak. of the mutmy
to on exthrow the Britwh an which the Fyzabad maulawt teok 3 leading past (12
48) Dr R C. \Majumdar has however shown that there 13 no reliabic evidence

1n support of the maulavi s parCipation i a conspiracy, nor is thercany o 1dence
D eagie with he ana or the rani of Jhans. (op af , 180-03)
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and disaffection which they harboured. Nothing illustrates
more strikingly the spirit of contumacy and revolt which seized
the people than the speech which Sarfarazali. the Gorakhpur
maulavi, was said to have delivered at Shahjehanpur on 1
May. The authenticity of this seditious speech cannot indeed
be vouched for but it agrees quite well with the rumour of
rebellion that was in the air of India in 1857. He addressed
the gathering with the words Hazrat-i-majlis, and “brothers
in the common cause’ and after describing the way in which
the finaght had become masters of the country harangued:

The question for debate is- Shall thex continue to be our masters anv
longer? ...By the last prophet, they shall not defile our native soil
am longer. 1 am here to devise wavs and means to accomplish that
obyject. Consider what instruments they used to acquire this country ?

It is the sipakt army which conquered India for them. and by
the sword of Ali! that very instrument shall be emploved to destroy
them.

But you will perhaps ask, ‘what have they done to receive this
wearment” I answer: If snar gadha m the publc streets, and ‘damn
your eves” in the public courts is a form of complunent acceptable to
you, then they have deserved well at vour hands. Have vou never
seen a fellow-countryman of yours being Licked by the whites. and
sometimes the cane laid across hus back®.. You will say: “this is
our natral lot as a subject-race, and we have no right to complain.’
Well, let it be so. But m bbaio! owr rehigion is now in danger. Having
lost the sovercignty of the land. having boved m subjection to the
impure Aafir, shall we surrender the malicnable privileges which we
hate received from the prophet, upon whom be peace®

Then referring to the usual stories about defilement of
caste he turned to the Hindus:

O brothers of the Hindu race! the punitv of s our caste is threatened,
and the religious distinctions so much prized by you invaded by the

2 The meeung was aranged at the howse of Mazhar Kanm and there were
assembled the following pereons:

Qadarzh Khan Nzamal., Qudrach Abdulrauf Khan, Sital Singh, Daular
rm Rallaprasad, Ghambvam Swgb Mangal Kban It mav be notoed that
21l of them arc referred to m the affcial feport on the distarbances 1n the dutnct
7See Shahjehanpur) The entrance 16 the door of the room where the meeung
was held was clovels guarded Vazhar Kamm who plaed the host welcomed the
mautaw and wud that he had come w them agan with mieligence that ther
couse was gammg new friends n cieny oty The stustion deenbed m that
tooh, clearly refiects that a strong moscment was afeat to shake off the mcubus
of Beitish authonts (Mariam, 89,
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proselytizing and annexing Firangt! Rise mn arms| Do you forget
how over and over agamn our countrymen have beaten these so-called
wnvinable Brinsh—in Maisur, 1n Central India, m Kabul, m the
Punjab, and elsewhere? Their whole armucs have been eut up, not
one being left to tell the tale And tnsha-allak ! st wall be so agamn

Just a hundred years ago the rule of the mfide] began, and I declare
to you that it must now end The centenary approaches, my
friends, and have I your unanimous vote to declare that the Agfir
brood shall be stamped out on that date?

The whole assembly with one voice ened out No! sooner than
that The subadar major Ghanshyam Singh was <o much excted that
he sprang to hus feet and drawing his falchion exclaimed By the
sacred cord which I wear as a chatr: of chatries, this blade shall kek up
the blood of lum who dares to bring the greased cartndge to my
mouth A frenzy seized the whole assembly The Hindus cried out
Jar Sn Ram Lackmangt ki, while the Mahomedans yelled EF nara
Haidan, 3a Husan 2

The over exated polincal sentiment as reflected in the
above speech was typical of the atutude of the general body
of the rebels who naturally demanded the espulsion of the
farthless firtnghis because 1n addition to the imjury they had
flicted on pubhc Ife they had also encompassed the run
of the landed classes in the ensnarng system of Enghsh law,?
ruined Indian trade and industries by an unnghteous mono-
polv of all lucrative trade such as 1ndigo, oprum and cloth®
and had despoiled the people by heavy taszation, odious
imposts, and through the medium of stamp papers and court
fees * Thus the mutinies became the means of an upsurge of the
cwvil populace the revolt of the army was accompanied, as a
contemporary Bush officer saxd, by a rebellion of the country 3
The extent and magmtude of thus aspect of the mutiny can
best be described by a reference to the main course of sepoy
war which may now be attempted with the greatest possible
compression

The burst of mutinous feeliigs'at Meerut had been suc-
ceeded by exploswns atmany other cantonment towns Nothing

IMaram 1

6 u;z Dulurbmn 1

L5, 33 d’ the proclamat ons wssued by the Azamgarh rebels quoted

chx E:ghxccn Fifty Seven,
ormhill The an«.al Adcen wres 123
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could assuage the sentiments of the infuriated soldiery. Anson’s
proclamation of 19 May and that of Colvin bearing the date
25 May, were scarcely noticed by them. The latter manifesto
amounted to an admission on the part of the government
of the gravity of the situation—the compact mass of rebellion
which was infecting all alike and the loss of every means -
of control in many districts of upper India. The procla-
mation was of course forthwith repudiated by the governor-
gencral intent on vindicating the strength of the government,
but this measure neither {rightened the rebels into giving
up arms nor checked the progress of the rebellion. During
this time the mutincers at Delhi were extending  their
influence over a large circle and were holding the city in a
manner to keep at bay a complete British corps d” armes. They
also attempted the conquest of Meerut and sent an expedition
to seize the city, but were met by Wilson’s field force on the
Hindan bridge, fifteen miles from Delhi, and completely
routed on 31 May, But in the other fronts the rehellion was
raging furiously. The situation as described by lieutenant-
governor Colvin was that the belief in the permanence of the
British rule being shaken, parts of upper Doab were in a
convulsion.2 In the month of June, India was in the midst of
an epidemic of revolws, and it appeared as though not a
regiment in the service would persevere in their loyalty to the
government. Almost all the remaining stations lying scatte{cd
over half a miltion square miles felt the shock of the mutinies
which werc inaugurated in the same manner in alt places with
much the same effect on the masses in the interior who were
fast rising. The movement was increasingly becoming, as
Malleson said, more¢ national? Like the call .Df destiny the
rising tide of mutiny and rebellion was encircling the British
on all sides—no human hand could prevent it.3 By the end of
June, the general state of the country from Allahabad to
Ferozepur and from the foot of the hills on the borders of
Oudh to the southern confines of Rajputana and the Sagar
districts may be described as more of less under the influence

* Kaye, iii, 293-5, 245.
* Malleson, §, 165.
s Kaye, ii, 407-8; Sherring, The Indian Church, ete. 231.
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of the rebels In the course of 1 month, the British empre
had melted away from the frontiers of Bengal to those of the
Panjab!

As, however, the revolt was spreading the finanaial positon
of the Briish became desperate in the extreme When R H
Dunlop took charge of the Meerut district on 12th June,
he found that no revenue had been paid by any of the zamin
dars since the outbreal, and that the cash balance n the
treasury amounted to three and one fourth lakhs which also
was rapudly disappearmng and stood at something less than
a lakh by the end of the month 2 Politically again the situation
was 30 very grive, and the necessity of concentrating Brinsh
forces on Delln for 1ts recovery was of such magmtude that
Sir John Lawrence was prepared to abandon the Peshwar
valley, leaving 1t 1n the hands of Dost Mohammed of habul
‘m free and friendly cession’, 1 order that the Panjab though
denuded of troops mght still be held with the help of the
latter The “mner certamty’ was that, as Malleson says, if
general Wilson were to retreat from Delln, the Panjab would
nise 1n msurrection ¢

The month of July opened with the surges of revolt flowing
in the directions of Indore and “Mhow m the south, Siallot
and Lahore 1n the north, but more alarming was the spread
of revolt 1n the east, the discovery of a conspiracy 1t Patna
which eventually found expression 1n a nsing m the aty on
3 July It did not stop there Sagwuh 1o Champaran, ten
railes from Dinpur, fell on 2% July Tt was an insignificant
cantonment, and so solated was 1ts position that it seemed
beyongd the reach of finatical emussanies and seditious procit-
mations The fall of Sagauh was followed by the muuny at

*Thormhill gp ar 123 heith Young otherwue very cntical could not
always assess the situation correctly His esumate of the situation on 23 May that
11 was merely a gathernng of the disaffected sepovs and that the people were mot
with them 1s an mstance of fat ity obsenaton (Deém—1¥37 "p ¥ ohmes
quotes Cave Browne to sho v that the dewnfall of the Enghshra'; was taken for
granted and el rebeliion followed as a result {op at 116 141 %)

BFP 1x 894 In Deltu the Briush asked for a foan of 2o lakhs from Seth
Luchm chand and collected 3 Jakhs from the baners of Pamipat and harnal and

5 lakhs from maharaja Narendra Singh of Patiala Jyotiprasad had also advanced
Rs 3000 to the Enghsh (Metcalfe Tuo Aatue Mreatt es 112 115 143 174)

IKaye u 60BIT
$7\Ialleson nr 300 01 Cooper The Crss etc 191
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Dinapur on the following day. which threw the whole country
into a ferment, leading to the disaster of Dunbar’s expedition
at Arrah and the mutiny at Ramgarh. All these had disturbed
the cauntry to within two hundred miles of Calcutta but it
might have been far worse if the Dinapur mutineers had
marched upon Patna and Gaya. In the west, severe battles
were raging outside Delhi where the mutineers were fighting
like ‘devils and practically besieged the besicgers. Rotton,
the chaplain to the Delhi ficld force, had no hesitation in
stating that the English were not really strong enough to
capture Delhi. The paucity of Europeans was so keenly felt
by the army before the imperial city that it was suggested
and even recommended by general Wilson to abandon the
cantonment of Meerut and to withdraw {rom it all the
European troops to replenish the strength of the besieging
army at the ridge.? This serious predicament was only matched
by the imposing victory of the sepoys at the battle of Shahganj
ncar Agraon 3 July. It was not unlikely, therefore, that the
government should consider the simation grave and accord-
ingly admitted that the North-West provinces were for the
moment (first week of July) fost3

Yet in some ways the month of July saw a setback in the
progress of the revolt. The recapture of Cawnpore and the
occupation of Bithur gave a death blow to the plan which
promised to resuscitate the great Maratha confederacy Iqid
low forty years ago by the Marquess of Hastings. Further, \'\'}t‘n
Cawnporc as a base of operations on the Doab, the British
forces could march to Oudh and effect the release of the
beleaguered garrison at Lucknow. But the most cheering
prospect was considerably dimmed by the frustration which
attended the repeated cfforts made by general Havelock to
reach the city. Havelock crossed the Ganges on 25 July
and proceeded upto Unao where he encountered a desperate
conflict on 29 July, and another further up at Bashiratganj,
a strongly fortificd place, eight miles distant from Unao on
the same day, but on heating from Neill the gloomy news of

* Keith Y 7—1857, p- 91

=§§'.’.:u‘,°7“7'.’f&ﬁjﬁi’m-, N, wc. 6,72, 150:0L o

= oo nome of Inifa to the Court of Directors, £ July, 1857, quoted in Kaye,
i, 413,
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road being so difficult, the alternatine proposal of reach
the city by the Jaunpur road was seriously discussed in offic
quarters In any case, the Bnnsh posion in Gawnp
appeared to have been untenable and the governor gene
was constramed thus to instruct the officer 1n the field

It 15 not probable that the rehef of the Luchnow gamson will
facilitated by the aband of Cawnpore, butf this be the «
do not hesitate to abandon it The poliical importance of 1t,
the cost of recovenng u, are not to be weighed agamst the n
of Lucknow 1

While this was the situation m the Gangeuic valley,
outbreal at holhapur which took place at this time not mex
led to the extension of the revolt, but significantly pointec
1ts political contents patticularly to the resentment genera
by the lapse of Satar 2 More alarming was the situation
the east, where Kunwar Singh held sway at Shahabad, ¢
consequently the means of protecting Bengal were also fou
to be altogether nadequate® The 5th irregular calvalry
the distnets round Bhagalpur muunmed on 14 Aug
and commenced therr march to Arrah Thus the scene
mutiny and rebellion rging i the country! along the cou
of the Jumna from Delhi to Agra, from Agra to Allahal
and thence to Dinapur and Arrah, spreading over the mid
provinces of Bengal, where martial law was proclaimed, v
unlike anything that was recorded in the history of Inc
From Arrah to Ramgany a hine could be drawn througl
completely disorgamsed country and i fact taking the ¢
turbed distnets from Caleutta to Hissar and from Mhow
Meerut we shall find the resolt to extend over a tract
country averaging one thousand mules in breadth, and {
hundred mules in fength Alike 1n extent and mtenuty,
resolt, therefore, assumed a huge dimension at least for so
months, which could scarcelv have been accomplished b
few thousand sepovs without the aid of the people Mot mar

2 Forrest Selectons u 219 (Intro )

Thaye m 407

3FP n 188 R J H Brch secretary to the government Fort Wall
31 August

*CL Licutenant Majend e who saw the condition of these regions sa J
mutny and rebellion stalked i bloods trumph (Lp ameng the Pand s 299)
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politically, financially also the government was faced with a
crisis, The Heutenant-governor of Agra in his letter dated 5
August 0 the officer commanding at Allahabad disclosed the
state of affairs in terms which could hardly be exaggerated
He wrote:

We have laid up stores largely, but our funds arc becoming very
limited; we hold no country, and scarcely collect anything, therefore
it is essential that funds come with the force in some degree for our
own use here: our wants may be taken at onelacand 2 half,....\Ve
can scarcely carry on beyond three months more.!

Even early in the month of September this financial strin-
gency could not be removed; and Colvin complained of the
pressing need of money which was to a considerable extent
relieved by taking a loan in the city of Agra at a high rate of
interest and by raising a sum by supplying bills.? This financial
bankruptcy was only matched by the alarming political
situation in the Doab, where the rebel power was being
organised with a rapidity that spelt danger.? The report of 8
September indicated that the Oudh insurgents were pressing
down to the country to the north of the Ganges in the Allaba-
bad district and had arrived within some four or five miles of
TJhusi which is opposite Ailahabad. The cacroachments of the
Oudh talukdars continued unopposed with the result that
towards the end of September they were reported to be
accupying the whole country between Gopiganj and Allahabad
and cven threatened to control the grand trunk road. Intelli-
gence was also obtained that a person calling himself the
.nazim of Allahabad had scized Phaphamow, 2 village about
five miles on the east side of the Ganges, The gravity of the
danger was underlined by the fact that the place was to
Allahabad what Howrah was to Fort William* The move
was not merely a predatory raid, for the rebel government
even made attempts to consolidate these possessions in an
orderly way. The Allahabad parganas to the north of the

LFP. jv, 142: Fort, Agra, 5 Avgust. .

FP. fv, 114; Mudr, Records of the Jntelligence Depariment, etc. 3, 374 )

$FP. i 114; Narrative of Events. .

tFP. +ii, 34, 42: Ueutenant-governor, Central Provinces, Benares,
Szptember,

30
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Ganges were allotted to taluhdars and the Oudh termtory
including the northern districts of Benares were divided into
chacklas each of which was placed under a chackladar All
through this area, the ex zarmundars remammed n a state of
acute tension, and 1n open defiance for the purpose of retaming
possession of their estates They came from the parganas of
Soraon, Nawabganj, Secundra, Jhus, Meh and Kewm !
Official correspondence gives us a ghmpse of the way in
which the rebellion of the taluhdars was imuated The mags-
trate of Gopigan) writes on 24 September

The two parties appear t0 have umted for the one common
obyject of driving out and destroying the Bitish government Thewr
proceedings are by no means hurned, but arc conducted m the
ost systematic manner, they summon the zamindars of willage after
village by letter, and exact from them submussion and tribute, if the
zamundars refuse ta come, their estate 1 visited by a party of match-
lock-men  their umted forces are daily mcreasing, and they daily
advance 1n the occupation of the country They collect revenue,
destroy crops, appomnt their own police, and are makmng arrange-
ments for an Abkarree settlement

Meanwhile 1n the east the activaties of the rebels and the
unopposed march of the mutineers kept the Bihar distncts i
a very unsettled state Brntish prestge was beng rapdly
destroyed with alarming consequences for the future 3 It was
apprehended that the pnce of the opium crop in Bihar
would be 1n jeopardy if the rebels were not checked 4 The
district of Gaya in particular was completely ravaged by the
surgents A Money, the magstrate of the district, in s
letter of 17 September strongly argued that the distnet
should not be denuded of ats troops, as the government was
not mn full possession of a large part of the district All
e wouniry 40 e s compraag, e pragames of Awwal,
Uncha, Goh Manowra and part of Sis: was i the hands of
the rebels Rupwars and rebels were commuttng excesses with

1FP vu, 145 146 FO Mayne jount magstrate, Gopigans, 25 Scptember
1FP vu 144

*FP v,87 W F \Macdonnell, magstratc of Saran 13 June,

4Ihd 69
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impunity in Noada to such an estent that the magistrate
wanted to make examples of them.!

The tension of the revolt was to a certain extent relaxed
by the fall of Delhi on 14-15 September. Never since the
commencement of the mutiny had the cause of the British
been better or the prospects of the rebels worse, The mutiny
indeed recelved a great blow, but the ecstatic feelings with
which the public at that time, especially of Bengal, received
the intelligence of the fall of Delhi werc completely darkened
by the events of the succeeding months and an influential
daily was obliged to make the following admission:

Upon the fall of Delhi we ventured to express a hope that mutinies
would thenceforth cease. We miscalculated the depth of the infatua-
tion under which the sepoys are labouring.®

Even in the last part of Scptember the troops mutinied at
Nagode and Jabalpur. The fall of Delhi only marks the dividing
Iine of the revolt of 1857,—what began as a muliny was now
assuming the proportions of a rebellion of the people, in a
sense more shattering and more portentous than the military
insurrection and the partial civil rebellion of the carlicr period.
1n the early period it was Delhi, now it was Lucknow. Delhi
was defended by the sepoys, in the Indian offensive at Lucknow
the talukdari levies preponderated over the regular soldiers.
In September Qutram joined Havelock and Neill at Cawn-
pore. Havelock’s force again crossed the Ganges and fought
an action at Mangalwar on 21 September with success and
proceeding up captured Alambagh on 23 September and
then entered the Lucknow residency. It was the first relief
of Lucknow “effected just in time, ‘to anticipat¢’, as Innes
says ‘the arrival of the Delhi mutineers’.3 But the struggle
was severe, as many as five hundred and thirty-five officers and
men on the British side were killed up to 26 September,?
and tiluugh the opposition of the Indian rebels was overcome,
Outram and Havelock remained besieged in the residency.

1FP, vii, 106: A. Money, magistrate of Gaya, 17 September.
2 Hindu Patriol, 8 October, 1857 }
5 Innes, Lueknow and Qude in the Mutiy, Preface, p. vi.
+ Malleson, i, 542; Forrest, Selections, 3. (Tntre.); 245.
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Esen those who were inchned to moderation believed that
the safety of the Briush was at stake at Lucknow Reliable
mtelhgence was recenved that the aty was surrounded by
thurty thousand rebels Outram mamntained his position at
Lucknow till the armval of Campbell 1n November, by the
most daring acts of bravery and carrying on risky sorties now
and then

The government also did not munce matters in respect of
the position at Lucknow and candidly expressed 1ts helplessness
‘When major Ershine, the commussioner of the Jabalpur division,
pleaded for strengtheming us position i Sagar and Narbada
terntonies where he felt powerless to cope with the tide of
revolt surging all around him, Cecil Beadon, the secretary
to the government of India cautioned hum that interests of
stil greater value were at stake at Lucknow He proceeded to
wnform Ershine that Qutram’s force found itself in a precanous
position 1 the beleaguered ity with a stock barely sufficient
to last three weeks even with reduced rations and with no
prospect of replenishing 1t by procunng supplies The posiion
became still more unhappy because of the mability of the
government to send a force of more than four thousand 1n all
agamnst Havelock’s demand for two bngades of two thousind
five hundred men each, which was abundantly jusufied by
the desperate struggle by which Haveloch reached the resi-
dency The circumstances were such that the governor general
1n council considered the sacnfice of the gamson 1n Lucknow
as a far greater calamty and reproach to them than an out
break of the Rewah and other states ! Official and non official
reports of October confirmed the mmpression that a storm of
a senous nature was brewmg amongst the zammndars of
Qudh, and that 1t would burst upon Lucknow, Jaunpur and
Azamgarh 2

While the Indians kept up an ncessant fire upon ther
enemies 1 Lucknow i October, 1 other theatres thewr
supremacy was effectinely mamtamed and even extended
From different sources, intellgence was obtamned by the
government that a great and increasing fermentaton was

LFP \u 848> C Beadon secretary to the government of India 30 October

tFP wvu 73 intell gence recemed from the magustrate 13 October  The
Englskman 28 October 57
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going on among .thc chiefs in the Oudh border on the Jaunpur
““d. Aza_mg:xrh SIdCS. and that the leaders were contemplating
an invasion of the districts on many points to extend the rule
of the rebel government of Lucknow. The authoritics felt
no doubt that the forces of Mehndi Hasan were being daily
recruited by talukdari men, villagers and sepoys and that
pressure had been steadily applied to induce him to advance
against the British. P. Carnegy, who was entrusted with the
duty of watching the principal line of enemy activitics, con-
fidently reported that the plan of a combined attack against
Jaunpur and Azamgarh was well under way, one force was
to mave from Sultanpur and the other to march from Fyzabad
along the Gogra, and to be supported by 2 simultaneous
invasion from Gorakhpur. Zamindars were constantly coming
and going along with their retainers who numbered nearly
two thousand. Circulars were sent to them promising a remis-
sion of two years’ revenue if they would help the expedition
10 Jaunpur. Reports of such movements werc found to be too
consistent to be lightly dismissed. The scheme of such a
planned operation was not eventually carried out in the
month of October but  extensive preparations were made
obviously under the belief that major operations would have
10 be undertaken soon. Nazims and chackladars were geared
up into activity. At Fyzabad workshops were established for
the repair of heavy guns; at Dilkhus House, a quantity of
tead had been dug up, madc into bullets, and distributed
between Lucknow, Gorakhpur and Sultanpur, and vigorous
efforts were made to cnlist, on the side of the rebdls, the
talukdars and their followers.

To the south of Jaunpur lay Gopiganj where the cffects of
the revolt were more sweeping, Various partics of rebels were
plundering and collecting revenue in the name of the king of
Oudh in the month of QOctober, It appears that the nephew
of Kunwar Singh was present there with about one thousand
seven hundred followers? The selfstyled nazim and the
naib-nazim were also there with a large force \'\'ithin 'twc.lve
mmiles of Mayne’s encampment at Hanumangan, continuing

LFP, vii, 712 R. Strachey, sceretary ta the government, Central Provinces,
15 October, 57,

* The Englishman, 24 October, '57-
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to raise border talukdars against the Brtish® The report of
T O Mayne, the joint magistrate of Gopigan; of a date 1n
Qctober 15 2 document of great importance, for 1t shows that
the fall of Delhn had hardly any effect on the rebellious multi-
tude whose activities mn that area probably reached their penk
i that month The collapse of the Bntish authonty, which
was thus brought about, could have resulted only from the
rebellion of the people and not from a mere mutiny of sepays

He writes

The cvil adi 1on of these parg 1s virtually at a standstll,
‘We hold the Grand Trunk Road, and keep open the communication

but the willages on both sides, to the extent of four or five
mles only, can be said to be in our possession and even they yield
only a divided obedience Lattle or no revenue comes in, and
the services of the tahsildars and their establish are made use of
as police 2

The communication of the governor general to the Court of
Duirectors 1n the same month also adverted to the same subject
of the occupation of the country by the Oudh talukdars who
were systematically 1cquining willage after willage, collecting
revenue and forming settlement papers 3

Cawnpore during this revolt had assumed special sigmfi
cance on account of 1its central postion—at linked Luchnow
and halpt and because 1t was the base of operations i the
far flung theatres of war The possession of this city by the
contending parties provides the clue to the many important
operations of the war It was the nerve centre of the British
army and so the tension of the situation was reflected 1n the
fluctuanng conditions of the aity Towards the end of October
great excitement prevailed there It was reported that large
bodies of men—portions of the Gwalor or Indore bngade
were advancing within sivteen mules of the place The district
was 1n 1 ferment as the people fondly behieved m the deciata
tion that the Bntish rule was approaching its end and even
yassads were being collected for the Gwalor contingent by the
rebellious zanundars of Akbarpur and Bhogmpur 4

LFP x 2189 Narratse of Dvents to 14 November

*FP 1x 227

3 226 v 3%
SFP vu 121 1x 234 C Chester comumuss oner of Allshabad 31 October
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The position of Allahabad and the neighbouring countries
became still more ticklish by the middle of October, British
rule broke down to a point of utter helplessness. The police
was totally disorganised, the country was daily ravaged by
rebel bands and ceven the military position was threatened.
The government admitted in a tone of utter mortification:

The news of the fall of Delhi is understood to be generally dishelieved
in this division. The reason of this incredulity is, that the people here
have seen no results from that success.

Portions of the district passed completely under the rule
of the rebe! nazim of Salone Fazl Azim whose naib Rahulamin
encamped at Soraon, at a distance of about fourteen miles
from the fort across the Ganges,! where large numbers of
insurgent forces were constantly being accumulated.? These
raised revenue with impunity and kept the grand trunk
road entirely under their mercy. The condition in the neigh-
bouring district of Fatehpur was cqually bad and frequent
acts of open rebellion, such as the rising at Khajwa,? under-
mined the security of the British. Further at Khakhrery,
about sixteen miles from Fatchpur, a large body of rebels
were committing depredations and havoec.? In the Benares
division, Gorakhpur remained in the hands of the rcbels.®

What gave cause for still more anxiety was that rebellion
and disaffection were daily gaining strength in the trans-
Jumna tracts which had hitherto been well-disposed.® In
October there was found concentrated strong bodies of armed
rebels, ready for action in Banda, Rewah and the adjacent
countries. Rewah had considerable strategic importance since
it commanded three of the Gangetic districts, Cawnpore,

1FP. ix, 216: Narrative of Events to 14 November.

*The Allahabad reporter of the Englishman stated that it was Mehdi Ali
Khan who styled himself as the nazim of Allahabad, was encamped at Soraon
along with Sangram Singh, the zamindar of Shahpur and Beni Bahadur Singht
of Nastatpur. They jointly commanded force of from, four 1o six thousand armed
men and six guns and were ravaging the country and exacting from all a tax of
four annas on the rupec (24 October, '57).

2 See section on Fatehpur.

* The Englishman, 24 October, '57.

°FP. ix, 217, .

¥P. vii, 72: Report by Strachey, secretary to the govemment,
Provinces, 14 October.

Central
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Allahabad and Murzapur Its frontier was less than thirty
miles from the fort of Allahabad and lttle more from the
town of Mirzapur Further, 1t formed always the only con
vement Iink of commumcation between Benares or Allahabad
and the Sagar and Narbada provinces and the postal road
between Bengal and Bombay also lay through 1t Naturally
on the tranqullity of Rewah depended the secunty of Bntish
possessions in the whole expanse of country stretching from
Mirzapurto Nagpur But there were uneasy strmngs 1n Rewah
and the whole of the population was hostle It was appre-
hended that the fifth wuregulars having left Sasaram to jon
kunwar Singh would pass through Rewah Portions of the
district were entirelv under the possession of the rebels The
offical report of the first week of October stated that the whole
of Schagpur, Shahpur and Ramgarh was in open rebellion
and Jabalpur was 1n ferment 2 Banda on the west was already
under the control of the rebels Unul up to the mddle of
October, Kunwar Singh was stll at Banda with about four
thousand men Ershine s report of 168 Qctober, gave a very
unfavourable opimon of the feeling of the chiefs in Bundel
khand towards the Bntish and he strongly represented the
view that unless military measures were taken at once, the
whole country would be lost Numerous thakurs were up mn
arms with their followers plundening villages and their ravages
extended up to Narsinghpur on the north of the Narbada
where a number of them and pathans after combimng thewr
followers had taken possession of willages and police posts 3
Simmlarly Hoshangabad to the south of the Narbada was
thoroughly disorgamsed and the police were beaten out of
their posts Mayor Erskine adrmitted with regret that his three
Bundelkhand distnets— Jalaun, Jhana and Chanden—were
not at that moment 1n his possession He also added that
Sagar and Maundla reguans were . a stae of anarchy, but
all these were the ontward symptoms of a deeprooted feeling
of sedition which had taken possession of the minds of the
people at the total abasement of the Bntish authonty As in

tFP v 89
$FP 1x 272 Reportby W C. Erslunc, commuss oner
SFP vu 82 Report by R Strachey 22 October
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Alizhabad s0 also In the Narbada territorics, the peoples and
chicfs appear to have taken, as Erskine despairingly recorded:

Little notice of our successes in Delbi and Lucknow, indeed it is
questionable if they believe the reports....?

During this time the mighty wave of rebellion was surging
into the castern region. A good deal of disorder prevailed in
parts of Bihar, especially in Gaya and in large portions of
Shahabad. The licutenant-governor of Bengal stated in his
letter of 30 October that it was occasioned partly by the
attitude of the villagers and the police who were unwilling
to lay their hands on the mutinous scpoys lurking in the
district and partly by the influence of Kunwar Singh, and a
general belief that he was soon t0 return to his estate victorious.
The rise of Kunwar Singh and the civil rebellion that followed
inits wake completely disorganised Shahabad, and other parts
of Bihar were aflected in the same manner so that all factories
were plundered and the Europcans were compelled to fly
away. The abandonment of Gaya and Noada in pursuance
of Tayler’s questionable order excited disturbances all through
the district, which had scarcely subsided when the mutinous
fifth irregular cavalry commenced their predatory activities.
Once again a devastating march was repeated over nearly
the same ground by the companies of the 32nd regiment
from Deoghar. The authority of the government was subjected
to humiliation by the repetition of thesc mutinous proceedings.
During the month of October the districts to the north of the
Ganges in Bihar also remained exposed to the inroads from
the Oudh rebels who were masters of Gorakhpur. Yet nothing
could be done, as the licutenant-governor confessed, to.rehcve
this tension in Bihar owing to the urgency of suppressing the
rebellion in upper India in Lucknow, which needed all the
available military rcsources of the government. But 'lhc
direumstances of rebellion in Bibar caused scrious anxiety
beeawse of the importance of the opium cultivation and
should this fail it would most surcly affect revenue, The
government failed to restore normal conditions with the

3 Ibid. 82-83.
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result that the usual oprum advances could not be made 1n
many parts of Bthar *

The defeat of the Ramgarh battalion at Chatra Pass on
2 Ocober® effectively cheched the rebels and sccured the
district, but Shahabad was still kept in ferment by Amar
Singh and more speaially by Judhar Singh who had taken up
a posttion in the west of the Bihar district and was nstru-
mental m crossing the 5th irregulars over the Son In the
early part of October Judhar Singh was sull reported to
by plundenng and harassing the portion of the distrct of
Gaya around Arwal An expedition was sent aganst him to
effect hus capture but s house at Khamim was found to be
surrounded by lofty mudwalls loopholed and the place gar-
nisoned by six or seven hundred retmners armed with guns
and matchlocks The attempt to force open an entry nto the
butlding was repulsed and the assalants were compelled to
fall back and retire to Arwal® Though an 1solated affur,
the disaster would have set the whole province 1n a flamef
the Oudh rebels had marched into Bihar ¢

The overall picture of the situation was anything but
encouraging to the government and was not likely to mspire
confidence tn 1t It meant the triumph of rebellion up to a
pornt, although the mutinous soldiery failed to consohidate the
advantage It was now more than five months since the
mutiny broke out at Meerut and Delln Though at the carly
stages full scale military exertions could not be directed owing
to the paucity of troops, the military position was entirely
different by October when troops from Madras, Bombay,
the Cape, China, Persta and other places were rushed to the
battle area and yet the British remamned besieged m isolated
pockets despite the capture of Delln and the rehef of Lucknow
Basically, therefore, there was some strength 1 the character
and org; ton of the rebellion which baffled every demon-
stration of superior arms to suppress 1t All scemed to be
clasing on the Enghsh, and the contemporary view could

3FP vu 89 Minute by | cutenant governor of Bengal 20 October, NE u
75

TFP vu 17
SFP vu 20 Narcatwe of Events to 31 October
Ths Englishman 26 October 57
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hardly exaggerate the inconvenient fact that there was more
violence, more anarchy ‘now than there was a fortnight or a
month ago’. Whatever the reason, the British government
could not by any means form a correct estimate of the danger
and adopt measures to crush the rebellion then raging over
Lucknow, Cawnpore, Fatehpur, Allababad, Bareilly and
Bihar.!

The situation, as it stood in the early part of November, was
that the revolt till then had met with no mighty and moral
check. Its strongest convulsions were stll felt in Qudh and
until Oudh was subjugated, the rcbellion in the bordering
districts could not be suppressed. From Lucknow flowed
influences which encouraged the struggling spirits to persevere
in the death-grapple. From Lucknow with one line stretching
up 10 Gorakhpur in the east, and another to Cawnpore on the
south, two other great centres of revolt, it looked like a cordon
thrown off round the English. The menace threatening the
British at Cawnpore reached its climax in the month of
November. The occupation of Gorakhpur by the rebels and
the apparent inability of the English to cope with Mohammed
Hasan also tended to destroy confidence and order in the
neighbouring arca. As the commissioner of Patna wisely
observed:

all the prestige we ought to have acquired from the capture of
Pelhi and our numerous victories in the North-West. ..
have been rendered fruitless, He further recorded his impression
—other British officers could not fail to notice this in different
centres of authority—that even the fall of Delhi has not been
an cvent of any consequence in checking the progress of
rebellion, and so its continued success naturally strengthened
the assertions of the disaffected, who endeavour to persuade fhc
people that Delhi has not falles, and that we are in no better position
now, than we were two months age.*
In much the same strain and in the same month the Azam-
garh officer was constrained to inform the authorities? that a
1 The Englishman, 24, 26, Octobes, '57. 5 :
SFP, vil, 222: Report by E. A, Samuells, Patna, 18 November.
$FP, ix, 286 Letter of F. M. Bird, joint-magistrate of Azamgarh, dated 18
November, '57.
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sepoys,! were pouning down to the attack of Jaunpur The
atticks were cffecunely countered by Longden asssted by
colonel Franks but they remmined pracucally besieged 1n the
Inst week of November with twe Jarge arnues in ther close
vcmty 1n Lucknow, 1nd 1n Cawnpore, out numbenng them
1 men 1nd guns, ind A huge force threatemng them in the
cst 2t Jaunpur It was evident that the Indians were acung
1 concert and not without some degree of orgimsation

Thus both 1t Lucknow and Cawnpore the rebels had
assumed 2 posture of strength It was one of thosc moments
when with better leaderstup and wath 1 planned effort to
combme, the Inditn rebels could hve turned the scales
agunst the Enghsh The whol of Oudh was in arms and
Rohilkhand was disaffected The truned soldiers of the
Gwalior contingent, numbenng nearly five thousand, were
approaching Cawnpore and Cawnpore was only fifty three
mmles from Luchnow on one side, and only forty mules from
Kalp on the other The defence of Cawnpore and Luchnow
demanded the attention of Sir Colin 1t one and the syme time
Outram who was 1 man of courige communicated to hus
chief that the relief of Lucknow should be o secondary const
deration, but Sir Colin saw the danger of Lucknow becoming
another Delln  the rchef of the resdency should be all
ymportint—importint because
All accounts from Lucknow show that Sir James Outram 13 i great
strazts The whole country has ansen around him and the most tnfling
supplics cannot be obtained from the country :

Trom 1 military pomt of view, as Torrest says, Campbell
should have secured s base and hine of aperition previous
to his advance upon Lucknow, but polcal consideritions
dictated otherwise 3

Luchnow was rehes ed for the sccond time on 17 November,
but 1t was evident that tfie struggle wis a severe one

1 The Engl shmen 24 “\ovember and 10 December 57

*Forrest Selections 1 (Intro) p 27 See also the letter of Fredene Arthur
Wili s (Maude and Sheter u 557) diany of Mrs Bartrum {\ Widow s Rem
mscexces ete 21 22) and Lady Inglis s Journal {The 5 ege of Lucknou 16-18) for
the hardsh ps the Furopeans endured in the res dency dunng this tme Servants
and s ecpers were desert ng daly \lso Rees A Personal Marrat e 205

3 Forrest op at 278 2989
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—cleven hours® strect fighting of the most determined
character had to be gone through—ﬁ‘running the gauntlet
through strects against guns in position and houses Ioopholed
and garrisoned.™ The number of the Tudians slain at Sikan-
darbagh was estimated at about threc thousand, and the
most Tevolting brutalities were committed. Forbes-Mitchell of
the Ninety-Third who participated in the struggle admitted
that the war of the mutiny became 2 horrible one, ‘a demoralis-
ing war for the civilised men to be engaged in’, but he
candoned the conduct of the ‘Jacks’ on the ground that they
did not ‘begin this war of extermination’.2

Lucknow was relieved, the gain was great, but it proved to
be a pyrrhic victory. While Qutram intended to hold the
town, the commander-in-chief found that his resources were
inadequatc against the overwhelming numbers of rebels in arms
surrounding the country, He was convinced that the garrison
would be again besieged if it was not withdrawn. So after
extricating the garrison at Lucknow, he decided to fall back
as speedily as possible on Cawnpore, ‘the key of all future
operations’? leaving Outram at Alambagh with four thousand
men confronting the Indian force estimated at over a hundred
thousand.? The march to Cawnpore with women and children
commenced on 27 November under the most exciting
conditions. Meanwhile general Windham had been attacked
by the Giwalior contingent and his force had been obliged to
retire within the fort at the head of the bridge of boats. The
sitnation was the gravest of its kind the British had so far
confronted in the war of the mutiny. If the bridge fell into the
hands of the Indians before Sir Colin and his troops reached
Cawnpore, they would be cut off in Oudh with fifty thousand
rebel forces in their rear, a well-equipped army of forty

Letter of captain Frederic Arthur Willis in Maude and Sheser, 3, 43, 53,
Alo letter of H. D. Willock i, Sty 547 N 5. Sy
Nrckeasiof o 58 Lt o ot o B N on g W T
'maddeacd British troops wreaked on the Indians (Mt Memairs, 71). Licutenaat
Majendie also characterised the war as a war of extermination, the skin was
black and that was all (U among the Pandies, 196).

?Forrest, Selections, i (Intro.), p. 309. CF. the message of the chiel of the staff to

colonel Campbell on 22 Qetober, 1857: Recollect the vast importance of Cawa-
pore, as a depot for supplics for Lucknow (EP. vi, 32).

<Case (Mrs. A.), Day by Day of Lucknow (1858), 210, 218,
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presence of a connderable number of the msurgents with guns at
Calpee, and the surprising and increasing audacity of the rebels on
aither side of the Doab mn the Allahabad distuct, all bine to
prevent the mmprovement of public feeing Trade is checked, and
n several places, away from the mmediate neighbourhood of our
garrisons, disorders prevail, which the evil officers are powerless to
remedy T

The flame of rebellion flared up 1 a virulent form 1 the
division of Allahabad The ousted zamundars of the trans-
Jumna parganas encouraged by the success of rebel forces at
Cawnpore rose 1n revolt and threw the whole country mto con-
fusion The leader of 2 village, Hanuman by name, collected
a following of two thousand men and started a commotion 2
In the parganas to the north of the Ganges, the nazim Fazl
Az was holding sway over Soraon, and all the willages
of the Secundra pargana, north of Phulpur, were occupied by
the rebels Thus portion of the Allahabad distnict lying between
the Ganges and Jaunpur had been for months past under the
undisputed power of the usurping government A rebel leader
Rajabali established a permanent post at Phaphimow 3 Similar-
1y, the rebels of Fatehpur were exated to fresh outrages by the
long continued occupation of Cawnpore by the mutmneers
They plundered the tahsils of Kalyanpur and Jahanabad and
commutted other excesses % So great was the commotion which
resulted from the debacle that dunng that week, the postal
communication with Cawnpore was entirely cut off, and the
telegraph having been interrupted, all mtercourse was stopped 3

The political condition of the countries to the south east of
Oudh between the Ganges and the Gogra remained un-
changed The mnstruction recewved by brigadier-general Franks
from the authonties 1 the muddle of December refers to the
presence of powerful popular leaders who were marshalling
their forces for attacking British terntonies Gorakhpur was n
e nands of the révet nazim Mivhamned Faoun Wik o
huge force which was estimated at twelve or fificen thousand

VFP 3x 603 Narrate for the week ending m 26 December

3FP 1x 599 Narratue of Events to 19 December

SFP vmt 43-44 Reportby R Strachey

SFP 1x 593

3FP ix 5%
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men he was spoiling for action and holding out the threat of
his intended invasion of the Azamgarh district. Equally power-
ful, but more influential, was Mehndi Hasan, the leader of the
Oudh rebels on the eastern frontier, the self-styled nazim of
Sultanpur, who was in close touch with Fazl Azim at Soraon
and ready for the offensive. The palwar chicf Madho Prasad
of Birhar was similarly engaged in making preparations and
advancing ke a lowering cloud upon the district. The raj-
coomar leaders, Udresh Singh and Chandresh Singh, were
actively hostile. In fact, most of the chief landowners or
talukdars of this area were in arms against the British,

cach with a body of matchlock-men, and the more important with
their complement of light field artillery.?

‘Thousands of rajcoomars and palwars under their respective
chieftains together with hundreds of sowars and sepoys on the
borders of Azamgarh and Jaunpur were scouring the country
and threatening the frontier line from a chain of outposts
which they had built up at Lohra, ncar Mahul and the
Gogra and in the vicinity of Singramau.? The scene of rebellion
thus presented opened a new phase of the mutiny which the
British found it difficult to suppress.

The position in the central Doab towards the end of Decem-
‘ber became highly intriguing. The doab districts down to Ali-
garh came under British possession in October, the Ganges
having formed a dividing line between the British troops and
the rebels, with the result that brigadier Grant’s column
moved freely from Agra to Cawnpore cocrcing Mainpuri and
Etawah to submit and carrying his avenging army to Farrukha-
‘bad and cutting up the nawab's forces at Kanauj on 23 October.
But with the withdrawal of Grant’s column, the state of things
in all these districts were altered very much for the worse.
British claims were openly repudiated. The raja of Mainpuri
allied himself with the nawab of Farrukhabad. The position of
Mainpuri caused ‘anxiety as it lay close to the junction of the
Agra and Delhi roads with the road to Cawnpore. Towards

the end of the year Farrukhabad became the chief centre of

LFP. viii, 4344.
* FP. ix, 600: Nasrative of Events to 19 Docember,
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rebellious activities in the trans Gangetic tract, and was visited
by the nawab of Malaghar, Firuz Shah and others Under
such circumstances, and gawing accession of strength from
the rohilla rebels, the people of Farrukhabad even planned an
mvasion to Etah to occupy the distnct, for here the Brtish
wnfluence had practically ceased This synchronised with the
partial occupaton of Cawnpore by the Gwalior. mutineers
so that,

i the begmning of December the whole of the muddle Doab was
more completely than ever m the possession of the enemy

During the time Agra was also threatened and though the
mvaders of Cawnpore were driven back the intermediate dis-
tricts towards Agra were so much in danger of falling nto the
hands of the Indian rebels that remforcements from Delhi had
to be sent to the fighting hnes The people of Farrukhabad
became restive and carrted out their scheme of conquering
British territorses to the west and north Large bodies of pathans
and rohullas assembled on the opposite bank of the Ganges and
crossed 1t They were scattered by colonel Seaton at the battle
of Kasgany 1n the north of Etah on 14 December but the
Farrukhabad rebels continued their incurstons All these led
to intensive mulitary operations and the gnp of the rebels over
this whole area was only relieved by Seaton’s imposing victory
at Patiali in the north of the Etah district and the reconquest
of Mainpun on 27 December These successful campaigns were
followed by the commander i chief’s smart victories in the
beginming of the next year1

While this was the situation m the north, the Sagar and
Narbada ternitories were entirely 1solated mn the carly part of
December The dak commumcation with Nagpur and Mirza
pur was cut off which gave nise to deep apprehensions about
the extent of the rebelion The chiefs and the people were
excited to fresh activities under the impression that the British
army nowhere existed or was of no consequence

After driving back the mvaders from Cawnpore on 6 Decem-
ber, Campbell turned his attention to the Doab The success

SFP 1x 8967 Report of the commander in chuef s field operations,
TFP x 501 502 594 598 601
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of the Gwalior forces, though it was only for a brief period, had,
as has been noticed, completely discredited the government
and strengthened the position of the disaffected. Contemporary
British opinion was emphatic on this point that the heart of
every Indian was against them.! They were surrounded on
every side by desperate rebels. It was no longer the mutinous
soldiers ageinst whom they were fighting, but a mixed body of
people, the masses of the Gangetic valley who had come out
to take up arms and also disaffected sepoys. This broad fact
had to be considered in any calculation of mikitary plans to be
pursued, and Campbell’s policy was shaped accordingly. What
he wanted was not merely an invasion of the Doab, but a
military grasp of the country, ‘to keep the ground line of com-
munications thoroughly safe’ for future operations further up
the country. As he saw it, the British garrisons at Delhi, Agra
and Allahabad all on the line of the Jumna did not by them-
selves provide the necessary bases for the complete military
domination of the great plain unless a strategic station in the
north, along the line of the Ganges, was secured. This con-
sideration pointed to Fatehgarh, the cantonment town of
Farrukhabad, on the Ganges nearly opposite to Agra as a
convenient base where Oudh and Rohilkhand territories mect.
The success achieved by the Farrukhabad rebels in crossing
the Ganges with a view to interrupting the British line of
communication both with Agra and Delbi and in ravaging
the Doab was due not a litile to the strategic importance of the
town and cantonment now in arms against the English.2 So
Sir Colin marched towards Farrukhabad and reached the
Kali Nadi (twelve miles from Fatehgarh) where he repaired the
bridge on 2 January and in doing so had to face a scuffle with
the rebels. They again resisted the advance of British forces at
Khodaganj but were overpowered and on the next day
Campbell occupied both the town and the cantonment.?

‘The rebels being driven across the Ganges into Rohilkhand,
the commander-in-chief would have moved north to effect the

2 The Engliskman, 17 December *57.

* Forrest, Selections, §i (Intro.), 347-8.

# Jbid. 351-5. Captain Oliver Jones was surprised that the rebels should have
~waited till the British had time o repair the bridge and had not even cared to

destroy the stores which [ell into their hands (Recollection of a_Winier Campaign,
cte. 82-83). Also Cosens and Wallace, Fatehgarh and the Mutiny, 162-3.
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subjugation of that country But the governor-general had his
own considerations 1n_gving prionty to Oudh as the object
to attack, for here Outram was precariously holding out
agamst multitudes of rebels 1 Besides, by that time the rebellion
was collecting 1tself at Lucknow which offered a standing
temptation to all—the sepoys, people and the chiefs to per-
severe in ther rebellious attitude Lord Cannimg’s analyss of
the situation that there could not be any real quiet on that
side of Indsa unless Luchnow was reconquered showed the
tensity of discontent and the nature of the revolt which could
no longer be regarded as a mere mulitary insurrection 2 Sir
Colin’s arguments against this projected invasion were as
follows

after the experience lately gained of the stubborn spint of the people
of Qudh, the reduction of that prov mce could not be attempted with
an army less than 30,000 men

This agrees with the governor-general’s analysis in consider-
ing the dimension of the revolt of Oudh as something approxi-
mating a rebelhon on a vast scale It 1s agam preasely for this
reason that Ganning over-ruled the objection of Cambell who
procrastinated and represented that for mihitary reasons Qudh
ought to wart till the autumn of 1858 The political situation
was such as would force the government to undertake another
operation for the relif of Lucknow before long In lus letter
of 8 January, 1858, the governor-general expressed his appre-
hension that the loss of Lucknow would be an event of such
huge sigmficance to the Nana and the rebel cause that no
measure of success of Brtish arms elsewhere would counter-
balance this shattering disaster The shock of it would be felt
i Hyderabad ‘the most formidable of all lurking places of
danger and revolt’, and even 1n distant Ava 3

Of colonel Colin Campbell, 1t was said by Dalhousie that he
carried ‘caution to the confines of cowardice’. Nevertheless
Campbell’s policy of marching 1nto Rohilkhand m 1858 had
1ts Justification 1 the increasing strength displayed by the rebels

1 Malleson says that this was comparable to the defence of Plewna by the
“Turks which neutralised for four months two Russian armes (1, 440)

*Forrest Selections 1 (Intro ), 356

3 Ind 357
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of that country. There had been a decided improvement in
the districts between Aligarh and Etawah but in the upper
districts of the Doab public confidence was greatly shaken and
there was a widely prevalent fecling of insecurity consequent
on the frequent attempts of the rebels and mutincers from
western Rohilkhand to invade that country. They raided those
districts, cut off the police and prevented the British from
governing. The tactics adopted by the Rohilkhand rebels was
not to meet their enemy in the open battefield but to cut off
their supplies. The official report stated that they made no
stand anywhere, and were careful not to irritate the people by
plunder and rapine but returned to their haunts, the moment
they finished their work. As the Ganges was very low in
January and was reduced by the diversion of the water into the
canal, Dunlop, the magistrate of Meerut, cven suggested that
the stream of the river might be deepened to increase the
difficulties of the Rohilkhand rebels crossing into the Doab.t
But the position of the British was greatly retrieved in eastern
India by the rescue of Gorakhpur on 6 January, 1858 which
was likely to cut off the way of the Oudh rebels in the lower
country. Its great advantage to the British was that they got
the principal bases of operation against Oudh which was soon
taken advantage of by brigadier-gencral Franks. The general
who had already established himself in full strength in the
south-west corner of the Jaunpur district now began to make
preparations to carry reinforcements to Lucknow. The chance
of the Indian leaders lay in opposing the march of Franks which
indeed was strongly contested at Chanda {19 February) and
Sultanpur (23 February).

In Bundelkhand, the influence of the British, as the official
narrative of 16 January ran, was sinking on account of the un-
opposed possession of Kalpi by a large force of rebels.? In fact
proper military mutiny was lingering only in Kalpi where the
guns of the Gwalior contingent formed a nucleus round which
the Gwalior and Dinapur mutineers gathered, but it was diffi-
cult 1o say in what proportion the mutinous troops divided

LFP. ix, Ti
AFP. ix, B34: Narrative of Events to 16 January.
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themselves between Lucknow on one side and Kalp: on the
other ! Symmlarly at Sambalpur the state of affairs was becom-
ing more and more serious 1n the early part of January, There
1t was purely a rebellion of the people, of the local tribes, who
being of an 1mpressionable nature, were instigated to fury and
violence by persons who had many grievances to complamn of
Large hodies of men were assembling in different directions
and attacluing the establishments of the former admimistration 2
Dufficulty was also felt 1n getting the revenue to pay the large
number of troops who had been summoned there It was
suggested that the salt merchants passing through Sambalpur
should be encouraged to deposit money there 1n exchange for
drafts on Cuttack 3 The serious nature of the mass uprising at
Sambalpur may also be Judged from the fact that troops were
despatched from dafferent quarters, the Madras troops from
Cuttack, a column from Nagpur, and the Shekhawan bat-
talion marching from Ramgan* to quell the rebellion
The January reports from Chabasa showed no change
i the situation at Kolhan The ex-raja of Porahat and
Tis brother had by that time thrown the whole of Singhbhum
1nto a welter of disorder and chaos The rebels made a success-
ful attack on Chakradharpur and surpnised and routed captain
Hale’s troops at a place called Mogra ®

The political confusion left by the mutimy and rebellion 1n
the whole countyy from the Narbada to Delln was startlng in
the extreme, but the tide at last had turned, and the surges of
revolt after rasaging the best part of India were showng signs
of subuding Yielding partly to exhaustidh, and partly to
external force it was flowing back and collecting itselfin a few
central situations such as Jhansi, Kalp, Bareilly, Lucknow
By the month of February, 1858 the war was confined to a
closer compass, and with Bengal, the sub-Himalyan countnes
the Panjab and the Doab and Central India under Brtish
arms the rebeilion was checkmated and put vut of actron Ja
fact, 1t was Lucknow only which held out defiantly agamst the

LFP 1x, 897

*FP ix, 347

SFP 1x, 363 Spectal Narrative of Events to 6 February

¢ FP 1, 902
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combination of all British forces. All through the month the
rush of the rebels towards Lucknow continued. But an official
report of 10 February, 1858, also refers to the concentration of
rebel soldiers and their leaders in different outposts along the
eourse of the Ganges; they were obviously moving to attack the
Doab. At Sandi in Fatehgarh there was a force of four thousand
men with several guns hovering about a nearby ghat on the
Ganges. At Bilgram opposite Fatehgarh on the Ganges, and
in the neighbouring ghat at Meorah several chiefs such as the
Kutra raja, Mainpuri raja, Musumali Khan had assembled
with a strong force of cavalry and infantry and some guns.
Further down there was also another force at Sheorajpur, and
the Nana was possibly at Nawabganj {Cawnpore) on the 10th
of the month. Apa Sahib was rceruiting at Sitalganj, and in
the Ramganga therc were about two thousand men with four
guns. A regular chain of communication was kept up by the
rebels between Bareilly and Lucknow via Shahjehanpur, Bil-
gram and Sandi. Mention is also made of other concentrations
—for example one of two thousand at a place calied Nana Mau
and of another commanded by Nirtul Singh.* At a time when
the war at Lucknow was in the offing, the deployment of rebel
forces, as detailed above, would indicate a move towards 2
simultaneous attack on the Doab.

The rebellion that had been raging so long now reached its
climax in the war for the third relief 2t Lucknow, preparations
for which were being made on both sides for a long time past.
In many ways the cvents of March 1858, epitomized the forces
engaged in the revolt. The conguest of Lucknow and the Oudh
Proclamation 20 March, 1858, the operations against Jhansi,
and the capture of Azamgarh by the Shahabad leader are
among the most remarkable cpisodes of the Indian rebellion
cach representing an aspect of it, yet typical of the social and
political issues involved in the struggle.

The fall of Lucknow was not attended with the desired result.
Kunwar Singh flying from Lucknow entered the northern part
of Azamgarh. The Azamgarh expedition of the Shahabad
Jeader was a great triumph of the popular cause. The con-
centration of troops in Lucknow provided an opportunity to

2 FP. viif, 99-100; Narrative of Events to 18 February.
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Kunwar to renew his offensive 1n the east especially with a view
to making 2 diversion He occupied the town on 24 March,
but eventually he retreated before the advancing Briish arms
and effected hus passage of the Ganges by outwitting his pur
suers At many poimnts on the way the willages voluntanly
helped lim and were almost without an exception i his
favour ! The popular character of the sepoy war was also
reflected 1n the defence of Jhansi which fell on 3 Apnl before
the onslaught of Sir Hugh Rose No one could help being be
moved by the determined resistance put forward by the people
of Jhansi, which must have been caused by nfluences other
than external shmulants Rose himself admtted

The reason was sufficently clear, the people of Jhans: fought for the
queen and the independence of their country Even after the cty
had fallen her bounty and hberality rendered her an influential and
dangerous adversary 2

In all hus operations 1n central India Sir Huge orgamsed
flyng columns to move from the main body of the force, pre-
vious to 1ts general cispersion which indicates that vast
numbers of country people were up 1n arms on every side who
had to be scattered before the mamn column could move
Towards the north, the fall of Lucknow did not immediately
lead to the pacification of the country, on the contrary 1t only
mstigated the rebels to renew their exertions to regan the
ground they had lost Gorakhpur, Azamghar and Jaunpur
were agamn i danger, and alarm was felt for Saran and other
districts of Bthar where the visit of Kunwar Singh would rake
up the embers of rebellion Higherup, the Bntish authonity was
mamntamed only under the shadow of the bayonet and the
central Doab districts of Agra, Meerut and Farrukhabad were
infested by swarms of insurgents In thc east captamn Le
Grand’s expedition aganst Kunwar Singh’s force at Jagdispur
met wath a disastrous end oo 23 Apnl, sunlar to the ill fated
expedition of Dunbar mine months back ¢

1FP vu 150

*The despatch dated 30 Aprd 1858 quoted in Marta Indan Empre 3
485n
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The' complexion of the war of the mutiny was, however,
gradually changed. Since the capture of Lucknow and Jhansi
it had taken a decidedly predatory turn. The organisation of
the rebel forces had broken down and swarms of rebels were
over-running the whole country from Bihar to Rohilkhand and
in the south up to the Narmada. They disappearcd before
the smallest force scnt against them, but the area of their
depredadons cxtended. Their headquarters seem princi-
pally to have heen located at Jagdispur, Fyzabad, Bareilly
and Kalpi. Of these the rebels operating from Fyzabad under
the leadership of the royal begam of Lucknow extended their
influence from the north of Oudh to the borders of Allahabad.
But despite these refractory manifestations, the country as a
whole had fallen under the grip of the British punitive forces in
the month of May, 1858. Campbell, Rose, and Lugard, each in
their respective regions, were maintaining their winning sequ-~
cnce, the first one defeating Khan Bahadur Khan, the second
driving away Tantia Topi before him at Kunch and Kalpi which
fell, and the third vanquishing the forces of Kunwar Singh
since dead. Yet the revolt could not be wholly crushed and the
success of Tantia and rani Lakshmibai in Gwalior on 1 june,
raised echoes in other parts of India, as in Nawabganj where
the zamindars fought a smart action on 13 June to prevent
British forces moving up in the north,! and in the Doab where
Liakatali, the maulavi of Allahabad, and his followers were
excited to fresh outrages and attacked and plundered Bilgram.
The whole line between Cawnpore and Allahabad was dis-
tracted by rumours of the ascent and descent of rebel forces
who crossed and recrossed the Ganges with facility.2 The rebels
of Jagdispur werc skulking in the jungles, but Lugard was
making considerable advance in that direction and Roweroft
sent Mohammed Hasan of Gorakhpur flying into the jungles.
He was defeated at the battle of Amorah on 9 junc and a few
days after, the Fyzabad maulavi was killed in action at Powain
on 15 June. The death of the rani of Jhansi on 17 June and the
defeat of Tantia Topi and the recovery of Gwalior in the third
week of the month gave the final blow to the cause of the rebels

* Sec Section on Luckaow (chapter 11).
* Hindu Patriot, 3 June, 1858,
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and though Tantia, Firuz Shah and the Nana were still at
large carrying out forays here and there, the Indian rebellion
of 1857 as an orgamised movement collapsed since then The
Oudh and Shahabad rebels, however, ramained 1n the field for
a long time yet It 1s only after the Queen’s proclamations of
1 November, that the leaders of Oudh, Bihar and Central
India with ther followers surrendered to the government
though quite a few of them fled to Nepal and met 2 glonous
death which they would have disdained to exchange for a life
with dishonour.



CHAPTER. TWO

UPPER INDIA

The main drama of the great rebellion was enacted in upper
India, the country lying between Bibar and Rajputana, touch-
ing the Himalayas on the north and the river Jumna on the
south, It thus comprised a portion of the North-West provinces
which consisted of eight administrative divisions.! The three
central towns of this wide area, Delhi, Agra and Cawnpore,
had each a distinct role to play in this scene of mutiny and
rebellion, Delhi was the rallying point of rebels from Rohil-
khand and the upper Doab, Agra of the rebels from the districts
and stations to the south of the Jumna and Cawnpore was the
meeting ground of the rebels of Qudh from the north and of
the central Indian tracts from the south. But the conflagra-
tion started from Meerut, the name of a city as well as of a
division.

MEERUT DIVISION

The mutiny at Meerut is said to have saved India, for it
brought to a head the catastrophe, which, had it been delayed
for a few weeks, would have taken the British unawares, Colonel
G. C. Smyth received thanks for his famous parade on 23 April,
which cventually resulted in the outbreak.* Whatever the situa-
tion might be, the revolt of the sepoys on 10 May possibly could
have been averted had not the authorities rubbed the matter
too much. The observations made by colonel Sykes, the former
chairman of the East India Company, on the circamstances of
the revolt, which were not contradicated by the government
and his letter to the Zimes of 8 October, showed that ~thc sepoys
were willing to make many concessions.® They, it is said, begged

1The North-West provinces were divided into eight commissionerships, those

1, hand, Meerut and Delhi.
of Benares, Allahabad, Jabalpur, Jhansi, Agra, Roladik\llz?;“ Mecrut aod Deltt

In the whole extent of these provinces only Agra an
European troops.
* Chick, op. cir., 90-92: Report by G. G. Smyth.
# Crawshay, op. ait., 3£
61
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the authorities that the matter of using cartndge should not be
forced to 2 criws,! as they would be exposed to the danger of loss
of caste But the apprehensions of the sepoys were mare easy
to explamn than yustify unless they were meant for other pur-
poses It was revealed that there was not a single greased cart-
ndge in the magazines of any one of the three native regiments
of Mecrut 2 The cartndges which were supphied were also not
new ones, but the old unanointed cartrndges that had been
used 50 often® Further, colonel Smyth's statement shows that
he had explaned to his men that they could now load the
cartridges without biting them, and he made a demonstration
of the process Still they all refused to take them Obviously st
was due to fear of public opimon only, but according to Rotton,
“t was used to serve an occasion’ 4 An investigation was con-
ducted on 25 Apnl, by major Harnson, which ended 1 the
sepoys promising ready obedience to the use of the cartndge,
but when major general Hewntt ordered a parade of the 3rd
cavalry for 6 May, eighty five sowars refused to take the cart-
ndge A court of enquiry was immediately ordered, they were
tried, condemned, and sentenced to ten years’ imprisonment
with hard labour This 15 a posiion which the sepoys could not
tolerate The local authonties seem to have made a representa

tion to the mihitary command, to the effect that the attempt to
enforce the judgement of court-martial would result in mutiny,
but this was disregarded &

On 9 May, some eighty-five men belonging to the 3rd hight
cavalry stationed at Meerut were sent to jail in pursuance of
the sentence of a court martial, for having refused to use ther
cartridges © The prisoners were put in trons, and they were
marched off and led to yail before the whole body of troops and
other sightseers The crowd which included even women jeered
atthem The indigruty of the situation could onlybe imagined
At about noon on the day following (10 May) the sepoys of the

1 Urquhart op ot 78

8 Trial of Bahadur Shah, 141

¥ Chuck, op est, 103 Account of Rev T C Smyth

& The Chaplain s Narrative 1

§ Crawshay, op at, 23 28 Dodd The Hustory of the Indian Recalt 51

“Thackeray a young subaltem at the time of the siege of Deln, says that B3
troopers of the 3rd recetved punshment (Remunticenees, ete. 29)
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3rd.rosc up én masse and burst open the doors of the jail and sct
their comrades at liberty. The 3rd light cavalry were at once
joined by the 11th and 20th regiments, by the people of the city
and of the bazars, and the adjoining villages. This formidable
body of insurgents fired the cantonments and civil lines, and
commenced pillage. Before the European troops, the 6th dragoon
guards, queen’s 60th rifes, and the horse artillery, could reach
the principal scene of disturbance, night had fallen and under
the cover of darkness, the mutineers effected a safe retreat out
of Meerut. But during the brief hours of that fateful day the
pent up fury and discontent which must have been long
smouldering, burst out in a bloody carnage. Mixed crowds of
soldiers, sepoys, policemen, servants, convicts, villagers and
townspeaple dispersed to plunder and to slay every Christian
that they could lay hands on. At Meerut. the strength of the
European force was greater than at any other station in India,
numbering altogether about two thousand and two bundred
mend They had won many a decisive battle on the plains of
Hindusthan, but the entire militia remained paralysed for want
of proper direction as also for some fatal flaws in the military
organisaition. It can be maintained, in the light of the events of
the mutny, that the rifles and carabineers at Meerut, if properly
and enthusiastically directed, could have easily overtaken the
mutineers before they reached Delhi, only forty miles distant.
This was indeed the immediate cause which helped to spread
the rebellion throughout upper India. Or cven if they had
reached Dethi sometime after, the imperial city might have been
saved and the conflagration arrested. Mackenzie, a young
subaltern officer of the 3rd light cavalry stationed at Meerut, says
that the troops were paralysed by the irresolution of their
chief.2 The European brigade bivouacked for the night and
even remained inactive on the day following—very fateful
moments in the course of this memorable rebellion, While,
therefore, it cannot be denicd that the unpreparedness of the
military authorities at Meerut was responsible for the spread-
1 Dodd, op. at., 50.

* Afackenze, Auting Mamnoirs, 32f. See ako Gough, O Memorizs, 407; Wilber-
foree, An Urreterded Chepler, ete,, 10
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ing of the conflagration, 1t cannot be accepted even as a
reasonable proposition that the mutiny could never have oc-
curred had the Meerut msurrection been localised hike other
explosions at Berhampur, Barrackpore and Lucknow, for, all
these explosions were, beyond doubt, presages of the dark cloud
that was gathering silently and omnously and would have
taken its natural course under any pretext

In Meerut the populace took a more pronunent part tn the
slaughter of Europeans than 1 any other place Fleetwood
Willams, the then commissioner of Meerut, wrote i his
official report

Generally, the ruffians seem to have been too mtent upon the destruc-
tion of Christians, too eager to kill, to think of any other atrocities
ull Iife was extinet @

And repeated inquiries through different sources even con
firmed the report that in many cases atrocious indignities were
inflicted on the dead bodies of Europeans as a mark of dia
bolical racial hatred What the soldiers, who had started the
mutiny, did to sustain the rebellion appears tnfling when scen
m the light of the mass upsurge that followed as a sequel to
1t The offical report runs

The whole country (Baraut) was nsing, native drums the signal to
the villagers to assemble, were beng beaten i all directions, and
crowds were seem moving up to the gathering place ahead *

The surrounding country was soon ablaze, gujars rose up
with diabolical fury, the tahsil of Sardhana was attacked and
escaped prisoners murdered their money lenders

In the tahsil of Banawar, Qalandar Khan set himself up a8
a raja,® and Bishen Singh, the kotwal of Meerut, jomned the
rebel Tularam of Rewar1 8 Shahamal, the Jat leader of Baraut
in the western confines of the district, turned out to be a fire

L s would
o b geosen dontent would b Coe o ot
outbreaks here and there (of af 65)

3NE 1 255

3Ihd 265

4NE 3 256

*NE 3 260
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brand of the rehellion against the British. He destroyed the
bridge of boats at Baghpat and scoured the country with a
festering body of nearly four thousand Jat insurgents. The
British offensive against them at the battle of Baraut on 18
July, developed into a hand-to-hand fight with Shahamal, who
could not be overtaken, though struck by a bullet, and was only
finished by the sword.! His head was exhibited to induce the
people to return to normal activities but all males found in the
hostile village of Gurhi were killed.2 The mantle of Shahamat
fell on Lujjram, his grandson, who continued the struggle.3

Another leader, Kadam Singh of Parichitgarh,? proclaimed
himself king® and collected his gujar clansmen for hostile pur-
poses. Equally hostile was Nazim Khan® and Narpat Singh, the
rajput chief of Akulpur, who was killed when his village was
stormed in July. The spirit of rebellion infected many villages
especially in the western and south-western part of the district
where grain was stored up, supplics collected and sent to the
fighting lines, and the people openly transferred their aliegi-
ance to the king of Delhi. When Dunlop’s punitive force passed
through Busouda, a village to the north of Deolah, large crowds
of armed men issuing from nooks and corners fired on them.
Disaffection had spread far and wide, many of the viliages
having determinedly entered on rebellion.” The ingenuity of
the civil population to meet the demands of the war was
abundantly reflected in the use of guns and ammunition of an
improvised character.? But the rebellion at Meerut ended
with the fall of Delhi.

The Meerut cavalry rode into Delhi, which was forty miles
away, on 11 May, having first broken the telegraphic communi-

1FP, ix, 8845, 887-8, 893; NE. i, 265. A Tunnochy writes: *I gave him the
second shot which weat through him, having entered his back upon which he at

once dropped, but recovering himselfl at a moment. . . .he wounded me in two
places. . .1 then had, tinc. .. . to draw my sword and give him a gashing wound

in the neek.”

=NE. i, 266.

2 Igid. 267.
¢FP. ix, 893,

& NE. i, 262.

¢ FP. viii, 149.
TFP. ix, 886-7.
¢ NE. §, 268.

C.1 GRIM—3
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cation between Delhu and Agra, and also between Meerut and
Algarh A previous understanding between the regiments of
Delhn and Meerut can only explan the swift reaction that fol-
lowed 1 All the Delhi regiments, as also the populace, joined
them and being combined with the mutmous 11th and 20th from
Meerut, which presently folluwed the cavalry, proceeded to slay
the Europeans and plunder ther quarters The impenal aty,
which was above all the grand arsenal of that part of India, fell
mto the hands of the rebels A regular government was organ-
1sed with Bahadur Shah at a5 head and summons was 1ssued to
all mutinous regiments to repair to the aity and to fight for the
king of kangs In fact, for nearly four months, Delht remaimed
the centre of revolt, a beacon to the strugghng spinits to flock
there for the great holy war lymg ahead, very much as the
farthful would react on heanng the call of the muezzm The
contest at Delht began on 8 June, with the battle of Badl-
Ka-Seray, a fiercely fought acnon, i which the sepoys failed to
chech the Britsh offensive Since that time the Englsh were
encamped for many weary weeks 1n the low ndge of hulls that
faces the aity on 1ts north It was only with the conung of
Nicholson and particularly with the arrival of a siege-tran on
4 September, that the tide turned and eventually Delh passed
mto the hands of the English by the middle of the month
Meanwhile, however, while Delin held out, 1t gave a filbp to
the spint of diffidence already in the air and as a consequence
the mutiny drifted 1nto a revolt aimed at destroying the Brtish
power i India

The Indian account of the mutiny and rebellion, otherwise
£0 very scarce, comes 1nt0 prominence 1 the casc of Delly and
Cawnpore outbreaks The dianes Lept by Manuddin Hasan
Khan, Munshu Jivanlal and Chunslal furnish a good account of
the sepoy war and the attendant disturbances at Delhy, as does
the diary of Nanalchand of the occurrences at Cawnpore
Mamuddin Hasan Khan was a rebel, but only in a techmcal
sense, he was at heart 1n sympathy with the Englsh, and so
also was Jivanlal, but the Iagter was not a particapant m the
conflict and suffered much at the hands of sepoys Taken

1Dodd op at, 51,54 Dr R € \fajundar refers to the statement of Munshs

Mohanlal and observes that the munneers at Meerut had not at first any idea
of gowg to Delbu {op ait, 51)
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together, their diaries give us a glimpse of the condition of the
besieged city, which is not found in other sources.

In the month of May the condition was extremely chaotic.
The depredations of the sepoys could not be checked, they
plundered the shops and extorted money from the wealthy
people King Bahadur Shah had to go out in procession
to pacify the people, urging them to carry on their normal
activities. The shop-keepers were particularly requested to
keep their shops open. The violence of the sepoys rose to such
a height that the king and his advisers, Mohammed Bakr and
Abdul Kadir, became anxious to keep them out of Delhi.
Jivanlal says that the attempted expedition of the sepoys to
Meerut to fight the English was a device of hakim Ahsanullah
Khan to rid the city of the mutinecrs.? In their mad fury to
consolidate the results of the bloody emeufe the sepoys spared
none; whoever was suspected of disloyalty 1o their cause was
hunted out and dealt with ruthlessly. They threatened to kill
hakim Ahsanullah and nawab Mahabbubali Khan and even
dared to take away Zinatmahal and keep her as hostage on the
ground that she had given shelter to the Europeans. The
fugitives had to be surrendered, and they were murdered to
the horror of the whole city.® The hakim, as Chunilal says,
was exculpated only when the king pleaded on his behalf
on 17 May, and assured the sepoys that he was associated
with them in a common cause.* This, too, did not disarm
their suspicion, and on many other occasions they charged
Ahsanullah and the nawab with having maintained an under-
standing with the English. The former, it was affirmed, had
sabotaged the military preparations of the rebels and collected
stores for enemy destination in collusion with Zinatmahal and
Sadurali Khan® Even the king was not regarded as wholly
loyal to their cause. He was anxious to save the life of Davis,
+whao was in charge of monthly payment to the royal establish-

2 Trial of Bahadur Shak, pp. 11, 12, 16, 25: Petitions of Jugal Kishore, Sheo-
prasad and Imam Baksh.

2 Metcalfe, Tizo Natioe Narratices, ctc. 94, 9.

2 Metcalfe, op. cit., 59, 93, Sherring says that the queen Zinatmahal had some
fifty Europeans concealed (The Indian Chureh, ete, 51).

< Chick, op. £it., 158-9.
* Metcalfe, op. cit,, 103, 104, 107, 180, 186, 190; Trial, etc. pp. 18, 139,
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ment and of others of his party but failed to save their Lives.
He was subjected to indignities and insults and the sepoys
placed their own guard over the royal couple, took possession
of the kung’s private office and attended on his person 1 They
even elected Abu Bakr as their king in his place but he, too,
was accused of disloyalty? like many others, and Mainuddin
says that the houses of a large number of people who were
reported to be fnendly with the English were plundered?

By the first week of June the confusion and anarchy of the
preceding month had considerably abated and the rebel
government settled down to work after varous changes of
personnel 1n the administration, The financial position of the
government was desperate n the extreme from the very
beginming and so the treasury had to be replemished more often
by forced loans, extortions and impositions than by voluntary
subscription which was shy.2 Orders were 1ssued to the rajas
personally to attend or to send soldiers, which were responded
to by those lving in the vianity of Delhi such as Bahadurjang
Khan of Dadn, Waldad Khan of Malagarh, nawab Abdur-
rahaman Khan of Jhajjar, Akbaralh Khan of Pataudi, Hasan-
alh Khan of Dojana and raja Nahar Singh of Ballabhgarh.®
Nahar Sing was so very devoted to the cause of Islam® that
he seems to have embraced the faith.” Raja Tularam of Rewari
pard forty thousand rupees to the king’s treasury and obtained
a patent conferring Rewan 1n perpetual jagir on him. The
nawab of Khurjapur preached sedition and incited the king to
war. Mirza Haidar was the medium of communication between
the king of Delhi and Oudh. A delegation was received from
Akhund of Swat and many other chiefs professed allegiance,®

115d 60-61, 87, 89

1Ihd 95

¥ Jhed $8-59.

¢ Tral, ete pp 4142, 46, Metcalfe, op at, 99, 113, 164, 188 (Bankers under
arrest), 200, 209, 211, 225

¥ Chick, op. ait , 155 fF

* Tral, etc, p- 36. .

TKerth Yo , Delkt, 262_He was hanged as alo the chief of Jhajjar an
mw:sbﬂAhmc.Gl ‘;\gh K{hz;n of Faruknagar Dadn was confiscated (Metcalfe, of.
at, 73).

* Trul, etc. pp 147, 168, 171, 177, Metealle, op at, 179
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such as Umaro Bahadur, a talukdar of Aligarh, Khan Bahadur
Khan of Bareilly and Mirza Abbas Beg, agent of the court of
Lucknow, and Bahadur Khan chicf of Bahadurgarh.! Many
messages were received from mutinous regiments of different
places intimating thelr intention to proceed to Delhi to fight
for the king.2 They were numerous, indeed, and sowere the peti-
tions received from among the general population of Reswari,
Badshapur, Rohtak, Hissar, Karnal, Sirsa, Bijnour, Bareilly,
Mathura and Mainpuri.® Hundreds of villages in the holdings
of hindu talukdars of Meerut declared their intention to fight
for the king.* The rebel government in its turn issued circulars
to the rulers of Cutch, Jaisalmir and Jammn to intercept the
movements of the English and kill them.® By the middle of
June the rebel army at Dethi was daily receiving addition and
war preparations were going on in full swing. Two-hundred
fifty men were employed in the manufacture of gun powder®
and the percussion caps were well made.” The arrival of the
Bareilly force on the Ist and 2nd July and the victory of the
rebels at Shahganj near Agra gave a great incentive to the
Indians who were daily being reinforced by bands of jehadis
and wahabis repairing to Delhi from different quarters. Early
in July Mohammed Bakht Khan was appointed commander-
jn-chief and Mirza Moghul, adjutant-general, and arrange-
ments were made for delivering a concentrated attack on the
English camp.®

One very significant feature of the rebellion at Delhi was
that from the very beginning Bahadur Shah set his mind
definitely against communal tendencies disrupting the offen-
sive against the English. On 19 May, when the standard of
holy war was raised by the Mahomedans he condemmed this
move and declared that the Holy war was against the English.

1 Metealfe, op. cit., 63, 71, 140, 148, 229,
* Trial, etc. p. 168-71.

3 Ibid. 1734,

4 1bid. 66.

S Ibid. 1515

& Metcalfe, ¢p. b, 64.

* Keith Young, Delhi. 203

#Metealfe, op. cir., 113, 128, 133-4, 132; 7ial, ete. pp- 176-7.
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On the last day of the ramzan when order for a jehad was
pressed, the king and lis council remonstrated against 1t, the
lung stating emphatically that the two commumties should not
quarrel T Apprehending trouble on the ensuing Id fesuval, he
proclaimed on 9 July, that any one killing 2 cow would be
blown away 2 The Bntish camp on the ndge was jubilant that
a ‘grand row’ between the Hindus and the Mahomedans would
variably follow the celebrauon on the first of August, but the
false prophets came to gnef and Keith Young recorded with
dismay that instead of fighting amongst themselves they ait
Jomed together to mahe a vigorous attack 2

Gradually as the mutiny expanded mto a rebelion of
the cwil commumties, Bahadur Shah adjusted himsell
accordingly He checked the soldiers, demanded of them why
they were not domng anything to drnive the Englsh and sternly
rebuked those who were suspected of sending supplies to the
English He attended dewamkhas almost every day and showed
vigour and resihience 1n attending to the business of the day
which was striling * On 2 August, he 1s said to have exclaimed
in anger You will never capture the ndge 5 The many pro-
clamations  supposed to have been 1ssued by him sufficiently
demonstrate that he was the mamn spring of the holy war
against the Enghsh ¢ Mamuddin’s remarks on this point are
sigmheant

It1s quite true that the rebellion actually broke out on the excitement
caused by the use of the new cartndge, but the real cause of the
rebellion was an old enemy who, long vanquished, still existed ?

The skeleton had lingered on and 1t stalked out for hberty.
Dauly the city became more and more the centre of the rebellion,

 Metcalle, op at 98 160

*Ind 144

3 Delh: 1857, pp 160 171

4 Metcalfe, op o, 113 120 01, 128 150

204 177, 208 The royal begam. of Lucknow made the same complamt
against the sepoys

¢ Thal, etc 71 116 Cf The arguments of Hamiott that the conspiracy was
not confined to the sepoys but had its ramifications throughout the place (Ihd
145 148

"Mc()calfc of at, 60 €f The observation of M Thornhyl of Mathura
There was something weird 1 the Mogul Dmpire thus starting snto a sort of
phantom of ifc after the stumber of a hundred years (The Personal Adventures, 7)
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the army also expressed a wish to be led against the English.l
Meanwhile the English at the ridge found that there was no
prospect of entering the city in June and little chance of blowing
up the magazines of their enemies. The city was much stronger
and much better fortified than was anticipated by them. The
desperate nature of the war in Delhi, the heavy and sharp firing
by the Indians reminded general Barnard of Crimea?
Thackeray, a subaltern of engineers at the fime of the siege of
Delhi, writes that the total casualties in the two actions {10 July
and 15 July) having risen to nearly five hundred men, it was
decided to abandon all idea of any active operations against
the city, The attack of the mutincers on 1 August was such
that Rotton, the chaplain to the Delhi field force never
remembered anything like it in the whole course of his experi-
ence.? Colonel Bourchier of the 17th light battery accompany-
ing Nicholson to Dethi found that the Delhi ficld force was
very similar in position to the allied armies before Sebastopol.
Even on 16 September, major-general Wilson doubted his
ability to succeed and talked of withdrawing from the walls of
Delhi to the camp.? The actual number engaged in the final
assault of Delhi was near threc thousand scven hundred of
which sixty-six officers and one thousand and one hundred
four were killed, but the loss of the defenders of the city was
even less.? Colonel Mackenzie, who participated in the struggle,
admitted that no quarter was ever given or taken before Delhi.®
Terrible retribution was inflicted upon the fallen city. Mainud-~
din Hasan Khan could not help recording, his allegiance to the
English notwithstanding, that the slaughter of the English
was revenged in a manner that no one ever anticipated.”
According to Innes, the rising failed to develop into a great
rebellion on account of the aggressive action of the Moghul party

1 Bid. 149.

*Keith Young, Delki, 60, 6971, 91; Cooper,{The Crisis, ctc. 184,

S Reminiscenzes, 24 The Chaplain’s Narrative, 157,

 Rourchier, Eight Months® Campaign, etc. 37: Rotton, op. ¢it., 303.

5 Wilberforce, An Unrecorded Chapler, cte. 133, 172-3.

& Muliny Memoirs, 71, 87693,

 Metcalfe, op. cit., 71-73. Sec_also Krishnalal in The Bengal Pest and Pmmz
(vol. Lxxiv, Bt. 11, pp. 10507): The Sack of Delhi, 1837- 58, as witnessed by
Ghalib.
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at Delhy, theirindiscreet haste to recover their rule T Ths state-
ment 1s obviously based on the supposttion that Bahadur Shah
and the members of the impenial family were 1n alliance with
the sepoys to overthrow the British government If, asis
now clear from the mvestigation carried on in the hight
of authentic British records, he was devoted to the British
and opposed to the sepoys and was wiling to surrender
the city to the former on certan conditions,? he camnot
be credited with any such mtention as Innes and major
F J Harnott, judge-advocate general® would atinbute
to lum His own defence mn Ius tral that he was compelled to
play the part of a rebel? receves support from the deposition
made by Ahsanullah that the king did not even know of the
mutiny till after the arnval of the Meerut troops at Delln 3
Mamuddin, himself a participant m the struggle, says that
parwanas were extorted from hum calling on regiments to flock
to Delln A European discharged soldier, who was converted to
thefarth under thename of Abdulla Beg, 15 said to have coerced
the king to adopt such measures ® There was also a rval party
m the court, as appears very plausible, headed by syed
Ghulam Abbas (alias Saifuldaulah), who advised the kung to
be fiendly with the English Mirza Al Baksh even advised him
to open negotiations with them The king also was seized with
a fear that the Enghsh would capture the ety and kll him 7
The excesses commutted by the sepoys on their entry 1nto the
1mpenal city, though they tended to the recovery of tus position,
could not but be viewed with anger Three days after the
arnval of the Meerut mutineers he wrote a letter to Colvin,
the lieutenant-governor of the North-West provinces, forward-
g the intelligence that the fort and the city of Delln were in the

1 Lucknow and Oude 1n the Afuting, 21

*Dr R C. Majumdar’s mvestigations into the part played by Bahadur Shah
show that the king of Delht was unfaithful to the cause of the mutny (The
Sepay Mutuny ctc., 11627, 195-7)

3 Tral of Bahadur Shah ctc. pp 145, 148
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hands of the insurgents.! This transmission of a message of
information and warning to the chief British authority shows
where his sympathies lay—at least in the early phasc of the
struggle. Dr. R. C. Majumdar has brought to light new
records bearing on the subject which indicate that in the
month of June when the sepoys were fighting for the defence
of the city, the king was offering to admit the British troops
there by a secret gate?

Nor was the conduct of the other associates of Bahadur Shah
above suspicion, which might justify the violent measures
adopted by the sepoys against them. Keith Young refers to
the letter of the raja of Ballabhgarh which contained the most
‘humble protestations of fidelity’ to the British government.?
Further, in the cntry under the date 9 August, he writes that
the sepoys are not far wrong in their assumption that hakim
Ahsanullah was in treacherous correspondence with the
English. The conduct of Tularam of Rewari was also not
above suspicion.! The accounts given by Mainuddin and
Jivanlal of the large number of persons of Delhi who suffered
indignities at the hands of the sepoysS tend to indicate that 2
section of the people maintained an understanding with the
English. Butchers and bakers were also found supplying their
Tespective commodities to the English camp.f The success
of the British emissaries’ in disrupting the strength of the rebels
was reflected in the blowing up of the gun powder manu-
factory, in the spiking of the guns and in the digging up of
mines within the fort.® The conduct of the sepoys provoked

Dodd, op cit,, 75.
R, €. Majumdar, o, cit., 1221,
$ Delhi-1857, p. 112.
< 1bid. 174, 186, 190.

£ They were besides those already mentioned, Aminuddin Khan (Metcalfe,
op. cit,, 66), mawab Hamudali Khan (Jbid. 85), Subbachand Kayet (Zbid. 100),
Ffisr Mokmmed Lal {J5id. 104), Mir Hasanali, Vakil of the mabarajs of Patiala
{7bid. 108), Makhanlal and Lakhu Singh (Ibid, 114), Pismal Maswari (Ibid. 117),
Piyasilal (f6id, 120}, Baldeo Singh (sbid. 121}, Lalprasad (éid, 124), Kulikhan
and Lachman Scth (#bid. 126), Munshi Chotanlal and Sultan Singh (#bid. 192},
and Man Singh Mahafiz (Zbid. 205).

“ 15id, 121, 143, 162, .

* Jbid. 131. An espionage and intelligence department was organised through
Indian agents (Cooper, op. cit., 195-6).

* Jbid. 68, 104, 130-01.
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the people to resist them, and 1t was not unlikely therefore that
the disaster of the sepoy force at the Hindan bridge was wel
comed by them, specially by the Hindus * The people of Delty,
nearly about one hundred thousand,® had also no speafic
gnievance as was the case in other parts of India  Ahsanullah
stated 1n his evidence that he never heard of any complants
from them regarding the resumption of ams or rent free
grants 3 The soldiers became unruly, there was no chief official
to command or to 1ssue orders The royal treasury was empty
Misappropriation of funds was also frequently complaned
of the hing himself was offering the crown jewels for meeting
the demands and even his personal assets, and the royal
begam offered her own jewels 4 It appears that no thought
was given to store up commussariat supphes for a prolonged
siege as the Englsh did at Lucknow, and this produced
extreme dustocation Towards the end of August 1t was
reported that no more sulphur could be purchased and the
manufacture of gun powder must cease Later on, a great
exodus from the aity of all classes of people took place as they
were 1n great fear of being tmpressed to work 1n the guns 8

All these would seem to indicate that the fulure of the move-
ment at Delln was not due to the aggressave pohey of the
Moghul party The old feeble emperor was n two minds,’?
and there was none to guide s faltening hands Bahadur Shah,
1t 1s smd, despatched appeals to the rajas of Jaipur, Bikanur and
Alore to come to his help to orgamse the rebelhon by forming
a confederacy of states & The spurt of activity he showed towrds
the last phase of the struggle was the outcome of lus fear of the
sepoys rather than of any pohtical motive Besides, the prospect
of the re establishment of the Moghul empire had not had any

1154 1089
lal; Feesth Young op et 143 But the other estmate 15 60000 men (Metealfe

8 Thnal etc 166-7

¢Metcalfe op et 179 207 216-7, 223

Sitd 214

“Ibd 216,218 226 228 Alo Dr Sea {op at 10°—3) for new maternals on
thit pont

7Qn 22 Joly the Rang was reported to have saud that he had no cause of
enmmty against the Englsh (Metealfe op ar 161)

¢ id 218
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cffect in evoking enthusiasm among the Rajputs, not cven
among the Oudh chiefs,! and those living to the south of the
Jumna. No communication was received by the rebel govern-
ment from Nana Sahib, Kunwar Singh, and the rani of
Jhansi. The champions of Bahadur Shah were ploughing
2 lonely furrow.? But this does not by any mecans indicate
that the objective of the Indians was anything less than
the overthrow of the British rule, The movement in Delhi was
was directed to that end and achieved its purpose for the
time being despite individual apathy or even opposition
which counted very little in the surging tide of revolt that
swept over the country in the glorious days of 1857.2

Meerut lighted the tinder-box, and though there was a halt
of three wecks in the spreading of the mutiny, its effects were
quickly felt in the whole of the North-West provinces and
especially in the Doab which became the scene of a succession
of mutinies excited by the same impulse. These uprisings did
not occur all at the same time or in the same manner owing to
local conditions and other pressures, yet in type and pattern
these were much the same. The government threatened by the
defcction of the Bengal Army was brought to the brink of des-
truction or nearly destroyed in many places by the disaffected
populace who followed the soldiers in their train. The infecdon
of civil rebellion which now spread over the whole of upper
India had a more enduring character than the violence
committed by the scpoys.

In Muzaffarnagar, for instance, a station about midway
between Saharanpur and Meerut, civil rebellion preceded the
mutiny of the 4th irregular on 21 June. An explosion occurred
at Muzaffarnagar on 14 May; the people plundered the tahsils,
bungalows and destroyed the jail, and baniyas and mahajans
were despoiled. By Scptember the rebellion in the district

! Eseepting Kudratali Khan, raja Hirat Singh and raja Khan Singh {Metealfs,
op. «it., 182 and others, p. 221).

®See the long list of persons and chicks who elther did not respond to the
Shukbas addressed to them by the rebel government or send petitions signifying
their intention 1o join Bahadur Shah (T7ial of Bahadur Skak, 170.03).

2 Gooper's description of the state of things in the city during the revole
which is based on the daily bulletins fornished. by the spies, is typical of the
attitude of the Anglo-Saxor rulers of that time. He finds only squalor, mock
monarehy, fanaticism, bloodshed, treachery and the like (0. if., 196-213).
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became so general that the local government maintained only
a precanous existence and 1ts officers were put to the sword 1
An expedition against Khatratt Khan Pindar, the noted rebel
of the Kandhla pargana, was sent on 2 September Inial
reverses of the Butish troops turned the nsing mnto a vast up-
surge of the people of several villages of the southwestern part
of the tahsil 2 Kharratt Khan even captured the fort of Budhana
to the east of Kandhala Simultaneously in the north, Inayetal
Khan headed a mahomedan rising i Thana Bhawan, which
was jomned by all classes of people, especially the disaffected
Sheikhzadas ® The rebels were found to be armed to the teeth
and obstinately defended themselves against the British storm-
g party Disaffection prevailed widely from the line of the
Hindan going westward as far as the Jumna canal, including
many parganas Another leader, kazs Mahabbubali nflicted
severe losses on Bntish troops During this tme a struggle
ensued for the possession of Samh Mohur Singh, the Jat zamn-
dar of the place was on the side of the rebels who took the
station by assault The action which took place was a fierce
one, one-hundred and thirteen men were killed 1n the defence
of the tahsil and the thana of Samli The rebel insurgents were
s0 funious that they did not even spare those of the defenders
who fled to the mosques for shelter The country was soon
recovered, but tension continued, and one Reza Khan was even
found collecting troops 1n the name of the king of Dellu The
Briush pumtive forces were continuously kept on the move by
the rapid movement of the masses of rebels 4

As 1 Muzaffarnagar, so also 1 Saharanpur, cl rebellion
preceded the mutiny The population of the town amounted to
about forty thousand many of whom were Mahomedans The
mutiny of troops was less 1n evidence than the nsings of the
gujars and Ranghars which broke out on the news of the Meerut
outbreak and bad tidines from Delhi and Muzaffarnagar The
sepoys of the 5th regiment bolted later on 2 June and all
throughout this period the turbulent elements robbed the

INE 1 23743 Report by F Williams, commussioner
ENE. 1, 244

INE 1 245 247

*NE 1,358 362,364 Reportby R\ Edwards magutrate
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bankers and money-lenders, extorted blackmail from them and
sacked the police stations and tahsils. Umrao Singh, the head-
man of the village of Manakpur in Mangalaur tahsil declared
himsclf a raja, levied moncy, though he failed in the Jong run.t
The tahsil and the thana of Nakur was completely gutted. The
magistrate, Robertson, proceeded to punish the refractory
villages on 20 June, but the country around rose up to effect the
release of the prisoners. It was a war of the villagers—parties
with the beat of dhols assembled on 22 June,® and showed
a grit and determination in the fight. Buddbakheri was
a strong centre of gujar disaffection where one Fatua
proclaimed himself king® of the gujars. A reward of
rupees two hundred was offered for his apprehension.
The Ranghars on this part of the district were hostile. They
were generally wealthy so that plunder could hardly be their
inducement to disaffection.* On 26 June, the British offensive
was resisted by a huge Ranghar gathering spreading over about
half a mile area. The whole of this area was covered with
rebels, in some places ten and twenty decp, which wonld
number not less than three thousand.® In Deoband the resist-
ance on the part of the townspeople was more determined and
the rebels more numerous.® In all five hundred and four of the
population were punished by court-martial and seventeen
offending villages were burnt.

‘The rising at Bulandshahr came in the wake of the mutiny
of 2 detachment of the 9th regiment on 21 May, and continued
with fury? for a long time until Greathed’s flying column had
cleared the country towards the end of September. Mixed
crowds of rebel forces, gujars, villagers and townsmen took
part in wanton destruction of civil and military establish-
ments. Offices were gutted, records destroyed and former
proprietors ousted. Many other excesses werc committed

tNE. i, 227: Report by F. Williams, commissioner.

INE. i, 228, 485: Report by H., D. Robertson.

ANE. i, 229; H. D. Robertson, Dixtrict duties during the recolf, 221,
*NE. §, 231,

4 NE. i, 280.

* Robertson, op, ¢it., 158.

7NE. it, 274f: Report by Sapte, magistrate.
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culminating 1 the temporary disappearance of the British rule
by 29 My

In the town of Sthandarabad which was only eight miles
from Bulandshahr, 1y the fort of Malagarh, headguarters
of the rebel leader Waldad Khanl His levies were
drawn from the disaffected gwars of Dadn and other
areas The fort atsell lay four miles to the north of Bulandshahr
and at a distance of mine hundred yards from the grand trunk
road The outpost at Gulaoth at the northern end of the road,
nine mules from Hapur, which the Khan commanded, enabled
him to mtercept British commumcations on the Agra-Meerut
road 2 He also enlisted fresh bands of mutmous troops, con
stantly passing up and down this mamn highway of the Doab
As the sepoy war progressed he occupied Khunja on the fugh
road to Ahgarh In the actions at Gulaothy, he resisted Brish
arms 1n the first two encounters on 29 July, and on 10 Septem-
ber, but eventually colonel Greathed defeated the rebels on
27 September and two days after took the fort of Malagarh
Colonel Bourchier says that the fort was destroyed on 1
October and guns of ‘native’ manufacture were taken 3

The other noted leaders who took part in the acuion at
Gulaothi? were Ismail Khan and Muntr Khan ® Another noted
rebel, Ralumali of Khylea, 1s mentioned 1n offical corres
pondence mn this connection 8 Harmut Khan of Pundrawal,
a near relation of the reb¢) Ralimal: Khan, was fortifying hus
stronghold with hostile mntention and was 1 touch with the
Malagarh rebels 7 Abdullatif Khan, a talukdar of about one
hundred vallages in Barrah Bast: axded the rebels 1n every way
and his uncle Azim Khan who joined Walidad, was executed &
The people of the pargana of Bunawar who were excited to

ITP 1x 889 Far Walidad hhan sce Gough, O4f Afemones, 116 Malleson #
9f

SFP 1, 96, 140

3NE 1, 268 70 71, Bourchuer, Exght Months Campargn, etc 85-89
S¥FP 1, 889

*NE 1 268

SFP v 156 160, 1x, 864

*NE » 281

INE 1 280
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rebellion by Sujja and Bhugta of Shahamal’s family, joined
the rebels of Muzaffarnagar.

The same scene was enacted at Aligarh. A brahman named
Narayan belonging to a neighbouring village of Aligarh was
found tampering with the loyalty of the sepoys on 20 May.
He was hanged on the evening of the same day and instant-
aneously the army broke out.? Though the station was re-
covered on 29 May, rebellion raged all throughout the district
for long since then. The Rajputs combined with the Jats to
plunder and pillage, Rao Bhopal Singh of Khair, at the
head of his chauhan followers, proclaimed a rajput govern-
ment but was taken by surprise at his place and exccuted.
As a reprisal the whole village stood in arms.3

The most formidable rising was the insurrection of the
Mahomedans of Koil swho raised the green flag, fought for the
revival of Istamic glory, and swore to kill Furopeans. A rebel
government was cstablished with a panchayat headed by
Gauscmohammed Khan of Sikandra Rao, who proclaimed
himself subadar for the King of Delbi, collected revenue and
exercised the prerogatives of royalty.* Others who occupied
important positions in the new set-up were Nasimullah Khan
who was placed in charge of the city, Mahabbub Khan, the
tahsildar and Hasan Khaun, the kotwal® Therc was indeed
rivalry between the leaders and some tension between the com-~
munities, which weakened the revolutionary command, yet the
Koil rebels fought desperately at the battle of Aligarh on 24
August,® under the leader Gauserachammed Khan, The Khan
brought to the field insurgents numbering five to six thousand
besides a mixed body of sepoys and zamindari levies amounting
to six or seven hundred men.? The ghazis of Aligarh played a
great part in the rebellion by exciting the people to fury and

INE. §, 269

= NE. i, 212: Report by W. J. Bramly, magistratc and collector of Aligarh,

* Chick, of. it., 502: W. Connor’s narrative.

% The Bombay Times, 1857, p. 163,

SNE-§, 215,

¢ According to one contemporary officer the British army could not_proceed
Sarther than the fown of Hafhiras, tea miles on the Agra side of Aligarh (Thornbill,
ap. cit., 267). .

“FP. vi, 155-7; I, 143,
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if permutted to remain, allowed to remam on mere sufferance, the
Bunyahs were plundered, new proprietors gjected and murdered and
the King of Delln proclaimed.

When the Nimach mutineers entered the district after their
victory at Shahganj (5 July) the conflagraton spread far and
wide. One Debi Smgh declared himself as raja of fourteen
villages and set up a government of his own In a circle of
2 few mules five to six indars made th lves inde-
pendent and assumed the title of raja: the impression ‘that
the English rule had ceased was umversal’l Another leader
Deokaran sacked the tahsil and the thana of Saidabad 2
Anarchy was rampant 1 the northern and western parts of
Mathura, Towards the end of September the rebels set up an
improvised government with Keramatah as the governor of
the king of Delhi Meanwhile the offensive resumed by Greathed
was found to be too strong to be repulsed At Chhata, on the
north-west of Mathura on the main line to Delhy, some of the
rebel zamindars could indeed stubbornly hold out against the.
Englsh but they were effectively countered and the bastion
was blown up. By the end of 1857 the country returned to
normal conditions

The carly part of June was a critical perod in the history of
British rule in India* regiments after reguments were falling out
1n quick succession, as in Nsmach on 3 June, Jhansi on 6 June,
Nowgong on the 10th and Gwalior on the 14th When, there-
fore, the 44th and the 67th regaments were disarmed at Agra
on 31 May, 1t came not a moment too soon. The surrounding
country was ablaze and the victory of the Nimach troops in
the action at Shahgans® outside the ity on 5 July, became the
signal for the outburst of popular fury, The Britssh ran the
danger of being besieged like the Eurapeans at Cawnpore
The common people who were awaiting the issue of the fight
now joined the soldiers. Government offices were plundered
and burnt, wealthy people were robbed and no trace of

LNE i, 94 Report by M Thornhill, magustrate; Thombll, The Personal
Advemtures, 100-06

$ Thid 95

* Raukes, Notes on the Revolt, etc , 57-58 For the hattle of Shahgan see NL. §,
62-64, Report by A. L M Phillips, magutrate

4 Thornhull, op at, 273




UPPER INDIA 83

British rule remained. The police to a man were found to be
disaffected; for example, Muradali, the kotwall and Bashratali,
the superintendent of police,? openly proclaimed the rule of
the king of Delhi. The turbulent clements like the gujars and
mullahs rose up in all directions and directed their attack
particularly against tahsils and police stations which were
burnt and sacked, and against Christians nearly twenty-two of
whom were murdered.® The gujar leader of Dholpur, Dechans
by name, mustered an army of nearly three thousand men
from his clansmen, and sacked tahsils and treasuries of Iradat-
nagar on 9 July and carried away spoil of two lakhs of rupees.
His compatriot, Bhavani Sankar, indulged himself in similar
excesses. The different tahsils fell off one after another,
Firozabad in the north was abandoned to the villagers,
Khairagarh in the south was completely plundered, Fatehabad
in the west was denuded of British authority. The pargana of
Pinahat early fell into disorder, and was usurped by the
villages headed by Lachman Singh, the gujar zamindar of
Khera.5 The same condition prevailed in the tahsils of the
trans-Jumna tract.

In Itimadpur Zorawar Singh of Himmatpur became power-
ful. Early in July he attacked the tahsil which was sacked but
he was restrained as soon as the civil administration was
restored.® In the pargana of Fatehabad two villages—Dhanaula
and Khander were in ferment, collecting ammunition and
guns. Towards the end of November, Phillips, the magistrate
and major Hennessy, led a full scale military expedition
against them with success.? In Akrabad, Jaydayal, Mangal
Singh, and Muthab Singh organised the villagers to fight
against the government.® One Ganga Singh was in open rebel-

1 NE. i, 65,

+ Chick, op. cit., 767. The tabsil of Farrah was plundered by the daroga
Wazirali who joined the rebels (NE. i, 67).

* NE. i, 66.

¢ NE. j, 68.

3 Chick, op. citn, 771-2: The Hindy Patriot of 8 April, '58 features an article on
the nternal discord of the landed chiefs of the pargana and its connection with
the revolt.

¢ NE. i, 69.

7 NE. i, 76-77.

3 FP. viii, 120, 140.
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lion 1n the villages of Lakshmanpur and Narah ! At no period
tll the capture of Gwalior by Rose 1n June 1858 was Agra free
from the penl of an attack 1n force from the rebels
The ndjrcent district of Mainpun 1n the Doab was sumlarly
affected The outbreak occurred on 23 May, and i the early
part of June, the surrounding country was ablaze The thanas,
tahstls, schools, bungalows and chaulis were burnt and all
Mustafabad was in rebellion 2 Raja Tej Singh® who had been
shorn of three fourths of lus estate by the settlement of 1840
threw s whole weight mto the rebel cause to secure his
hereditary digmty Wath his levies he came to the support of
other rebel formanons agamst the Butsh power 1w the
neighbouring distnicts® and alhed himself with the nawab
of Farrukhabad 5 He surrendered on 11 June 1858 and was
removed to Benares where he hved on an allowance &
Etawah lay on the road to Cawnpore at a distance of seventy

three miles from Agra The rebellion 1n the district presented a
remarkable feature The official report was that the district
was knawn for the loyalty of its inhabrtants, but in few districts
the revolt of the people assumed such a proportion In one of
the early icidents of the mutiny when Jaswantnagar in the
west of Etawah was besieged by the mutineers from Meerut,
and Allan Hume, the magstrate and collector, had to beat
a hasty retreat 1n reheving 1t on 19 May, the townspeople
showed unequivocal signs of sympathy with the mutmeers ?
A wing of the Sth regiment cantoned at the station mutimed
on 22 May, following the evacuation of the hewd-

1 FP 1x 865 The bst of murders in the ety of Agra and punishment given
dunng July 1857, mcludes one Unullah fakir who was transported for lifc and
many other respectable men (Chick op e 7889}

2 NE 1 162 Report by J Power, collector and magustrate

* FP wvu 161, v, 9 2526 B 1434

4 FP 1x 847

* FP 1x 896

¢Sen op at 363 The Hindu Patriot of 8 ju]g 58 featured an ar
ticle on the trial of Tej Smgh the deposed raja of AMampun pkndmg h:xs‘
acquittal on the ground that he was a vicum of arcumstances that he Tha ﬁ:
pexther white blood nor black blood and that he had been reduced to this s h;
by his nival in the estate who has been unrelenting 1n his efforts to com;;_a;s
rin Another leader of the district was the rebel thakur Akbar Sugh (FP o
924)

* haye m 220n
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quarters by the officials. The rising became general: mixed
bodies of soldiers, city rabble, mewatis, julahas, and Rajputs
commenced plundering the country.

Many local chiefs broke out in different parts of the
district, the most important of whom were Rana Mahendra
Singh of Sakrauli, the raja of Ruro in Belah, Rup
Singh of Bharih (near the junction of the Chambal with the
Jumna}, Raja Bhao of Sikandra, Niranjan Singh of Chakar-
nagar and Ramprasad and Pitam Singh, who were alleged to
be brigand chicfs.! Somc of them offered help to the Gwalior
rebels who appeared on the south-castern frontier of the dis-
trict in October, 1857, and others invited the rebel nawab of
Farrukhabad. The nawab’s nazim reached Etawah on 3
December 1857, with a force of five thousand men and twelve
guns and inflicted a crushing defeat on Kunwar Zohar Singh
who espoused the British cause.2 Though Etawah was recaptur-
ed on 6 January, rebel chiefs were hardly subdued. Rup Singh,
the uncle of the minor raja of Bharih took forcible possession
of Auraiya and here he could not be ousted even after a fierce
encounter on 7 February 1858, at Anantaram in which one
hundred and fifty of his rebel forces were killed® His troops
guarded the bridge of boats at Shergarh ghat and maintained
communication with the mutinous troops from Kalpi. While
he built up his power in Auraiya, the Chambal-Jumna tract
passed under the control of Chakarnagar raja Kushal Singh
and his son, Niranjan.

In March, 1858, a deadly struggle ensued for the recovery
of Ajitmal which was near Auraiya and twenty-five miles from
Etawah. The peoplc of the neighbouring villages formed the
bulk of the army and defended the place from the attacks of
the English. Drastic mcasures were adopted. Many of the
villages were burnt down, but in every case, the British troops
were fiercely attacked by isolatcd partics of insurgents. On 11
April, the rebel forces drew round Ajitmal from all directions

3 NE. ii. 171: Report by A. Hume, magistrate and collector. 'The raja of

Ruro Possoned himselt o death (FP. 1%, 867). For the resstance offered by the
ndars at the village fort at Sampther, sce Humes Report quoted in

 NE. i, 193-4, For details of the batl]c of Anantaram, see report of Hume,
affg. magistrate and collector of Etawal
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and completely enarcled it 1n a concerted scheme in which
Niranjan Singh, Ganga Singh, Pitam, Bankat and Rup Singh
participated, but they were put to rout, Niranjan with his
crowd of matchlockmen fallng back to Goham across the
Jumna where he strongly entrenched himself by buildmg a
number of murchas or posts 1

Struggle for the possession of Aptmal continued mter
muttently It was renewed in May under the leadership of
Lalpun Goshain, Nana’s purolat 2 and Rup Singh and Neranjan
The rebels, 1t 15 sad, mncreased in strength rapidly  Lieutenant
Chapman sent to reconnoitre the postion found = strongly
posted force of some six hundred cavalry, and one thousand
two hundred regular mfantry Niranjan Singh in A auxilinry
mavement crossed the Jumna and taking up his quarters at
Nandgron plundered Phaphund ? The country was fast passing
away under the dommation of the Indian cluefs who held the
Lakhnt pargana and controlled all the ghats on the Jumna
Vartous skirmishes took place but the fall of halpi on 23 May
1858 somewhat damped the revolunonary spnt but not that
of Rup Singh Niranjan and his followers, Pritam  Banhat and
Gangn Singh who led numerous furtive expeditions mn the
months of July and August, ind surpnised vanous British out
posts on many occasions tll the Jumna Chambal Doab was
re occupied by lieutenants Graham and Allan 1n September
October 1858 3 The struggle continued The amval of Tiruz
Sh-h on 7 December, 1858 surred up discontentment His
huge force winch mcluded fourteen hundred cavalry attached
the Briish army 1t Harachandrapura on 8 December, and 1n
spite of the magnificent charges made by Doyle, the position
of the British army on the whole became wealk, and Doyle
himself was killed After a sharp engagement which lasted three
and half hours Iruz Shah was obliged to retreat

Farrukhabad, bounded on the north by Shahjehanpur and
Budaun was a district m the Agra diviston but though

1NE 1 1734

P NE 1 1967

*NE 1 174 1967

4 NE: 175

8 NE 3 1757 202 FP 1x 974 Malleson 11, 308
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separated from Rohilkhand by the Ganges, it was more allicd
1o it in social conditions than to the Doab. The adjoining
cantonment town of Fatehgarh on the Ganges was about six
miles from the district town. It was the seat of a gun-carriage
manufactory. The inhabitants of the district numbered up-
wards of a million. The condition of the country in the early
part of 1857 was anything but peaceful. The thakur zamindars
were dissatisfied, the pathans were turbulent and the nawab
discontented. By the end of May the roads leading to Agra
were closed by rebellion in the intervening districts and most
of the villages were up in revolt, In the carly part of June it
was an open secret that the nawab was turning against the
government. The tenth regiment of Farrukhabad, the ‘Chris-
tian regiment’ as it was called, persevered in their loyalty even
when the neighbouring countries were ablaze and it is doubt-
ful if they would have revolted at all as they did on 18 June,
had they not been instigated by the 31st from Sitapur. The
murder of Europeans in cold blood on 23 July, in which
Ghulamali Khan, the rebel kotwal took the lead, in one outhouse
of the nawab’s palace, in Farrukhabad was witnessed by a large
crowd.! The formation of a rebel government had been taken in
hand at the beginning of June. Tafazzal Hussain, the nawab,
now set to consolidate the newly gained power. His was a
broadbased government. Ashrat Khan, Multan Khan, Hyder-
ali, Mohammed Taki formed the nawab’s privy council.? Of
these Ashrat Khan who styled himself nawab was the soul of
the rebellion. He was appointed musheer khas, principal coun-
cillor. Mohammed Taki and Hedayetali became the chief
officers of the nawab’s court. Mahsumali® and nawab Ahmed
Yar Khan, ‘an incompetent savage’, were appointed nazims,
and the two together enlisted a force of about eight thousand
men.d Tarutali was made the chamberlain® The court was

1NE.{, 134-5, 155-6: Report by C. R. Lindsay, offi magistrate and collector
and the decisions by H. D). Robertson. Also Cosens and Wallace, Fatehgarh and the
Mutiny (1933), 2, 20, 33, 59, 113-20.

* Chick, op. ¢it., 584,

1 FP, ix, 865.

¢NE. §, 135.

# Chick, op. ¢k, 574

¢NE. i, 138.
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composed of Ganga Singh, Sheoghulam Dikshit and Pandit
Pitambar The court of the muftees consisted of Ahmedals,
Abdul Wahid and a kaz: 1 All the kanangoes, collectory sircars,
record heepers, muhumns, nazis, chaprasis of the former
government tendered therr services to the nawab Three of
the six tahsildars, sixof the eleven thandars and five of the nine
peshkars of the former admnistration gave their support 1o
the rebel government Revenue accruing from ferries was left
to soldiers The excise revenue realised was small, and poppy
cultivation was forbidden Cosens and Wallace attribute this
to the nawab’s desire to secure the sale of the large stock of
opwm which he had seized 1n the government storehouse 2
Qutside this circle many others espoused the cause of the
rebellion  Likha Simgh of Alahgan) and Polandar Smgh of
Bhowanipur conveyed the Sitapur mutineers across the Ganges,?
Jasa Singh, the rebel leader of Fatehpur chaurass, fired upon the
fugttives,® the thakurs of Belowa under the command of Ganga,
Chatr Singh and Aman Singh attached the British® Some of
the chuef leaders of the Indian revolt such as Bakht Khan,
Firuz Shah, Walidad Khan paid visits to the countryside
encouraging the people to keep up therr sprits ® In the adjoin-
g town of Fatehgarh the rebels were numerous and were
mostly engaged 1 hoshle demonstratton and murderous
assaults on the refugees fleemng by bhoats 7 Official despatches
refer to the disfoyal atutude of many disaffected chiefs such
as the nawab rais of Fatehgarh,8 maulav: Siakataly,? Ismail
Khan,® Masimali Khan,1! Nirtul Singh'? and others The

1Ihd 135

INE 1 137 For a detaded description of the nawabs admnistrat on see
Cosens and Wallace 164-75
57 INE 1, 129 Lika singh was Iater on transported for Life (Cosens and Wallace

$Ibed 133

¥ 1bid 156-8

Cibd 145

"They were Bhunmar Singh zamindar of Ukni Ram Saha of Hatgaon
Sitzbaksh and Palwan Singh of Bargulla and Murlusta Ramaruddin Hussain of
Fatta (FP v 261)

*FP vu b4

*FP vin 163

WFP v 140 144

RFP viu M5 124

HFP v, A9, 100
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famous Apa Sahib scems to have been living in Sitalganj and
harbouring hostile designs.? Yet the communal tension was
high which culminated in a fierce conflict between the two
orders at Bhojpur, and Pokbar Singh held an independent
sway in his castle at Thata.

Four times the forces of the nawab encountered the English,
first at Kanauj on 23 October, 1857, then at Kasganj, and the
third time at Patiali and finally at the action of the Kali Nadi
on 2 January *58. At this battle the renowned Thakur Pandey
was killed and the British force entered Fatehgarh on 3
January 1858.2 A rebel chief named Nazirali Khan who, as
colonel Bourchier says, was the chief instigator of all cruelties,
attempted to make a stand in Farrukhabad but surrendercd
soon after.3 Nawab Tafazzal Hussain and his party fled away.*
Even after the capture of Fatehgarh, the rebel general Niaz
Mohammed?s entered Kampil in the north of the district but
was routed by Hope Grant on 18 January, and before long
Mahsumali also was defeated.

ALLAHABAD DIVISION

Being situated at the confluence of two greatrivers, Allahabad
“was a most important strategical point, and its three great natural
divisions of Jand containcd more than one thousand villages
and towns and a population of nearly a million. The mutiny
at Allahabad, in its purely military aspect, onc of the most
memorable in the whole history of the sepoy war, was rendered
still more so for its immediate popular results. The great city,

2 FP. viii, 99.

# NE. i, 148,

3 Bourchier, Eight Months' Campaign, etc. 162.

* Martin, (op. if., if, 476) says that two other nawabs whose identity could ot
be established were hanged along with 200 rebels. Towards the end of the year
(1838), one Nawabuddaulah of Farrukhabad was said to have been condemned to
death but was eventually saved (Hinds Patriof, 16 December, 1858}. Later on
early in January nawab ‘Fafazzal Hussain also came voluntarily to surrender. A
price of 410,000 was set upon his person 2nd he was shut out by proclamation
from all Tavour of amnesty. He was sentenced to be ‘hanged,x hich was fater on
<commuted to banishment from India for life. He was sent to Mecea, his seli-chosen
Place of exile (Martin, ob cit., 499-500). !

& FP, viji, 130; ix, 416,
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as Kaye says, rose in an instant The sixth regiment stationed
there remained loyal till 6 June when bemng excited by the
news of the Benares mutiny and the Tepressive measures
adopted by Neill, 1t revolted This was followed by a trem-
endous upsurge of the ity populace who first inaugurated a
rchigious war by hoisting the flag of the prophet in the chouk
They then jomed the sepoys m pillage, ralway works! and
telegraphic wires were destroyed, the treasury plundered and
records burnt After a short penod the untversal rapme with
all uts confusions began to take the shape of an orgamsed rebel-
hon and culmunated mn the assumption of power by maulavt
Liakatali, 2 common school master, a weaver by caste, who
proclaimed the rule of the king of Delhi and passed himself as
s governor 2 His reign was of short duration, but he was
actively supported by a wide aircle of eminent Mahomedans?
who were held together by the common bond of ammosity
against the British 4 A great crowd joined the fakir, and on three
several occasions fight took place 8 The maulavi was obliged
to leave the station at the success of British arms on 17 June
Even at that time he commnded threc thousand followers”
who jomed the rank of the rebels at Cawnpore 8

There were undoubtedly many loyal elements 1n Allahabad
but to all appearances the nsing at Allahabad was general
The fearful retribution that was inflicted on the aity was an
wndex to the enormty of the civil rebellion that succeeded the

1The destruchion of the ralway store house was fnghtful It appeared that

thousands of men had been :systemam:ally engaged for many days mn wanton
destruction (Chick op a2 416 Narrative by an eye witness, haye, n 256 )

INE 1,12 Report by H D Willock, jount magistrate FP vu, 149

 The followng talukdars officers and champions of faith jomed the maulavt
—Shekh Nizamat Ashraf Ghulam Ismail Mohammed Hussain Chaudhurt
Miran Baksh Maulavi Syed Ahmedal, Manlavi Ghulam Hyder, Maulavt
Amyadali Hussamnah Khan Sher hhban, Sheikh Lutfali Sheikh Fattahalt
Sheikh Nazafah (natb-kotwal), Sheikh Nazaf Khan (nab-thanadar) [NE 1 22
Supplement to the Narrauve of Events]

4 Chack op et 406, 826

§NE 1,22

4NE 4,12

7 Chick, op ext, 411 Report by heutenant colonel Neill

8 Even 1n July,’58 the maulav seems to have retawed a posinon of strength
He was reported{» be posted on the other side of the rver close to Allzhabad
with some thousands of rebels His headquarter at Soraon (ncar Allahabad)
was not attacked till then (Hindu Patnot 22 July, *38)
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mutinies. Hundreds were arrested on suspicion of complicity
and dealt with most sternly. Many were even shot down by
soldiers. The gibbet becamea standing institution at Allahabad,
nearly eight hundred men were hanged between 6 June and
16 July.d The reign of terror resulted in complete desertion of
the city and the consequent absence of all means of transport
hampering cven the military operations of Neill. The pcopic
developed a horror for the Englishman.

In the Doab parganas, the outbreak was ‘worse’ and
more widespread particularly in  thc pargana Chail
inhabited mostly by Mahomedans, who, to a man,
were disaffected. They raised the green flag and fought under
its banner. The pragwal brahmans of Allahabad also involved
themselves in the conflagration and influenced the hindu
population to support them. In the parganas to the north of
the Ganges, the revolutionary urge originated from cconomic
motives, religion had little or nothing to do with it? as in
Secundra where the clashes between the ex-zamindars and the
auction purchasers were more extensive than in any other partof
Allahabad.? The excited peasantry and the dispossessed zamin-
dars made a common cause in ousting the auction purchascrs
and decree holders and in plundering everything they could
lay their hands on. To the south of the Jumna the country
was comparatively quict.! The recovery of Allahabad by the

-British did not lead to the suppression of the rebellion in the
district, Mchndi Hasan, the nazim of Sultanpur® extended his
sway as far down as the city itself. Zamindars, refugees and
religious fanatics flocked to his standard and he actually held
Phaphamow by force.SAnother rebel leader, Fazl Azim, the naib-
nazim of Salone {Rac Bareli)? held charge of the Allahabad

1Dodd, op. cit,, 157; Hindu Patriot, 10 September, *57. See also Travels of a
Hindu by Bholanath Chanda quoted in Kaye, ii, 668.

1NE. 3, 89: Report by F. Thompson, offg. magisteate.

SEP. v, 67

¢ Chick, op. cit., 820.

#He is also described as nazim of Altahabad and Aga Ujimali figures as bis
naib (FP. vit, 34, 42, 144, 147).

#1n October, 1857 he was reparted to be at Phaphamow ghat, § miles from
the British outpost across the Ganges (The Englishman, 9 October, 1857).

* FP. vil, 150.
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pargana! occupred Soraon, fourteen miles north of Allahabad

He was served by his adherents, Ghulam Martuza, his dewan,
and Sheodat Singh, Diarjan and Dakul Singh of Chauras 2
He engaged the British forces in January 1858 1n an action
at Mansetha, some eght mules from Allahabad Though
defeated, he evaded the vilance of military pickets and effec-
twvely challenged the Brtish offensive by guenlla tactics This
obliged brigadier Berheley to storm the fort of Dahain on 14
July 1858, mn which, according to a contemporary estimate
clmmed to be very correct, more than one thousand rebels were
lalled 3 Lven after this disaster, Dhakan Singh, zamndar of
Dharwal! who had camped at Atharban held out, and headed
the most desperate insurgents ike Hanuman Singh® and Wilayat
Hussain Hanuman had his headquarters at Koran close to the
hine of the railway where he fortified himself ¢ The rebellious
proceedings of this village leader who tampered with the rail

way track are frequently mentioned 1n the official despatches ?
Mention 13 also made of the hostile activities of Belour Singh
who scoured, with huis twelve hundred followers, placesn the
victmity of the grand trunk road ® Rahulammn, the naib-
chackladar of pargana Nawabgang,? held sway over a con-
federacy of disaffected chieftans mcluding Golab Singh, Bem
Bahadur Singh of Nasratpur and Madho Singh of Bhognipur

He had two thousand men, besides the levies contributed by
Shyampur ram, the thahuram of Budn and Sugram Singh, the
zammundar of Singraur in the pargana of Nawabgan, alir
Bahsh and other ex-zammdars He also held the fort of Kala-
kankar and intercepted the river passige between Allahabad
and Cawnpore An order from Lucknow called upon all taluk-
dars and zamuindars to attend on the nab-chackladar

T¥P 1x, 229 30, 232 593 Narratne of Lvents, October to December

*FP 1, 2325

3 Hindu Patriat, 29 July, 58, \Malleson w280

4 Chuck, op o, 821

$ His name 14 varowsly written as Humam Singh (FP vus 104) and Hummut
Singh (FP 1x 235)

*Chick op at, 8212

*FP 1 599, 603, 792

°PP 1857, vol 30 p 49

*FP vu, 260 262 ix, 232, 236
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Rahulamin and to assist him in the subversion of the British
government. Mirza Agaullah of Hanumanganj styled himself
as naib-nazim,? Bakshisullah, the kanango of Manikpur® and
Ayodhya Singh and Dunan Singh the ex-zamindars similarly
stood against the government* In Chaurasi in the trans-
Jumna paragana of Khairagarh, disaffection was fast spread-
ing towards the end of December.®

F.0. Mayne, the joint magistrate of Gopiganj to the east of
Allahabad in the Benares division, submitted a report in respect
of the deployment of rchel forces in the first part of October,
which tends to show the extent of the civil rebellion in the
Gangetic tracts. The chart® on pages 94-95 will make it clear.

Lying contiguous to Bundelkhand, Oudh, Azamgarh and
Jaunpur and posing as a key to Bihar, Allahabad naturally felt
the shock of the rebellion to a great extent and the embers of
disaffection continued to glow there for a long time.

In Cawnpore Baji Rao built a large place, ten miles away
at Bithur, There he resided in a regal state with a retinue of
sixteen hundred men. He died in 1851 leaving no issue but he
had adopted Dhundu Pant, better known as Nana Sahib.
Nana tried in vain to secure his adopted father’s pension, salute
and other honours, but he built up a position and influence by
wide contacts. He secured the allegiance of a number of
Maratha courticrs and agents but the man who guided him
and yet loved and respected him like a devoted follower was a
Mahomedan of great talent named Azimullah Khan, This
gentleman of great fame had begun his life as a table-
servant and rose to be a diplomat of the day. It appears that
Tantia Topi was also living in the court of Nana Sahib as
one of the numerous ‘hangers on’, as Lang says.

1 For a long List of the enzamindars who were a party to the forcible seizure
of the villages see FP. vii, 77, 261-3; ix, 239.

2 He is also associated with Secundra (FP. ix, 237, 239, 282).

s g b ég?f'slgl«jfnmy of the rebels were hanged by orders of the mibitary
authority for their hostile activities (FP. i, 144).

S FP. ix, 603

:F\f‘;a s by J. 3. Sherer, magistrate, For a_contemporary
e O et o By Pamat (11 Noveanber, 185815 Mowbray
Thomson, The Story of Caunpore, $41., 52-53; Maude and Sherer, i, 2200in;
Lang, [fanderings m India, 116, 140; Gough, OId Memories, 184-5; Shepherd,
Narratue of the Mutiny, etc, 45-56. Also Majumdar, op. cit., 164:5; Sen, op. ait, 123
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Outwardly Nana was on the best of terms with the Brtish
officers It cannot be definitely asserted that he and hi
counsellors were busy 1n exploiting the political situation 1
Oudh 50 as to preach sedihon though they seemed to have
paid a visit to Luchnow early 1n 1857 as stated by Gubbins,
the financial commussioner and as quoted by Martin T Lieuten-
ant-colonel Williams, mlitary secretary to the government of
North-West provinces, who carned on an mvestigation regard-
g the outbreak at Cawnpore found no traces of conspiracy
prior to the arrnval of Nana Sahib at Cawnpore on 22 May 2
The troops, however, had become very restive mn the month of
April, and the disbanded sepoys of the 19th regiment passing
through Cawnpore mn the same month and the news from
Meerutin May provided much excitement Even so, Nana Sahib
does not appear to have commutted humself against the govern-
ment the letters of the wife of the magistrate and collector of
Cawnpore witten to her friends m England n the month of
May reveal the existence of an understanding between the
two parttes to take the mutincers unawares 8 The mutiny at
Cawnpore commenced on the mormng of 4 June at 2 am
when the 2nd cavalry and ist regiment left ther hines,* but
recent researches go to the pomnt of indicating that Nana Salib
was unaware of the mutiny of the sepoys until 1t actually broke
out.’ Shepherd of the commissanat department who was one
of the few to survive the massacres and record upon paper his
expenience says that at the outset the sepoys planned to start
for Dellt and did not contemplate attacking the English and

 Gubbins, of_at, 30 31, Martn, op ait, 250 Gf the views of Metcalfe of
Delln who says that the histonians hase not taken adequate natice of the part
Nana had taken 10 strrng up the Hindu population (Two Natwe Narratioes,
10) Holmes writes that he had long been trymng to stir up native chicftams (of
at,9192) Dr S N Sen doubts whether Nana was so engaged 11 hus tour pro
gramme 1n 1856-7 (o6 e, 128'9) The whole guestion of Nana Sahib 23 organiser

of the consprracy has been discussed 1n great detail in the hght of the evidence of
Sitaram Bawa by Dr R C Majumdar The results of s c_dmus:vc mvesuga

tions show that Nana did nothing to brang int te an nIsey
against the English {op art, 183 91)
*NE 1 112

*Dodd ap at, 126 On a scrutiny of all the avalable evidence Dr Sen
considers that neither Hullersdon nor Wheeler had any reason to dastrust Nana
at that moment (o at, 132 3)

¢NE 1,99

SR C Mayumdar, gp at, 131
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in fact they marched to Nawabganj where they were received
by Nana Sahib and feted by him. They then marched to Kal-
yanpur, nine miles from Cawnpore on the way to Delhi.
About this time the Qudh horse battery represented to
Nana the advantages likely to be derived from attacking
the English at the entrenchment and Nana Sahib entertained
the proposals.! The official reports of Sherer, Freeling and
Thornhill give the same account of the troop’s march on the
Delhi road, heedless of any obligation to support Nana Sahib
at Gawnpore. It was not long before they had left that he and
his advisers seemed to have decided to embark on an enter-
prise of founding a new Maratha dynasty and bought over
the troops with lavish promises to that interest.?

The current accounts of the mutiny at Gawnpore are quite
plenty, but the true history of all the sccret proceedings, as Kaye
said, could not be satisfactorily extracted. The evidences bear-
ingon the subject are so contradictory that it cannot be ascer-
tained with any degree of certainty how Nana Sahib reacted
to the situation, excepting his own confessions which are for
the first time known from his letter of 20 April, 1859, as
reproduced by Dr. Majumdar.® Shcpherd and Tantia Topi
clearly do not agree as regards Nana’s presence at Cawnpore
at the time of the outbreak, The former says that the muti-
neers went to Nawabganj where they were sumptuocusly
entertained by Nana Sahib but the latter deposed that the
sepoys forcibly took Nana from Cawnpore along with
them and marched on the road to Decthid Further, Tantia
does not say anything about the Kalyanpur affair where
according to Shepherd a decision seems to have been taken.
The official rcports as mentioned above support the version
of Shepherd that the sepoys were prevailed upon to turn
back to Cawnpore by Nana Sahib but it is not ciear
whether he accompanied the rebel regiments to Kalyanpur.
The above official reports also make out that there was

+ Shepherd, op. cit , 20, 22-24; Chick, op. il., 602: Narrative by Sherer.
2NE. i, 9697, 100: Report by C. B. Thornhill, commissioner; Dodd, op.
130; Holmes, op. cit., 227-8.

5 Op cit, xiii-iv {Preface).
« Malleson, iit, 575-6.

¢! GRIMAT

cit.,
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absolutely no understanding between Nana Sahib and the dis-
affected sepoys 1n regard to a plan of acton—a contention
which receives support from other sources as well, But if, as
seems clear, the troops returned on the 6th, then all this march
and counter-march of the mutineers from Cawnpore to
Kalyanpur covering a distance of eighteen mules and all the
complicated negotiations of winning over the sepoys to the side
of the Nana or of the latter to the causcof the former have to
be placed within the short period of one day which does not
appear to have been practicable enough unless the parties were
previously disposed to come to an understanding. Tantia
states that Nana Sahib had been compelled to join the sepoys.
This does not appear to be very convinang. Shepherd’s
reference to the deputation and Nana’s acceptance of
the proposal probaply at the instance of Azimullah and his
attempts to persuade the sepoys to turn back are altogether
incompatible with Tantia Topr's deposition, Tantia gives
the impression that the part played by Nana m the early
phase of the struggle was of a passve nature! But
the statement of Holmes that he swore to lead the troops to
Delhi? shows that he was reaily not so indifferent to the
situation around hum which 1s also reflected 1 the account
of Shepherd.® The authentiaity of the statement of Holmes
may be questioned but Shepherd’s narrative cannot be
ignored. Tantia does not say that the mutmeers returned
to Cawnpore at the instance of Nana Salub yet this was
probably the actual situation which cannot be contradicted.
But whatever 1t was, whether induced by threat or tempta-
tion, Nana made a common cause with the sepoys

The letter received by Wheeler early mn the morning of the
6th, from Nana Sahib, warning him to expect an attack is inter-
preted as ‘a piece of quixotry” n conformity with the code of
hindu chivalry,® and also ‘as the last friendly act of Nana
towards the Britsh’,5 but Holmes who refers to this epistolary

1+ Majumdsr, op. et , 131
3 Holmes, 227-8

10p at, 130

4Sen, op at, 139

* Majumdar, of at, 132
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performance docs not quote the exact text.! It was a strange
gesture indeed for the author of the Cawnpore atrocities.
Was it in the natarc of an ultimatum? It can be safely
established that Nana had no hand in planning the mutiny
of troops as hinted by Holmes® and that it was not till they
had actually broken out that he joined them. His own
Ietter ‘completes the chain of evidence’ which receives
strength from other contemporary observers,

The cvidence of Nanakchand is no less valuable on this
point.® Nanakchand was a loyalist and was not particularly
well-disposed to Nana, yet he also observed that Nana had
been instigated into revolt by his brothers and advisers.® This
is confirmed by Williams who also found no evidence to support
the theory that Nana Sahib organised the conspiracy. He
further says that in the matter of organising the revolt of the
sepoys, his brother Bata Sahib took no less prominent a part
than Nana and that two sowars, Rahim Khan of Bishnupur

1 0p. cit,, 228,

*Op. dt, 227,

I Nanakehand does not concesl his fecling of hostility towards Nana nor
does he disguise the fact that he was keeping the journal from 15 May, 1857
o establish his claim to the attetion of the government which he valucd
tmost. This to some extent reduces the importance of his diary 2s a souree book of
the rebellion at Cawnpore, but it certaiwly deserves the same consideration as
the diaries of Jivanlal and Mainuddin Hasan Khan who also wrote on the affairs
at Delhi from the same matives. Dr. 5. N. Sen (gp. cit., 162-71) takes a serious view
of Nanakchand’s jgnorance of the case of Chimnaji Appa, his occasional lapses
in the circumstantial narrative of the military incidents of the war, wrong entries
in regard to dates, and other minor details which obviously could not have been
rectificd, and for all these ceasons the whale account of the Imvyer-diarist is
dismissed as a tissue of fabricated reports. It is ignored that the details of the
sogial war he furnishes could not possibly have been concoted. Dr. Sen guotes
Tance (G.E.), the collector of Cawnpore to supgest that the ‘tout” made money
by entering 2 person's Tsme as a rebel or wellwisher, This is a bascless
for it passes one’s comprehension to understand how he could have taken money
from those who had been declared rebels, and there were so many of them that
very few ‘wellwishers’ were left to contribute to Nanakchand's fund. Would the
magistmate ke 2 native’ record where the whole body of the talukdars and the
Toasees of people have been represented as sebels? There cannot be any cbjection
if Nanakehand had tonstituted himself the ‘Gensor of Public Morals' for he had
at least the sense to admit that an account like this should be corrected after
“minute enquiries’

 Forrest, Selections, i, Ap) p. cclooxiv: Nanakehand’s Diary. Dr. R, C.
Majumdar has not constderet part of the statement of Nanakchand or also
he would not have stated that no reliance can be placed on the evidence of
Nanakchand (g. ¢it,, 189-90). Dr. Sen repeats the same staternent that Nana was
in league with the sepoys (¢f. ¢it., 138). .




100 GIVIL REBELLION IN THE INDIAN MUTINIES

and Madudah of Banda were employed to tamper with the
sepoys 1

Shepherd describes the tremendous excitement of the early
days of June when the Mahomedans assembled under the
green flag and the Hindus under the mahabir jhanda and shouted
ther respective slogans They all wanted a revival of the past,
the restoration of the old mstitutions He speals of the houses
and offices of certan English merchants and traders—Green-
way, Crump, Mackintosh, Rerd, Marshall, Kirk—that were
plundered 2

The rebels besieged the gamson of the Europeans who
bravely defended themselves under the inspinng leadership of
general Wheeler till the 26th when they had to surrender, The
mncident of the Satichaura ghat on 27 June where most of the
prisoners were either drowned or fired at, started a chan of
reactions marked by bloody duels After the expulsion of
the Europeans, Nana’s dream of establishung the Peshwah
empire came very near to fulfilment Nanakchand says
that he was enthroned at Bithur, and that all the great
zarndars were present at the wnstallaton 3 The synopsis of
evidence prepared by leutenant-colonel Wilhams from
numerous depositions gives us details of the government
established by Nana The revolution was sustained by the
levies extorted from the bankers and merchants hke Badndas
Agarwala, Lala Iswandayal, Fatamal and many others Nana
was declared the sovereign, Bala Rao, his younger brother,
became the governor-general and Jawalaprasad the com-
mander-n chiefl Ramlal, the deputy-collector, took an active
part 1n attempting to orgamse Nana's government as also
Pandurang Rao, his nephew The consultative commuttee
presided over by Nana was usually attended by Baba Bhat,
s elder brother, Azimullah, Ahmedalh Khan, Akbaral,
Ahmedullah, Shahal, bngadier Jawalaprasad, general Tikka
Singh and the Allahabad maulavi But an nner council of
this commuttee consisung of Bala Rao, Tantia Tops, and
Azimullah was summoned on emergent 1ssues

1Chick, op art, 668 70 Synopss of Eudence of the Cawnpore Muuny by
heutenant coanel G \williaras

s Shicpherd, op at, 27 28, Dodd op i, 132

2 Forrest Selections w1 \anak Chand s Diary, p ccexn vin
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The court to decide eriminal cases was composed of Baba
Bhat, Azimullah, Shahali, Jawalaprasad, Ahmedali Khan
(vakil) and the mahajan Fatchram Singh. Many appoint-
ments were made, As for example, Chaudhuri Chuni Singh
was made the thanadar, Holas Singh the city kotwal, Sheo-
prasad the treasurer, Gayaprasad the tent maker, Jugalkishore
the jeweller, and kazi Wanuddin the police officer. The press
of Mustafakhan was utilised, shells were prepared by Imamali,
son of Jungli, an invalid subadar and Shahali, the late kotwal,
was appointed the head of the intelligence department.
Buddhoo, the commissariat boat contractor, supplied boatmen
from Bithur in the Satichaura ghat.! Azim Beg and Karimali
served as record-kecpers and ninescen newswriters were
appointed in nineteen different places.® Apadhik Dhari was
the collector, Narayan Mirt public officer, and Dewan Rao
the superintendent of magazine?® Others who played a
conspicuous part in the rebellion were Lalpuri Goshain who
marched with a flag borne on an elephant,® Kuber Singh of
Gangaganj who caused disturbances in the suburbs,5 maulavi
Salamatullah, the city kotwal, who raised the green flag and
held a parade in which the favourite courtezan Azeezun
appeared on horse back,® and Reazali who first fired at the
entrenchment.? Kalka, the kanango, collected armed men from
Oudh on the other side of the Ganges. Hati Singh and Chandi
Singh of Bunchtur did the samc® and Satiprasad of Sheorajpur
(on the grand trunk road, twenty-one miles north-west of
Cawnpore) decply committed himself on the side of the rebel-
Yion.® One Mohammed Tahur is also noted for bis hostile
activities.1% Nana had also 2 number of attendants who helped

* Chick, op. cil., 617, 671-81.
* Forgest, Selectiont, iiiz App. A. pp- ccoxxviii-ie: Nanakehand's Diary.
3 Ibid. pp. ceci, cecanviil.

4 Bbid. p. cexev.
© Ibid, p. coxcix.
« Ghiick, of. cit., 676,
= Ibid. 678.
& Forrest, op. cit., p. cooxxis Nanakchand’s Diary.
o Jbid. p. cce.

1 FP, viit, 136, 139
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him 1n various ways Nanachchand gives a st of seventy such
people, mostly Marathas 1

The revolt of Nana Sahib gave a new turn to the mutiny of
the sepoys What began as a mulitary insurrection, gradually
appeared to have merged mnto a socal war The disaffected
landlords made common cause with Nana to preserve the ele
ments of therr socal hfe, their power and prestige by over-
throwing the Briushyoke The official reports make1t clear that
in Cawnpore the civil rebellion that followed the mutinies was
very extensive 1n character Mithur, Jajamau, Sheorajpur,
Narwal and Rasulabad were mn ferment and n the peak
penod the conflagration spread to the farthest parts of the
district Nanakchand’s description of the zanundars breaking
mto rebellion and jommng the rebels was hardly an exag
geration 2 In Bithur almost all the chaudhuns and zamun-
dars under the influence of Nana, such as Chum Singh,
Bahadur Singh, Mum: Singh and Kishon Singh and ako
others includmg the gangaputras were the first batch of
chiefs to turn rebels Subsequently the Rajputs of Kakadeo
broke mto rebellon Therr example was followed by the
Rayputs of Sasamau (Muthn Singh, Bhudar Singh, etc) and
Jajamau In the latter pargana Duno Singh, Parjonn Singh,
and Rup Singh and many others (Rambaksh, Bhg) Singh,
Debr Singh, Baldeo Singh and Bhawam Singh} took a leading
part n mspgating the people to nse The gatum tribes of
Sewanchpur 1n a body joined Nana's standard and collected
revenue i Iis pame Deep Singh, an employee of Nana,
instigated the inhabitants of Sonarampur and also Madho
Smgh of Akri and Kishor1Singh to take uparms Two notorious
chiefs, Lachaman Singh and Byay Singh sumlarly mstgated
the people of Sadasalimpur to follow their example Nanak-
chand says that the revolt of the chauhans followed as 2
sequel to the rebeliious proceedings of Behar1 Singh of Kurmt

1Forrest op of p coxeme Local people of lower prafessions such as kulye
ghurs mmkhepras :hgunwallzhs leather dealers numbering about 5 000 Jomtg
the standard (f6tf p ccav) People of notorous character volunteered 1o fin +
supplies When the British forces were marching on Cawnpore m the puddlc o
July 2s manv as 134 of Nana s immediate attendants accompanied the sepoys te
oppose the army of Havelock (/b d ccewxxty v) Sec also Maude and Sterer (t
114 5) and Shepherd {op at 132) for an account of hanpur during this time

3 Forrest Selectons w App A p cccxlivi Nanakehand s Diary
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who was one of the foremost rebels of the timet Raja
Satiprasad caused the insurrection in Seoni and Bulhur.
He was supported by the chief of Sakhraj. Mati Singh
of mauza Nanamau tumed a desperate rebel, as also
Duno Singh of mauza Nar and many others.? Taking example
from them all the ganr Rajputs followed by the inhabitants of
the entire area of Dera Mangalpur presented themselves at
the rebel camp. Mukunda Singh, zamindar of Mulgaon, joined
the insurrection, and Sachendi, fourteen miles from Cawnpore,
also rosc up but Durgaprasad, the raja of that place, only
attended the court of Nana for fear of the confiscation of his
property and did not assist him in any way. But raja Kuber
Singh of Gangaganj was a constant counsellor to him. The
revolt of the chauhans had thrown Bhognipur and the whole
country lying along the Jumna into a great ferment and
prompted the rising of the other rajput communities. Thegos-
hains of Sikandra, especially Kalindargir of Rasdhan and
another zamindar Raja Bhao threw the country into con-
fusion.

Nanakchand was convinced that these persons were actually
rebels as they joined the standard of Nana and continued
the rebellion even after the restoration of British rule in the
district.? It was a widespread rebellion of the disaffected chiefs
and it was impossible for his informants to ascertain all their
names. It is possible the government could have suppressed the
mutinous troops but for the support of the zamindars and the
supplies received from them. He further says that all the rajput
chiefs of Bhagtiapur, Jajamau, Dera Mangalpur, Rasulabad,
Pali and Ghatampur assisted in the attack on the entrenchment
which was so completely surrounded by zamindars on every
side that provisions could not be carried there.? Nanakchand
also gives a long list of nearly fifty other zamindars who with

1 i wes avani Singh of Khursa,
i e o b oty Sheoboiah Sngh and Hrg
Singh of Pyasi, Ganesh Stngh, Kunhur Singh and Manik Singh of Khanpur and
Ysri Singh (2id. p. ccexdv). —

+Pem Singh of Dulbub, Jawahic Singh of Susi and Umro Singh (Ibid,
p. ccoxivi). One Umrao Singh of Aligarh offered his services to the King of
Bt and another leader of this name wes conspicuous at Saharanpur  {suprd,
p. 77). It cannot be stated with eertainty if they were the same person.

3 Jbid. p. ceexlvii

& Ibid, p. coaxvi-vii.
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therr attendants, all armed, presented themselves at the rebel
batteries! on 7 June The raja of Chaikam who had his head
quarters near Kalp1 demanded of the landowners of the Jumna
tract to furnish recruits for the service of Nana 2

Statements of Briush officers that about the 10th of July
there were near upon twenty thousand armed fighting men of
all classes in Cawnpore® appear to be rather an under-estimate
Nanakchand puts the number much higher as shown below

Zamndars of the chauhan tribe about 20,000 ment
Danya Singh, raja of Nar and others of the

gaur tribe about 15,000 ,,
Zamindars of the powar tnbe about 10,000 ,,
Zamindars of the chandela tribe about 8,000 ,,
Ranadhir Singh, son of Rap Ghanasyam

Singh about 5,000 ,,
Zamindars of Pah (paliwallahs) 800 ,,

58,800 men®

Besides Kahindargir Goshamn alone commanded® as many
as forty sub chiefs and hundreds of peasants from willages, all
armed 7 According to Nanakchand, Nathi Smgh and Chand:
Singh, residents on the other side of the Ganges came with five
hundred matchlock men Kalka, the kanango of Hara, landed
with eight hundred armed men on 11 June while Mansabal,
the chaudhun of Rasulabad, 1n collaboration with his sub
chiefs, Punahali and Murbaksh Ah, brought three thousand

1bd p ccar

2 Malleson, u 448

3Chck op at 643

41t was reported that the chauhan rajputs had sworn to Nana that they could
send hum armed men from all the twenty suc villages of which they were owners
(Nanakchand s Diary, p ccex) Nanakchand furmshes another account of the
conmbutions of the chauhans (d P ccoux)

8Ihd p ccoxyu There 15 another detasled hist showing the contributions of
Debt SinghPeshwa Singh  Bhavam Smgh Rambaksh and many others (Ibd

p ccaff} Darnva Singh in particular 13 said to have assured Nana that hus huge

Foice and all hes twelve villages are at Ins disposal Nana being pleased granted
hum full Liberty to take possession of all his zamindan villages (fbid p ceonn)

¢ Chuck, op e, 618

2 Nanakchand s Diaty, p ccevs
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men for Nana on the next day.2 Nearly two thousand men, it
is said, were enlisted at Bithur on 13 June,? and the number of
ring leaders of the landed classes on a territorial basis was
computed at not less than one hundred and forty-one.? Of the
cleven tahsildars, Shahali of Jajamau, Maharaj Baksh of
Sadasalimpur, Lachmanprasad of Akbarpur, Mohammed
Nuzur of Bulhur, Ahmedullah of Bithur actively helped
Napa. The last one had taken a prominent part in organising
the rebellion by compelling his subordinates to attend the rebel
court.?

Even after the reoccupation of Cawnpore, the rebel leaders
refused compliance with the orders of the government and
persisted in their hostile activities. Bhavani Singh of the gatom
tribe of Sewanchpur put himself in the place of Nana and
organised the opposition to British rule. Other chiefs namely
Madho Singh,® Isri Singh, Kunhur Singh and in fact many
others of the gaur tribe were not less aggressive. Golab Singh
of Sconi raised an entrenchment in his village and other leaders
of the rajput communities and Raja Bbao of Sikandra were
equally refractory.t Nanakchand was convinced that it was
this revolt of the gaur and chauhans that excited the Gwalior
contingents to march to Cawnpore. He further says that it
was Nanak Singh, a brother of Kunhur Singh of the gaur tribe,
resident of Khanpur, who approached Nana Sahib then resid-
ing at Fatchpur-Chaurasi about twenty five miles north of the
Cawnpore road, on the bank of the Ganges, and invited him
10 try conclusions again. In that case he assured that the whole
of the thirev-six villages inhabited by the chauhans would flock
to his standard.? This actually came to pass.

Major-General Windham was leftin command at Cawnpore

3 I5id, p. coclx.

=1 p. ecox

2 2bid. pp. coexvix

« Joid. ecodiii- -

. ix, 834, Madho Singh the kanango of Bhognipur wasan active an
vl e The report of 7 November indicates hat fater on he fled 10
Ralpi (id. 239}, On 11 January he at the head of the Kalpi rebels crossed the
Jumna ond attacked the tabsil post at Sikapdra. )

« Forrest, Selections, i, App. A pp. ccexlvil: Nanakehand’s Diary.
* Ibid. p. ceexleit.
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to watch closely the movements of the Gwalior contingent In
the journal of Sir Colin Campbell 1t 13 stated—

The Gwalior contingent with 38 guns of Englsh manufacture,
manned by traned artillery men, had driven general Windham’s
force within the entrenchment, had destroyed a quantity of clothing
and grain on which the army had depended, and were 1n full posses-
ston of the town of Cawnpore and of our commumcation with
Allahabad Their guns commanded the bridge of boats across the
Ganges mto Oudh, the destruction of winch appeared in their power,
an event which would have cut off the communication with Sir Colin
Campbell’s army 1

On 27 November, 1857, when the British forces were beaten
back to retire within the entrenchment, there were present
with the Gwalior troops many rebel leaders of Cawnpore and
Kalpr They were Holas Singh, Jawalaprasad, Tanta Topy,
Durgaprasad, Kunhur Singh, Baldeo Singh, Bhudar Singh
and the retainers of raja Sanprasad and also agents of many
other zamindars, and indeed many zamndars of the chauhan
and gatum tnbes of the thrty-six willages, iz Usut Singh,
Bhavam Singh, Jodha Singh and Jawahir Singh 2 According
to Nanakchand, ‘Kooer Singh'’ of Jagdispur wath three mutimed
regiments from Dinapur participated in the engagement
which brgadier Wilson was wounded and the British rushed
mto the entrenchment He 15 smd to have forced raja Durg'a-
prasad of Sachend to join lum 3Most of them including ‘Raja
Kooer Singh,’ the rajput chief of Jagdispur who served as a
divisional commander,! were also present in the battle of
Generalgan) (6 December, °57) Other notables namely Kalin-
dargir Goshain, Kuber Singh, Bhopal Singh and Narpat
Singh, son of Jasa Singh, chaudhun of Fatehpur-Chaurast,
Darya Singh of Nar, Ujab Singh and Jodha Singh also Jomed
the battle The mhabitants of Akbarpur Along with the chau-
hans attended the rebel batteries & But the Indians could not

1 Forrest, Selechons w App D px
*I5d w, App A p cccxlixf Nanakehand s Dary
S 10 pp ccclurty
4 Forbes Mitchell op it , 139 For the battle of Generalgan) sce Malleson 1,
268f
#Forrest op at, p ccclv, Forbes Muchell, 0p at, pp 1350
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stand before the attack of the British skirmishers and they fled
panic-stricken across the canal. All the same, this indicates
the extent of popular support which fed the revalt.

Fatehpur, midway between Allahabad and Cawnpore, was
not a military station, but it constituted a scene in one and the
same countrywide revolt. In the eatly part of june symptoms
had already appeared to warn the authoritics of the existence
of much restivencss among the people. Corrigan’s report shows
that at Fatchpur the townspeople were arming themselves on
6 June.! Sherer, the magistrate, too, records his impression that
even before the outbreak, certain zamindars were procuring
ammunition, and collecting round them bands of retainers.?
Great excitement was manifest in the city on 8 June, and the
intelligence of what happened at Benares, Allahabad and
Cawnpore afforded the necessary spark, Excited townspeople
and the villagers attacked the treasury, destroyed mission pre-
mises and bungalows on 10 Junc. In consequence the Europeans
excepting Robert Tucker, the judge, left the station.? After the
withdrawal of the British power Hikmatullah assumed the
style of chackladar of Fatehpur. The infection of rebellion
spread far and near: outlying police stations and tahsils were
destroyed by bands of infuriated villagers and auction pur-
chasers and decree holders were hunted out,

Of the rebel leaders of the district Jodha Singh seems to
have made a common cause with Rambaksh Singh,® the
zamindar of Dundiakhera who captured a boat of Fatehgarh
refugees near Fatehpur.® Bhagavan Singh and Sardar Singh,
tatukdars of Oudh, with their followers attempted to interrupt
the communication between Allahabad and Cawnpore.®
Gurdat Singh encouraged the disaffected mewatis to commit
violence.” A large number of insurgents who had crossed the
Ganges fifteen miles morth of Khaga on the trunk road,

INE. i 17,

=NE.§,23.

SNE. i, 25. The crowd which attacked the judge muttered passages from the
Koran and fired at him (Maude and Sherer, 1, 139).

FP. ix, 231, 234

SFP. iv, 183

¥ Gubbins, The Afutinies in Oudk, 513

FP, i, 597.
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between Fatehpur and Allahabad were contacted by myor V
Eyre 1n an action at hundunpat, twenty mules east of Fatehpur
on 11 September, 1857, and were repulsed I The object of the
party was to sever the commumcations between Outram and
Allahabad 2 In the action 1 the willage of Khaywa m the
mtenor of the district, twenty four miles north west of Fatehpur,
on 1 November, 1857, the rebels numbered about four
thousand men of which two thousand were sepoys The offictal
return of the killed and wounded 1n the battle shows that the
loss on the side of the British was very constderable 3 Mahary
Singh of Rampur, Zulfigar Beg of Bindk1 pargana and Maha-
ramal Khan ako took a leading part m the hostthties Of these
Maharaj Singh described as a ‘notorious rebel leader agun
returned to Khaywa, the scene of victory of British arms, and
attached the village of Gora in the Kora pargana ¢

ROHILAHAND DIVISION

The division consisted of five admumstrative districts,
Bareilly, Moradabad, Shahjehanpur, Budaun, and Bynour
It had an area of one thousand ¢1ght hundred and eighty two
square mules and a population of nearly seven hundred
thousand souls The wmahomedan population in this ared
was strong both m number and m mfluence The revolt in
Rohilkhand was mostly confined to the mushm commumty
who were mnflamed by fanaticism to an intense hatred of the
English They ratsed the green flag, shouted for the revival of
the Islamic State and despoiled the hindu bankers and mer-
chants But these features did not warp the popular chareter
of the rising Bynour in Rollkhand was not a military station,
ot Turmwars of e vutireal o Meera wehieh wes the fonty
miles distant, led to a spontancous nsing of the people s early

1 of the leaders who took partin this action were B unnar
Smgk?-hztazz:;a‘:ngk? ‘r}ak:z Ran:s}:hay: o‘; Halgaog Sita Baksh and Palwan S ngh
of Burgalle and Nurlusta Ramarudd n Hussain of Pau (Forrest Select ons
1 Documents} pp 213-6

* Malleson 1 520

3Forrest gp et p 321 FP vt 168 Malleson n 1436

¢FP ix 231, 603, 607, 853
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as 19 May. The tabsils were plundered and other excesses were
commitied. The disaflected gujars swarmed all along the
Ganges; the banjars on the north, the mewatis on the Morada-
bad borders and the Jats and chauhans in other parts. The
withdrawal of the British party on 8 June was followed by the
establishment of the independent government of Mohammed
Kban, the nawab of Najibabad. On assuming authority he
made the usual proclamation: the people are God’s, the coun-
try the padshah’s and the order Nawab Mohammed Khan's.?
But he could not restore law and order; far less stop the
bloody wars between the Hindus and the Mahomedans in
which the former were eventually defeated with great slaughter
at the battle of Haldaur on 18 September.® The Bijnour rising:
clearly brought out into prominence the lines of cleavage
working to antagonise the two communitics, but the rebel
cause was strengthened by the participation in it of the noted
gujar chiefs Kuddum Singh and Dulal Singh, Inayatali, the
kazi of Thana Bhawan, Raza Hasan, an outlaw, the Delhi
princes and Sirdar Khan. They stopped the daks and placed
guards at all the ferries. Tnayatali pillaged a number of
police outposts and on 5 January burnt the thana at Mir-
anpur and carried his raids as far as Kanakhal. Abmedullah,
the nawab’s nephew, made a proclamation on 16 January
that all rent-free holdings resumed under British rule would be
released, and scveral changes were also made in the internal
government to strengthen the rebel cause.? The commotion in
the country continued till 21 April, 1858, when Jones inflicted
a crushing defeat on a huge rebel force comprising one
thousand infantry and two thousand cavalry.!

The tension among the landed chiefs as well as the peoplc' of
Moradabad was heightened by the rising of the sepoys which
acted like a spark on an ignited substance. Sym;;toms of
rebellion first appearcd in Amroba (twenty one miles from

INE. §, 511: Report by A, Shakespear. mugbstrate and collector. There

i ; Xaji vho alon,
seers to higve bocn one Jalaluddin, the younger nawab of Najibabad, who along
with his brother-in-law :'m captured (Husds Petriot. 29 April, 1838).

*NE. i, 513; Malleson, iii, 410-13.

*NE. i, 5H. oo . .

L Even the hill people of Kumaon woke up. The hanjars reacted fo 20 excis
able poZi:icm undcprc Shun Singh (NE. i 518: Report by Major H. Ramsay,
commissioner of Kumaon).
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Moradabad) swirmng wath the disaffected syeds Gulzaral,
a syed of ruined fortune, proclaimed himself viceroy of the
kang of Delln One of hus first measures was to denounce the
Company’s rupees and to brng into use the old coms In the
mtenior the thakurs, pathans and weavers combined to swell
the tide of rebellion The 29th regiment which mutinied on 3
June, proclamed Mujoo Khan governor, while the artllery
chose Asadali Khan, father of Abbasali Khan as the chief
Another candidate was Abdulah Khan, the uncle of nawab
Yusufahh khan of Rampur who came down to Moradabad
early in June and recewved salute and held darbars On the
return of the nawab to Rampur, Mujoo Khan was appomnted
the nazum assisted by Sadatalt Khan, Neazal, Musa Kuza,
Abul Fazl and Ayub Khan On 17 June, proclamation was
made m favour of Mujoo Khan1

Some of the mahomedan nobles of Moradabad such as
Alaahi Khan, Subirah Khan, Ahidali Khan, Sapdal Khan
were on the side of the rebel government Another dignitary
of the country nawab Niamutul khan died a3 a ghazi 1n Delh
Zamnul Abedeen proclaimed jehad agamnst the English and
sediion was preached against them in the mosques every Fr
day Other popular leaders who helped the rebel government
were Hafizal, Ahmedazuh Khan and Akbarah 2 Maulavn
Mannu collected two hundred and fifty jehadis Wazirah
Khan, the Agra doctor, and Mihurbanali jomed the battle of
Baredly Zamunaly, the imam of the ghazis of Fatehghar, distin
guished himself in the above battle by his imtial success 1gast
the Sikhs but he was killed 3 Another promunent revolutionary
was the Gorakhpur maulawi, Sarfarazali who sat on tnibunal
over the suspected royalists 4

‘The principal station 1n Rohilkhand was Barailly, where the
chrishan population somewhat exceeded one hundred in
number The Barally msing took the swme form The
mutiny of the 18th and 68th regiments on 31 May was
followed by a rebellion supported and continued mostly by

INE 1 4057 Report by ] C. Wilson commusioner on special duty See
also Dunlop's report on the occursences at Moradabad

* Mutiny and Rebellion an the distract of Moradabad by J €. Wilson p 27

hd p 2

‘Ibd p 18
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the Mahomedans. A large section of the civil populace
appears to have been disaffected in this part of Rohilkhand.
On 22May, maulavi Mohammed Ashan of the government
college gave a discourse or wauz on the subject of law-
fulness of a tise against the English, This resulted in an
excitement which was not probably intended by the
speaker. On 25 May, however. mautavi Rahimullah Khan
preached antagonism to the English,! Mauntavi Kulab Shah, a
syed teacher of Persian in the Bareilly College,® took a similar
part in the proceedings of the time and circulated seditious
letters from the Bahaduri press® Yet there is no sufficient
evidence to assume that there was an organised conspiracy for
the overthrow of the existing government prior to the outbreak
on the 31st. Khan Bahadur Khan, the grandson of Hafiz
Rahamat Khan, the last independent ruler of Rohilkhand,
who placed himself at the head of the rebel government as
viceroy on behalf of the king of Delhi appears to have been
carried away by the rising tide of rebeliion.*

When Khan Bahadur Khan established himself in power
many joined his standard including Madarali Khan, Ahmed-
shah Khan and Mubarakshah Khan, his rival. The scope of
the rebel government was extended to widen its basis in which
the following chiefs occupied positions of trust: Munirkhan
(naib-kotwal), Sobharam (dewan), Haralal (paymaster),
Dindayal (superintendent of roads), Shaifollah Khan (super-
intendent of jails), Rujauddaulah (body-guard), Misr Baijnath
(banker), Kunjatlal (treasurer).5 The committee for the trial
of all cases was formed by Keramat Khan, Akbarali Khan,
Kazi Ghulam Hanza, Pandit Ojharnath, Muzaffar Hussain
Khan, Jaffarali Khan, Jaymal Singh and Kulab Shah®
Ranumal, the banker, Ramprasad, the mahajan, Ramlal,
Durgaprasad? and Narayan Singh® served as members in the

* Xarration of Events (Bareilly) by R. Alexander, commissioner, p. 3.
2 FP. ix, 847. The name is also gien as Kooth Shah.

3FP. i, 832,

* Sen, op. cit., 3478,

5XNE. i, 368-70: Report by J. F. D. Inglis.

* Ieid. 370,

*NE.§, 371,

*FP, ix, 852,
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In the offinal narrative 1t 1s stated that Khan Bahadur fled
to Piliblutand thence to Oudh Martin says that Khan Bahadur
Khan of Bareilly held outin the Terai until the close of 1859 *
Forbes-Mitchell of the Ninety-Third, however, says that
the rohilla chief was captured by the Bareily pohce early m
July 1858 and was hanged 1n lus presence 1n front of the koto-
wali 1n Bareilly a few days after lus capture He gives a long
account of how his capture was effected by one Talur Beg of
doubtful nrtionality m the employ of colonel W C M’Donald 2

Another notable leader of Rohilkhand was the rajput chief
Narpat Singh of Ruya, fifty-one rmles west by north from
Lucknow He was determned to dedicate ns hife to the coun-
try and stood aloof from ‘proclamation and amnesties’ Hig
father Jasa Singh was a friend of Nana and was lilled m
one of the combats with Havelock.®? His jungle fort near the
willage of Rhodamau was mvested by the Ninety-Third High-
landers without carrying out proper reconnassance under the
command of general Walpole on Apnl 14-15, 1858 The
result was that some of the flowers of the Bntsh army were
lalled, the total casualty on the Bnitish side being a hundred
Thus did Narpat Singh repulse lus enemmes but finding his
position untenable, he fled on the mght of the 15th ‘after
beating back the best-equipped movable column i Indwi’4
Narpat 15 saxd to have fled to Tera1 where he might have joined
Rana Bent Madho Baksh and died in November, 1859 &

Popular agitation was progressing in Budaun towards the

INE 3, 379, Marun », 500 Sumilarly Malleson says that be fled towards
Nepal (u 531) Dr Sen also says that nawab Mammu Khan Khan Bahadur
Khan and Jawalaprasad who were 1n Nepal were delivered to the British authon
ties m December 1859 (gp ait, 368, 371) There 15 another statement that he
was hanged on 2 March 1860 (Vincent Dictionary 566)

1 Remumscences 263 5 Malleson's statement (u 274f) that towards the end of
August hhan Bahadur khan Nizamali Khan, Wilayat Shah and the nawab of
Farrukhabad united their forces which numbered about 15 000 tea and made a
determuned attack on Neorta butwere 1y routed up by cap
Browne for which he woa the Victora cross 1s at variance so far as Khan Bahadur
1s concerned with the statement of Forbes Mitchell Dr Sen also refers to
Bahadur Khan as an actve rebel in December, 1858 (op at, 361} and 0 also
Dr Majumdar (op ot 78)

*Infrs p 131

4 Forbes Mitchell op i, 245-8

® Marun i, 498 fo Malleson says that he had not the *smallest” 1ntention to
sk bus e (15, 504)
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end of May and when the mutineers from Bareilly reached
there on 2 June disturbances broke out in every direction. The
rule of Khan Bahadur was also cstablished over Budaun.
The administration was conducted by Abdur Rahaman Khan
and Fasabiatullah and most of the leaders of that district came
from the muslim community which was particularly hostile to
British rule and though internal dissensions between the differ-
ent communities weakened the basis of the movement, the
popular fury was there to feed sedition. Blackmail was freely
levied from all the baniyas and mahajans, and valuable indigo
factories were gutted and oven the iron boilers were melted
down for shot and records were burnt extensively.? While the
masscs had done everything to eflace all traces of British rule,
the talukdars took the opportunity of expelling the auction
purchasers, and resumed possession of their hereditary statcs.?

The pressure of circumstances led to official changes later
on. Mubarakshah Khan became the nazim and Ahmedshah
his deputy. Others who occupied positions of trust were Munir
Khan ({superintendent of ghats), Farak Khan ({resaldar),®
Wazir Khan, the Agra doctor {naib-general), Mansur Beg,*
Rahimali, Makdam Baksh and Ramnarayan® Many govern-
ment servants, mostly Hindus, took service under the rebels.
Mention is also made of Azizahmed of Rampur and Moham-
med Yar Khan, naib-nazim who supported the rebel govern-
ment. Niaz Mohammed Khan, the rebel general and Multan
Khan of Mau madc a determined effort to check the advance
of Hope Grant on 27 January 1858, but the former was
captured.® The ghazis were generally responsive to the call
and organised a defence under the Agra doctor, Wazir Khan,
but surrendered the field at Kakrala on 27 April, 1838.7 In

2 NE. i, 460f, 4662 Report by C. P. Carmichael, offg. collector and magistrate.
*Kaye, i, 287.

S NE.§, 464

< Ihid. 465,

* Tid. 466,

¢ Railies, Notes on the Revolt, ete, 1112,

% Dr. Sen refers to the letter of Wazir Khan addressed to the officer command.
ing at Nimach in which he stated that he was ncither a rebel nor a mutineer but
was compelied to leave Agra under peculiar circumstances. In 1839 he was nego-
tlating for terms of surrender and also prayed for amnesty oo behalf of Firuz
Shah (op. cit., 375).
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the last phase of the struggle the hindu chief named Ram
narayan, formerly 1 government vakil, held out at Islamnagar
but was eventually overcame In the mntenor a lge number
of chiefs took part 1n the scene of rapine and violence that was
let loose 2

The 28th at Shahjehanpur caught the infection from
Barailly but they had been previously excited by the circulation
of reports about the new cartndges and mamifested A mutinous
disposition  The maulavis 1nd ghazis played a conspicuous
part 1n the rebellion at Shahjehanpur Sarfarazab, the seditious
maunlavi of Gorakhpur, excited the sepoys which culmmated 1n
the massacre of the Europeans n the church on 31 May The
maulavt’s chief disciples 1n the aty were Qudratah and Niaz
ah 2 Among the city people who jommed the sepoys were
Mungal Khan and Upo hhan, Nasir Khan and Amir Al In
the intenor the willagers broke out mto rebellion, tahsils were
plundered, records were destroyed and police stations sacked
Valuable matertals connected with the sughr refinery and
rum factory of Messrs Carew and Co were gutted by the
people of the neighbounng willages nearly twenty in number

On 1 June, a procession proclanming the overthrow of the
Bntish rule was led by Hamud Hasan Khan and Nizamal
Khan The rule of the rolullas under Khan Bahadur Khan was
announced with Qadiralt Kh1n and Ghulam Hussun Khan
as local chuiefs But the mutual jealousies of the mal d
rulers and the resistance to their exactions by the ryput
chiefs who were hilled 1 large numbers by Mardanah khan
mn a fierce encounter, led to an ndifferent situation No less
depressing was the hostile attitude of Ghulam hadir hhan who
replaced Qadirali Khan as nazim and appomnted his own men
as officers They were Nizamali Khan (nub-nazim), hhanalt
Khan, Harmd Hasan Khan, Abdulrauf Khan (commander),

1They were the zamindars of Gunaur Kote Bilseakhot Upham Budaun
Datagany Buouli Suheswan Islamnagar n all more than fifty fanded ch ofs as
reported 10 off cial correspondence (NE 1 461)

NE. 1 440-05 Report by G I Money magstrate and collector Sarfarazal
later on went to Moradabad and then to Delht where he was appo nted chuef of
the ghazis The mavla 1v-asa tall lean muscular man w th lantern yaws long
thin 1ps hgh aqu hne nose deepset large dark eyes {Manam 9)° For the
achvitses of the mautavs and the specch he del vered sec supre pp 25 26

*NE.1 44t haye m 279
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Sital Singh {dewan), Shammad Khan (sherestadar), Wajidali,
Najib Khan (naib-nazim) and many others.! A large number
af government servants, nearly one hundred and four of the
dewani and scventy-one of the fouzdari, took service under the
government,® of which Zahurahmed and Raufahmed took an
active part in the rebellion.? Ahmed Yar Khan, the tahsildar of
Jalalebad, called in the aid of Ismail Khan of Bareilly to crush
the Rajputs.? The other new tahsildars, Kaifayutullah and
Hedayetali of Tilbar and Faiz Mohammed Khan and Ghulam
Kadir Khan of Kutra raised armies and took part in the
expediton to Haldiwani (10 February, 1858). As many as
forty-nine principal chiefs were on the side of the rebels.?
The fall of Delhi produced consternation, but maulavi Sar-
farazali tried to bolster up the faith of the people by raising
the green flag and by other pompous demonstrations.® Very
distinguished was the service rendered by the Fyzabad maulavi
whose ingenious attempts to check the British offensive in the
early summer of 1858 were some of the wonderful military
feats of the sepoy war. Hc was helped by the raja of
Mohamdi and Mian Sahib, one of the chiefs of Lucknow, and
carried on his head a price of fifty thousand rupees for his
daring acts of hostility to the British. When the British army
reached Shahjehanpur on 30 April, the Fyzabad maulavi as a
counter offensive beleaguered lcutenant-colonel Hale's troops”
in the local jail from 3 May to the 11th,® with such pressure
that Sir Colin Campbell was obliged to send brigadier-gencral
Jones to his relief. Jones overcame the maulavi’s resistance on
11 May, 1858, and repulsed him. Malleson says that the
position in all respects was formidable as every house in the

1NE. §, 446.7.

* Ipid. 4537,

3NE. i, H6.

< Ipid. 448,

© [bid. 418, 4389,

& Ipid, 450.

*NE.3, 451

# Farbes-Mitchell's statement that Firuz Shah was in Shahjehanpus on 7
May when the jail was atacked {op. £it,, 261) appears improbable 2s'the Dethi
prince was supposed 10 be in the neighbourhcod of Bareilly at that time {NE. i,
330 also Malleon, ii, 5320).
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south-west of Fyzabad » The same source agan indicated
that 1 February 1858, Man Singh with his four thousand
men was entirely neutral and that he mught be excluded
from the list of the opponents of the Bratish 2 It was not before
July, 1858 that he actively jomed the Butish when besieged by
Mehnd; Hasan® and all through this peniod he and hus
brother Ramdin Singh had played a winning game

But the talukdars and other landed chiefs of Fyzabad,
especally the palwars of Birhar, the bachgotss of Hasanpur,
jomed the rebellion 1 large numbers The bhale sultans the
chauhans of Ghatampur, Ramswarup of Khapradih and
Tafazzal Hussain of Samanpur were among the rebels who
scoured the country with mmpumty Uditnarayan Stngh a
zarndar of Birhar and a palwar chief plundered the fugitives
from Fyzabad at Naurani mn the Birhar pargana But the
more noteworthy was Madhoprasad Singh another Birhar
talukdar who was fnendly to the Briush i the carly stages
but subsequently rose mn arms? and exaited other chiefs
of the neighbounng places ke Kushanprasad, Sheopra
kash and rajx Prithvipal Singh to jon um The last men
tioned one collected a large force and took possession of
all the willages of winch he had been deprived of by the
government ® The palwar chiel Madhoprasad,® the leader of
this confederacy whose fort and estate lay beyond the Oudh
frontier assumed the title of chackladar and early 1n July led
an expedition to Azamgarh which he plundered 7 The ray
coomars under Chandresh Singh and Udresh Singh of Akbar
pur 1 the district jomed the rebel formation with 2 view to

3 Unpublished Papers i the Commonwealth Relations Office Whaehall
Londan (abbroviated as CRO) The description of the fort given shows that it was
several m les 1n cyrcumference and had two decp ditchey carthen outworks an
a pukke cuadel There was a large bazat watnid X Prestutdlry yoppheds Aot
Letters from [nd a 1858 volume 163 (No 84 p 403) 4t08 Mareh,

$0d No 158 p 349

?Martn n 498 Malleson 269-71

1Gubbns o of 1545

S The Engliskman 2 October 1857

¢ For hus actmtes sec FP av 13 28 v 87 vu 84 268 271 v 43 x 235,
258 586

“NE 3 38



UPPER INDIA 121

attacking Jaunpur, and Gurubaksh Singh! of Ramnagar also
ranged himself against the government. They also fought
asmart action against the forces of Jang Bahadur in February,
1858. Agha Hasan, syed Ghulam Hussain, chackladar of Alda-
mau, and naib Ismail Kban were similarly reported against
for their subversive activities, The troops of the different
rajas who assembled in October in the district exceeded
ten thousand men.?

It appears that by February 1858, a month before the final
British offensive had started against Lucknow, there was a
large concentration of rebel forces at Fyzabad. A private letter
from gencral Macgregor to the governor-general furnishes a
detailed tabular statement, as given on the next page, of the
strength and resources of the prominent leaders of the revolt,
altogether a2mounting on a modest calculation to  sixteen
thousand active rcbels in the field, The strength of the
rebel leaders who in most cases were supported by a
Targe number of sub-chiefs as furnished in the same state-
ment® may as well give an idea, accurate enough, of
the proportion of the civil population taking part in the war
of 1857, and demonstrate the untenability of the theory of
Tnnes that the Oudh leaders did not participate in the conflict
until alter the confiscation proclamation.*

In Partabgarh no rebeilion on a vast scale oceurred, but the
rebels entrenched themselves strongly in the fort of Rampur-
Lasia and held it out under the leadership of Ramghulam
Singh. The fort was protected by eightecn guns, but it was
captured on 3 November, 1858.%

Sultanpur lics on the right bank of the river Gomati, almost

LFP. v, 74 . )

ST, vii, 7475, Mallesons Lt of principal talukdars of Fyzabad includes
besides Ma Siogh, Udres Singh, Thakur Narain, Raghunath Kunwar, Mir
B s am Nadir Stk {11, 398) who according to Hutchinson cventually
‘usmed against the English though at the beginning they sear to have been
ienly (Nomatise of the Autes, 70-1). Tanes cefers to the loyal conduct of
Rustart Shah, the raja of Ameth, Heouvant Singh, Bhow Begam, Hardeo Baksh
2nd Mohants of Hanumangarh (op. cit., 87. 34, 267). o

* See Appendix A: Memorandurn of Rebel forees in Fyzabad disuict.

4 Seq Appendix G < The Bebaviour of the Talukdars of Oudh during the
Mutiny. )
* Hope Grant, . it 03-10. For a description of the fort sec Malleson, i,
269-90
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Nznme No oftroops | No of guns { Remarks
Rajz Maun Singh . 4,000 Not accurately
Ingwn
Babu Madho Persad 1,000 2 guns
wrhur
Bahoo Odit Nacayan 1,000 2 quns
Ay g and others 5,000 5 Opposed
mg and ot} X guns By Franks
of Dhorun over the Goomter
Bagwr Hasain and 5,000 5 guns Thas includss the fol-
Ghamffer Husan towmgs of numerows
t smaller 2amndars
chuefly Rajpoots.
Raja Abbas Al of 500 2 guns Has fumnhed a strong
Tanda

contngent  alo 0
Afahd. Hasun,

\fzbd Hasmun 5,000 4 guns Furnshed by Abbas

Koor Singh of Arrah 6,500 21 guns ‘These are mutmous

have been  repat
1 i some mperfect
manmmer
Raa Jeylal Singh and 2,000 dgum |
Becoce Madba
Sk {
Dévy Bux Singh Raa 4000 7 guns
mdcf'ﬁ? 2000 1 Not ly| These are zsoundars
2 O " 1 Not accuratel 38
1o o7 S tnown ! of the Gunda Dhstnct
1 and will remaun there.
Raja of Manikpoor 1,500 4 guns
Torat 37,500 59 guns Excdusive of Raj

| | Afan Singh.

1The large total cludes, it will be semenbered, the forces of the rajas of
Gonda who will not b,-ngf:d to usf?.500 men'alsa those of Rajz Maun Smphs
and Bagur Hosemn, num 2 9 000 men, who are nrutral—and these of Qares
Sing about 5,000, who are bevond the Gomiee-leaving about 16,000 ectize coves
15 the field —
20th Feb 1858 Sd[- W. Mill Forbes, CS
(CRO Seirt levers from afia, Vol. 163, No 158, p 349)
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in a direct line between Fyzabad and Allahabad. The troops
in the station sutnicd on 9 June, but it was not followed by
any upsurge of the people. The chicfs of the district, however,
contested the passage of British arms marching for Lucknow
in a series of stiff engagements. Nazim Mehndi Hasan, ‘a fine
tall and portly man’, formerly a chackladar in the service
of the king of Oudh, played a very significant role in the wars
of the mutiny. He had his headquarters at Hasanpur, twenty
miles from the Jaunpur frontier, and was actively supported by
all the talukdars of Sultanpur and Fyzabad. With about
fiftecn thousand men the nazim dominated over the western
portion of Sultanpur and cven extended his influence so far
down as Allahabad.? In the battles at Chanda, a town thirty~
six miles from Jaunpur, on the direct road from that station to
Sultanpur, a severe contest was raging for the control of the
Lucknow road lying across Sultanpur. In the first action at
Chanda on 31 Octoher, 1857, the rebels were found in ‘an
excessively strong position.” They numbered at least five thou-
sand with five guns. The battle, as Malleson says, was obstin-
atcly contested, but terminated in the defeat of the rebels.?
On 19 February, 1858, general Franks marching from Singra-
mau, close to the Oudh frontier, encountered a strong opposi-
tion at Chanda, thirtecn miles from the former. The force
opposing him consisted of ten thousand men under Mchndi
Hasan and eight thousand men under Banda Hasan of whom
two thousand and five hundred were sepoys.® The passage
was stormed by overthrowing Banda Hasan, the licutenant of
Mehndi Hasan. The nazim then occupicd the fort of Budhayan,
nine miles ahead on the Lucknow road from Chanda to prevent
Franks from adding his strength to the British garrison at Luck-
now; but the general seized the fort by a swratagem on the
21st. Thus out-manceuvred, Mehndi Hasan proceeded by a 1.ong
detour for the town of Sultanpur where he took a determined
stand with a force numbering twenty five thousand men, of
whom five thousand werc sepoys aud one thousand and one
hundred cavalry. The position he occupicd at Badshaganj,

VFP, v, 87, vii, 71-2, 74-77, 276; viit. 43, 101; ix, 244, 586.
* Forrest, Selections {Intro.) i, p. 360; Malleson, &, 31920,
3FP. ix, T10; Hunde Patriot, 4 Afarch, 1858,
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two miles beyond the town, was formidable. Mirza Ghafur
Beg of the Qudh nawab'’s milttary establishment commanded
the troops The battle of Sultanpur (23 February) fought with
passion and patriotism and 1n correct military order did not,
however, lead to the desired result The road to Lucknow was
now open but the passage was agam disputed by Mansabaly,
the noted rebel chief, who occupied a position some miles off
the ngh road on the banks of the Gomat He was beaten by
lieutenant Atkman, and Franks pushed on  But the fort of
Deyrah, within eight miles of Lucknow and two mules to the
nght of the road was so strongly defended by the rebels that
they could make no impression upon 1t and had to withdraw?
At last on 4 March, after thirteen days of incessant campagn,
Franks joined Sic Colin at Lucknow All these would indicate
that the rebel leader orgamsed a systematic plan to oppose the
passage of British forces marching for the relief of the belea-
guered garrson at Lucknow

Other leaders of the district who had actvely jomned the
rebellion were Lal Madho Singh of Ametin? and raja Hussain-
ah of Hasanpur The former held out ull 10 November, 1858,
‘when his fort was invested and carned by Lord Clyde, formerly
Sir Colin Campbell 3 The nazim Mehndi Hasan 1n the mean-
time jomed the rebels of the Bastt district in the struggle at
Amorah exght miles from Fyzabad The rebels were defeated
1 the battle of Amorah 1 June 1858, but the nazim held
his own at Belwa ¢ When Hope Grant crossed the Gogra after
stormung the passage at Nawabgany on 27 November, 1858
and started his operations in Gonda and Bast;, Mehndi Hasan
was driven away fiom Belwa® but eventually he surrendered
on 7 January, 1859, with s uncle Mir Dostali and several
other Oudh leaders ?

1 Forrest Selechons 1 {Intro ) pp 364 9 Mallson, u 329 38

FED 4w, 209 The Arethy e had bu fart  twenky Gve mules distant from
Sultanpur in the dircetion of, and eighty miles from Pratabgarh Grant says that
1twas one of the largest in Oudh, being seven miles in the circumference (Inerdents,
“ Inm!j?t, ctc 309 11, Hindu Patriot 18 November, 'S8 Malleson 1, 290-01
$Infra pp 145 6
$ Hope Grant op at 313-4
#\alleson, 1 292
T\artin, n 498 Dr Sen wnites that Mehndi Hasan was granted 1 pension of
Rs 200 per mensem but he was not permmtted to feturn to his home o the Fyzabad
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LUCKNOW DIVISION

The contagion of the cartridge question had reached Oudh
carly in April. At Lucknow itself were quartered many regi-
ments the actual number being seven thousand to  seven
h.undred and fifty. But the newly annexcd province was gar-
risoned by other troops, stationed at Sitapur, Malaon (to the
south of Sitapur on the high road to Farrukhabad), Sultanpur,
Dariabad, Fyzabad and Bahraich. By the first week of June,
the whole of Oudh was ablaze. The flame of rebellion spread
from cantonment to cantonment, to Sitapur, Fyzabad, Sultan-
pur and Gonda, and no trace of British rule remained for long.
In Oudh, the civil rebellion took the form of a tatukdari move-
ment in the sense that the landholders, as a rule, took advantage
of the situation for the recovery of their lost estates and in some
cascs for feeding fat their ancient grudge. They also had taken
part, in some cases, in isolated acts of plunder, and in overt
acts of rehellion against the government, but in general their
attention was confined to the reversal of British land settlement
swhich they could not effect but with an attempt at forceful
scizure of their property. The other feature was that these
movements were directly connected with the fate of the city of
Lucknow.

Sitapur was the headquarters of the Kbairabad or north-west
division of Qudh. It lay about fifty one miles from Lucknow.
In Sitapur no vestige of British authority remained after the
mutiny of the 41st on 3 June and the rising became general
throughout the province. The nazim of Khairabad, Bakshi
Harprasad, represented the civil power, and Maholi in part-
cular remained the centre of acute disaffection. The chiefs like
the rajas of Mitauli and Ocl, Banda Hussain of Tambauz,
raikwars of Chahlari, and raja Nawabali Khan of Mahmu-
istrict (op. cit., 363). Another noted chief of Sultanpur was Rustam Shak whose
fort was at Deyral on the bank of the Gomati. He had suffered greatly in the
Oudh settlement and had lost many villages, yct as Gubbins says he received the
refugees. It appears that an order for a fresh enquiry into the title of the villages
e bad lost was intended in January 1857 but the mutiny found him supporting
his family by the sale of the jewels of his ancestors (Martin, 5, 239), He was

in a state of during the rebeliion, but later on cont~
acted P. Camegy sent by the governor-general in April, 1858 to negofiate

teras of swrrender with the rebel chiels, Rustam’s disaffected brother, Butiar
Singh, also submitted to the ahave officer (CRO: Servet Letters etc:, vol 163, p. 315

{No. 14). For ¥, Carnegy, see Malleson, i, 339-41.
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dabad mamfested thar rebelhous atutude in vanous ways,
specinlly the last one who collected - force of one thousand
men and effectively helped the Tyzabad maulvi in his brlhant
attempt to chechmate the British offensive of Hope Grant on
14 Apnl, 1858, in 2 willnge, four miles to the south of
Bt Another lerder Khanli Rhan also collected a force
of three thousind men but fled nway before Grant! Even
after the death of the maulw, Sitapur remamned under the
control of rebel leaders hike the royal begym of Lucknow,
Mammu Khan, Narpat Singh of Ruya and Iiruz Shah In
Qctober 1858, Hanichand the nazim mustered an army of six
thousand men against bngadier Barker, but was routed out ®
In Barq Banky, the nsing was not general after the mutiny
of 9 June, but the landholders 13 a body were thoroughly dis
affected 1nd mamtuned an athitude of determined resistance
down to the very end Trom the disaster of Brtish foree at
Chinhat on 30 June, 1857, to the relief of Lucknow i the
mmddle of March 1858, the refractory chiefs mantained ther
position undisputed The Oudh proclamation of Lord Canning
and the defet of Sindhin at the hands of Tantia Topt had
thar renction 1n Oudh where the rebels who were fifteen
thousand strong had taken a strong posiion 1t Nawab-
gan on the Tyzabad road eighteen miles from Lucknow Ther
object was to prevent access of the British troops to the north
ern part of the distnct This battle of the landlords at Nawab
guny, one of the most memorable battles of the sepoy war,
showed the intensity of the spint of revolt ammating the
zamindars Bgadier Hope Grant mmself had never witnessed
ny thing more magmficent than the conduct of these zamn
dars, therr determination to conquer or die, their splendid
military exertions nd ther handlng of guns which did
man ellous workd Lieutenant Myendie, an eye witness of the
series of determned conflicts that took place there, s1ys that a
body of desperate fanatics planted the sacred green flag on the
ground, gathered round i, and prepared to die beneath 1ts

2 Jnerdents wn U § poy War 267
* Infra p 141
2 Hope Grant, op at 2896
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sacred fold* Nawabganj was occupied on 14 June, 1858, and
the revolt burrowed its head.

The Unao lcaders took a prominent part in checking the
progress of Havelock's march across the district to Lucknow.
Rac Rambaksh of Dundiakhera as also the janwars of
Bangarmau who were led by Jussa Singh of Taraf Sarai openly
fought against Havelock’s forces® The sengars of Kantha,
namely Barjor Singl, Hati Singh and Chandi Singh also
actively joined the rebellion. The gaurs of Banthar including
Debi Baksh offered a determined resistance to the passage
of British arms. The baiswara rajputs of Parwa Ranabir-
pur were thoroughly disaficcted, their noted chieftain Beni
Madho Baksh eluded British vigilance for a long time and
Mansabali, the head of the Rasulabad family, remained in
hostility till the end.® In the batdes of Bashiratganj in July-
August, 1857, Burhia-Ka-chauki (12 August, 1857), 2 mile and
a half from the former, and at Mangalwar (21 September),
Havelock's forces had to confront large concentrations of village
people armed to fight the avenging army.! .

In Kheri the complete overthrow of British power was fol-
lowed by the rule of the talukdars who openly espoused
the rebel canse. Mohamdi on the frontier of Rohitkhand and at
a short distance from Shahjehanpur in the south-western part
of the district remained sensitive to the insurrectionary feeling
of the neighbouring arcas and was the stronghold of the
Fyzabad maulavi. The maulavi used it as the base of bis
operation drawing recruits from the disaffected chiefs of which
raja Loni Singh was one.

The rising at Lucknow was the central event of the rebellion
in the mutinies, Both in dimension and character it embodicd
the revolutionary urges of the time. Towards the end of May,
on the 27th, the long smouldering discontent of the Maho-
medans of Malihabad, a place about cight miles distant from

3 Up among the Pandics, 2946, )

+ Havelock's Jetter to bis chiel, dated Bashiratganj, 30 July, 1037, quoted in
The Englishman, 3 August, 1857

SFP. i, 416; i, 91, 211 . ‘

«Forrest, Selections, i (Intco) pp. 1956 The story of Mohammedali Khan, the
chief engineer of g.f’gm(;m o, a3 related by Forbes-Mitchell gives an
fasight into the spirit of the rebels, (Reminiscentes, etc., 173-93).
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Lucknow, burst into a flame Captain Hutchinson who was the
military secretary to the cluef commussioner says that thew
march through Malihabad on the following day was watched
by armed willagers which struck him as extraordinary for
the place was very near to Lucknow where in the recent
past none had dared hft a finger? Three dnys after, on
the mght of 30 May, the 71st infantry regiment broke out

Captan Anderson who was assistant commussioner at Lucknow
when the outbreak took place noticed great exaitement among
the people seditious placards were found stuck up m all the
principal streets calling upon the Hindus and Mahomedans
to kill the Chnstians Processions were taken out in which
effigies of Europeans were struck off with swords He also heard
that the rajas were collecting ail thew forces to attack Luck

now 2 This tension culminated 1n the nising that took place n
the ity on the afterncon of 31 May The standard of the
prophet was raised and some six thousand people rallied round
it Evidence was obtained of an extensive consptracy n the
aty m which the high as well as the low were in league with the
army agamst the British 3 The result of thus explosion was that
the authorty of the government collapsed 1 practically all the
stations 1n Oudh Rees, a Calcutta merchant, and an eye

witness to these developments says that the whole of Oudh
passed out of the hands of the Bntish Villages followed the
examples of the towns and even bamyas were found to be act

g as agents of the mutineers There was a general restiveness
m the very air of the country * These conditions were further
renforced by the dusastrous defeat of the British forces on 30
June, at the hands of the Indians at Chinhat a village on the
Fyzabad road within eght miles of the resdency One
hundred eighteen Europeans and one hundred seventy five
Indrans were killed on the British side 8 This ‘calamutous affur’,
as Lady Ingls charactensed 1t,® brought the rebels nearer the

1 Hutch nson Narratwe of the Mut nes etc 35

 Anderson A Personal Journal of the S ege of Lucknow 9-11

$ Hutchunson op ¢t 46

«Holmes of af 256 260 Rees A Personol Marrat ze ele 2126
$ Joyce O deal at Lucknow 31

CMrs Ingls The Swge of Lucknow 16
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resic}ency which was then laid under siege by swarms of
assailants. The residency was converted into an entrenched
camp, and the circumstances generally were highly favourable
to the besiegers from a military point of view. Thus Lucknow
became the magnet of attraction to by far the greatest portion
of those who had revolted against the British, The rebels
organised a plan of regular government with Birjis Qadr as
the head who was declared king. Their policy was supposed to
be to annex the adjoining districts to their newly formed
kingdom.

Even towards the end of May 1857, some of the disinherited
talukdars began to repossess themsclves of the villages which
they had lost, specially the zamindars of Malihabad and the
neighbouring parts, Bisram Singh, a noted rebel leader, and
raja Man Singh of Shahganj were in a state of contumacy.®
Many other ex-zamindars had taken forcible possession of their
respective estates. By 12 June, as Henry Lawrence rcported,
the talukdars had all been arming and some had already re-
gained posscssion of the villages from which they had been
disposscssed by Gubbins.? But overt act of hostility against the
government was demonstrated even carlier. On 22 May, nine-
hundred rebels under Abdullah Khan, Akbar Khan and
Ramnarayan threatencd Chandausi?

' The mutiny at Lucknow merged into a war of the talukdars.
The Qudh talukdars who joined the rebel force or sent con-
tingents to fight the British were numerous. As Forbes-
Mitchell watched it:
it needed no great powers of observation to fully understand that the
whole population of Oude was against us.*
Secret letters from India prescrved in the Commonwealth
Relations Office, London, show that a large number of taluk-
i s i is time several state_prisoncrs
i, T M 00 5,81, v
ex-king of Oudh, nawab Ruknuddaulaly, one of the surviving sons o Sadatali
Khan, the former nawab vizier of Oudh, Mohammed Humayun Khan and AMirza
Mohammed Shekodh, two princes connected with the Delhi family and the young
raja of Tulsipur (fhid, 185. Alio Rees, op. cit, 43.

* FP. vii, 262; Malleson, i, 410.

% FP. viii, 157, For Rasul Baksh who tampercd with the cavalry, sec Gubbins
op cit., 193,

3 Reminiscences, et 26.

et erRAM—~9
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dars were actually fighting against the English at Lucknow in
the month of October Some of them had also sent their agents
to add to the strength of the xebel forces which had assembled
there Copes of mtelligence received by R Strachey, the
secretary, adverted to the fact that in the month of October
and i the preceding period Man Singh, Hanumant Singh,
Beru Madho Baksh, Biswanath Baksh and Sugram Singh were
fighting agamnst the Enghsh The same source indicated that
the Fyzabad maulavi, the Atraull raja (Ber1 Madho Singh)
and Ameth raja (Madho Singh), raja Deb: Baksh, and one
Chaudhun Salib (the name unknown) were all 1n arms but
they seem to have been working under the general direction of
Man Singh, their chief1 Rana Benmt Madho Baksh, Raghunath
Singh and his son Biswanath, Bishan Singh, Bhagavan Baksh
of Nain entrenched themselves at Lucknow with their respective
levies and had recewved khulluts bmding them to march to the
attack of Alambagh? Similar khlluts were recewved by raja
Bakht Singh’s son and the Miler raja 3 Even Nana was reported
ta be at Lucknaw sometime i October 4 The total strength of
the levies contnibuted by the different chuiefs could not be cor-
rectly estimated as the numbers were bang daily remforced,
but officsal ntelhgence obtained from Lucknow, the general
accuracy of which was proved by other sources, made the fol-
lowng estmate of the rebel forces as they stood by the
rmddle of December, 1857

(a) Reguments of captains 7,950
(5) Oudh regiments 5600
Cavalry 7,720

(¢) Taloogdar’s men 32,080%
53 350

The estmate detatled above brings to light that 1n the war
of the mutimy at Lucknow, the forces of the taluhdars prepon

YCRO Secret letters from India vol 163 pp 403 05

sIhd p 403

slhd p 429

$Ihd p 409

8 This included the levies contnibuted by such notables at Hardat Swngh
Babadur of Bahrach Raghunath Singh of Ra pur Hardat Singh of Churda
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derated over the mutinous soldiery. The list prepared by the
British Intelligence scrvice in November, 1857, of the contribu-
tons of other chiefs also supports this contention.t The same
source indicated that in the month of January, raja Jaylal, raja
Balkishan, raja Gurn Baksh Singh, Raghunath Singh, raja Beni
Madho Singh and Mansabali had deeply implicated themselves
in the war at Lucknow.? Gubbins gives a list of other rebel
leaders who distinguished themselves by the most active and
unprovoked hostility in the early phase of the war. They are
Mansabali, the talukdar of Rasulabad (Parwa), and the heirs
of Jasa Singh, the talukdar of Fatchpur-Chaurasi. Jasa Singh
swas killed in an action with general Havelock. Raja Digbijaya
Singh, talukdar of Muhonal in Lucknow, was the first to throw
off the yoke of British rule, Raja Nawabali Khan, talukdar of
Mahmudabad in the district of Sitapur, was, as Hutchinson
says, the first of his class to raise the standard of revolt. Raja
Guru Baksh Singh, the talukdar of Rampagar in Lucknow,
was the first to join the mutineersin the siege of the residency.?
Raja Loni Singh of Mithauli in the Sitapur district gave
shelter to Europeans, but very grudgingly, and even fired
a royal salute in honour of Birjis Qadr, ‘the supposed son of
Wajidali® when he was placed on the throne after the battle of

Shyamsankar Singh of Jorapur, Beni Madlo Singh of Atrauli, Madho Singh of
A, the subordinaie chiefs of Man Singh, the Changapur men, the Coomars,
Biings,men, Tuldpur men and Nanpara foek (46, pp- £11-19). Tn Jamisry 153
Mo Gingh vas eported to be at Lucknow with 5000 men, and the Amethi rja
With 3000 men (fbid. p. +5). Another official list furnished by Probyn of the
zamindars and talukdars who with their retainers were In amms at Lucknow in
Oatober, 157 shows that th tota] amounted 10 76,335 men and 40 gus (FP. i,
230), Oatrarms estimate of the rebel forees at Luckriow towards the end of Januscy
195,000 men) dia nat inclade artllery men, and the talokdar Torees cotimated at
50400, Malieson says that there could not have been Iess than 120,000 men at
Toichninw ot that e (5, 360n). Hollowny writes that the total strength of the
A o all sourccs could not have been Jess dhan sixty thousand at the time
ok senched Luclaow (Essept, ete. 169). Dr. Sea says that the, taluke

e men wwere commanded by Khanali Rhan, the lieutenant of the xja of
Mahmudabad (ep. ity 197).

ACRO. of. b, (18 Nov, 1857), p. H19. Sce Appendix B: List of Rebels.
Farbgg?itcéill :ﬁtés That the strengih of the enemy was computed at 60 thous
sand regular mutineces and 70 thousand irregulars making a total of 130 thousand
abting men (Renipiscesces, 195). The pumber, according to Maude and Sherer
(i, 449), gradually swelled to over 100,000.

2 fpid. (CRO)) p. 448 o

% Guhbins, The Mutinies, etc, 487, For Mansabali's activities see Malleson,
i, 336, 347,
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Chinhat Hutchmson accuses him of drbolical conduct T Raja
Razzak Baksh of Jahangirabad 1n the district of Lucknow took
advantage of the war in ¢jecting those village proprietors who
had gained i the summary settlement He was found in pos-
session of three guns and a number of treasonable papers when
he surrendered to Sir Hope Grant 2

The palwar chuef Prithwipal Singh, Ranndhrr Singh of Daud
pur, Ranpt Singh, 1lakadar of Goorwn, Kalka Baksh, taluldar
of Dullipur, Sita Baksh, the party of Bem Bahadur Singh of
Nasratpur, raja Byt Bihadur Singh of Pratabgarh, Apt Singh,
Sultanat Bahadur of Baispur, Iswar1 Baksh raja Satiprasad of
Sheorajpur, Sewal Singh of mauza Bindu, Swrabpt Singh of
Dharupur 1n pargana Bilkur 1in Oudh helped the rebel forces
in some form or another 1n the protracted struggle that was
going on at Lucknow 3 Some of them, as 1t has been noticed,
served the cause of rebellhion at Cawnpore and obviously
turned to Lucknow after the fall of the aty 4

But no chuef, as the governor general said, had been more
open 1n rebelhion than the rajas of Churda Bhinga and Gonda
The young raja of Nanpara fought agamst the British at Luck
now The raja of Deyrah and Ushraf Baksh Khan, a taluhdar of
Gonda, were also actively hostile # The ghazis of Lucknow were
stmilarly conspicuous 1 their determunation to fight and set
therr mind on a jehad @ Prominent among them were maulavt
Masseeoos Zaman, Ujprali khan and Babarali 7 Intelligence
was also obtamed that there were five hundred habshees at
Tyzabad ready for the fray 8

1CRO Secvet letters etc vol, 163 p 405 Hutchinson op ct 143 53

8 Jnadents et 268-70

TFP vin 8283 152 x 224 226 228 30 2323 2356

4N\asratpur the stronghold of Bem Bahadur was one of the most diff cult of
approach 1t was taken possess on of and destroyed on Zlgznuary 1858 but d‘j
talukdar retired across te fFonter (F viu §3) Saapricsad svery (5 fuv & croenet
over to halp: (FP vin 152}

3 Sessional papers House of Lords vol w1 (Tresh murg) For the actmtes
of tl e raja of %cyrah See Hutchunson op et 180 An offcial communseaian
dated 2 December 1857 furnishes a list of the Indian ch efs killed 1n the late
engagements (Forrest Select ons (Docuroents) u p 363

*FP v 185

TP v App B 8 11

YCRO Secyet Lelters from Inda 1858 vol 164 p 231 Joyce refess to the
Afnadss from Malhabad {Ordeal at Lucknou 81)
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The part played by the begam of Oudh in mabilising the
forces and directing their activities cannot be over-estimated.t
Her prime minister Sharafuddaulah co-operated with her in
every respect,?2 Other important positions were filled up by
Manuruddaulah as general, raja Jaylat Singh as cellector, Man
Singh as chicf of the field force, Mammu Khan as daroga of
the dewan khana, raja Balkishan and Jawalaprasad assuperin-
tendents of supplies.? Mention is also made of Muzaffarali 2s 2
gencral2 The orders of Mammu Khan, alias Mukhlaruddaulah,
alias Alimohammed, were regarded as paramount which were
carried out through his naib Wajidali.? It seems that Hasan
Khoda Baksh was appointed Iater on as chackladar in the post
of Jaylal who was accused by Mehndi Hasan of favouring the
English. Doectali and Sadunlal are also mentioned as officers.®

Begam Hazratmahal’ had undoubted qualities of leadership
and organisation. She was able to attach to herself the loyalty
of all sections of people both Hindus and Mahomedans.
They upheld her couse® and had sworn to fight for her

S FP. viii, 99, 102.

2FP. ix, 927. He was murdered for his alleged complicity with the British
{Hnutchinson, op. dt., 47).

S CRO. Seeret letters from India, 1838, vol. 163, p. 414

< Jbid. p. 441,

o bid, p. 444

« 5id. p. 453; Innes, op. cit, 117

= In connection with the welcome given by queen Victoria to the queen of
Oudh, the Morning Chranicle which deseribed the scene gave the name and style of
the queen 25 Jenabi Auleah Mootaleah nawab Tajaura Begum Saheb and the
voung prince whom the Ou

dians called heir appareat bore the name Wellee
Auhad Mirzz Mahammad Hamid Ali Bahadur. (The ZEngliskman, 10 September,
1857), The Dritish intelligence service also reported that Janzh Allish or Begam
" mother of prince Brijio Kudder was the chiel at Lucknow (CRO, Secret lrtters, ete.
Vel 163, b 449, Tut this is obviously a mistake for Jenabi was in Londo when
the mutiny broke out, She submitted a petition filled with protestation of Toyalty
1o the quecn on behalf of Wajidali. She Liad three soos, of whom one died, ane was
an imbecile and the other was Hamidali. Birjis Kadir was the son of Hazratmahal
{Dodd, op. cit, 167), Hutchinson says that Hazratmahial vwas origimally 2 dancing
gith and Tived i indmacy swith Mammulhan (. cit, 161). For private refations
existing between Wajidali. Hazratmahal and Mammu Khan, ste Hutchinson,
b cit., 161-2.

& Mactin'says that some of the bravest and best chiefs have fallen victims to
their \mcompro)mising Fdeliy to the begam of Oudh (5, 483, also swpwa, p. 119m),
and efers to the case of Rana Benl Madhe of Sankarpur who rejected all affers
A emnesty to join his lawful sovercign, the begam (Jbid. 207). Mallewon is of the
opinion that a great body of landowners in Oudh was not bound by any sentiment
of loyalty towards the deposed dynasty. They hafled the mutiny not from any
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son, Bups Qadr, whom the mutineers had proctamed
the king of Oudh ! The reports received at the British quarters
at Lucknow in November 1857 show that the begam was the
soul of the opposition, collecting together Sharafuddaulah,
Mammukhan, Manuruddaulah (the general), Man Singh and
Jaylal and others who were asked to work for the overthrow
of the English ® In the muiddle of November when severe fight
ng was gong on, a shell ut severely the palace gate, a panc
seized the garnson and the soldiers fled away but the begam
would not move Her order to her chiefs to cut her head off
and then run away® brought them to therr senses Snil
the desertion of the troops continued and on 19 November,
she was obliged to appeal to the chiefs :n the name of khods to
help her 4 The position, however, changed towards the end of
November, when Sir Colin evacuated the remdency and made
for Gawnpore with all the Europeans of the beleaguered gar
nson She took advantage of the situation 1n bolstering up the
morale of her fighting forces At once she ordered for the
mmmedhate occupation of Benares and Allahabad (25 Novem-
ber) Counculs of war were held frequently and on the next day
she sent instructions to nazims and talubdars to march on to
Azamgarh and Jaunpur 5 In a meeting of all the chiefs held on
22 December she severely harangued the leaders and denounced
them for their indifference  She 1s reported to have sad
Great things were promused from the all powerful Dellt and my
heart used to be gladdened by the c T used to recenve
affection towards the royal family If the Jung of Oudh had been king Log the
Britsh rule was the rule of king Stork ( 264} But this 13 hardly 2 true esnmate
of the situanon Mok d Hasan of G sularly ed himself 1n
no terms about hus und. loyalty to the kang of Qudh. He stated
We servants and dependants of the king of Oudh consider 1t essennal to our pros-

penty in both worlds to display devotion 1 protectiog the hangdom and oppesing
the efforts of the nvaders who seek to gam a footmg 1 3¢ (Quoted in Sen, o9 af
360

1 Forbes-Mitchell Remmuseenzes 196 Raikes drawing hus account from an
Tralian savs that Bujs Qadr was the son of Wapdah Shah (Nelzs on the Revolty
ete, 96.97) Chuck op ar 837

*CRO Serret letters etc. vob. 163 p 471 But Mammukban and hu naib
\vapdah and Man Smgh were kund to the English captives at Lucknow Man
Singh wrote on several occasions ta general Outram and Wandalt nsked bis
Lfe to save \Mrs Orr {Hutchinson op at, 162

N Itd (Secret Letters fror India) p 433

VCRO Serret Latters from India 1858 vol 163 p 43>

¥ Id. pp 4345
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from that city but soon the king has heen dispossessed and  his axmy
scattered. The English have bought over the Sikhs and Rajabs,..
and communications are cut off. The Nana has been vanquished,
Lucknow is endangered—what, is to be done? The whole army is in
Lucknow, but it is without courage. Why does it not attack
Alumbaugh? Is it waiting for the English to be reinforced and Luck-
now to be surrounded? How much longer am T to pay the sepoys for
doing nothing? Answer me notw, and if fight you won’t, I shall nego-
tiate with the English to spare my life.

The chiefs answerced:

fear not, we shall fight, for if we do not, we shall be hanged one by
one, we have that fear before our eyes.

The party swore to stick by one another and then dispersed.*

‘The speech contains a spirit of despair and frustration which
followed as a consequence of the defeat of the rebel forces at
Cawnpore on 6 December at the hands of Sir Colin. Regiments
fled from Cawnpore and reached Lucknow where they con-
fessed that their loss had been very great—sixteen guns, maga-
zines and supplies, —which increased the gencral consternation.?
On 12 December, rumour spread that Lucknow was to be
attacked from all sides and supplies cut off: The ray of delusive
hope raised by the withdrawal of the British garrison was dim-
med by the disaster at Cawnpore, yet in this period of un-
relicved gloom the royal begam tried in her own way to buck
up the people and appeared on the field on 25 February
mounted on an elephant.?

The operations at Lucknow took the form of a great war of
liberation. It marked the climax of India’s struggle against
Britain, ‘a guerre a la mort’, a war of the most crucl and exter-
minating form, in which no quarter was given on either side.8

L Jbid. pp. 443, 445

* I3id. p. 441: "When the Nana fled how could they fight?

2 Bid.

4 Malleson, i, 856-7, Martin, if, 477.

5 Forbes.Mitchell, Rembrisomees, ctc. 31 Exactly similar were the views
cxprossed by colonel Mackenzie of the 3rd Light Cavalry that no quatter was
o o cither side (Auting Memairs, 107). Ttwas @ ‘wat to the knife’ as Nash of
Bengal Yeomanry Gavalry said (Volunteering in India, 63).
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Forbes-Mutchell, imself a participant 1n the war and a cnitical
observer of the events going on round hum, wrote,

‘The camps and bazars of our force were full of reports of the great
strength and determunation of the enemy  All Oude was there.
fore still agamst us, and we held only the ground covered by the
British guns t

Scraps of inteligence obtamed from Lucknow, as preserved
mn the Seeret Letters, give us a glumpse of the pluck and resources
of the Indians fighting for their freedom Twelve hundred
‘pasees’ of a ‘low but plucky caste 1n Oudh’ were engaged on
contract for a sum of six thousand rupees to extermunate the
Enghsh in Alambugh, by shooting them at sight wath bows and
arrows 1n which they were experts ® The mformation refers
to the preparations made 10 October and November There
was actually a lnrge body of archers, as Forbes-Mitchell states,
1 the force defending the Shah Nujeef, who darted thewr ar-
rows with great force and precision and tock a heavy toll?
Percussion caps were bemng made in Lucknow and artisans
from Delh1 came for ths purpose Shells too were being made
and large supplies of arms and ammumbon recened from
the mofassil, and revenue remutted from the same Gold and
silver ornaments were bemng carried to pay the troops and dis
trict appomtments were ordered # To replemsh the financial
position, nawab Al Naki Khan’s house was dug and thirteen
lakhs of rupees were obtained,? three lakhs were found in the
housé of Aghan, a former nazim of Sultanpur, and voluntary
contnbutions came from many wealthy indviduals and dis-
affected chiefs ¢ The Luchnow bankers were called on to pay

110d 195

SCRO Secret Leters, cic vol 163 p 409 Michael Juyee writes that the Pasn
were a low caste Dravidian tribesmen and served as retamers under many
talukdars (Ordeal at Lucknow, 47 Hutchinson gives an elaborate descnption of
these pc?le and of the part they played mn the mutiny (hervative of the Afufmes,
cte 14-15)

 Forbes Mitchell, Remneseences etc 76-78 Cf One Penny of the 93rd got
an arrow nght through s bram the shaft projecting more than 2 foot out at the
back of hus head, and 1n casc of another an arrow was sent night tbrough the heart
passing clean through the body

$CRO Seeret Letters, etc. vol 163 p 415

siod p 421

$Iod p 423 Mohammed Hasan sent two lakhs of treasure from Gorakhpur
1n December (Ted p #43)
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twenty lakhs® and the begam herself paid five lakhs to havea
wall built Tound the city in the month of December.® The
ncighbouring forts were repaired and strongly fortified.3 A very
fmportant work was undertaken in the same month, A decp
ditch was dug round the king’s palace 50 as to admit water
from the Gomati in which five thousand coolies worked. The
old canal which was originally intended to let the Ganges pass
into the Gomati was also repaired and four thousand men
were engaged on this, Guns were being mounted and orna-
ments melted to pay the soldiers,? who wwere treated swith care
and attention. Orders were given that the heirs of the 5CPOyS
who might be killed were to have a hundred rupces each and
the wounded fifty rupees each.5 The sepoys, on their part, did
not behave as professionals but ‘agreed o serve on a reduced
salary of nine rupees’.$

In January 1858, the tempo of war was rather high. As the
rebellion gained ground vast numbers were added 10 its ranks
~the population of the city and of the province of Oudh.? The
army then at Lucknow was little short of a lakh of persons. And
there were a hundred serviceable guns, every strect and every
lane was barricaded, all the houses loopholed. There were
about one hundred and fifty military chiefs who supervised the
work of defence, provisions were stored and magazine and
treasure were kept in Kaisarbag.® The preparations made
on an extensive front and on a wide scale reflect the totality of
effort on the part of all the chiefs and their followers which a
few thousand of mutinous soldiers, left to themselves, could
have scarcely completed. A war in which most of the landed
nobility agreed to contribute towards the expense® and conduct

2 5id. p, 420,

* Jbid. p. 439,

* g,

“Ibid. p. 443, Sec also Raikes, Notes oa the Reooll, ete. 1167, CF. the report of
$0th Decerber that a fair was gobng on, €00 of the pilgrims had been sevzed a5
5 spies and sent to work at the entrenchments in Lucknow (6. p. 451).

© Ibid. p. 444

B2 p. 433,

e e e e, p 415, B Tones observs hat there was

. val, 163, p. 249, But Inn ces that there v
10 ngi‘n?s;ﬁ‘é',,‘f o 'f;;:";:ommmg spirit on the part of the investing forco
Wecongs ond Orcd in the Suting, 1183,

YCRO. op. vit., p. 444
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1t by the addstion of their own levies and their personal service,
and a war i which each part of the country, every village and
every house was transformed 1nto a mimiature fortress,! could
hardly be called a military msurrection In Lucknow it was a
war of the people of all classes 2 They fought from street to
street—from house to house and the work of destruction and
butchery went on for several days® till Lucknow was finally
conquered on 21 March The capture of Begam Kothi, which
was the ey to the rebels’ position on 12 March, was, as Sir
Colin wrote 1n his despatch, ‘the sternest struggle which accur
red during the siege’  the horrors of the hosputal at Sebastopol
were far exceeded by what was witnessed here 4 Yet the fate of
this once magmficent aity moved nobody to tears, and
no Scipio repeated the lines of the Ilad over the flames of
Lucknow 5

But the fall of Lucknow had no immediate effect on the re
establishment of Bnitish rule m the whole extent of the pro
vince Innes says that Colin’s failure to prevent the escape of
the rebel troops and the confiscation proclamation of Lord
Canmng led to an outburst of hostility of the country popula
tion 8 The rebellious talukdars wath therr levies now carred
the social war 1nto the mterior and accomplished the project
more basic than other factors which marked the passage of the
Indian mutiny They were purging their country of the Briish
system, almost burming 1t out Their marches and counter~
marches kept alive a spirtt of war and the whole country popu
lation of the province was 1n ‘dogged rebellion’ 7 The posttion

tHollowav Essaps 273 278

 For the behaviour of the talukdars during the mutiny see Appendix C

3§ pra p 47

4 Forrest Selechions (Intro) vol 1, p 412 For an exccllent deseraption of the
siege of Lucknow see M Forgnes in Revue des Deux Mondes st and 5th July 1858
Also tus book Ls Revoltz Des C payes Martin says that Gubbuns s account of the
1 ege 1 lest Craumstantal Accarding to bam Rees carries we ghe because he had
access 10 and permuss on to use the journal kept by the wife of br gadier Inghs
(u 234)

S Forbes M tchell bt morously added that even Charles the Nuth of France
to whom the smell of a dead enémy was always sweet would have had cause fo
modify hus opin on had he had experience of the streets of Lucknaw i March
1858 (Rem 5 scences 230) For the hook{ and loot sce Maude and Sherer 1 458
and Russell q oted mn Malleson u 39°

®Innes op et 290F

*Ibd 298
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Qf the British dur_ing this time, as Malleson says, was very pecu-
Har. They were in possession of a belt of country right across
the centre of the province from east to west, but the northern
and southern portions were held by various rebel parties led
by the royal begam, Hardat Singh, Firuz Shah, Beni Madho,
Dcbi Baksh, Hanumant Singh, the Fyzabad maulavi and
many others such as Rambaksh Singh, Bchunath Singh,
Chandabaksh, Golab Singh, Bhopal Singh and Narpat
Singh.*

The British forces dirccted against the rebel parties moved
on a systematic plan carrying on their military operations
simultancously in different scctions, thus preventing the taluk-
dars and other leaders from combining and uniting their forces.
Walpole at the head of the column marching for Rohilkhand
attacked the jungle fort of Narpat Singh of Ruya and drove
him away on 15 April, after suffering initial reverses.” In about
the same time Hope Grant contacted the Fyzabad maulavi at
Bari, twenty-nine miles from Lucknow, and defeated him.? The
maulavi was the leader of the north-western front of rebels and
was acting as a focus of mahomedan hostility. He became such
a force in the opposition to the British offensive at Shahjehan-
pur that Sir Colin had to march there to dislodge him.? His
death on 5 June led to the collapse of the movement in the
north-western part of Oudh. In the middie of April Khanali
Khan was at Manidahad with a force of three thousand men
and the royal begam who was acting in close contact with
Mammu Khan was reported 10 be residing in an istand called
Bitauli between the rivers Gogra and Chokra.®

Meanwhile the rehel confederacy of the baiswara com-
munities led by the famous chicf, Rana Beni Ma_dho of
Sankarpur, had become very formidable. Their gathering was
threatening the Ganges and the Lucknow-Cawnport ‘road.
Hope Grant marching against them did not find it advisable
to attack Beni Madho but turned against Rambaksh, another

Malleson, i, 270-01, 286-7.
2 Sypra, p. 114

* Hope Grant, of. dit., 2634

€ Supra, pp. 117-5.

* Hope Grant, of cit., 263, 267
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bus chief Rambaksh wns an avowed malcontent from the out
set and Ius fort of Dundiakhera was tahen on 10 May Two
days Iter Grant had defeated wnother Ieader Amruthun Singh
At Sirst five mules m 1n easterly direction from Nagar ! Previous
to this eapedition Hope Grant went 1n the direction of Cheoka
ghnt, on the Gogra (near I'yzabnd) hoping to catch the begam
but she fled Wihnle the rebels were thus cleared from a portion
of the country encompassed by the Gogri and the Ganges
Mohammed Hasan of Gorahlipur rencwed lis attwch on
Amorah on 9 June but it was rcpulsed by Roweroft2 The
western group of talukdrs became nctive 1gun and gathered to
a head 1n large numbers 1t Nawabgany on the Fyzabad road
Though they were made up of four different parties they umted
their rinks nd fought 1 stubborn battle agamst the Brtish
army but cventunlly surrendered the ficld on 14 June, 18582
Licutenant Myendie who took part in the battle says that the
battle of Nawnbgn) had 1 great effect winch was t once made
evident by the rpid submussion of certun districts The hope
the rebels might have entertamed of the recovery of their power
also recetved 1 check 4 It wns about this period that ryjn Man
Singh openly tendered hus allegince to the government and
Hope Grant on coming to I'yzabad relieved the rya then
besicged by the rebels in July 8 Even then, the Lucknow regton
w1s not completely reduced to submssion The town of San
dila, situated between the Rollkhand frontier and Lucknow,
but nearer to the latter, was held under occupation by the
refractory pathans The plice was stormed on 30 July by
Captun Dawson but 1t hardly tended towards the pacification
of the country ¢ All throughi the summer of 1858, the rebels
continued to disturb the country In Mohanlalgany Musatubali
of 1 famuly of sheikhs persisted 1n rebellion 1nd 1n consequence
lost lus property of Deyrah He acted 1n concert with the
Lurmt leader Khushal Chand but both were shun i 2 fight

1 Hope Grant of ot 2724
S Infra p 146

35 pra pp 59 1267

¢ Majend ¢ Up among the Pand es 297 8
&1pd 305 Hope Grant op ¢t 2947
&\falleson u 2867
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near Salempur. The kurmis of Nagram also kept up an
obstinate resistance. In Malihabad the fakir Laikar Shah kept
alive the spirit of rebellion until driven by brigadier Evelegh.t
Nor did the eastern part of Oudh return to British allegiance.
Hope Grant turned towards Sultanpur where the Indians had
concentrated in large numbers, fourteen thousand men with
fiftcen guns. Innes says that the battle of Sultanpur on 28
August was a real combat, but the rebels were put to fight.2
Thus by the middlc of the year 1858, though the central portion
of Qudh was relatively reduced to submission, the country as
a wholc was dominated by different rebel bands. The more
prominent of the leaders, Rana Beni Madho of Sankarpur,
Lal Madho Singh of Amethi, Hanumant Singh, Nana Szhib,
Bala Rao, Jawalaprasad, Mehndi Hasan, Mohammed Hasan
were still in force and the crowd of jungle forts in the
northern line remained to be assaulted.

The situation was fraught with unpredictable danger, the
embers of rebeilion flared up again in the heart of Lucknow.
On 3 October, the rebel leader Harichand united his {orces
with those of other talukdari levics, totalling twelve thousand
men and fell upon Sandila. A desperate battle now raged
for the possession of that city from the 4th to the 8th
October. Eventually the rebels dispersed inflicting upon
brigadier Barker’s forces a loss of eighty-two of all ranks®
The different units of the British army led by Barker,
colonel Hall and brigadier Troup then formed a ring centering
round Lucknow, the one side of it touching the line of the
Gogra and another the Ganges. By their forward and flank
movements they drove the rebels across the Gogra. Firuz Shah
was about o be trapped on this river near Biswah, but he escap-
ed by doubling back south by Sandila to the Ganges and
crossed it, and then the Jumna.? These measures ultimately led
to the pacification of the western part of Oudh.

The operations in the east were conducted by Lord Clyde
himself who began his movement by strengthening the Sultan-

1PG. Lucknow, 164-5.

£ Tnnes, of. cit,, 298; Hope Grant, op. cit,, 209-302.
* Matleson, i, 286-7; Tnnes, of. cit., 300,

* Tones, o, city 301
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pur postton and holding 1n force the lme from Fyzabnd to
Sultanpur 1 order to prevent the rebels from escaping 1nto
Azamgarh Colonel Kelly drove the rehels before him secunng
Akbarpur and Tanda The fort of Rampurhassia, the strong-
hold of the Khanpuras was stormed on 3 November, 1858,
and 2 comprehenuive plan was made to assault the fort
of Amethn belonging to the powerful chief Lal Madho
Singh who was conspicuously friendly at the outset of the
revolt The raja however surrendered on 10 November® The
most powerful of the baiswara chiefs Rana Bei Madho,
however, did not surrender personally, holding himself a
subject of the nawab of Qudh and not of the British govern

ment? He and a part of lus garrison marched out of the fort
on 15 November, but on the way towards Dundiakhera they
were ntercepted on 17 November by Evelegh who defeated
them Still they managed to escape westward but were pursued
by Campbell who bore down on them on 24 November and
drove the baswara chief to the north 4 Other Brtish forces
operating on the line of the Gogra cleared the country of all
rebels who stmlarly fled to the north of the river By the endof
November the country to the south of the Gogra was reduced
to complete sub but the tnangular tract on the left of the
niver was still dominated by Deb: Baksh, the raja of Gonda who
was the recogmsed head of the rajput communty of that part of
the country and by Mehnd: Hasan When Hope Grant prepared
to cross the Gogra to subdue the country to the north, his pas-
sage was fiercely contested at Nawabgan) by the taluhdars of
Chahlari, the rajas of Churda and Gonda and others 8 Grant
captured the forts belonging to the Gonda raja, subdued the
leaders and, as Innes says, again scattered a rebel formation at
Nawabgany m the middle of December Lord Clyde had the
anteligence that the fugitive leader, Bemt Madho, was on the

1 Supra, p 121

2 Sypra, p 124

31nnes, op e, 303+4, supra, pp 119, 133n

* Supra, pp 1189

S Supra, p 124, and tafrc p 144 According to Hope Grant the battle of
Nawzbg:\n)ptook ;:lacc ex{ 27 November But Innes says that the raja of Gonda
and Mehndi Hasan surrendered on 25 November (Innes, at 3045,
“The correct account 15 that Mehndi Hasan surrendered on 7 January 1835,
as notsced (Supra p 124)
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other side of the Gogra at its passage at Nawabganj at Bairam
ghat.! Meamwhile Roweroft captured Tulsipur and Grant met
him there. From this point they drove the rehels stcadily
towards Bhinga till at Iength in January 1839, they were forced
across the frontier and took refuge in Nepal? There they were
pursued and operations continued up to May 1859, but Moham-
med Hasan surrendered early in January.? Simultaneously Lord
Clydestarted his offensive in Bahraich in December 1838, where
Nana was reported to be stationed. According to Russell a
delicate negotiation was going on at this time for securing the
submission of the rebel leaders, the royal begam, Mammu Khan,
Birjis Qadr, Hanumant Singh and Beni Madho* But none
surrendered. Clyde took Nanpara on 23 December, defeated
the rebels at Barordiah at a short distance on the 26th. Beni
Madho who disputed the passage of the British retreated.
Lord Clyde then stormed the fort of Musjidia the next
day. He advanced as far north as the upper reaches of the
Rapti to a place called Baukd about twenty mifes away from
Nappara where Nama and Beni Madho were reported to
have becn cacamping. Lord Clyde marched on the night of
30 December, 1858, to take them by surprisc, but they crossed
the river without offering a fight and withdrew to the Nepalese
territories, Thus by theend of December 1858, the _whole of
Oudh was reconquered after its annexation in 1856.5

GORAKHPUR DIVISION

The contagion of rehellion spread to this division in the
month of June. The character of the risings Ain this part of the
country was the same as in Oudb, the chiefs and talukdars

1 Tanes, of. cit., 303

*Infra, pp. 1445,

# For the dircumstan
His statement in defetice ©

¢ Russcll, Diag, i, 559 . o

B 5, 305.06. Haraprasad, chabladar of Khairabad, Debi Baleh of
Conamues, o, % Singh of Diswak dizd in the jungles of Nepal (Sem, of. ciL,
e hcearding 1 Martin, Prithvipal Singh threw himself o the merey of

Jeading to the surrender of Mobammed Hasan and
cdrh:'s mngduct see Sen, 0. cit., 363-7.
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ments On 2 Mnrch, Rowcroft moved towrds the entrench
ment 1t Belwr near Amornth overlooking the Gogra where the
main body of the rebel army was posted He found 1t so strong
and held 1n such force that he considered 1t mexpedicent to
attach 1t and retired to Amorih Emboldened by thus retrograde
mavement the rebels advanced out of their entrenchment on
the mght of the 4th and the 5th March and were met by Row
croft 1t Amorah when 1n obsunate engagement ensued The
Indians almost enarcled the British forces but after some hours
of fighting they were totaily repulsed and pursued within a
mmle of Belwal Rowcroft could not follow up his victory by
stormung Belwa, on the contrary he was practically block
aded towards the end of Apni and fell back on Captaingan) 2
The rcbel army at Amorah find also the intenuon of attacking
the Briush position i Azamgarh 2nd though baulked by
defent, the farlure of the British to take Belwa enabled them to
hold their camp there and send a detachment to the south
cast to Atruli in Azamgarh Ths force crossed the Gogra and
effected a junction with the Shahabad leader hunwar Singh
at Atrauli at the time when he started his offensive 1n Azam
garh towards the end of March 1858

The posiion of the rebels at Amorah was remforced by
Mohammed Hasan of Gorakhpur who joined them later, with
four thousand men But on 9 June, Rowcroft returned to the
attack of Amorah and after a stiff action captured the place
which was followed up by inficting upon Mohammed Hasan
another crushing defeat at Harah on 18 June, 1858, as a result
of which he fled away® and cventually joined Bala Rao 1
Tulsipur 1n Gonda But Belwn wns cleared only towards the
end of 1858

Gorakhpur had a populition somewhat exceeding three oul
lions Mohammed Hasan who had been formerly the governor
of the country lost his office fter the annexation Symptoms
of disaffection appeared there towards the end of May, the chiefs

TFP 1x 859 For a descript on of the war by an eye witness and Roweroft §
despateh No 168 dated 6 March 1858 jusuijing the m htary esecution 2t
Amorah see Nash Velunteerng n Inda 63

* !»3(311::0:1 savs that Roy croft defeated the rebels on the 17th and 25th Aprl
(u 45%)

¥ Malleson w 281 2
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of Pynah and Narabarpur attacked police stations and ferry
ghats.* News of the Azamgarh mutiny created great tension
specially in the northern and western parganas of the district.
The rajputs of Nagar rose up and dispossessed the present
proprietors of all their lands, the rajputs of Pynah closed the
navigation of the Gogra. One Mirzaali Hussain made himself
conspicuous by seditious activitics. The rajas of Naraharpur,
Nagar, Satsi and the babus of Pandapur too held frequent
meetings, and though martial law was proclaimed by the
middle of June the mounting acts of violence could hardly
be checked.2 The employment of gurkha troops did not im-
prove the situation. The tahsils of Khalilabad and Gaptainganj
fell into the hands of the rebels on 10 and 12 August respec-
tively, which obliged the government party to leave the station
an the 13th. Gorakhpur passed under the rule of Mohammed
Hasan who proclaimed himsclf the nazim® and attached to
himself the loyalty of the landed proprictors.* The whole coun-
try was surging with revolt and fortifications or rather loop-
holed carthworks, erected here and there, forcibly illustrated
systematised rebellion® The rebel leader had no mutinous
regiment with him. According to onc official report the total
number of his force amounted to ten or twvelve thousand men
of which only five thousand were sepoys.®

The government established by the chackladar had the merit
of order and progress, the decrces of civil courts were even
excouted, hut the response to the revolution was unbounded;
almost all the landholders joined him, received dresses of
honour and furnished contingents to his army? and internally
ousted the auction purchasers and re-entered the estates which
had been lost through the agency of the civil courtsS An action
was fought on 26 December, 1837, at Sohanpur on the Gorakh-

1NE. }, 52: Report by C. Wingfield, commisioner.
ENE. i, 53-55.

#NE. i, 56.

CEP. iv, 116, 166, 188; v, 59, 68, 84, 88, vil, 20, 70, 212, 220.22; Iv, 244, 286.
* Nash, Volunteering in Jedia, 40, 45.

<FP. vii, 222, ix, 138,

*FP. ix, 85%

» NE. 3, 56.
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pur frontier on the west bank of the hittle Gandal between the
forces of colonel Roweroft and the rebels, who by all Teports
numbered twelve hundred sepoys and four or five thousand
other armed men? Naib nazim Mushraf Khan who was the
most trusted follower of the rebel chackladar? was wath the
rebels 1n that engagement along with Ah Kanm of Paina 2

Letters found 1 the possession of Mohammed Hasan show
that a large number of disaffected elements yoined hum Raja
Udit Narayan Singh of Satst has been descrbed to be the
worst traitor 2 He was supported by Debidatta and Debisaran 5
He lso employed Mushraf Khan as his agent ¢ The rebellious
proceedings of the raja of Satst are reflected 1n colonel Row
croft’s description of hus operations m taking possession of the
palace As he found 1t

The Raja had fortified his palace to a considerable extent, the walls
within and without being loophaled for musketry, and the buldings
connected by galleries and passages, also loopholed, nd on one face
covered with a very thuck thorny bamboo jungle The articles
found 1n the place consisted of 10 or 12 ewt of powder, five Jarge
bags of musket balls, five valuable double-barrellcd guns, of which
one was a rifle, large stores of gramns, ?

The raja of Nagar® and the raja of Narharpur? deeply com .
mutted themselves against the Bratish Rajhumar Amresh Singh,1®
the rajcoomars on the Jaunpur border,t Udresh Smgh and
Chandresh Singh!? and many others ncluding the raja of

1FP ix, 378 Narrative of Events to 15 Febrary 1858 Malleson 1 3212

TFP vm 86 wx 138 35G 378 835

INE un 185 Specal Narrative Government of Bengal

AFP vi 212 ix 243,387

A ood

SFP vu 213 1x 220 Hewas formerly the manager of the raja of Sata In the
official despatches he 1s described as the prime mover in the revolt and an accomt
phee of the rebel ramt of Mehson {FP' yx 833) Mushral Khan was later on
executed (FP 1x 838)

TFP 1x 387 Narrative of Events to 27 February 1858

SFP v, 212,272

STP 1x 248 250 f But one G Osbornc an optum agent scems to have
been helped by the raja

1 FP ix 258

WFP v, 43

HFP x 258
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Churda joined the revoit. Many government servants specially
\'Vahidal.i, the deputy-collector, his brother Ali Nasar and
Hasanali Baksh and Hafiz Ilahi Baksh, the tahsildars, Fattchali
Beg and Zamirali® added their strength to the rebel forces.
Official reports make casual references to many other leaders
who joined in the rising at Gorakhpur.3 This strength notwith-
standing Mohammed Hasan could not organise the rebel
elements into a strong force. His followers made but a feeble
resistance when Gorakhpur was rcconquered by the Nepal
army on 6 January.!

BENARLS DIVISION

Contiguous to Oudh and Bihar on two sides, the Benarcs
division got the infection of resolt from the former and trans-
mitted the wave to the latter, This tract of country became one
vast scene of a conntrywide revolt. In Jaunpur the mutiny
which broke out on 5 June was of no consequence when viewed
in the light of the rebelhon that followed. The country was ripe
for an upsurge as ‘nowhere were the auction purchasers more
numerous.” The old zamindars were thoroughly disaffected
and in many cases they were near relations of the discontented
talukdars of Oudh. In this upsurge, offices were gutted and the
treasury was plundered by the mob in which even old women
and boys joined, while in the interior not a semblance of

+FP. vui, 113,

* P, x, 220.

3 FP. 1x, 604, They sre Shambar Smgh, brotheran-lase of Bem Madho Singh,
Dharma Sigh of Karhabar (FP 1, 258.9), the zamndars of Bhavapur (FP. vii,
212), Gobindaballav Stagh, the cluef babu af Pauleypore (FP vii, 211), the babus
of Pandapur, the raja of Chilpore (FP i, 211), Soowth Singh, zamundar of
Seopora, pargana Amora (FP va, 212), rapa Kishan Kishore Chand, raja
Raghubic Singh, ram Digambar: Kace (FP. vi 212), Rar Bhunwan Singh
(FP. vii, 218), Bhavan Sugh of Suhtee, babus of Dharmmar (FF, vii, 272), Walid
Mohammed Tijcc (FP. 1%, 838), Nawab Smgh (FP ix, 856), Glusam Sah,
Nawab Mohammed of Bansea (FP vu, 212), Seoghulam Singh (F. vhy, 211),
Mohammed Nsmmaz, Daulatali, Sherali, Reasatalt, Bakar Husain, Bcjis Kader,
Jaffarals, Mir Dostali (TP_vu, 213), Narayandayal, Sangramial (FP. vau, 89),
“Mansabih of Serar Mir (TP, 1x, 253), and Bullt Singh (Gubbins, Mutimes, etc
81, 152.3) Prithvipal Stngh alio tendered his allogiance to Md Hasan (FE. viy,
213). The rani of Amorah was detceted in @ treasonable correspondence with the
Tebels O learning ths discovery she immcdiately fled to Fyzabad (FP. ix, 863).

4 NE. , 56; Malleson, 1, 323.
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authority remauned 1 The dispossessed landholders turned out
their nvals and other bolder spinits combined to fight the
Bnush Doblraghubansis were the most violent, they cnt off
[ tions and co ted other depredations

Of the popular leaders of Jaunpur, Iridat Jahan, the raja
of Mahul, played the most conspicuous part He proclaimed
himself the naib nazim? and held out in hs stronghold at
Mubarakpur, but when the Brush offenswve started on 27
September, he was overpowered by colonel Wroughton He
and s devoted follower Fazat Jahan® who ¢was brave enough
for anything’ were seized, tried by court-martial and hanged 4
Another lender, Amar Singh, had his stronghold at Adampur
He fought herorcally agmnst the pumtive expeditions of colonel
Wroughton, but was hiled with some fifty of lus men on the
day following 5

Even after the re-conquest of the distnict the country was
swarmng with rebel leaders and their forees which necessitated
a prolonged campugn The gh command of the rebels at
Luchnow madc an elaborate plan for the conquest of Jaunpur
1n the month of October The expedition was to be led by
Mehnd: Hasan, the nazim of Sultanpur He had five guns ready
for use and was backed by all the talukdars of Sultanpur and
Tyzabad Shebh Ghulam Hussan was appomted chackladar of
Jaunpw, tahsildars and sazawals were appomted and pre-
parations were going on it full swing The rajcoomars, Udresh
Singh (whose fort was at Deyrah), and Chandresh Singh, and
palwars jihe Prithipal Singh, Maghoprasad, Kishanprestd, and
other talukdars and chiefé decided to join the mazm 1 s
adventure Mansabaliof Serax Mir 1n the distnict of Azamgarh
was appointed commandant of 4 regiment with Beni Madho
the hurmt raja of Atraul The mvading party was only waiting
for the Gurkhas to leave for Allahabad As for the place of the
operation 1t was decided that the rajcoomar chiefs Udresh and
Chandresh would march from Chanda to Singrimau on 12

+ NE 1 3436 The Rebelton of 1857 m the Province of Renares by Robert
Taylor, ofimating joint magistrate Jaunpur
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October, the rear guarded by the nazim, and the force of Hasan
Yar Khan forming an auxiliary to the column. Mchndi Hasan’s
force at Hasanpur did not exceed six thousand men but later
reports indicated that his army swelled to eight thousand to ten
thousand men consisting of new levies and villagers. A speedy
move on Jaunpur was contemplated and about five hundred
villagers were seen collected at Chanda in the middle of
October. A simultaneous attack on Azamgarh was also
planned under the direction of Mir Mohammed Hussain,
the chackladar and Jaylal Singh the son of Galib Jung), the
nazim of Azamgarh.! Exentally. however, the invasion was
repulsed but official sources refer to the activities of the
brave Hasan Yar Khan who styled himself as chackladar of
Jaunpur.2 He entercd the district with about twelve thousand
men but was repulsed at Kudua near Singramau on 19
October. Undeterred the nazim followed it up by an invasion
of more serious character with four to five thousand men
which developed into the action at Chanda. Ranadhir Singh,
son of Gujraj Singh, talukdar of Singramau, had also as-
semblcd a large force in the rear® In the finst battle at
Chanda on 30 Octwober the Jaunpur rebels joined in
large numbers. They were strongly posted and fought well
and though defeated they assembled again under the inspir-
ing leadership of Muzaffar Jahan, who was much worse than
hisold father,’ Iradat Jahan.! On 26 June, Muzaffar proclaimed
himself the raja of Mahul? He commanded a huge army of
trained men and attracted to his colours disaffected clements
from every quarter. Malik \chndi Baksh and Rustam Shah,
the chief of Deyrah were also compelied to join the rebel
force which increased from ten thousand on 22 November to
siztcen thousamd on 28 November.® Thus the position
of the British was rendered precarious by the systematic

1FP, vii 74-75; ix, 219, 701
*FP. x. 219, 247, 701, 707; vii, 73. . L,
i, 45-46; i, 7 anadhir Ranjit Singh his dewan.
sub;?fchlfo?j‘ éz’mF;yﬁ A;{?i‘!,%%gg ]({(;Raod Sx:?l};um,"vo!. ‘%4, p-314).
$FP. ix, 242, 255-6; vii, 265, 275
$NE.i, 38.
$ FP. vii, 275; NE. i, 46-47.
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pressure of the Indian forces in the last week of November,
They were almost encircled by the Gwalior troops who raided
Cawnpore with impumty and the begam from Lucknow
mtended to march from the north while the Jaunpur rebels
advanced from the east But the battle of Cawnpore (6 De-
cember) did the trick of scattering the rebels if at all they
had any plan to combine. General Franks then planned an
advance mto Oudh from Jaunpur.

After the fall of Lucknow, a party of rebels under Shakh
Ghulam Hussam, the chachladar of Jaunpur! and Mehnd
Hasan of Sultanpur agam collected 1n the northern and west-
cern parts of the district, nearly three thousand men
They were determined to oppose Sir Edward Lugard who was
marching through the country for the relief of the Azamgarh
garrison, threatened by the danng raids of Kunwar Singh,
buten 11 Apnl, 1858, the rebels were again defeated, Even in
May 1858, the rebel leader Jhunya Singh of Mirzapur carried
his raids m Jatnpur and Sangram Singh was perpetually
reappeaning 2

Of the other leaders of consequence mention may be made
of Hanumant Singh,® the brave rajput of Dharupur, whe at
first was loyally disposed,? but later on turned a rcbel to
avenge the death of hus son killed 1n the Chanda fight, and col-
lected a band of men at his fort at Kalakankar on the Ganges ®
The fort contained twenty-seven guns of which twenty-two
were mn position The report of November showed that he was
trying to raise the country agamnst the British.8 Khodabalsh,
the sor disant chackladar of Jaunpur,? had, 1t is savd, a force
consisting of two thousand men of whom two hundred were
sepoys.® Maulavi Keramatali of Jaunpur® who is described as

1TP vn, 75, vin, 140, 142-4, 1x, 5869, 854, 866

3NL 4, 51

AP xx 285

¢FP 1x, 927, Tnnes, of at , 86

SFP. 1x, 281, 569, 927, He along with Buriar Singh the brother of Rustam
Shah submutted to P Carnegy sn Apnl 1858 (CRO Secret Lelters from fndia,
sol 164, p 315).

*IP ix, 281

1FP x, 574

* His agent Makhdum Baksh was also actve during this tme (FP. ix, 613)-

*FD. 1x, 50
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the leader of the Ferazis,! seems to have kept himself in touch
with the seditious activities of the Mahomedans of the Lower
provinces. Hakim Aga Mohammed, alias Mohammed Hyder,
commonly known as Aga Sahib, also entertained hostile
designs.?

In Azamgarh near the eastern frontier of Oudh the garrison
broke loose on 3 June, 1857, and carried on usual depredations
and murdered European officers. The rehellion thus started
was taken up by the palwar rajputs who throughout this
period put up a strong fight against all attempts of Venables,
the plantation officer, 1o suppress them.

The palwar chicf Prithvipal Singh of Bantera, a very
influential member of that community who held the fort
of Tigra, to the north-west of Jaunpur, came down in
great force on the city afier the evacuation of the British,
and levied a contribution of rupees ten thousand on the
baniyas.® The report submitted by Horne, the British afficer
at Azamgarh,! gives an idea accurate enough of the
rehellion that was raging there. Hc says that the palwars
and the rajcoomars had forgotten their blood feuds to unite
against the British. In the Nizamabad tahsil, the government
had no power of cocrcion beyond a few miles and for the
period from Junc to August, the whole of it had been subjected
to plunder, The viilages in the Sagri tahsil were in a very un-
settled and disaffected state and were ready for anything. Even
in the month of September when Horne submitted his report,
they were found to have been very restive. The zamindar Koel
Singh of the place was on the side of order for some time, but
he soon joined the palwars and made a common cause with
Prithvipal Singh in imposing a levy on the mercantile sections
of the populace. The Gliosi tahsil was similarly affected. In
the tahsil of Sikandarpur (comprising Nagra thana) almost all

LFP. v, 7; App. A. ta FP. v, 2054 A

: Jeaders who took part in the rising =t Jaunpur were Phuli Sing
(FP.Qgic’rz;‘sriyn?iavang Singh por Dhaukalganjn (FP. vii, 275-6), Mabipal
Singh and Uditaarayan Singh (Jsid.), Jagneswar Baksh (1bid), Banda Hussain,
chackladar, raja Haswnali Kivan (FP. vif; 101}, Faz! Asim, Tandit Kishannarayan
(NE. i, 47)

IFP. ix, 255, 859. )

4FP. vii, 265.9. o
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the hercditary landholders re-possessed themselves of thesr
former properties The auction purchasers who mostly came
from Ghazipur could seldom obtain any hold on the land
Besides n Sikandarpur property was less sub-divided and was
m the hands of a few large proprietors In Mahmudabad
tahsil, great distress prevasled sn Mau and Mubarakpur The
landholders of Deogaon and Cheriakot were very turbulent
and remamed 1 an cxcitable condition Koelst and Atewh
on the borders of Oudh were full of refractory Rajputs who
could not be tackled until Oudh tself was brought tnte some
sort of order Ongnally the Brtish had very great difficuity in
tking possession of this part of the country The dusappear-
ance of the British rule left Koclsa entirely under the rule of
Madhoprasad the palwar chief But there were other parties 1n
the tahsil who clumed supremacy mthisarea Jaylnl, the brother
of the hurmt raja of Atrauli, putin a claim for the distrniet of
Azamgarh But for the ume being Madhoprasad held sway
and led the palwars to attack Azamgarh on 12 July Bem
Madho, the kurmi raja of Atraul, professed friendship for the
Briush, but all the while, he collected his men 1nd made
preparations for war The Mahul tahisil was lost to the govern
ment by the end of June when Muzaffar Jahan occupied t,
and since that time he fortified that place and surrounded 1t
with earthworks The fort at Mahul withstood two companies
of troops for a month and guns had to be scat for when the
Briush took the place ! Rebellious proceedings were iso re-
ported from the refractory willage of hookonda where the
villages destroyed the indigo factory Onc Phult Singh who
had been 1n the employ of the planter had taken considerable
delight 1n destroying everything belonging to the factory 2 Thus
the whole country was up nd showed no signs of returming
to normal condition even after the reoccupation of the district
by the British

Bem Madho, the hurm raja of Atrauh, was appomnted the
nazim of Azsmgarh and Jaunpur under the rebel government
of Luchnow 3 He fought an action agamnst an army of twele

1 s hold at St habad and the he had formed round
Mahul syere destroyed The house of Prathwipal Singh wasals burnt (P x5 242)

1FP vn 2756
T¥P v, 87, v 7374, 235 His brother raja Jaylal Singh son of Ghakib Jung
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hundred gurkhas led by captain Boileau on 20 September,
1857, at Mandori, a village, ten miles from Azamgarh, but was
defeated. The British party reached Atrauli on the 30th only
to find that Beni Madho kurmi and Madhoprasad palwar had
made their escape by night. The property of the kurmi raja was
confiscated.? The victory of the British arms had some effect
in subduing the palwars? but the country as a whole was far
from being pacified. The invasion of Azamgarh which was
threatened simultancously with Jaunpur, as described above,
came into effect on 4 November when two of the northern
parganas of the district were overthrown by a large force
estimated at not less than four thonsand men, The invaders
were too strong to be attacked by the Azamgarh gurkhas, The
government obtained proofs showing the organised character
of the movement against these districts.3 There was no doubt
that raja Beni Madho led the attack. The state of emergency
existing on the borders of the two districts at that time is re-
flected in scraps of intelligence forwarded by A. R. Pollock, The
rebels retained possession of Atrauli till the 10th when they dis-
persed.d Beni Madho fled to Oudh. Towards the cnd of

is also described as the nazim of Azamgath and Jaunpur (FP. vei, 75, 77, 149, 268,
2711; vili, 132, 152; ix, 219, 242, 252, 586). He 'was said to have been hanged on
T October, 1859 (Vincent, Dictisnary, 556).

1FP. vif, 270L. ix, 255; NE. i, 43, For the battle of Mandori sce Malleson,
i, 317-8. He says that the fortifications of Atrauli were destroyed after the battle of
Mandori, but the Oudh rebels are said to have seized the fort again on ¢ Novem-
ber (Zbid. 319-20}.

3FP. ix, 255: Report by A. R. Pollock, officiating magistrate, Azamgarh.
3 FP. ix, 701-02; Report by R. Strachey.

¢ The following is the official report :—

November 3, Tuesday—The tahsildars of Atraulia report that immense
bodies of rebels are very near and are expected at Airpulia the next day. The
tahsildar of Koelsa reports that about 4,000 or 5,000 rebels with 4 guns headed by
Beni Madho and Jaylal Singh have arrived at Lohra. The tahsildar of Mahul
reports that large bodies of rebels are posted at Shahzadpur, that they were enter-
taining more men. . .. that goldsmiths arc making bullcts

November 5, Wednesday—The thanadar of Mahul reports that 2,000
rebels with four guns have arrived at Baskhari, that more arc expected from
Tandah, that the neighbouring zamindars have joined them and that the whale
force are caming tipon Azamgarh. He alsa says that some 2,000 rebels arc collected
in this place and Akbarpur.

¢ it 10, Tucsday—We remained 1 at Atraulia and the
levelling and destruction of the fort of Beni Madho commenced (FP. ix, 586-7).
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November 1858 he was driven headlong 10 Gonda as a conse-
quence of Hope Grant's offensive

Muzaffar Jahan, as already noticed, proclaimed himself the
raja of Mahul on 26 June and adopted a posture of strength 1n
the vanous skirmishes of the rebellion 1n these areas ® The rebel
Pargan Singh made a successful attack on the thana at Maha-
raguny® and formulated many schemes of combmed action
on different occasions  Others who took partin the Azamgarh
rising were Rajabali who attacked the kotwali with some four
hundred followers? and syed Mohammed Hussain who passed
humself as the chaclladar of Azimgarh® The nature of the
nsing at Azamgarh can be judged from the extent of the
support 1t recerved from landed commumties and the populace
m general An official source estimated that 2,000 rajcoomars
of Bandipore, 7,000 to 8,000 palwars of Lohra, 1,200 sepoys of
Gogra and 12,000 arregular levies of Singramau had thrown
themselves mto the war against the government &

The Azamgarh expedition of Kunwar Smgh was indeed a
great tnumph of the popular cause The incursion of the
Shahabad leader 1n the district in March 1858 produced the
greatest consternition Meanwhile the reward for Kunwar
Singh's apprehension was raised to rupces 25,000 by the
government 7 The infection spread to Ghazipur which had
been already affected by the outbreah at Azamgarh?® The
successful  retreat of Kunwar Singh across these regions to

1 Between Bent Madho the kurm raja, and Madhoprasad the head of the
palwars of Birhar (Fyzabad) whose fort and chuef state lay beyond the Oudh
frontier {NE 1, 38) Gubbuns differs from the views of Davics and states that the
former s contumacious athtude could not be doubted, while the latter was quite
undeaided early 1n July though subsequently he was openly in 2 hostde atboude
(NF 3 39) Bemt Madho Sigh had affered four lakhs to Madhoprasad and
1 oked s a1d to expel the English (FP 1y, 588) Papers found 1n the Atrauh fort
show that the kurmi raja was in league also with raja Man Singh from whom he
recenved two guns and some 300 men When hus fort at Ateault was levelled 2
good deal of praperty, sncluding 300 Englsh cannon balls, wasfound (FP 1, 242),

*FP vu 73 268, 2701

3NE 3, 50-01

SFP 1x 608

SFP v 7577

$FP 1x,600 Evenasearly as 18 July three to four thousand palwans con
fronted a government party outside the town of Azamgarh two miles on the
Gorakhpur side (The Englishman, 25 July, 1857)

? Sec Appendix D A proc) ding the appeeh of haunwar
Singh

*NE.3, 36
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,Iagdisp\frsﬁrrcd up the embers of rebellion in the southern part
of Gha@lpur and in tracts adjoining Shahabad, especially in the
Zamaniah tahsil where government buildings were burnt and
sacked and ‘loyal’ people were hunted out. In June 1858, the
Saidpur tahsil was similarly in uproar when the Jagdispur
rebels were flying away from the British offensive. The cam-
paigns of general Douglas in October 1858 brought back
sccurity in the country. In Ballia too the landholders and
village communities whose rights had passed into the hands
of auction purchasers attempted to regain their ancestral hold-
ings. The villagers in particufar flocked to the standard of
Kunwar and facilitated his crossing of the Ganges with
tremendous enthusiasm.

In Benares, the revolt of the scpoys had indeed been effec-
tively put down, but no sooner had it become known in the dis-
tricts around that there had been an insurrection than the whole
country rosc as one man. The communication with the neigh~
bouring stations was cut off in such a way that it appeared
as if the zamindars were about to attempt the execution of the
project in which the sepoys had failed.! There was of course no
organised resistance, and Hindu-Muslim dissension also raised
its head, the green flag was hoisted, but auction purchasers and
other stooges of British imperialism suffered the same fate as
elsewhere. A conspiracy sccms to have been afoot in which
two bankers were involved. They were Bhyraprasad and
Tsriprasad who were exccuted on a charge of treason against

. the government.?

Thus in the first weck of June, civil government had
been destroyed in Jaunpur, Azamgarh, Benares and a great
movement of the chiefs and the people was surging up.
Mirzapur was in the same state. On 10 June, the property of
the East Indian Railway was plundered in broad day, some
four miles from the station. There was no rcbellion of 2 ge.n'Eral
character in Mirzapur but the rising cxcited by the scdn'mus
chiefs assumed a serious proportion at times. Udwant Singh
of Bhudoh pargana declared his independence anc’s continued
Jhostilities till he was captured and executed. This led to 2

1 Chick, op. cit,, 383. See also Kaye, ii, 254, -
*FP. ix, 218; vii, 209, CF, The Englishan, Monday, 27 Joly, 1857 .
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resurgence  Rebels vowed vengeance on Mooare, the jomt.
magstrate of Mirzapur Jhuniya Singh led a large body of men,
attacked the indigo factory at Pali where Moore had taken
shelter He was beheaded and his head was carned off to be
sold to the widow of Udwant Singh for rupees three hundred
only 1 A sumiar trouble was brewing m Byaigarh in the west
of the district where the dispossessed clamant to the chiefshap,
Lakshman Singh, and his chandel malcontents were m open
communication with the Shahabad rebels 2 The Dinapur muu-
neers excited a disturbance of a serous character but they were
repulsed at Amoy, seventeen mles from Mizapur on 13
August The commotion excted by the redoubtable leader
Kunwar Singh who arnved wath his force by way of Fan-
nagan) on 24 August, 1857, and encamped himself at Ramgarh,
turned out to be a spontaneous movement of the peaple m
general The chandels apd other malcontents followed him
Tater on Amar Singh passed through the district® which
also provided incitement to rebellion

INe 1, 4142 Jhuriya Singh of Mirzapur who raised this surrecuon (FP
vu, 958, 1x 229 232 3, 2634, 281, 283, 582) played a great part in the rebelhon
of the neighbouring distnets He was supported by 3 Targe number of Myrzapur
yebels such as Sarabdin Singh (FP 1x 247) Zabar Singh and Paddam Singh (FI»
1%, 263), Ranadir Swgh (FP 1x, 281) and Falor Baksh (TP 1, 287}

INE 1 47
STP ix, 281



CHAPTER THREE

EASTERN INDIA

In Biliar the troops of almost every station showed signs of
disaffection and revolt, but mutinies in Bihar were not followed
by widespread civil commotion as in upper India, excepting
in some places where the rising developed into a full-fledged
mass movement. The lacal governments in many places held
out instead of collapsing, but martial law was declared to be
established on 30 July in many districts.

BHAGALPUR DIVISION

In the Bhagalpur division, Bhagalpur, Monghyr, and Purnea
remained tolerably quict though in Purnea considerable
apprehension was felt owing to the movements of the 75rd
regiment. But in the Santal parganas of this division the Santals
showed a degree of restiveness which was unmistakable though
there was no general farc-up among them.

The attempted military rising at Rohini, a village in Deo-
ghar in the district of the Santal parganas, took place on 12
June, a month after the Meerut mutiny. Though it was
suppressed, the unrest of the civil classes remained a menace to
peace and order. It was reported that raja Mahatabchand and
Govinda babu, his prime minister, werc levying contributions
upon the Santals and talking treason to them } Another report
was that the Santals fiving between Manbhum and Hazaribagh
headed by Kunkura Coomar who had been rcleased by the
mutinous sepoys from the Hazaribagh jail were committing out-
rages.2 In theirown way the Santals threatened the civil power®
by their usual acts of depredations, and treasonable intentions
were also harboured by politically minded chiels some of
whom are mentioned in official despatches.? The disturbances

* B Poli, 25 Jone, 1857,

* The Englishman, 30 September, 1857.

S FR. iv, 301; v, 8, 47, 53, 74, BAU; App. Ato FP;JV, !gl, Izzhl—‘;] Sinen

N Kaha (FP, v, 272}, Salamatali an. Mahtulnatayan Sing]
(FP. ?Ryp;‘telﬁt’%%?ttﬁpp. i, viz, 7, 193 vili, 63, Tibroo Santal alias
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exated by the Santals during this period ywere not essentially
of a sporadic character, but presented signs of an orgamsed
mosement

The second quarterly report for September, 1857 to Novem
ber, 1857 of the assistant commusnioner, Deoghar, tefers to the
prevalence of tension nmong the Santals which obhiged the
officer to diswem the population It was reported that one
parganart hanu Many had collected 1 huge military store The
Santals also reacted to the situation 1t Arrah specially after
the 11! fated expedition to Jagdispur i which the Arrah pargy
had lost hewily Then they started s thereport goes 1n bodies
of thousands ready for the fray 1s they had done 1n the revolt
of 1856 but the news of the death of Runwar Singh acted
as a damper and chilled ther spirnts ! Even then 1t was peras
tently reported that Amar Smgh was recerang support and
succour from 1 number of disaffected Santals

PATNA DIVISION

Wilham Tayler the avil officer of the dwision 2 man of
1ndependent tone of thought , had reported to the government
nearly two years before the mutinies of 1857 tht the people of
the districts were 1n A very restlessand disaffected state 2 Hehnd
referred an parncular to the order for the removal of the lotalis
which excited a commonon at Muzaffarpur and the umisersal
beliel that the order was the first step 1 the projected attach
by government on Indin customs and religion 3 The situation
1n the West Bihar diviston with Patna as its headquarters
contmmng three lakhs of mhabitants, 2 large portion of whom

Copa Thakuran was charged with murder and suffered rancportat on {FP
App B 193) See alio BPP ol by ptos 5859 for sporad ¢ attacks of the
Santals and !-“h: 3:(3105 ‘;g s:;\g of ;Ahnéhlmd“; Rupu g\“ any al}amba?xg M’f{
and Anun For the part play y the Chuars during ] see M
A i Sakeh of Sab bgany s also memuoned 38 5 rebel (Herdk
Patriot 9 September 1858)

1 Dumka Records Letter Copy Book II Assistant Comm ssionef § offee
Deoghar No 18

*haye m 70 Holmess account of Taylers adm mutraton 1 Lased an all
avalable 20 yees (op ek 178-9)

1\, Taylers tetier to W Grey secretany to the govemment of Bengal dated
the Zith Juns  d3o recontly traced by Dr K. A Datex and publust ed 1 the
BPP vol Ixdf pt.1 Senal No 138 January June 1953 pp 14
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were Mahomedans was causing anxiety to the authorities even
before the actual outbreak of rebellion, Tayler’s letter of 14
July to the government indicated that for months past con-
spiracies had been systematically and extensively carried on
and subscriptions raised to finance the projected plot and
communications and contacts established with many dis-
affected centres for the restoration of mahomedan sover-
eignty.! Reports of risings in upper India produced a statc of
tension and disquict which eventually culminated in a violent
demonstration of the seditious populace, mainly the Maho-
medans, who with green flags rushed to the attack of the
Roman Catholic Church in the city on 3 July. The rioters,
some two hundred men, caused damages, but the attempt was
a failure and the case with which the disturbance was put
down showed that the mass of the people of Patna were not
yet thoroughly organised.? But the incident laid bare the
existence of a widespread conspiracy aimed against the Christ-
ians. The official version is that the malcontents commenced
their activities immediately after the anncxation of Oudh
but matters came to a head in the wake of the mutiny of the
army,? and cspecially under the influence of the Wahabi
muslims? in which Pecrali was actively concerned. He was a
bhookseller of Patna and was supposed to be in treasonable
correspondence with one Musi-uz-Zaman of Lucknow ever
since the annexation of Oudh.® Forty-three ringleaders were
brought to trial of whom Pecrali along with eightecn others

P v, App. B. 71, For other official correspondence fo the state of disaffec-
tion, ses FP. v, App. A. 12, 20, 62-63, Tayler's official correspondence of the
month of June refers to the presence of geaeral apprebension of rebeftion. Mea-
Suves svere adopted 1o intercept rebels by the promise of Jarge rewards and for
policing of the grand trunk road. The district officers were cven warned against
The chamars (scavengers) who were suspected of dislayalty (Paima Collectorate

Records Nos. 347a, 376, 377, 428, 435 of 1857). Further, the conduct of the
anmindars. was watched and an cficient intelligence department was arga-
nised {{6id. No. 810 of 1857).

* Holmes says that Tayler’s vigilance had forced the conspirators to strike
before they were ready (ofs it

3 FP. v, App. B. 68; Malleson i, 3

4 iviti Y¥ahabis of Patna during this period, sce FP. v, 3ff,
11, 2{050‘5};1;;?"/’:‘;0?2?& 271, 35-467; App. B, 8-9,525%7_{)1'. Seealso Mallison,
i, 52MT; Dodd, op. cit, 152-3. Dr. Sen says that the Wahabvis as 2 community did
not identify themselves with the revolt (op. ait., 248). .

P, v, 10; App. A, 35, Apb. B, 71, 75(; Patna Collectorate Records, No. 73
ol 1857,

ctoram—I1
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mecluding Asaf Hussamn and Ghulam Abbas were hanged
In the site of lns house a wooden pillar with a votive tablet
was set up only as a deterrent to conspiracy and combination
Another leader Lutfali Khan, the richest banker mn the town,
appears to have been at the “bottom™ of these conspiracies?
finanaing the orgamsations, heeping on pay a large number
of people for months ‘under a conditional compact to come
forward when called for’ and employing as his jamadar
Shakh Ghasita Khahfa® and other rebels 1n Ins service®
Of Lutfal 1t was stated that he had been actually engaged 1n the
plot of 1846.7 with Khawaja Hussamnali Khan, a police jama-
dar, m Tichut® In Patna, the fauzadan nazim, Ali Hussain
was taken nto custody for having harboured an absconder ¢
Al Kanm, a zamindar of the Bihar district, who had great
nfluence also in Saran and Tirhut, was considered to be
the chief mstigator of the conspiracy, and two thousand rupees
were offered for his arrest The magistrate of Patna reported
on 28 June that if the maulav: intended to make a disturbance
he would get plenty of followers 7 His property was attached
fis jamadar, a man named Warisili, went to the gallows m
the name of the king of Delh: @

The rebellion at Patna encouraged many people to take
sides agamnst the Bntish 20 The names of many prominent persons
who were believed to be disaffected might be recovered from
stray references m the official papers Maulavi Mehadi s re
peatedly mentioned as one such ! Imamuddm and Kashim
Sheikh, zamindars ltving some twenty-four mules from Patna,!
Ahmedullah,’® one of the three wahabi leaders arrested
1 Patna Collectorate Records 486 of 1857, FP v, App B, 70
1¥P v, App B, 26 27T, 751, 86
SFP v, 17,1, 129
¢ Patna Collectorate Records Nos 471, 506, 561, 645 of 1857
S ¥P v, App B 86,90 For the plot in Bihar in 184546, see Dr K b Dutt2
the Journal of the Bihar Research Society, vol xl, part 3, 1954
$FP v, App B, 2] Patna Collectorate Records Nos 446 470 499 of 1857
tFP v, App B, 91,68, App A 21 23, 35f, 50, 90f, TP v, 88, 1x, 378
* Patma Collectorate Records No 495 of 1857
® The Red Pomphlet, 177, Parhamentary Papers (Lords), vol xw, p 3
19 FP v, 2, 11f, 16§

WFP v 3, App A, 28 He came from Saran
1 ¥P v, 165 App B, 20
BFP v, App A, 45

5
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by Tayler, Sheikhmullah, Mahabatali* and Fyazali, whose
property was attached, Makun Singh and hjs son Bisheswar
Singh? and Jitanlal, are similarly represented as active rebels.?

In Saran, in the Patna Division, the factories of Baburam and
those of Macleod? were plundered and a large concentration
of rebels numbering about six to seven thousand strong con-
fronted colonel Rowcroft on 26 Decomber 1857, The commo-
tion felt in the district in anticipation of the arrival of Kunwar
Singh indicated the temper and mood of the people. Waves
of disaffection also flowed through Champaran and Tirhut. In
Muzaffarpur, the chief station of Tirhut, the situation was
very tense and though the zamindars, traders and baukers of
Tirhut were on the side of order and helped the government
in all possible ways, the mutinous sepoys received the direct
or indirect support of the people.

Shahabad is bounded on the north by the Ganges, on the
east by the Son, on the west by the Karmanasa, and on the
south transversely by the hilly districts of Mirzapur. In this
country the Bihar rebels found their focus. Here they
combined and fought for a long time under the inspiring
teadership of Kunwar Singh, the veteran old rajput, and
other members of his illustrious house. After the rising
at Dinapur on 25 July the mutinecrs rushed to Arrah where

LFP. v, 175 Patna Collectorate Records No. 352 of 1857.
* Patna Collectorate Records Nos. 33, 832 of 1857,
3 The following are ako mentoned 23 rebels:—Maksudali, Md. Munir,

Yasufali, Muhinullah, Khoda Baksh, Maulavi Wazul Hag, Mansurali, Kashim
Sheikh and many others (FP. v, App. B. 910, 20-22, 83, 92; ix, 128f, 400). Very
interesting is the case of Sahebalam Sultan or Trmur Airza who was detained ns
a prisoner in the Mithapur joil. He passed himsell off as a Persian Shahazada,
Tt was ascertained that he was in touch with the kakim of the Bettiah raja.
The fokim was under strong suspicion of disaffection (FP. v, 401).

Some other rebels of Bihar casually moticed in official papers are Sotoraja
(FP. vi, 20), Judthar Singh (FF. ix, 8) and the taja of Nurpur (FP. ix, 139). &
long corespohdence centres round the attitude of the widow of e late Mod-
natayan Stngh who was adding to the fortifications of Tikari (Gaya) which
caused alarm to the government (FP. vii, 91). Tikari lies to the northwest of Gaya
o the road across the Son river to Arrah. There was also a road through It to
Dinapar, The rani of Tikari, however, jusiified he action on grounds of defnce
againgt marauding soldicrs who scaured the country (FP. ix, 136, 344, 507).
Sce FP, ix, 473-82 for  long list of the rebels.

4 FP, vif, 25-26. .
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they joined Kunwar on the 27th and completely ransached
the civil establishments,

KUNWAR LEADS THE REVOLT

On 7 June, W. Tayler, the commussionerof Patna received
an alarming ntimation from Dinapur apprehending a nse
of the sepoys of that station and a descent upon Patna.! The
Dinapur sepoys actually addressed a letter to the Bihar station
guard urging them to seize the treasury and join in a revolt
before the Sihh corps had armed. The letter was delivered up
by 2 singular act of fidehty.* The situation was critical and
according to Tayler 1t was obvious that excitement prevailed
everywhere® By the muddle of June the British officers in
eastern India, nearly all of them, entertained a vague feehng
that the Dinapur troops, who came mostly from the distnct
of Shahabad, would soon follow their compatrots in upper
India They had also a presentiment that such an outbreak
would be accompanied by risings in other parts of Bihart
Panic seized the Buropeans at Shahabad some of whom even
left the station, This conduct on their part was visited with
displeasureS by the commussioner. But Tayler himself was feel-
ing uneasy about the situation which was very similar
nature to what he had brought to the notice of the government
two years back He adopted various precautionary measures
for the defence of Patna and other out-stations.® Thezamindars
were warned of their duties and responsibilities under act
xvit of 1857 to bnng to the nouce of the government all
Instances of sedition and contumacy.? On 18 June he reported
to Halliday, the heutenant-governor of Beagal, that open

1FP v (App A), 13 Halls says that the snmation was recerved on 8 June
(Tiwo Months i Arrah, 11)

1 Letter No 223, dated 13 June, 1857. W Tayler to the secretaty to the govern-
ment of Beny

3 Tavler's letter 1o the secretary, 14 June (FP, v, App A, 17)

AFP v,83(App A) Report by the magstrate of Tirhut; 57. ReportbyH C
Wake, magstrate of Shahabad, 18 June

$ Ihid 12
" pbid 13,
TFP. v (App A), 6
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plundering was going on in the Ghazipur Doab, and that
the people of all the districts to the west of Chapra also
were in revolt. He underfined the gravity of the sitmation
further in thesc words:

These are not light matters, and if you could hut see the daily letters
that pour in asking me for instructions. ...you would sec what a
difficult game I have to play.t

Indeed, Tayler’s communications of this period leave this
impression that the government was forewarned about the
impending crisis. The idea was widely prevalent that the
English rule was drawing to its close, even the coolics talked
of the Shah of Delhi. Captain Rattray’s Sikhs while marching
through a town were abused as Christians by the people who
showed evident signs of sulky disaffection.? The condition of
Shahabad, Kunwar’s home district, was alarming in the
cxtreme. Wake, the magistrate, reported that the district was
swarming with insurgents and rcferred in particular to the
population of the country, the Bhojpuri men, who were
essentially martial by temperament. As the high road up-
country lay straight through Shahabad the situation gave
particular cause for anxiety.® The people of the sub-division
of Barh also were found to be both turbulent and disaffected.?

These symptoms of disaffection notwithstanding, Tayler had
his own reasons to think differently of Kunwar Singh who was
widely suspected to be in a state of contumacy. In various
communications, the magistrate of Shahabad repeatedly
brought to Tayler’s notice the conduct of Kunwar as capable,
by his great influence, of giving help or joining the mutinous
sepoys in the event of their rise. He was, it was pointed out,
liable to particular suspicion from the numerous reports spread
regarding him since the beginning of the outbreak. His pecu-
liar position as the ruined owner of vast estates who would
become supreme in the district on the occurrence of disorder
tended to single him out as the destined leader of the upsurge.

L FP, (App. A, 17
* 1bid. 20,

3 FR. v (App. A.), 57, 63
<¥P.v (App. B), 220,
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It was also represented that under the existing system of faw
or order he could barely find the means to pay the snterest
of s debts and naturally he wag supposed to be interested
m the subversion of the Present order  Consequently, the
magistrate of Shihabad continued 1o watch Kunwar nar-
rowly Wake was quite emphaue 1n lus views He further
observed

1 do think that, should these dustrets be ever the scene of a senous
outbreak, he may take 1t mto his head that it 3s tume to strike a blow
for his own interests, and hus feudal miflaence 15 such as to render
hin exceedingly dangerous 1n such an event

But Tayler would say that his personal friendship for lum
and the attachment he had always shown lim enabled lum
confidently to contradict the repart 2 On 23 July, two days
before the mutiny at Dinapur had broken out, he statedin 2
convineing manner that despite the Arrah magistrate’s appre-
hension that Kunwar was 1n commumecation with the 40th
regument at Dinapur,® he cauld not, to hus hnowledge, cast
the same 1mputation, on the ‘honourable and straight forward
character’ of Babu Kunwar Singh He valued most Kunwir's
feclings of personal fnendship for um Tayler admtted that
i the present context when the wisest caleulations had been
baflied and the firmest confidence betrayed, his atutude of
abiding trust tn Kunwar would be the height of miscalcula-
tion, yet he could not help being convinced of Kunwar
Singl's fealty and good fath  Moreover, as he judged 1t

“The raja’s interests are so much bound up with the British government
that there 15 little fear of his jomung n any treasenable desgns ¢

It 15, therefore, cvident that Tayler disagreed with the views
of Wale 1 considenng the rained condition of Kunwar as &
likely cause for the revolt of that chief Even on 26 July when
mayor general Lloyd mformed Tayler that Kunwar at the
head of the mutinous troops and thousands of Bhojpunans vas
advaneng to attach Arxah, the latter remamned unmoved

LFP v (App B) 2728 Wake s letter to the secretary dated 19 July 1857
TFP v (App A) 11

* Halls Tuwo Months, etc, 27

SFP v (App B) M2
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Whilc. acknowledging that it wwould be unwise to place implicit
trust in any Indian at that critical time, he doubted whether
Kunwar was at all meditating any such adventure and still
believed that he would repair to Patna to prove his loyalty.
When, however, no doubt remained as to the participation of
Kunwar in the revolt, Tayler expressed the belief that the
raja possibly had been compelled to join in spite of himself and
also had been encouraged to some extent by the success of
the rebels.2

Nor was this attitude entirely untenable. From the constant
expressions of layalty received from Kunwar Singh to the very
Jast moment and his known leaning to European society, it
was difficult to belicve that be meditated treason. Kunwar’s
letters to Tayler were full of cordial expressions. He was said
1o have assured him of any assistance that lay in his power.®

But the contemporary view of the whole affair according to
the Calcutta Englishman was that Kumvar Singh wasa privy to
the mutiny of troops at Dinapur. That Daily sedulously circu-
lated reports that one of the most extensive Shahabad land-
bolders, babu Kunwar Singh who was a bankrupt, had joined
the mutineers in the hope of repairing his fortune. For a long
time before the mutiny took place, he, it was said, had been in
touch with the scpays, and enticing them to rise and proceed to
Arrah where they would reccive money and employments. It
was also believed that he had assembled a large force of some
thousands of his rajput tenants in the Chitaura jungle which
was known to the authorities.! Nor were the official sources
reticent on this point, H. C. Wake of Shahabad shared the
current idea of his treasonable intentions, that he was sending
cmissarics in ali directions, and calling on his ryots to be
ready to attend him on the first summons. He also referred
to one captain Hastings who was reported to have declared
on the evidence of a trustworthy agent that Kunwar Singh was

1FP. v (App. B.), 149, Rajani Kanta Gupta wirites that Kunwar Singh was
not at beart a rebel (Sipahi Tuddher Jiihas vol. iv; pp. 238-9)

*FP. v (App. B, 150.
3 FP. v, (App. A), 22, 61,
< The Englishman, 4 August, 1837,
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collecting arms and men! The collector of Tirhut was in-
formed that Kunwar was the man who had been selected by the
Dinapur sepoys as their raja 2 Gubbins of Lucknow also quotes
major V. Eyre to establish his comphaty m the outbreak
According to lum Kunwar had taken leading part m mstga-
ting the revolt On heanng of the approach of the Buxar force,
he, 1t was aileged, summoned to standard by beat of tom-tom
i every village, not only the sepoys, then on leave, nearly
nme different regiments, but also the pensioned sepoys of
government, several hundreds of whom obeyed the call 3
But all these were not rchable information against the raja,
and Tayler attached no credit to them He could not forget the
prvate assurances that Kunwar Singh had sent him of hus great
personal regard for the c and attach to the
government To put lum to test, however, Tayler senthis
agent to him ntimating the suspicions entertammed aganst
hm and directing lum to repair in person to Patna to give
an account of himself On 19 July syed Azzmuddin Hussain,
the deputy-collector of Arrah, was at the same time directed
to scrutimse everything connected with and about Kunwar
and to submut a confidential report regarding 1t to the commus-
sioner Azimuddin visited him, and found him lying on bed
He pleaded extreme sickness, and added that bemg old and
mfirm he was unable to take the journey to Patna at that
stage He was profusc in s expressions of loyalty and good
will and utterly demed having any intention of playing the
commussioner false Kunwar was certainly 1ll, but the repres
sive measures adopted by Tayler at Patna might have produced
consternation and 1t was possible that his counsellors had advised
him not to tahe the rsk  Azimuddin’s report was favourible
to Kunwar Singh, who, however, did not mahe his appearance
at Patna The secret enquiry made 1 hus estate did not ehicit
mformation as to his preparatons for revolt Nor was
there any reason to suppose that lus people were particularly
disaffected It was of course well known that should he raise

1¥P v, (App B) 9293 The letter 15 undated {Inclosure 227) but it appears
to have been addréssed on 25 July

3 Ind 339

¥ Gubbawns  The mutinies 1 Oudh 545
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the standard of revolt his people would follow him as their
feudal chieftain, but beyond this nothing was ascertained.!

The whole episode was interpreted by the officials to mean
that Kunwar having been guilty to a certain extent of plotting,
suspected a trap in the commissioner’s summons, and either
cajoled or deceived the agent. Some even questioned the
bonafides of Azimuddin, stating that he connived at the con-
tumacy of the raja and let him slip out, This aspect of the
question assumed considerable significance as many letiers
were published in the Engliskman impugning his conduct. It
may be remembered that Azimuddin gave proofs of rare
fidelity during this time and was onc of the besieged in the
fort2 In defence of his good name the Patna deputy-collector
published 2 letter in a local daily refuting all the charges
levclled against him. The letter rumning to great length
shows critical insight and understanding of a difficult question.
Very convincingly he exculpates Kunwar Singh of all suspicion
of his alleged contumacy on the ground that he made payments
to his creditors in the months of May and June, that he did
not lay by a supply of war. Besides this Azimuddin was sur-
prised as to how a man who was pennyless could afford to
make preparations to go to war. Indeed, as he says,

1 could elicit nothing by secret enquiry which might warrant the
conclusion that Kumwar was making sccret preparations for a
revolt?

This view of the situation was entirely at variance with the
one held by Wake, the magistrate of Arrah. On 29 January,
1858, he submitted a report to the commissioner of Patna
of which the following excerpt js relevant to the issue:

The information I have received Jeaves no possible room for doubt
that Kooer Singh had for some time been planning the rebellion and
was only waiting for the Dinapur Regiments. 1 am inclined to
ateribute the full to the cfforts made by him to keep the Rajputs
quiet until the proper moment arrived and the good behaviour of the
lower castes to the promise of license feld out to them when the

1¥P.v, 5, 38.
* Halls, Tio Montls, cte. 38«
3 The Englishman, 20 November, 1857
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outbreak should occur Thus view of the case 13 not so flattering to
myself but T am convinced that this 18 the nght one
1 know that there 15 an 1dea prevalent that Kooer Singh's treason
was not premeditated, but I am certamn that for three months at least
he was only biding hus ume There 15 or ought to be 1n the com
’s office an y petition, from a man who would
not come forward by me to Mr Tayler, the late commussioner, detail
g the whole of the Baboo's plans and preparations and even the
date (the 25th July) on which the Dmapur Regiments would
mutiny This was forwarded by me I think a week before the meetings
and every word m 1t proved true !

The results of any further investigations on the hne arc not
recorded m the official papers Wake's statement carnies the
weight of the personal conviction of a very capable offieial who
had scen cnough of the mutiny but 1t does not prove the case
against Kunwar The report which appeared 1n the papers
that Kunwar was exasperated because his Arrah house had
been searched, his dewan Kalprasad apprehended and all
his papers seized as a conseq of which ke neg 1 with
the sepoys, does not explain the 1ssue 2 Azimuddin’s statement
1s more circumstantial and has the ment of an objectivity ofout
look Further, Kunwar Singh 1s smd to have declared at Arrph
that he had been compelled to assist the mutineers 2 Reports
about the compulsive means adopted by the sepoys and others
to secure the participation of Kunwar were by no means less
wellknown 4 The deposiion of Nishan Singh, one of the
principal heutenants of Kunwar,® 15 quoted by many wniters
on the subject to show that Kunwar was actually forced to
jom the mutinous sepoys This supports the theory of Azim-

1No 28 of 29 January 1858 (Patna file) The “anonymous petition 83
mentioned i Vvake s report possibly refers to the anonymous commupication
which Halls says was found on the table in the yudges office on the 17th The
letter stated that Ahkanm the noted leader of Gaya had arrved at fagd pur
and that hunwar Singh was concerned m the intended nmng of tle sy
which was certam to take place on 25 July On gettng the clue the govers
ment searched the house of Kunwars Afrah agent halipratad, but no
munatory evidence was found (Tuo Afonths, cte, 33 34)

* The Englishman, 14 Avgust, 1857

* Inud

4 Rajam kanta Gupta, Sipahs Yuddher Inhas vol. v, 2147

§K k Data 1n Patna University Journal (vol v, 195¢ Some Newly
Duscovered Records)
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udr'iin that the mutiny took him by surprise. Yet, the way in
which Kunwar identified himself with their cause and the
saddenness with which his retainers joined him refutes
Azimuddin’s version of the case. Again Wake's arguments
against the theory of Tayler, later on rcinforced by Samuells,
that financial difficulties lay at the root of Kunwar Singh’s
revolt have some basis, to be sure, The picture that emerges
out of thesc official exchanges is still very scrappy and does
not either prove or disprove Kunwar’s complicity in bringing
to a head the revolt in Shahabad.

There were signs of mutiny in the three regiments at Dinapur
carly in the morning of 25 July, but general Lloyd, instead of
attacking them at the instant, preferred giving them time (4l
4 p.m.) to consider whether they would give up the magazine,
The sepoys, however, employed that time in removing their
familics, and filling their pouches with full ammunition and in
sneaking off westward. At 2 p.m. the European pickets
abserved some extraordinary movement of the sepoys, and
immediately gave the signal, The general ardered the advance
of the guns, but he proceeded himself on board the stearer,
and there was, therefore, no one in the cantonment to give
order, The result was that the mutineers walked off quictly and
it was not before they were a mile and more away that the guns
opened on them with round shot which had no effect.
Two companies of mutineers took 1o boats with the inten-
Gon of calling in at Patna, but the Lady Thackwell which
was on her upward trip with the artillery steamed up, and
sank five boats. The queen’s 37th rifles also did considerable
execution from the shore.!

The Dinapur mutineers fired everything on both sides of the
Son. Burn and Company’s bungalow at Sudaspur was looted,
their property at Dumrinalla was burnt down and their
house at Arrah was later on used as barracks by the rebels.
A heap of coal on the west side of the Son, about sixty thou-
sand maunds, was set on fire in several places. The ruin was
complete and the conflagration extended over the entire
country from Son to Buxar which passed jnto the hands of the

1¥P. iv, 20.
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rebels 1 The mutineers, the 7th and 8th, carrted thewr colours
with them, beating the big drums as they went They crossed
the Son on the mght of the 25th, and the whole of the next
day in small boats which Kunwar Singh, 1t was said, had in
readiness at the Jaunpuna ghat On both sides of the nver
they burmnt all the rallway bndge works and marched un
molested onward to Arrah? As they went on they were
Jomned by the people of Naramnpur and Nasratpur villages and
plundered and set fire to Nansagar factory of Dr d

On 27 July at about 8 am the whole of the 7th, 8th, and
40th entered Arrah The official reports state quite clearly that
when the troops reached the station they were led by Kunwar
Singh® and were jotned by a number of lus men The sepoys
repeatedly declared that they were acting under his express
orders and he was actually seen on the parade and remaimed
during the siege The insurgents released the prisoners, rushed
to the collectorate and looted the treasury amounting to eighty-
five thousand rupees The new building for the use of the
records and the civil courts along with the whole of the papers
and books were destroyed Every bungalow was looted and
almost all property burnt They then attacked the bungalow
which Boyle, the resident ralway engmneer, had fortified 4
The defenders numbered sixteen gentlemen and fifty Rattray’s
Sikh police 5 One redeeming feature of these disturbances
which Wake recorded 1n his report was that except 1n the case
of the soldiers retreanng from Arrah there was no cold
blooded assassmation of Europeans 8

Intellgence was obtained 1n the Brutish arcle that Kunwar
Singh was acting as the raja and that he had levied a contrt
bution of five lakhs of rupees on the mahajans and the rich
people In the rebel government established, Harkishan Stngh

1 Dinapur correspondent of The Englishman, 3 August 1857
# Most of the mu«m:::}xl carried ten pounds of ;m";',uﬂfm" cacz bx;: c:-:n!y
enough caps to discharge them It was said that m Arrah they were firn;
pmygs copl;fcr comage which they found in the treasury (The Engliskman, 4 August
857)

1Fp v 21,23, v(App B) 149 s <t
1FP v {App B) 227 333 Report by H C Wake, Halls Tioo 415 e
25 Accnl‘dmgptg Ha)ll the msurgents looted the ‘treasury of 70 000 rupees (p 39

§ The Englishman 13 August 1857 Letter of Boyle,
¢ No 28 of 29 January 1858 Patna File
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was appointed wazir, and Ghulam Ahya, a vakil of the civil
court, superintendent of police. Another vakil Aminuddin
occupied a prominent position in the court. He was most
active in making great guns and powder for blowing up
the Arrah fort. Former employces of the government
were appointed to offices of trust The attitude of the
raja of Dumraon was not clearly demonstrated. He was
suspected to be an assoctate of Kunwar, but others
believed that he was not guilty.? The raja eventually bolted
away in panic before the troops arrived at Buxar. He fled
with his family to Surajpur on the night of 28 August,
for fear of an attack from Kunwar Singh3 But the rebellion
was universal. No doubt was entertained by the authorities
regarding the nature of the upsurge in Shahabad which had
affected all classes and so the magistrate recommended
wholesale burning and destruction of all villages.* Seven to ten
thousand men arose as if by magic in Shahabad.® The war-like
population of the rajput villages headed by brave chieftains
were on the side of the rebellion. Wake says that as the mutiny
came, every chief on Kunwar Singh’s estates as well as
numbers of the lower classes, joined his standard. The police
fied in every direction and the government remained sub-
verted.®

The basic feature of the rebellion in Shahabad is reflected
in the sholesale destruction of European property effected
by the rebels. The report published in the Englishman
of Galcutta on the position of the planters during this crisis
receives support from the official accounts of the disturbances.
Kunwar, it is said, seat orders for the destruction of European
property. The indigo planters after having laid out all the
expense of the scason were at that time just ready to reap the
crop, but they were obliged to abandon their property. Tt was
estimated that the expected crop of indigo in the different

\ Thr Englichman, 4 August, 17 November, 1857,

* FP. v, 407,

* The Englishman, 11 Septeruber, 1857.

& NE. i, 14: Narrative (No. 24) to 12 Scptember, 1857
§ Halls, Tico Months, etc., 77-

# No. 28 of 23 January 1638, op. it
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factones 1 Shahabad would total three thousand three
hundred and fifty maunds wiich at two hundred rupees per
mrupd was worth nearly seven lakhs And 1f the value of
the factories destroyed and burnt 1s included, the total loss
would come to a very considerable amount, not short of
twelve or thirtcen lakhs1 The number of indigo factones of
Shahabnd and of the neighbouring areas burnt by the rebels
or destroyed or looted 1n other ways, 1s can be gathered from
the Dt of compensaton offered to the sufferers gives us - clear
picture of the extent of the conflagration They were the
Gnya and Tarar factories of R Solano, the Bucknar factory in
Shahabad of E Moore, the factory at Buxar of Mathews, pro-
perty of R Palim at hoilwar on the Son, Nowlagar factory m
Shahabad of G Drummond, property of C E Davies m
Shahabad, property of C A D Souza at Arrah, property of
W C Costley at Sasaram, factory of J Grundy and I G
Madzer at Raghurah, the Patsah factory of Miller and the
property of D Rozano One R L Ewing and Jogendra Das
of Arrah also got compensation on account of property lost *
One hundred and minety men of the queen’s 37th were
despatched from Dinwpur at 5 o'cloch on the evemng of the
97th n the Harungata streamer, a troop boat for the rehef of
Arrah They steamed on until 10 o clock 1n the mght when
the vessel got aground 8 In this position they remaned for
about thirty six hours when the Bombgy wns sent from Dinapur
on the morning of the 29th The Bombay took the whole force
now numbenng more than four hundred men under the
command of captan Dunbar She steamed up the nver and
landed the party about twelve mules from Arrah at 4 o’clock
in the nfternoon Captam Harnson of the party says that
they arnved off the point of debarkation and commenced
their march towards Arrah at 7 o'clock i the evemng and
reached without opposition 2 bridge about one mile and &
half distant from Arrah At thus pomnt, the captain represented
to Dunbar the expediency of haltng for the mght but the latter
overruled lam  Hesud thathe had heard from the magistrate of

1 The Englishman 24 August 1857 Dodd of at 345
*NC n 83 191 204 233 234 239 243 263 277 277
*FP w 21
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the improbability of their mecting with any opposition.! From
the bridge-point they began their march upon Arrah. A
false news had meanwhile been reccived by the commanding
officer that the magistrate of Arrah had sent for relief, and
relying on this, Dunbar persisted in pushing on. It was eleven
p.m. and quite dark when they reached as far as the entrance
to the town on Wednesday night, the 29th July. They were
at once fired into from both sides of the road; volley after
volley was poured into them by the unseen rebels who from an
ambush behind a wall, decimated their ranks. The white
dress of the British troops provided excellent targets. According
to lieutenant Waller of the party the Indians were well aware
of the expedition having been sent against them.® There
they remained all night being repeatedly fired upon by the
enemy. The remuants of the British party retreated next
morning, but they were hotly pursued. In consequence they
miserably escaped to Dinapur at mid-day on 30 July, having
lost seven officers and one hundred and eighty four men.® The
rebels hung the dead bodics of the Europeans to trees, took
their enficld rifles, guns and cartridges and all, which many
of them used.? The work was done mostly by the infuriated
villagers who cut up the wounded soldiers into small pieces,
Kunwar’s presence in this action was also reported in the
contemporary papers.?

The ill-fated expedition to Arrah had cast a gloom over
the whole of eastern India. It was considered a disgrace that
with six guns at Dinapur and a European regiment, and
Arrah only twenty-four miles off; the English should remain at
bayfor the moment.® Itsimmediate effect was far-reaching. The
whole of Shahabad was thrown into a terrible turmoil and the
probability of a rising was openly talked about in the bazars of
Sherghati and Dehri.” The najibs of Gaya seized the opportu-

SFP. iv, 23.35. The Engliskonca, 6 August, 1

% The Orerland Brzbay Times, 31 August, 18

+ The Engliskmen, 14 dugust, 22 August, 1837,

* I8id. 14 August. 1657, Therc was a geeat talk of the inefiiciency of some of the
general officers of the mufiny period of Hewitt, of Ponsonby, of Leyd s of thelr
Gounterparts in the Crimean war (T# Ergliskman, 14 August, 1837). Also Richard
Hilton, The Jndicn Mutins, M6.

L iv, 24,

\p. 155,
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mty, released all the jul birds and looted the town Taylers’
memorandum of 31 July depicts a scene of countrywide
commotion, the rebels strengthened from therr Iate success
were in full force, and there was no protection whatsoever for
the English residents? Canming’s esamate of the disdstrous
results which followed the attempt to relieve Arrah indicated
that the cnsis was the gravest of its kind the British had faced
1n eastern India

The peace of the lower provinces along the valley of the Ganges from
Berhampur to Benares and 1n the neighbourhood of the grand trunk
road south of Benares was seriously threatened and the chief sources
of revenue 1n Bengal were also m jeopardy 2

Tears were entertained for the residents of Bhagalpur where
the fifth wregulars were known to be shaky The mutmeers
were likely to make a descent on Gaya and Patna¥ Great
alarm was felt for the capital aty If the rebels were only to
recross the Son after Arrah was taken and make a dash at
Patna marching along the railway line, thus avording Dinapur,
they would have easily annexed the aity, for the commussioner
was known to have deaded to leave Patna tots fate and with-
draw at once to Dimapur Providence protected the Bntsh
from that danger for the majority of the mutineers took the
western rord Had Patna fallen, all channels of communication
with the upper provinces both by land and nver would have
been permanently cut off and all prospects of supporting the
army 1n the North-West provinces would have to begvenup?
The piquancy of this situation drove the commusioner to
adopt the policy of concentratng (31 Juiy} ail the Bntish
strength at Patna and Dmapur This policy of concentration
was much crtticised by the public and also by the government
but to the man on the spot 1t appeared to be the only means of
saving 1solated bodies of Englishmen from the surgmg tides of
revalt The mmpact of the Arrah disaster shattered all feelings

1FP v (App B) 218

2 Foreest Selections 1 (Document) Munute of the governor general of Inda
1n counail dated 2 August, 1857 pp 1689, Also FP v, 12

* The official report of 2 August stated that the troops were madequate to
cope with Runwar who meditated an attack on Patna (FP v 28, App 226)

 The Englishman 14 August, 1857
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of complacency and brought the English to realise the intensity
of the real situation:

‘That the present war is a war of extermination, deliberately planned
and unscrupulously carried out, it is now impossible to deny.

For the time being Kunwar was supreme. He had his spies
at every ghat and had early intellig of all the mo
of the British troops. He also took over all boats to his side of
the river and set a watch over them.? But Wake's defence
of Arrah had greatly improved the position of the British.
They were shut up in a small house, from which the mutineers
tried to burn them out and to blow them up, but all ended in
a fiasco. Hall truly says that few events were more productive
of immediate result during this time of crisis than the successfut
defence at Arrah.8 Meanwhile the British offensive party under
major Eyre left Buxar on the evening of 30 July and pushed
on to Shapur, the next day, where intelligence of the Dinapar
disaster was first reccived. From Shapur, Eyre marched to
Bulowtce, and repaired the bridge which had been cut
through by the rebels, Then he advanced to Gujrajganj. The
rebels were cacountered about a mile from the latter place.
They endeavoured to attack on both flanks but skirmishers
armed with the enficld rifles being sent out, they were put off,
The Indians then hurried round Bibiganj and took up 2
strong position on the other side of the siver behind extensive
earthaworks. Major Eyre made a detour to the right which
was kept concealed by the firc of his guns. But it was soon dis-
covered, and the rebels wha had mustered about two th?usand
and five hundred sepoys occupied a wood through which the
British forces were to pass. The scpoys advanced to the assault
with uncxpected vigour and rushed for the guns. They were
received by showers of grapes. But the Indians launched a
vigorous assault all along the British Lne. .Consc'qut:nﬂy a
charge was ordered and they were speedily driven from
the wood. The country beyond was now all open and Eyre

: .+ Tayler’s letter of 1 Avgust, There is a simifarity of
e, i G T ior ond Hastings. Both were seprimanded and
both languished in concealed sorrow.

#FP.v (App. B), 28%

S EP. iv, 28; Halls, Teeo Mosths, ete. 7.

6.1 eRIM—12
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reached Arrah Kunwar with the mass of hus followers evacu-
ated the place and scattered themsch es 1in different directions,?
mostly towards Jagdispur Ternble retnbution followed The
relicving party of Europeans from Buxar was entirely occuped
mn hanging the rebels On 4 August two hundred Stkhs had
been sent up by the steamer 1o torture the villagers frecly In
Arrah gallows were permanently set up and well supphed
with victims as fast as they could be apprehended? Wale
reported on 7 August that they had burnt eyery willage close to
the town

On 7 Avgust, the Shahabad smagstrate reported that
Kunwar Singh was determuned to hold out at Jagdispur jungle
twelve mules distant from Arrah The jungle was fifteen miles
long and two mules wide Kunwar had sull a large force there
He had good hope of the 65th joming fum and the wregulars
from Sagaul mmght also repair to lus assstance So Eyre
planned to move into Jagdispur® and preparations were well
under way for the intended attack 8 On 12 August Lyre com-
pletely routed the rebel force under Kunwar According to
offimal estmate about three thousand men, of whom one
thous ind and five hundred were scpoys, mustered strong The
action commenced at the village of Dullaur about two or
three mules from Jagdispur, at eleven am There the rebels
made a resolute stand for about an hour They then fell back
upon dense and formidable yungle A running fight vas hept
up to Jagdispur which was secured at 1 o'clock This was
followed by immediate occupation of Kunwar's readence ®
The Joss of the Indsans n hilled and wounded in the battle at
Dullaur on the 12th, exceeded three hundred 7

On the 13th 1t was ascertamed that Kunwar had evacuated fis
stronghold only one hour before the entry of the Britsh force and had

1FP n, 7576 Major Eyre to colonel Cumberlege, Camp near Arraty, 3
August, 1857

Y The Englishman, 14 August 1857

SFP v (App B), 3345

S Tbed

8 Ibsd 418, 06,

SFP 1 91 Report by major Eyre, Kooer Smgh's palace, Jagdugrer, 12
August, 1857

TEP w, 95
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fied in the direction of Jutoora, seven miles south, where he had a
favourite resort in the midst of the jungle. Captain L’Estrange was
despatched with 80 men. On reaching Jutoora they found that
Kunwar had hurried on towards Sassaram with the remains of the
40th N. L., those of the 7th and 8th having proceeded westward in a
state of complete disorganisation, Meanwhile, Major Eyre had
undermined every principal building in Kunwar’s stranghold, includ-
ing a new Hindu temple whereon large sums had recently been
expended. At 2 p.m. on the 15th of August, the mines were sprung;
and the whole was reduced to a heap of ruins. Kunwar had
collected within his walls, stores of grain sufficient to have subsisted
20,000 men for six months. This the neighbouring villagers were
allowed to remove. ....., Large stores of ammunition and material
of war were also found and much miscellancous property.

On the 16th Major Eyre marched in pursuit of Kunwar in the
direction of Sassaram as far as Peerco, ...... it was ascertained
that Kunwar had proceeded via Bijeegurh towards Rewah.!

The act of vandalism committed by the British may best be
described in terms of official correspondence. From Jagdispur
Eyre wrote to the authorities on 14 August to the effect that
he was destroying the town and preparing to blow up the
palace. Further,

To-day I partially destroyed 2 new Hindu temple on which Kooer
Singh had recently lavished large sums; I did this because it is
known that the Brabmins have instigated him to rebellion.

The other officers of the party had destroyed Kunwar’s new
palace at Juturah and set fire to the residences of Amar Singh
and Dayal Singh.2 But the destruction of 2 temple was con-
sidered to be impolitic at that time and Sir Colin hastened to
write severe reproafs in the following words:

........ but regrets to have to disapprove of the destruction of the
Hindu temple at Jagdispur by Major Eyre, under a mistaken view
of the duties of 2 commander at the present crisis.

The imperial interests of the British demanded that they

1 Account of the Relicf of Arrah, dictated by major V, Eyre and quoted in
Gubbins, The Mutinies in Oudh, 545-7. For other officiol accounts of the
expeditian see FP. iv, 92-9%

* FP. iv, 95.

s FB.iv, 111
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should be more careful now than ever before, not towound the
susceptsbilities of the Hindus Orders for the procurement
of bultocks by local officials in comphance with the d d
of the commissanat were ssmilarly visited with extreme annoy-
ance by the government

Bemng thus, expelled from the jungle fastness of Jagdis-
pur m the middle of August, Kunwar Singh left Bihar and
eventually attacked Cawnpore® But the rebelhon of the
people of Shahabad continued under the mspinng leaderstup
of Amar Singh who 1nstilled fresh wigour and enthumasm
into the masses and attracted to his colours people from
across the Ganges Protected by dense jungles they carned
on a long desultory war with varying degrees of intensity,
and even obtained temporary possession of Sasaram, Rhotas,
and raided Gaya and Arrah in the period from June
to October 1858 The country returned to normal condihons
after more than a year’s strenuous struggle 2

Besides Amar Singh the brother of Kunwar Singh, and
Harkishan Singh, his tahsildar, the other members of his fanuly
who threw in their lot with mm were his nephews, Ripubhan-
Jan Singh and Mahabirprasad Singh and his friend, Nishan
Singh 3 Some unpublished letters of Brodhurst, the magts-
trate, refer to Sheoparshan Singh, Judhar Singh, Udit
Singh, Bhanjan Singh, Bhola Singh as rebels for whose appre
hension rewards were offered 4 Another such letter refers to
Dilwar Khan and Sarnam Singh® as close associates of Kun-
war® Some zamindars of Shahabad named Narhan Singh,

1See Appendix E The Histonie March of hunwar Singh

2 See chapter v

# For a description of these leaders by H G, Wake the magutrate of Arrah
sce s correspondence dated 12 January, 1858 in Appendix F The accounlzr
he gives of Nishan Smgh completely agrees with that given by the rebe] himae]
10 June [858 1n the statement taken before he was biown awiy ffom & goxr ::;7
June (h K. Datta :n Patra Umversity Journal) For the part p!cgel ¥
Ranadalan Singh and Hare Krshna Singh 1n_exciting hunwar to reiolt see
Rajam hanta Gupta Sipaht Tuddher Inhas, 1, 2150

4 Office of the Commussioner of Patna, No 113 of 17 Augst, 1858

*FP w1, 195, 1x, 344 "

¢ hunwar s relatives were also Pmmm:nt rebels His daughter was n,;”ﬂ]
1o the son of Rana Beumadho of Sankarpur (Martn op at,497), “rd ;
Jagannath Sa:i the eldest son of Thakur Kaplnath Sa of Sulm Lohat ,25:
married the daughter of Dayal Singh, hus brother (Appendx F House of
war Sungh) ¢
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Juhan Singh, Bisheswar Singh also made common cause with
him.! The followers of Kunwar Singh at Shahabad were not
of the military classes, city rabble and the refuse of the jail
only but mostly the warlike population of rajput villages, feudal
retainers, and government pensioners.

GAYA

There was a general feeling of disquiet in Gaya even before
the actual outbreak. The mutiny at Dinapur and the subse-
quent rebellion at Shahabad threw the whole country into 2
ferment. The peremptory order of Tayler, the commissioner
of Patna, on 31 July, directing the magistrate of Gaya to
withdraw to Patma was panicky and the people readily took
advantage of this. They raided the record rooms and cutcheries.
The re-occupation of Gaya on 16 August,did not improve the
situation, for the British were left without anything to fall back
upon in the event of a combination of strength.? A large part
of the district passed out of the control of the government; the
western parganas such as Arwal, Uncha and part of Sirs were
forayed with impunity by the Bhojpuri rebels who held the
out-posts and controlled the roads. Noada in the cast was also
similarly affected; rujwars and zamindars combined to destroy
British rule utterly, the pathans of mahal Marundapoa of Gaya
took patt in the plunder and scven hundred of them were
imprisoned.® The magistrate faced a grave situation and he was
instructed to draw upon raja Hitnarayan Singh for current
expenses.d

Several leaders arose whose subversive activities caused

1 A writer in BPP. (vol. Iiiv, Part i, p. 114), refers o Nishan Singh and
Jai Kishan Singh as nephews of Kunwar.

2 Samucll's lettcr dated 20 August, 1857, The magistrate of Gaya was ins-
tructed to refite, in case of emergency by @ route deemed safe by military
authorities. He was warned nat to issue any proclaniation unless he was in a
pesition o enforce compliznce with is order (Papers of the Gaya Gollectorate,
No. 812 of 1857).

3 7he Englishman, 17 November, 1857.
4 Gaya Collectorate papers, No. 775 of 1858.
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consternation to the authorities, They were Namadar Khan
of Amruthu, Mawa Singh of Amama, Bishan Singh and lus
son Rambahadur Singh and maulavi Sultan Hussun?! The
disturbances created by Hyderalh Kbhan to take possession of
the Rajgir pargana were of greatimport and rescmbled arebel-
lion 1n the opunion of A, Moncy, the magistrate In his taal
under actxvi of 1857, prosecution evidence showed that he had
collected a large body of armed men, proclaimed himself raja
and dnven away all government servants.? The force sent to
overpower him met with a soff resistance from his followers
who fought fiercely crying, ‘Hyderali raja’ evidently recaling
the glory of the rule of the Mysore king. He was hanged and
many of s followers punished with hard labour.® Another
leader, Judhar Singh of Arwal too on the north-western boun-
dary of the distnict, play ed animportant role. When the fifthirre-
gular attached Gaya on8 Septeraber, he jomned hands with them.
Captain Rattray suffered a defeat at their hands. The sepoys
then marched west towards the Son and Judhar Singh helped
them 1n crossing the nver. With the aid of us Bhojpun men,
he held a domunant posiion 1n the north and west of the
district. He set up lus own rule malung grants of land and
even whole villages to s followers 4 Hiisown house at Khamint
svas strongly fortified and adequately garnsoned and attempts
to take 1t 1n the early part of October were repulsed 5 Batish
rule in that part of the distnct was scriously threatened when
in June 1858, the Shahabad rebels crossed the Son with the
intention of attacking the fort of Tihan ¢ They plundered the
villages near Arwal and also the f{actaries belongng to the
Solano family The city of Gaya was also threatened, but
depredations were confined to the north of the thana of
Jahanabad which was sacked. Judhar Sigh who jomed hands

1 Gaya Collectorate papers, No 852 of 1857

SFP v,62, v, 4 e D

3 FP ix, 23 The followers were Md Baksh, Puran Padhya, Daudali, Dban,
Sidhtial, Bhuttodosad, Shona Ragwar, Jangh ahar, Sheih Jmat, Sukun
Padhya, Deyan Rayywar

4FP v, 14,20

 See supra, p 42 . oiid

& See chapter v The report of A R Young that Judhar Smgh was wn
the skmmshtg at Hetampur in Shahabad n the carly part of May 1858 (FP
1x, 564) 13 muleading
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with the Shahabad rebels, maintained himself in power for a
considerable time but he was overthrown on 4 July, 1838.
Later on, towards the end of the year, he moved to Palamau
in aid of the rcbels and caused dismay in the British circles.

The movement at Wazirganj, fourtcen miles to the east of
Gaya, was led by the villagers themsclves. Some fourteen
villages of that area were united under Kushal Singh, a ticadar
of many villages who < 2 position of independence and
raised a flag. The report of Bayley, the assistant magistrate of
Bihar, from the camp on 4 January, 1838, shows that an
organised attack was made on the British power, by all the
villagers in the union, a combination of some two hundred
men. There were other lcaders besides Kushal Singh, namely
Jamuna Singh and one Indra Singh, the rebel leader of
Wazirganj who proclaimed the fall of the ‘English raj’ and
prevailed upon the dikandars (shop-keepers) and baniyas to
sign a bond (sarkhatt) not to pay dues to their erstwhile masters.
The village of Khuaka was the strongest centre of disaffection
where Kushal Singh proclaimed his rule.?

CHOTANAGPUR DIVISION

This mountainous country lies between southern Bihar,
western Bengal, Orissa and Central provinces. It was inhabited
by aboriginal tribes such as kols, mundas, bhumij and others.
Its chief military stations were Hazaribagh, Ranchi, Chaibasa
and Purulia. The infection of revolt spread to all these places
as a sequel to fhe rising at Divapur. The military at Hazari-
bagh revolted on 30 July, 1857, the Ramgarh battalion on 1
August, the infantry and artillery at Lohardaga on 2 August,
and the detachment of the Ramgarh troops of Purulia on 5
Augaust. The cycle was complete and the whole country to the
south of Gaya was up in arms.

3 Infia, pp. 1856, »

2 DG. 38.39; BPP, vol. Ixiv, part If, pp. 1279. Many landed
dﬁ&?cg??;m ‘m Bcazali Khan, the raja of mahal Murapur, raja Mehdalt
Khan of Stmmi pargava (FP, ix, 552), raja Husainbaksh Khan of Nuthat
pargana and raja Ji Kban also d against the
government.
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PALAMAU

Palamau took the lead 1n the cvil upsurge, It was a formsd-
able stranghold of two brothers, Nilambar and Pitambar, the
tlakadars of tappa Chwmulam 1 They swere bhogtas, a
class of the kharwar tnbe noted for its turbulent spint The
two brathers had an account to settle with the government
which had dispossessed them of the propnetary clams to
their own estates owing to the contumauous conduct of their
father who died 25 an outlaw To carry out their designs, they
employed the Ramgarh mutmeers m ther service2 When
marching north towards Shahabad to effect 2 juncture
posstbly with Amar Singh these mutimeers were confronted by
maor Enghsh at Chatra to the north of Hazambagh on 2
October The rebel troops numbenng three thousand were
completely routed Ths defeat no doubt prevented the
combimation of the Indian forces but the progress of the
rebellion was not checked 3

A government report of 27 October indicated that the
kharwars and the chero s, the two aboriginal tribes of Chota-
nagpur, had coalesced and made common cause under the
direction of Pitambar and Nilambar They assembled near
Chainpur 1n Shahabad where they were marauding 4 Their
number was estimated at two thousand men But 1 the next
month the commissioner of Patna reported that Palamau was
threatened by these rebel tribes numberning five or six
thousand They were armed and very powerfully disposed
In the early part of November Pitambar Sa: was agamn reported
to be at Ranka 1n Palamau with four thousand bhogtas ®

The successful assault on the fort of Palamau on 2} January,
1858, by captain Dalton had not the desired effect The papers
sexzed therein showed that the rebels were sustamned i ther
struggle by assstance from Amar Smgh and his redoubtable

1¥P 1x, 123, 172, 182 3, 186, 371, 553

*FP x 371, 361, 390, 395,402 3

2 Malleson, n, 140-01, FP v, 76, vu 103, 105
4FP i, 377

$FP xx, 136

SFP i, 183



brother Kunwar.! In other operations of February 1858, the
headquarters of the rebel brothers were captured and full
retaliation was exacted for all their proceedings, their villages
being  totally destroyed, their estates confiscated and
their supporters captured and exccuted. In the middle of
March 1858, offensive was resumed against Pandey Ganpat
Rai of Bhaunro, the former dewan of the maharaja of Choto-
nagpur, and Thakur Biswanath Sal of Barkargarh, an im-
portant landlord of Lohardaga.? They entrenched themselves
with their followers in the Nawagarh hills, and closed the ghats
to obstruct military movement. They carried on plundering
activities in Chotanagpur, burning the thana at Barwa but
when they started an attack on the town of Lobardaga they
were baulked in their attempt. Thakur Biswanath Sai was
hanged on 16 April and Pandey Ganpat met a similar fate
on 21 April,? their estates comprising ninety-one villages cach
were attached.

But the chiel leaders, Nilamber and Pitamber, managed
to escaped with their families. The Old English Correspondence
in the office of the commissioner of Ranchi,? gives us a detailed
picture of the arduous sumggle that followed between the
rebels and the British offensive led by Davis. Davis commenced
his march towards the end of October, 1838. In November he
found the rebels quite strong collecting provisions which they
secured in safe places. Early in December a leader, Bhaikumar
Sai, wes apprehended and his uncle wwho had helped the rebels
with provisions was atrested. The report of 3 December runs
that on 26 November Judhar Singh with nine hundred men

INE. i, 189: Special Narrative, Goverament of Bengal, Judicial Department,
No. TE, dated 15 February, 1836,

+FP. v, 48, App. B, 4761 ix, 1715, 173, 186, 405, 413, 481

TP, ix, 555, Biswanath Dubey and Mahipnarayan Sai were the principsl
agents \\-13; ;uscd the two leaders to be mpsu!l:dn. It ]3—5( pfopostd (hatj(h:y

ed with @ jegir in ut Dalton’s

:lhtgt:'!sdﬁ?:t 'E:A;:ms“:mo piodg:c:d Ganpat Rai would not touch the reward
vy for his apprehiension (7 ke Old Englth Corespondrce in the office of the
Commissioner of Renchi, No. 83, & No. 14, 1080-R41D).

Py f th s £ Ranchi

& The Ol English Cornespordence in_the office of fhe commissioner _of
comtonon &iemfn: of, Jf’é.’bﬁaﬁs, <enior asistant commissipacr, submited to the
commissioner of Chotonagpur

regarding the military movements undertaken to
suppress the rebellion (1080-R41D).
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was threateming the bhogta country and attempting to
enter 1t This invader was none otherthan the famous Judhar
Singh of Gaya who, with hus followers, rebel sepoys and others,
according to the imtelhgence received on 7 December, had
entered Palamau and been proceeding rapsdly towards Sunm
This struch the Briush circle with consternation  Captan
Norton and lieutenant Graham were alerted to take measures
for the protection of Palamau, but 1t was thought expedient
not to nisk an open engagement with them 2 Towards the end
of December, Davis had to admut that despite is occupation
of some outposts, he had failed to cope with the situation, and
hus report confessing this (beaning the date 23 December, 1858)
18 quoted below 1 extenso as an evidence of onigmal value n
respect of the extent and depth of the cvil rebelhion of the
mutines of Eastern India 3

T regret that T cannat report any satsfactory progress towards the
permanent tranquility of this district—the causes which miitate
agamst 1t—with the small force at my disposal 1ts speedy pacification
cannot be looked for

1 have from tine to tune reported to you that various bands of rebel
sepoys driven out of Shahabad and Mirjapore have jomned the
wsurgent  Bhogtas or have taken up a position an the adjomng
district of Sirgoojah ready to do so at any favourable moment These
additions to the numbers of rebels enabled them to take up swong
positions m therr hills and jungles whilst at the same tune they
send out parties to plunder the adjacent villages

As you are aware the extent of the country occupied by the rebels
comprises some 40 miles square of ntractable hills and dense jungles,
so densc that until the approach of the hot scason when 1t becornes
practicable to burn the grass etc an enemy might be within a few
hundred yards of troaps without being discovered

To 2dd to the difficulties of such a country the whole of the inhabit-
ants without exception are, 1f not openly, on the ude of the rebels
who reteive every information of our movements whilst 1t 1 with
the utmost difficulty that we are enabled to trace them, and then
not perhaps till they have plundered and burnt some villages 1
therr vicmuty

L Ihd Nos 117, 120, 127

* it No 128
1 hid Nos 129 130
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S"mcc ncc.upaﬁtm of Sunnea on the 17th instant no precise informa-
tion obtained until today when I hear that the rebels are in great
force, one march only from Chynpore—it is necessary to follow them
up at once to prevent the plunder of the open country (if attacked)
they will immedintely make a retrogade move and seek the protection
of their jungles and on our return they will resume the same tacties,
while owing to their intimate knowledge of the country and the
fact of the people being in their favour they can do with utter
impunity as they never will fight, their object being only plunder.
The causes of the rebels having the country so entirely with them
are many, the inhabitants generally are a wild race fond of maraud-
ing; they are held together by a clannish feeling and the common
one of self-preservation as they have no sufficient confidence in the
power of the government to pratect them, should they act contrary
to the wishes or orders of the rebel chiefs; this feeling has heen
increased by the facts of European troops having on two occasions
since the late disturbances entered the perghunna merely to leave
it immediately afterwards and the inadequacy of the troops hitherto
stationed in Palamau to protect those who really were (avourable to
Government.
The members of the rebels with the Bhogta chiefs are certainly not
less than 1,000 men—I will submit to Government that a force of
not less than 1,000 men is required here. To confine the rebels to
their own hills four points must be guarded i.e, Checharec, Burghur,
Munka and Chynpore with 200 men at each place—I have caused
the crection of a substantial wooden stockade at this place.
Towards the end of December 1858, Nilambar at the head of
the insurgent bhogtas and rebel sepoys plundered the villages
of Bansdhi, Chunga and Ranka, and the large and wealthy
village of Satbarna and carried away ‘supplies of every kind
including two hundred laden bullocks’ while the British were
helplessly standing by, unable to overtake thery, ‘as they would
proceed to one of their hiding places in the jungles when all
traces of them would be lost till they emerge in other quarter.’
Dayis reported that the conduct of the government was
reviewed with alarm by the loyal zamindars who would not
face the rebels unless supported by troops and in many cases
they were quitc at their mercy and were compelled to furnish
supplies. Thus towards the end of the year 1858, I’a!amal}
region passed ‘entircly under the possession of the rebels.
They dominated it without any hindrance; and as Davis
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reported, the area of rebel occupation would extend ‘still more
1f assistance was not rendered 2

Even in January 1839, the bhogta country stll remamned
tobesubdued, the rebels came out of their dens by paths known
only to themselves and were plundenng the district 2 Cartnidges
made up with ‘native powder” and government percussion
caps found in the possession of some of the sepoys killed showed
that they were still supplied wath ammumition 3 In the middle
of January, captain Norton and 1 Graham combined
their forces and chased the rebels and their leader Nilambar
from place to place and arrested Amar Bhogta, but Nilambar
Sa1 escaped® and was reported to have passed to Porahat
through the hlls on 29 January, 1859% By the muddle of
February Palamau and Chotanagpur settled down® to normal
conditions

Many emunent persons of Palamau threw their weight on
the side of the rebels The long correspondence of Davis on the
subject of Thakur Kapilnath Sa1 of Sulg:, a government
pensioner and a zammdar residing near Lohardaga,” shows
that his eldest son, Lala Jagannath, helptd the Doranda
mutineers® of Chotanagpur and accompanied them n their
march to Jagdispur Jagannath was the son 1n law of a brother
of Kunwar Singh of Shahabad and acted as the medium of
commumcation between the mutineers of the Ramgarh bat
talion and the Bihar leaders ? Thakur Kapilnath, 1t was pre-
sumed, supphed the mutineers of the 8th regiment wath food and
provisions at Sulgi at the expense of the mahajans and was in
commnamcation with Chuma Sai, a convicted rebel and
Ganpat Ra11® Another noted rebel leader, Tikayat Omrao
Singh and his dewan Sheikh Bhikhan of Kuttunga were

¥ Iid No 131

1 Ind

thd No 136

4 Jbud No 139

% Iid No 143
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* Iid No 137
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*FP x 1723 1767

19 OUd English Correspondence Ranchi op at, No 137
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charged with having attempted to prevent the passage of govern-
ment troops 10 Chotanagpur, They were tried and executed
on 8 january, 1858, as soon as the sentence was passed.! Qther
important leaders who resisted the British offensive of this
period were Debibaksh Rai, ilakadar of Kunda, a leader of the
kharwar tribe who had a large following. He was suspected
of being the real prompter of the rebellion? Raghubir Singh,
the raja of Singrauli near Palamau, had assembled one to two
thousand men with the intention of marching on Sarguja.®
Nakhaut Manji,* Gopal Sai, a son of the maharaja of Chota-
nagpur, and Latkhoda Sai who held office under him were
also suspected to be hostile. Official correspondence also
reveals the name of Rambahadur Singh and Shada Singh as
rebel chiefs. Srikrishna Bera, the zamindar of Gurpali was
victimised for his hostile activities. The conduct of Dhiraj
Singh, the raja of Udaipur roused the distrust of the govern-
ment,? and maharaja Sambhunath Singh Bahadur, the
zamindar of Ramgarh, was also suspected to be disloyal. The
followers of Bhola Singh, buraik of Churia in Chotanagpur
successfully opposed cofonel Fischer at Opghat.® The rajas of
Kulkura and Bowmunda were similarly reported to be dis-
affected.” One Kurbanali$ a jamadar, was found guilty of
rchellion and causing proclamation of the ‘Padshahee Raj’. A
long correspondence hangs round the subject of recusancy
and freason imputed 10 Bhat Kumar Sai and Sil Sad of Ghichari,
jagirdars of Palamau. The Chichari estate was under attach-
‘ment for realisation of the fine imposed on it. Bhai Kumar was
convicted of having taken a conspicuous part in the }}Dsn!e
activities of July 1858, when many acts of plunder and illegal
scizure of loyal persons had been committed by them. He was

LFP. i ingh was at geand-ron of raja St
B T, A A, O S s ot the T of Govin-
dagut (O1d English Comespondice, letter of A. R. Youag, pp. 3960}

*FP, ix, 353, 371; Malleson, i, 438.

* FP. ix, 367, 410, 604, 613, 663.
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ordered to leave Palamau, comphance with which was enforced
by a sentence of fourteen years’ imprisonment with labour and
1rons 1n the event of refusal to carry out the order of bamsh
ment Kumar Sa1 and his farmily were permitted to ressde near
Dorandnl, the awvil station adjmmng Ranchi The son of
NilambAr Sai was not found to have taken any leading part in
the acts of the rebels, he was hept 1n the background, it was
believed, ‘as a matter of policy' so that ‘one of the farmly
might be preserved as a leader”

The long hsts of persons convicted of rebellion as found i
the old correspondence volumes in Ranchy, show that the
nfection had spread far and wide 1mong all classes of puople
and was not confined to the army alone Large numbers of
willage headmen called manps such as Lusa Many, Jadu
Many, Donga Many, i all thirty-seven, were reported against
for plundering Jaspur, Kaspal and Gola parganas m the
distnicts of Manbhum and Hazanbagh @ Not only villagers, but
also a large number of military pensioners were suspected to be
disloyal and they were ordered to present themselves within a
gwen period before the officers on pamn of forferture 4 Others
agam were tned on a charge of rebellon agamnst the govern
ment for hwang closed the ghats and obstructed the passage
of Brtish troops and were pumshed with impr and
execution 3 Many also were tried and pumished under actxvi
of 1857 for destroymg and plundenng the Sitagarh coffee
plantation, about three miles from Hazanbagh, the property
of Messrs Haworth and Co of Calcutta ® European factones
had been destroyed without any exception and examples had
been made of all such properties as fell mto the hands of the

1 OM Englsh Correspondence, Ranchy op o No 142 150 170 185 (1077
R-41D)

 Jbtd No 183

¥ bid (Guard File No 1074-R-41D) No 7 Mil tary Department 31 August
iB57 b]’\Tp (lm Mention w also madc) of one hokur Gomar of Chand: Bir of
Manbhum and hus fifty other comrades

+ Ihd No 1288

SFP s 175 530:01 Other rebels of note menhoned ncidentally in the
officaal papers were Thakur Tilakdhan Sigh (FF ix 177) Laly Indranath 8ac
of Doomri Lala Shamsundar Sai of Hessul Tikayat hamal Rar of Olato
Tikayat Lodhar Singh of Ormanjee i the Hazanbagh dstrict {FP 1x 172 73)
and Upsal Sas (FP 566}

YFP x 74
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rebels and full retaliation exacted for all the acquisitive
tendencies of the factory owners. The German mission at
Chotanagpur had suffered 2 loss of property appertaining to the
church and school attached to the mission, greatly in excess of
rupees ten thousand, the amount applied for as compensation.!
J. Grundy and I G. Madzer were given compensation for the
losses sustained by them in consequence of their property
having been plundered and destroyed by Palamau insurgents
in their attack on the Rajurah factory. For similar reasons
R. L. Ewing, the indigo planter, received compensation, and
also Miller and Rozario of the Putsah indigo factory which had
been destroyed.?

The popular character of the movement at Palaman brooks
no doubt. The mutiny resulted in a civil rebellion of a country-
wide character in which all classes of people from the landed
gentry to the village chicf joincd with the sole aim of stopping
European exploitation and wiping out all traces of British
rule, Tt was not, therefore, a military insurrection, as it has been
represented in eatlier works, nor 2 rising confined to a small
and discontended section of the primitive tribes as dismissed
in ‘1857, but a people’s war fought with the passions roused up
by deeply stirred political sentiment. The landed proprietors of
Chotanagpur, excepting a few, did not come to the help off the
British. They remained passively loyal, as E. T, Dalton, the
commissioner of Chotanagpur stated to the secretary to the
government of Bengal. He admitted, however, that though ‘as 2
body they did nothing’ yet they ‘secretly aided and encouraged’
the rebets, The opinion was also expressed that had the chiefs
of Garjat mahals co-operated with the government the dis-
turbances would have beea suppressed with the re-occupation
of the district. What rendered the situation grave was that the
springs of rebellious cxertions lay at the bottom of the society.
Dalton was at pains to communicate to his chiefs:

It is a singular fact that in not one instance has the offer of the reward
had the desired effect, Many of the delinquents had been captured

% Ol Fnglish Correspendence, Ranchi, op. cit., No. 23 (1080-R41D).
 NE. §, 2334, 238.
* Sen, op. dit., 409-
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1t 15 true, but by Military Force or by the Police, not by the people
not & soul will move 1 the matter even with the additional
temptaton of a large reward for domg so

This beang the case, Dalton urged that the government had
the evident necessty for a ughly penal act hike the act x of
1858, which should be intreduced without hesitation mto all
the districts in the division, specially at Kolhan and Sambalpur,
where the people should be made to feel that hearty co-opera-
tion in the suppression of a crime was a duty the government
was bound to exact * Indeed, the ruthless measures adopted
for the suppression of the ment? were 2 refl of the
extent of the disaffection for the Bnush rule Religious men

dicants, vagrants and other men of suspicious character were
very closely watched as they were likely to convey letters con-
cealed about their persons or 1n the hollow of their ‘atties®
(sticks), clothes and other articles® Every class of people
came m for suspicion as the authontes found that it was a
mass uprising which they must quell

SINGHBHUM—SERAINELLA

In Singhbhum, Seraikella and Kharsawan, the rebelhon of
thekols raged funiously Arjun Singh, the raja of Porahat, resid
ing 1n Chakradharpur played the most sigmficant part 1n this
upsurge 1n eastern Incha next to that of Kunwar Singh of Sha-
habad The report of the commussioner, captamn Dalton, dated
13 February, 1858, makes out a case agatnst the raja—that he
was all along m a state of mnsubordination and commutted
many treasonable acts This, however, does not agree with the
circumstances of Jus revolt It 1s found that on 5 August, major
Sissimore 1ssued 2 parwana through the raja of Serakella to
Aryun Singh calling upon him 10 send troops for the protection
of the statton To this he did not react and possbly pud
scant attention During this ttme Chaibasa was 1n ferment, one

3 QUd Englsh Correspondence, Ranch op @t No 67 Letter from captain
E T Dalton to A. R Young (1074 R-41D)

3BPP lway Proa 5556

» Ibd

4NE 2t 1823 Special Narrauve Government of Bengal (Judicial) No 16,
dated 13 February 1858
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Nakfouri Muktar was openly preaching sedition, savi

the English had left the cou¥1t€y and t%at it haci lsnae)cg:gmt?l?et
property of the rajal The kols were summoned to arms, It
was further reported that at Chakradharpur, the residence of
the raja, andat Ajudhia, one of the villages in his area, several
mavnkees and mundas were called in and were made ;o swear
to remain faithful to him and not to side with the raja of
Seraikella. It transpired that he even sent ap ecmissary,
Mukunda Roy, to Biswanath Sai, the rebel leader of Palam:ﬂ;
who reciprocated by helping the mutineers to proceed to
Chakradharpur.

The fact was that Arjun Singh had been offended when the
principal assistant commissioner, panicky at the mutiny of
troops at Hazaribagh (July 30} had left Singhbhum committing
the care of the district to the raja of Scraikella who was the
rival of the raja of Porahat and was in an inferior position. Even
so, when the detachment at Chaibasa consisting of the Ram-
garh battalion eventually mutinied in the beginning of
September, Arjun Singh kept the part of money that had been
looted {rom the treasury, though he had to shelter a section of
the mutinous soldiery from the hostile attacks of the kols who
demanded the treasure for themsclves.? Licutenant Birch came
as assistant commissioner at Chaibasa on 16 September and
strengthened his position with the support of the raja of
Seraikella. The raja of Porahat being confronted made
numerous professions of his loyalty; nevertheless he was de-
clared a rebel. This drove Arjun Singh to approach Dalton,
the commissioner at Ranchi, to deliver himself up to him with
the spoil of the treasury and the mutineers under his custody.
The commissioncr, however, directed him to appear before
Birch for trial. The raja procrastinated, probably under the
influcnceof his dewan Jagu, who was already in the bad books
of the government for previous acts of disobedienccand especi-
ally for his attempts to excite the kols to rise. Jagu was charged
with treason and a reward of fifty rupees was offered for his
apprehension.?

1FP. ix, 376,
* DG, Singbhum, Seraikella, Kharsawan, 39.
S Old English Correspondence, Ranchi (Guard File, No. 1074-R-41D), No. 72

Order of the assistant commissioner, dated Chaibasa, 3 October, 18357,
€ eRrIy-—13
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So Arjun Singh made himself scarce and persevered n hus
attitude of indifference alternating with contumacy To put
a stop to thus state of affaws, Birch captured Jagu 1n a surpnse
march towards the end of November He was summanly
tried, sentenced and hanged 1 An attack was also made on the
raja’s stronghold 1n order to arrest Arjun Singh but he had
escaped It follows, therefore, that raja Arjun Singh was forced
to rise by the policy followed by Birch He was declared a rebel
and a reward of rupees one thousand was offered for his
apprehension by the lheutenant, a step which, as Dalton
remarked, should not have been so hastily resorted to The
rebellion commenced and 1ts flame spread around rapdly
Aqun Singh 13 said to have crculated his arrow, symbohe
of lus preparedness for war, among large numbers of disaffected
kols who were deterruned to fight for hum, and caused the
revolutionary slogan, a sort of kkutba, recited 1n the Chabasa
bazar
that everything belonged to God, that the country belonged to the
king and that the ruler thereof was Arjun Singh

By the end of December the condition of the country deter-
1orated, the whole of Kothan was 1n revolt Lushington,
the spectal commssioner for the districts, reported the existence
of widespread insurrection and he himself was dangerously
ambushed on 14 January, 1858, at the deep bed of a dry
nullah near the Mogra niver while returning from Bar Prr wath
Tus Stkh soldiers The rebels, 2 body of hols numbenng about
three to four thousand, stole a march on the Englsh party
which suffered a disaster 2 This synchromsed with the defeat
and fiight of the Brtish agent, the raja of Scratkella from
Chakradharpur Then followed a series of smart encounters
for the possession of the place by the kols and the capture of
Anun Singh by the Bntsh Colonel Toster’s Sheikhawat
battahion devastated the whole area round Porahat mn January,
scattered a concentration of the rebels south of Sirngsella Pass,
but they continued ther plundenng rads and kept the
Enghish at bay 1n the jungles

1 FP w, 171, 1x, 341, 376 630 Bagho Deo was another officer who instugated
the Porahat raja (FP 1x, 431, 535)

2 FP v, 63 64 For a long deseniption of thus surprise attack see FP ax, 372
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As the kols still clung to the raja of Porahat, the proclama-
tion for the confiscation of his estate was issued on 9 February,
but in order to win over the ryots the rent was decreased
much more than what was demanded by the cx-raja. The new
assessment was made on the basis of a previous rate when the
estate had been under the management of the court of wards
in 18451 But this had hardly any effect. On 25 March, the
position of captain Moncricff at Chakradharpur was made
precarious by the rebel followers of Arjun Singh who were
supposed to be about two thousand strong. They surrounded
the three sides of the encamping ground,? and though re-
pulsed, they continued to attack intermittently. The official
communication of May ran to the effect that Chakradharpur
and Chaibasa regions were dangerously threatened and an
offensive was expected daily from the ex-raja who had as-
sembled a force of some six thousand men in order, as he
boasted himself, to sweep away the firinghi kafirs out of the
‘mangoe grove’.® The government was obliged to offer Arjun
Singh terms of ammnesty, that his life would he spared and that
he would not be subjected to indignitics should he surrender
and take his trial at Ranchi.4 This also produced no result.
Towards the end of May, a British party of the naval brigade
was again completely surrounded by the insurgents in over-
whelming numbers at a place of about four miles from
Chakradharpur from which they escaped by a running fight
for about three miles.? Again on 9 June, the kols surrounded
the naval brigade camp at Chakradharpur and kept up a
smart fight on the days following under their lcaders Raghu
Deo, Barkumar and Shyamkumar.® An official communication
makes it clear that the Porahat rebels were supplied with
matchlocks from Jhalda and that Raghu Dco in particular
had thirty such conveyed to im by special messengers.?

1 NE. fi, 224
* Ibid. 231,

s Ibid. 262; FP. ix, 566. -

4 fbid, 266: Offg, Commissioner’s letter dated 21 May, 1858,
s Ioid. 270.

© foid, 28001

7 Old English Correspondenzz, Ranchi (1074-R-41D), No. 95,
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Down to the end of the year 1858, the kols fought
desperately from their mountain fastnesses and rushed to
the attack of the Britsh outposts In December 1858, the
British detachments moved to the rear of the raja’s stronghold
in the hills, and in the scuffle that followed many of the im-
portant rcbels were captured, but Arjun Singh escaped
through the cordon of posts, He, however, could not hold out
for long and was obliged to surrender to the commissioner on
15 February, 1859, after a struggle of a year and a half. He
was banished to Benares and the Porahat estate was escheated,
With his incarceration the rebellion 1 Singhbhum burrowed
1its head In a letter dated 3 November, 1859, Dalton the
commissioner wrote to his assistant, J. § Davis that arrange-
ment might be made to pay the ex-raja of Porahat and his
brother! (Bijay Nath Singh Kunwar?) rupees 1-6 each daily
with effect from the Ist instant. Incidentally, thisis an mstance
of how the Bntish honoured their fallen rivals in the mad
fury of the revolt.

SAMBALPUR

The spate of rebellion of the year 1857 was, in many cases, a
continuation of the civil disturbances of the pre-mutiny perod;
the revolt of Surendra Sar of Sambalpur is an ipstance
m point From the close of 1857 to the commencement of 1862
he remained in a state of war, ran a parallel government of s
own, and kept the whole country in a dangerous state of
excitement, During the insurrection of troops at Hazanbagh,
when the prisoners were released, Surendra Sai, the claimant
to the Sambalpur raj, his brother Udhwant Sa1 and lus son
Mitrabhanu Sa1 escaped; they proceeded straight to Sambal-
e, eemapied the ol foxt 2nd taised the hamoer of revalt,

2 Jhd (1077-R-41D) No 196 N

1 FP ix, 358 Far references to the raja of Porahat in Parlamentary Papers
see FP v, B1, vu, 627-32, i, 169, 341, 548, 376-77, 391, 596, 399, 413, ?3!, 53.3,
553, 625-28 The government was determned that not an acte of the w:&:cm
estate should be restored to the exéraja. The trial of Agyun Sigh had to be droppe:
eventually and the Porahat cstate was sphit up and given to other chiels u;
Tor their tervice On 4 October 1895, kumar Narpat Singh, the only son o c{«&}\m
was granted the unalbenated poruon of the onginal Porahat ra) {P 0y
Chaudbun 1n A. B, Patnka, Caleutta 28 October, 1956},
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When Sambalpur had been finally ceded to the British by the
treaty of 1826, they placed on the throne rani Mohankumari
in total disregard of the claims of Surendra, who was des-
cended from Madhukar Sai, the fourth raja of Sambalpur.
Surendra challenged this measure by raising an insurrection
of so formidable a character that the government was obliged
to remove the rani to Cuttack and place Narayan Singh on
the throne, But the refractory chief continued the struggle, the
conflagration spread, to which fuel was added by the gonds
rising under Balbhadra Sai. In 1839 Surendra and his party
murdered the chief of Rampur, an associate of the British, as
a consequence of which they were serving their life sentence
in the Hazaribagh jail as already noticed. In 1849 on the
death of Narayan Singh who died childless, Sambalpur lapsed
to the British government according to the doctrine of lapse.

The revenuc measures of the new government were neither
judicious nor conciliatory. The revenue demand was raised
indiscriminately by one-fourth along with the reckless resump-
tion of frec-hold land, religious grants, and assessment of rent-
free lands at half-rates. Besides the English were not able to
conduct the settlement themselves, and left the business to the
advice of the ministerial officers to whom the settlement
brought profits in the shape of bribes, The English also helped
themselves to nazars which were lavishly offered with con-
sequent starvation and ruin alike to the peasants and the
proprietors. Serious commotion was apprehended, and the
brahmans of Sambalpur even went on a deputation to Ranchi
though nothing came out of it. The second settlement of 1845,
instead of rectifying the ctror made the assessment even more
odious resulting in an enormous rise in government revenue
amounting to rupees seventy-four thousand as against rupees
cight thousand and cight hundred, the tribute paid by the
State previous to 1849. In these circumstances, as O’Malley
retnarked, it was perhaps not altogether surprising that when

Surendra Sai headed a rcvolt during the mutiny of 1857, he was
joined by a number of chiefs who feared further losses under British
scttlements.

1 DG. Sambalpur, 30-01.
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From Hazaribagh Surendra proceeded straight to Sambalpur
and established hunself with a large force of one thousand four
hundred to six hundred i the old fort, but he was nduced to
give himself up to captun Legh But soon he escaped nd
jomed his brothers and other rebels at Khinda Surendra Sar
started a parallel government with the support of the feudatory
chiefs and the people Meetings of the malcontents were held 1n
Sambalpur where the recovery of the estate by violent means
was delberated upon An officral letter of Sir Richard Temple
to the deputy commussioner of Sambalpur stated that Surendra
successfully defied all attempts on the part of the Britsh
troops 10 capture him and kept the whole country m a perfect
state of anarchy from the close of 1857 to the beginming
of 1862

Two companies of the 40th Madras regiment were ordered
up posthaste for the offensive Meanwhile the principal
zamndars collected their pubs aud orgamsed strong defences
round therr strongholds The rebel forces threw up a cordon of
outposts of connderable strength at a distance of not more
than threc or four nules Pumtive expeditions led by British
officers were often ambushed 1n dense jungles with severe
loss By the middle of December the dak between Calcutta and
Bombay had been stopped, dak houses burnt and all traffic
commumcation between Calcutta and Sambalpur was sus
pended,! and bands of festering masses began to scour the
country The Bntish offensive was in the nature of scattering
large concentration of rebel forces numbenng thousands here
and there, and 1n forcing open the mountun passes blocked
by the rebels by shalful deployment of flanking parties, but all
efforts at captering the rebel leaders proved unavailing The
dense jungle, the imaccessible Hulls, the breastworks, stont
barnicades and defensive sone blocks of the rebels prolonged
the desultory jungle warfare

In the action at Haldibhum in Bamra on § January, 1836,
Chubil Sai, the brother of Surendra, was killed 2 In the same
month attempt was made to force open the Jharghati Pass held

INE 1 139 Specal Narrauve Government of Bengal (Judiczal) Do 1,
dated 2 January 18!
TFP ix 375 390
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by Udhwant 8ai. The sortie made by captain Leigh to break
through a concentration of rebels numbering about one
thousand and five hundred men on a hill protected by jungles
was not attended with success. In the action at Singhora Pass
an the road to Nagpur, captain Woodbridge was repulsed and
killed on 14 February, 1858. On the day following, ensign
Warlow returned to the attack on the rebel stronghold at the
pass but was dismayed by the strength of the rebels. His report
merits quotation as a typical instance of the resourcefulness of
the Indians fighting against superior forces. As he found it:

The enemy occupied a strong position in a narrow defile between
two steep hills covered with dense jungle, and had thrown up across
the defile a loopholed stone breast-work about scven feet high and
thirty long, in such a manucr as completely to command the nacrow
path leading up to it. They had also cut down the jungle on either
side, 50 as to concentrate the whole fire on this approach; and about
halfway up the hill on the lelt, they had crected another breast-work
...... A considerable quantity of rice and grain were also found
concealed among the rocks.t

The position was taken and the rebels were scattered. In
the mcantime the government found it necessary to issue 2
notification dated 11 March, 1858, under section 1 to 6 of act
xwviii of 1857, prohibiting in Sambalpur the use by people of
any kind of arms under the belief that it would greatly contri-
bute to the suppression of the countrywide rebellion.® Further
extension of the act x of 1853 to Sambalpur as urged by Dalton
also showed that the anthorities were adopting measures other
than thase necessary for the suppression of a mutiny to combat
this ¢ivil uprising.

Surendra Sai refused for 2 long time to surrendcr‘ when the
amnesty was first proclaimed in 1859. In 1861 ma_;or.l'mpcy
was placed in charge of Sambalpur. He afinp.ted a conciliatory
pelicy. He offered a free pardon and restitation of conﬁscatefi
property to all rebels with the exception of Surcndr_a, and h}s
son and brother, Mitrabkanu and Udhwant rospectively. This
order induced many rebel leaders t0 surrender. §or{w of the
most trusted adherents of Surendra such as Hati Singh and

INE, §, 218; Specisl Nareatie, et No. 1, dated 2 Mach, 1856

1bid 223,
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Kunjih Singh of Ghes!, Khageswar Dea and Kamal Smgh
Deo (descendants of Balabhadra Singh Deo of Lakshmanpur
near Rampal)? refused to surrender unless the rule of Surendra
was revived Kamal Singh sent threatening lettersto the deputy-
commussioner and commenced burning and plundenng wil-
lages and murdering such guntias and headmen as were
known to be favourably disposed towards the British govern
ment A long reign of terror prevailed and none dared to
give evidence agamst the offenders or asast 1 therr capture
When matters reached such a stage, the deputy-commssioner
of Sambalpur, in contravention of the amnesty, placed Surendra
and his relatives under arrest on 23 January, 1864 Upal Sm
escaped, but was captured and awarded capttal punishment
Surendra was hauled up under charge of treason, tried but
the charge could not be proved He was transported to Rapur
in an extra-judictal manner where he was blinded and,
probably exccuted most secretly

The popular character of the rebethon at Sambalpur can
also be judged from the list of the notable leaders furmshed 1
officral despatches All the brothers of Surendra and the sons
of Dharam Singh, as well as lns son Mitrabhanu joined the
revolt 3 Other rebels were Manour Smgh, a chief leader who
surrendered with thirty-nine of his followers 4 The raja of
Kolabira or Jaipur s also mentioned for his rebellious proceed-
ings s estates of Karna Ghartia were forfated ® Srikrishna
Bera, head of the Barma khonds jomned Surendra Sai & The
rya of Patna cxaited the suspicion of the government for his
Wll-concealed disaffection and a fine was mposed on him 7
Nimtshal Thahur, a zamindar of nfluence aided the mutine-
ers® and when the rebels marched from Hazanbagh to

1 FP 1, 466 7
* Ibud
% They are Udhwant Sa Dhurup, Uyal Meduce Chubilo, Jadup (FP m,
166 7)
<NE u, 28!
§ EP 1x, 168 381
SFP 1 348 375
TFP 1 396
STP v, 72
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Sambalpur they were guided by one Gobinda Suliar.! The
rebel zamindar of Khursal, Dayal Sardar and his brother
Chandrasankar, the chief of Magpal, aided by the chief of
Bulrana and Karna ghatwals committed excesses and closed
the communication between Guttack and Caleutta for months.?

PURULIA

The rebellion raised echoes in other parts on the bhorder
of Bengal and Bihar, In Purulia the mutinous disposition of the
detachment of the Ramgarh battalion frightencd the govern-
ment officers so much so that they left the station. The sepoys
plundered the treasury and committed other outrages. Nilmani
Singh, the raja of Panchet, was suspected to be a privy to the
rebel bands who scoured the country and biocked the roadio
Raghunathpur. It was also alleged that the raja had refused
assistance to the government to suppress disorder, His house
was searched and military stores and arms of various descrip-
tions were found.® In consequence he was arrested and
detained in Calcutta until March 1858. A case was made out
that the position of Nilmani Singh was similar to that of
the rani of Tikari of Bihar and so he was entitled t0 the same
treatment.d Nilmani was tried under act xiv of 1857 on a
charge of rebellion against the state and acquitted on 21 May,
but he was kept in custody as a state prisoner under regulation
3 of 1818, for the lieutenant-governor thought that it would be
imprudent to sct him at liberty at this juncture while a portion
of the Singhbhum district was still in open rebellion.

LFP. v, App. B., 300.

3 FP. ix. 399; NE. ii, 213. Other rebels mentioned in the despatches were
Khaga Naik, Dhuriao Singh. Dhun Singh (zamindar of Afachida), Arjun,
Manmohan Singh (zamindar of Behndun), Markand Bera, Dunardhun
Singh (zamindac of Buhar Singra), Archita Guntia, Ananta Sal’ (zamindar of
Mondomal), Kripasindbu Bera. Sadasiv_ Manji, Piambar Singh {zamindar

{ Palkuruda) and Mahadeb Gumtia (FP. ix, 466-7). For a list of persons tried
znd cor‘;‘;}ztcd) under act. xvi of 1837 in Sambalpur sec FP. ix. 532-3.

3 FP. ix, 123,

€ FP. ix, 403, 553, 668-9. . .

5 XE, i, 265. Sce also The Englithman, 5 October, 30 November, and Hindu
Patrist, 17 December, 1837, 123 persons were tried under act xvi of 1857 in the
district of Manbhum during the month of December (FP. ix, 368). To the south
of Manbhum, in Dalbhum, the dhuroa tribe of Ghatsila was led by Dayanidhi
who committed excesses (FP. v, App. B., 203-6).
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ORISSA DIVISION

In Onssa the rebelion of the people did not take any
defimte shape, sporadic outbursts and desultory attempts of
disaffected leaders only were reported m the officrl despatches
Even so, the Iist of persons tred under act xwi of 1857
shows that more than forty persons were charged with st
gating and abetting rebelhon ! Many of the Lhond zamindars
were also tried for contumacy.? An officral letter from Russel-
konda of 21 December, 1857, stated that Chackra Bisay: was
as active as ever and that his influence was sull strong
the present condition was considered to be a good
pretext for stirring up the khonds, as he had donc 1n 1846-73
Scditious and threatening proccedings of an ex-zamindar
named Canlssen,3and of the raja of Ranpur, and one Madho
Gharatia® were taken notice of by the authorities

BURDWAN DIVISION

No organised rebelhion of the non-militwry clisses was
reported from this area In Birbhum Ramjan Shekh used
language calculated to exate disaffection ¢ Another chef
Kanm Khan mamfested a rchellious disposition and was
hanged 7 In Midnapore, Brindaban Tewars, the brahman, was
found snciting the people to rebellion® and met a sumlar fate
Mur Jungoo and Sheihh Zamiruddi, two other rebels, were
sentenced to impnisonment ® Some members of the princpal
ra famuly of Bankura were suspected to be disaffected and the

1FP x,433, 533

‘FP v, 7!

1 FP 1x, 676-8 Sce Chaudhun o at, 110-12
‘App B 1oFP v, 314

S EP i, 375

*FP 1, 57,187 192

T pp 1857 58 (Commons ), Tt 1w, vol 44, pp 6585
SFP v, App A, 145, 155

Y PP 1857 58, op &t
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zamindar of Jamacoondy, it was apprehended, would possibly
incite the raja of Barabhum in Purulia to rcbellion.! The
authorities dreaded the combination as the scenc of the revolt
of Ganganarayan in 1846 was still fresh in their minds.3

PRESIDENCY DIVISION

In Bengal the rebellion {found no wide response among the
civil population, but here and there disaffected persons raised
their heads and were dealt with accordingly. In Maldah,
Chuman Singh was accused of seditious activities.? The muti-
neers of Jalpaiguri were joined by a party of two hundred
Bhutias with three guns under the direction ofa petty raja.’ The
Dacca mutineers also on their entry into Bhutan were pro-
tected by the Bhutan Subah and they were helped in part-
cular by a man named Hurak Singh commenly called the
Hathea Raja. He was so called because he had for many
years farmed the right to catch clephants in Bhutan. Huruk
Singh is said to have rendered the mutineers every kind of
assistance. A long correspondence on the subject is preserved
in the parliamentary papers.® In Hugli, a doctor named
Kuber Chandra Roy, attached to the jail, behaved politically.”
In Jessore Pairag Dhobi was charged with conspiracy against
the government.? The Ferazis, on all accounts, became restive,
their previous activities® were too recent to be forgotten. They
were kept under close watch, yet somc of them such as
maulavi Abdul Subhan and Reasatali were actively engaged
in subversive activitics.}® Dudo Mian, the famous Ferazileader,
was detained as a state prisoner in the Alipore jail. On 6 Feb-

1FP. v, 8.

* Chaudhuri, op. ait , 101-2.
I FP. v, App. A, 139, 280.
+ FP. vii, 21

s FP. vi, 229.

* FP. vii, 59, 69-70; ix; 362-
*FP. v, 82,
"% FP, v, App. B, 102-3, 169.
% Chandhuri, of. €., 112-4,
1 FP. v, App. B, 9, 181
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ruary, 1858, he submutted a peution for his release ! In eastern
India the raja of Tippera was proposed to be myestigated
agamst for s lukewarm atutude m respect of apprehending
the Chittagong and Dicca mutineers? On many occasxon;
1 the past the rajas of Tippera had similarly disregarded the
request of the government to help them mn suppressing
disturbances m the Brtish terntory 3 Raja Ishan Ghandra
Manikya Bahadur, the then ruler of the country (1850 62)*
must have been following the policy of his predecessors in
this respect 8

ASSAM

In Assam, Kandarpesvar Singh, the Sarung raja of Assam
attempted to rawe the men of the old Assym mulita to tike
possession of Assam® The Jorhat regiment seemed to have
been in communication with the raja and offered to retake
the province and hold 1t for lum 7 The dewan of the raja,
Maniram Dutta, played an important part i mstigating the
lang and forming widespread conspiricy to oust the Bninsh 8

1 For the Ferazis dunng this peniod and thewr activinies, see FP v and FP
1 369 et

ANE u 253

3 Chaudhun Cinsl Disturbances cte 108 9

4 A description of the march of the mutineers to Tipperah will be Jound 1
Hunter Statistical Account of the State of Hill Trpperah (p 468), Webster Eatlem
Bengal Dustrict Gazetterrs (on Tipperah p_18) For a contemporary account
see Raifash Chandra Sinha, Ramale pp 1701 325

s Mam{’sta(e prisoners were lodged in the Alipore jail  dunng this tme
It would be interesting to know their names as that would show how the
government looked at the events of 1857 Most of them were the retawers of the
ex king of Oudh namely Illahi Baksh Khan syed Aminali  kazi jesbadalt
(NL u 41) Munsht Abmuddin Muzaffar Khan Ashan Hussain khan (FP
405 408 415) Another follower of the ex king of Oudh raja Yusufai Khao
otherwise called Resaldar Satub (FP vu 19) absconded (NE u 65[! In the
above jail was also lodged an mnferestng person known as the Buhop of Bagdad
ahas syed Hussan Shabbur who was in communication with the ex kung of
Qudh and ts minster Al Naki Khan, Hu another asocate was Muzaflar
Huseain, a retamer of the ex king who had taken up hus rendence 1a Ghander
nagar under the assumed designation of Agha Murza Satib (NF u 41, FT x,
355) Al Naki Khan the ex king s able premier, was said to have been onc of the
mawm springs of the conspiracy (Maude and Sherer 3 6) Sher Singh of Panjab an
ex-sardar, was also lodged 1n the yail as a detenue (FP 1 303)

CFP vu I8,1x 330 350

TFP v, 65

CEP 1x 359 409 63840
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Maniram was convicted of having induced the raja to revolt
and waged.war against the statc and was hanged.! Kandar-
pesvar was lodged in the Alipore jail and his request for
release was not complied with? The princes of Manipur
joined the Chittagong mutineers and fought in their ranks.
Malleson says that after being defeated at Latu in Sylhet on
18 December, by lieutenant Sherer they entered the Manipur
territory and were joined by one of the Manipur princes with
his followers. An official report also runs to the effect that
Manipur princes were in operation on the bank of the river
Barak.® Probably as a sequel to this several princes of the
Manipur royal family were kept under detention in the
Cachar jail. Narendrajit Singh, the chief of the rebel Manipur
princes broke his arrest and fled to Manipur. The evidence
against the prince having joined the mutineers of the 34th
regiment was said to be complete.? Rana Singh, the dewan of
the state, was also an accomplice in the seditious activities.’
The ex-raja of Jaintia with his brother-in-law Oorut Koer
was ordered to go to Sylhet owing to their being mixed up in
intrigucs with the heads of villages in the Jaintia hills,$

*FP. ix, 409. Dr. Sen says that thc evidence on which he was convicted was
insufficient. A Bengali named Madhu Maliik was alsa convicted (op. cit., 408).

£ FP. vii, 350; ix, 23.

2 FP. vii, 91, Malleson, i, 424,

« FP. i, 379, 383, 414.

S FP. ix, 450, Several other Manipur princes effected their escape from the
Cachar jail on 10 January, 1858 (NE. i, 246). They werz Sangd Thopor, Kanai
Singh, Mygher, Howjou, Khan Singh, 'and Kheirakha (FP. i, 333). Of these
Hovgou was recaptured and Khoirakha surrendered. They were tried, found
guilty of breaking jail and sent down to Alipore (NE. ii, 27

& The Englishman. 25 September, 1857, In Cachar, the jamadar of Kalabar is
recorded as a disaffected person (FP. vii, 100), and in Dibrugarh, Hedayctali, the
doctor, joined in a plot against the government (FP, ix, 441).




CHAPTER FOUR
CENTRAL AND WESTERN INDIA

BAGHELKHAND—BUNDELKHAND

In Baghelkhand there was no orgamsed rebellion though 1t
was close to Mirzapur and Bundelkhand on two sides ! But
wntirely different was the situatton 1 Bundelkhand where
almost all the local chuefs, such as the rulers of Byeraghogarh,
Patera, Guahat, Richol, Shahgarh, Banpur,® and Jaso® were
affected by the convulsions of the time OF these, the rajas of
Shahagarh and Banpur were inveterate in their hostility to
the British  Bakhtali, the raja of Shagarh, Madan Singh, the
rayja of Banpur who had also a hold on Chandenn were
makng busy preparations for war even before the actual out-
break of the mutiny m those parts Banpur s at a distance of
six males from Tikangarh in the Vindhya pradesh and M wlan
Singh had, 1t 1s sud, previous consultations with the ram of
Jhanst on whose side he fought bravely. By the middle of June
he established his own rule 1n Chanden, rased revenue and
established a cannon foundry on the Furopean principle, with
an excellent boring apparatus at Banpur In the first week of
July he took possession of the northern part of the Sagar
distrct and remained in possession of 1t until the arnval of the
Central Indian Field Force in January 1858 5 But being persu-
aded by Ius son, raja Norbhoy Singh, he ulumately surrendered
to the British Both were granted hife pensions 1n Mathura 8 All
the chiefs of Maihar, Nepal Singh and his brothers, were in open

TFP v, 228

3FP vu, 224, 259 Secunines to the amount of rupecs 1,{7,400, the property
of Surju rasad thakue of Byeraghogarh were confiscated (Hindu ‘Patnot 14 January,
1858) FE) nawab o Patera see FP ix 272

agp Ay

¢FP 277, 2845, v, 153 157, ix, 269, 836 Ther most loyal
sopmriers weve Budm Dawa. Lala Doclaveh, Julkun Lodby, Hndaya Su (FP
vn, 2856) Anun Dawa Maharay Simngh Dawa and Ramprasad were officen
of the Sha?:garh raja (FP 1x 277) Chutto Dawa was another officer (FP i, 269)

s NE 1, 562 Narrative of Events by ] W Pinkney, commussioner

 Martin says that the rajas of Shakgarh and Banpur surrendered and weee
directed to reside at Lahore {Martin n 500)
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rebellion against the British.! Mention is also made of Mukunda
Singh as a contumacious chief:2 In Ajaigarh the rebel Faizuddin
Muktear proclaimed Soal Singh as the raja of Ajaigarh.3 The
raja of Panna remained the most faithfal ally of the British
government in Bundelkhand, but Mirza Rahim Beg and
Chaulantia who is described as the dewan, are noted in the
official despatches for their rebellious proceedings.? Similarly
in Charkhar] there was no manifestation of the spirit of revolt
but one Dabal Singh was executed for his hostile activities.5
The heroic exertions of the rani of Jaitpur for the recovery of
her lost principality were supported by her faithful followers
Despat and Kurjaprasad of Datiz and raja Hunji and Tet
Singh, cousin and nephew of Despat respectively, all of whom
took up the cause of the rani.% Of these Despat fought to the
last and was found alone in the field cven when the revolu-
tionary wars were on the wane.? The rani was the widow of
Parichat, the former rebel raja of Jaitpur who was a pensioner
of rupecs one thousand and two hundred a month from the
government. She set up herself as a ruler at Jaitpur® and appro-
priated the tahsildari funds at the very commencement of the
revalt. But she was obliged to leave the station and was
belicved to be a fugitive at Tehri?

BANDA

In Banda, the mutiny of the troops was preceded by a vast
upsurge of the people. The jail prisoners of Allahabad released

1¥P. vi, 1433 ix, 577,

*FE. ix, 609,

* FP. vili, 136.

<FP. vi, 196,

4 FP. vi, I69.

® PP viil, 100, 140-1.

* The following from the Hindu Patrict, Calcutta, 30 Decernber, 1858, merits
notice: In Bundelkhand the spirit of rebellion manifests itself in oceasional irrup-
tions by local insurgents. A chief named Deesput holds 2 place named Jeitpur in
the province, and as the country round is very jungly, difficulty has been found
in dislodging him. The amnesty was sent to this man, but six out of seven mes-
sengers who hore it have been murdered by the misereant. The Rewah contingent
have gone against him.

8 FP. viii, 116. .

% NE. i, 548: Narrative of Events by G. H. Freeling, collector and magistrate.
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by the rising of 5 June, crossed over to Mau 1n the east of the
distnct and excited the people to fury and bloodshed
Spontaneously the willagers of the tahsl of Mau rose i a
body and attacked the thanadar, tahsldar and ther amls
Government property was destroyed, buildings gutted, 2
treasure contuning rupecs one thousand and two hundred was
plundered and even the ‘records of the court were torm up
and distributed to the winds’ The conflagration spread
west-ward, the tahsil of Baberu was sacked The people
of Banda, and a number of other willagers in the tahsl
of Pailam rose 1n arms, the mahomedan villages of Chilla
being most conspicuous ! When the troops revolted on 14
June, the government party left the station leaving the distret
m charge of Nawabaly, a great digmtary of the country, who
eventually made himsell mdependent and joined the war
agamst the Bntish Meanwle on 15 June the rebellion spread
to other parts The whole country round Banda was bnown to
be 1n revolt and the neighbouring distrcts of Fatehpur, Allaha-
pad, Hammrpur were all m the hands of the insurgcats,
Mayne, the collector, himself testifies to the complete subver
sson of the British authonty

In the pergunnahs the news spread like wildfire, and the villagers
rose 1 every direction and plundered and murdered cach other
promuscuously Auction purchasers and decree holders were
ousted, travellers znd merchandise plundered, and the servants of
government compelied to fly for ther lives, and in al] 1nstances
government buildings and property were plundered and destroyed

armed with spears and scythes and sron bound lattiss, they
gined themselves to be chose thear own Fangs, and
defied all comers Never was revolution more raprd—never mort complete®

On the same mght, 14 June, when the Bntish officers left
Banda, Nawabah Bahadur proclsuned lns own e for
that of the British, the revolutionary slogan was adjusted 0
satisfy s position  Khulluk Khoda, Mulk Badsha, Hukum
Nawabal Bahader The former government employccs were
mantaned, specially Mohammed Sidar Khan, the deputy
collector, who was apponted the nazim of Banda ‘The feclmgs

INE : 520 Report by F O Mayne, magistrate and colltector
A NE. i, 528 ftalies of the author
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of the Hindus were sought to be pacified by prohibiting the
slaughter of bullocks and cows,* but the Mahomedans regarded
the scene as a holy war to result in the extermination of the
kafirs® The mohajans were made to contribute to the
royal treasury by forced and unacknowledged loans. In the
beginning Nawabali was not possibly actively hostile towards
the British, but he was entirely in the hands of his councillors
who manifested a rcbellious spirit. As a measure of govern-
ment he formed a council in which were included Mirza
Willayat Hasan, Mirza Imdadali Beg, Mir Insaliah, Mohamed
Sirdar Khan, Mir Farhatali, Seth Udaya, the last one serving
as banker. Mahomedan dates were introduced and the revolu-
tionary government started on the fullest of impulses.® The
power of the British government was subverted practically
throughout the district except at Kalinjar in pargana Budousa
in the south of the district. On 29 September, when Kunwar
Singh with two thousand men reached Banda he was received
with great honour and hospitality by the nawab. Kunwar
Singh stayed there till 18 October when he went away towards
Kalpi.t

Meanwhile at Kirwi, Narayan Rac and Madho Rao pro-
claimed their rule in the eastern portion of the district in
November 1857. They were under strong suspicion of dis-
affection® and the troops of the former were said to have acted
in concert with the troops of the nawab of Banda.® They
surrendered to Whitlock but the general on entering Kirwi
on 6 June, 1858, found numerons proofs of their preparation
for the rebellion, picces of cannon, immense quantity of shot,
shell, and powder, Their gun-foundries and powder-manu-

1NE. i, 526-7.

3NE. i, 324

#NE. §, 530,

¢NE.§, 3312, .

S FP. ix, 599, 834; +i, 1913 NE., 53L ,

S FP. i Raps were the adopted sons of Binayak Rao, a descen-
e L Tl M Raghoba aod @ conncction of Nama Sabib (FP. i
924). His chief mannger, Radhagobinda, (NE. % 537, 541) was the real instigator
922). M chiel e wo brothers after having been judicially conviots? an

4 T avation for iz for rbellon were secommended, or ey

v sties to the amount of 25,55,000 rupees, the prop: 5

Bt g i 0 Rt WA ey i
open rebellion (Hindy Patriot, 14 Janvary and 7 October, 1838).

€. eraa—
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factorses had been working 1 full swing* Other rebels, the
pandits of Jalaun, took possession of the pargana of Khundeh
to the west of Banda and the dwmaffected populace from
Panna, Charkhan, Ajaigarh occupied other parts of the dis
trict Thus the rebellion culmnated 1n the complete subversion
of the British power 2

By I'ebruary 1858, the revolutionary flame was in full
blaze The nawab was jomed by Wazir Khan and other
disgruntled shahzadas, but could not hold on agawnst the
Brtish offensive led by general Whitlock on 19 April and left
Banda for Kalp with two thousand followers Banda was
occupied the next day The fury of the people was mamfested
1 a spate of anti-Bnitish activaties hike the destruction of the
church and the desecration of the chnistian bunal ground
Narayan Rao and Madho Rao stll mamtammed themselves
with an army of forty guns and fifteen thousand men in the
cast and styled themselves as Peshwas

The popular character of the rebellion at Banda was re-
flected n the determination of the masses to extermunate
the smnllest vestige of their former masters and the policy of
the authonties t0 make ‘severe impresyons’ which would
strike terror anto the hearts of the people—hanging, floggmng
and transporting the ring leaders, burming villages and des
troying houses The official report disclosed that there was not
a single village marked on the map that had not more or less
commutted itsel;® and the details given of the hostle feelings of
the people of eight disaffected parganis show how the rebellion
spread from village to villge ¢ Some of these rose 1 arms even
before 14 June and set up their own king, closed the roads,
others agun like the Simn and Wasilpur people n the pargana
Simoum sent messengers t0 the neighbounng willages to joun
1n the destruction of government tahsil records and treasunies
and many of these remarted w gpen rehellon &l Aped 1858

1 Malleson, w201
*NE : 530
P NE 1 53¢
N the f Nana Sahib were
s rebels of the distrct using the name of Nan: il
Py njg;E Sn’n;h' gng%ff §}::g;\°{NE ? 53‘9) MnEtand Rao Tanda ré_:}e) s;xppt;sle)d
nephew of Nana ssued orders Tor callecting troops at halps (FP v
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HAMIRPUR

In Hamirpur the landholders of the mawza Ramari
manifested a disposition to revolt even before the actual out-
break of the mutiny of troops on 13 June. The mutinous
sepoys committed the usual outrages including the murder of
T. K. Lloyd, the magistrate, which is considered to be ‘one of
the worst of the many black crimes’ which polluted the rehel-
lion.! A general upsurge followed, people rose on all sides and
directed their attacks against the bankers, the money-lenders,
farmers and specially the auction purchasers “who had gained
possession of half the estate in the district.” The usual jacquerie
commenced throughout the district and the inevitable war
between cx-zamindar and actual purchaser became general.2
G. H. Freeling, the collector and magistrate, observed:

1 need scarcely say that the great feature in the rebellion here has
been the universal ousting of all bankers, baniyas, marwaris etc.
from landed property in the district by whatever means they acquired

it3

In July the peshwa’s rule was proclaimed* and Nana’s
flag was hoisted in most villages.? Word, it is said, came from
Nana Sahib to Sheikh Wahiduzzuman to rule in his name® but
official correspondence also refers to Mirza Rahim Beg as an
agent of Nana and Bhow Tantia as his dewan.! The head-
man of the nawab of Banda, Rahimuddin was a rebel while
the town was held by the raja of Beri.®

dan Rao (FP. viii, 73, 76), Rao Amrec, Miharen Beg, Shamser Khan and

ﬁgzg;;mﬂnlgak Mir (FP, x?iii, 74) were also regarded a3 rebels by the govern-
ment, Sikander Khan, the deputy-collector of Band, was without doubt a rebel
(FP. i, 231). The nawab of Banda surrendered but his life was spared and a
pension of £000 rupecs was Allotted for his subsistence (Martin, i, 500).

L NE. i, 545.

2 Chick, op. ¢it,, 510,

3 NE. i, 548.

4 NE. i, 547.

*NE. i, 548.

¢ FP. vii, 209.

7 FP. ix, 604.

s FP, ix, 834.
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JALAUN

Jalaun, to the north-west of Hamurpur and seventy-six miles
from Jhanst, was not turned into a centre of popular commo-
tion, but a1t became the scene of some of the famous encounters
of the wars of the mutiny At Kalp: which was a most strategic
centre over the Jumna, the revolutionary leaders umted
theirr forces and sent expeditions across the Jumna and
down below After the revolt at Jhansi, the 53rd regiment
at Ora: deserted therr officers on 9 June which was followed by
the withdrawal of the British Authonity was exercised by the
gursart chief Kesha Rao and his eldest son Sheo Ram Tanna
The former played a double game and the latter was most
flagrant® but Nana's defeat and flight from Cawnpore had 2
sobering effect on the conduct of these chiefs, and later on
they were overthrown by Tantta Topy Tanta reached Kalp
on 29 October, some days after Kunwar Singh’s arrival at the
same place He took up the cause of Tarabar, a lady of a
oyal famly whom he placed m power by overthrowing the
Britsh agents on 3 November ® The principal chiefs of the
rebel government who exercised aunthonty n these parts
were Pandit Tantia Ganguly and Mohammed Ishaq who
exercised joint anthonty, and Tarabavs agent, Biswas Rao3

Kunwar and Tanta umted thewr forces and advanced 1 an
attack on Cawnpore leaving Bala Rao, Nana's brother, 1n
charge of the magazine at Kalpt Dunng this time Nanvs
nephew Rao Sahib afso took up his resdence at Kalpt which
1n course of tme became the headquarters of the rebel forces
comung from different parts The accumulation of artillery
and muilitary stores naturally added to the strength of the fort
After his defeat at Cawnpore Tantia fell back on Kalpt and
then he proceeded to Charkhan which he compietely desporled
On I Apnl, 1858, Tantia was agam defeated n s attempt
to reach succour and remnforcements to the ram of Jhnst who
was hesteged in the fort He fell back on Kunch, thirty-eight

LINE 1 579 584 Report by G Passanah magutrate

* When the movement collapsed Tarabas of Jalaun ker infant son and her
husband Narayan Rao were deported to Monghyr where they rended under
Brinsh surveillance {NE u 272)

Y NE i, 575, 579
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miles to the south of Kalpi, determined to dispute the passage
of the British arms on the Jhansi road marching for Kalpi, but
in the action of 7 May he could not take his stand and re-
treated towards Kalpi with the pursuing British army at his
beels. Malleson says that the manner in which the Indians
conducted their retrcat could not be surpassed, but the defeat
sowed great distrust among the rcbels? Meanwhile the rani
of Jhansi repaired to Kalpi as also the nawab of Banda and
the leaders with Rao Sahib prepared for the defence of the
entrcnchment against the besieging army of Sir Hugh Rose.
The siege and capture of Kalpi? is one of the most large scale
actions of the mutiny. It is evident that the rebels prepared for
a defence at depth but their exertions, unfortunately enough,
did not turn out to be as desperate as the intensity of the
preparations would permit. Kalpi fell on 23 May, onc day
after the open assault commenced, and the huge arsenal fell
into the hands of the conquerors.?

The deputy-commissioner of Jalaun reported that at first
the villagers appeared to have taken little interest in the rebel
movements but gradually several leaders sprang up from
among them. Restoration of the British rule in Jalaun was
disturbed by the rising of Barjor Singh, the rebel rajput
who plundered Kunch, Gambhir Singh and Debi Singh
raided Mote, a tahsil station on the Kalpi road, thirty-five
miles from Jhansi, on the very day when Rose took Kalpit
His bands were scattered on 31 May, but the attack on
Guwalior and the flight of the Sindhia on the following day
Ied to the collapse of the British authority for the time being

 Malleson, i, 178-9.

+ Kalpi wos the last srnd of the sepoys. They made huge preparations for its
defence and had sworn 1o die for it. A costemporany account of the intricate
ilitry works ingde Is frnished in the Hiady Patrie! of 3 June, 1858: A sub-
terraneous magazine has been discavered in the fort of Calpee, 1t contains 500
bacrels of powder and immense quactities of ordnance stares. L the town and
fort four foundries and manufactorizs for canmon were disu)\A:rtd, and one 18
pounder brass gu, oac brass cight inch mortar, and two brass pine pounder guns
2l made in these manufactories were found.” The same zccount is given o Lowe's
Centrel Indig, that the foundries for casting shot and shell were in perfect order
O that b the amsens] there were about 60,000 pounds of gun powder. For the
description of the battle see Malleson, iii, 163-5.

* Sylvester szys that there was 2o Willoughby on the Indian side to apply the
coatch {Recollections of the Caripaign, eics 167

& NE. i, 566,
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and Jalaun pracucally fell into the hands of Barjor Singh and
Daulat Singh of Indorkee Towards the end of July 1858, they
even advanced to the attach of Jalaun 1nd brought Kurch
under their control, but they were repulsed and cventually
on September 4 and 5 rebels and mutineers were finally
routed There werc other leaders of the people namely the
raja of Bhudek, the thakur of Bellanan Mohammed Adil, the
thanadar of Bungra, also turned a rehel!

JHANSI

Jhansi, a Maratha principalty, lay about one hundred and
forty mules south of Agra in the heart of Bundelkband 2 There
were many powerful chiefs in Jhanst who for one reason or
another bore a grudge agamst the Bntish rule On the death
of Gangadhar Rao n 1854 Jhans: lapsed to the Bnush terntory
which along with Jalaun and Chandenn wis formed into a
superintendency under Captamn Shene The rya’s widow,
Lakshrmibai by name,? celebrated m the annals of the Indian
mutny as the ran: of Jhanst, the herome of the war of indepen-
dence, was deeply irritated by the refusal of the British govern-
ment to allow her to adopt an heir to Gangadhar Rao A
penston of rupces five thousand a month was granted to her
1n exchange for the terrtory containing nearly three thousand
square miles and a population of about a quarter of a mulbon
which she surrendered She sent an agent to England to
redress the loss but to no effect and despite her objection,
slaughter of cattle was now authoritatively allowed 1n her
country which had not been practised formerly ¢ Turther, the

3NE 1, 575 (Report by A, H Ternan deputy commussioner), 578 Of el
despatches make yefevences to many other leaders of the neighbounng areas the
detaale of whese actynpes sre oot Nesertheless t 55 of some use 0
collect those names as showing the extent of the yebelion ‘The Tegent ram of
Tehrt and the raja of Datia were reported fo he i a state of contuxmzc (TP wx,

271, 572) By Singh thakur of Shabpur (FP 1x 272), Garur Singh, the raj of
Ramgarhs (TE 1x, 269 70), Mubban Singh (P 1x 278) are similarly mentoned

1 For the carly history of Jhanss and the ram sec Sen of af, 26770

s John Lang who saw her at close quarters before the mubiny says that she ad
aremarkably fine figure but her voce had an unnatural tone 2bout it {fondenags
wn India 93 91

4NE 1, 549 Report byJ W Pinkney, captam, commissioner
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two villages whose revenues supported the temple of Maha-
lakshmi were sought to be resumed, And in addition to it, the
usual rumours of defilement of caste must have aggravated her
mental discontent and hardencd her mind to take a decision
when the crisis came. Similarly the raja of Banpur had many
grievances to complain of. He had also the hope of gaining
the entire kingdom of Chanderi, the ancient possession of his
ancestors, on the expected fall of the British rule! Raja
Madan Singh of Banpur, it is learnt on good authority, went
to Jhansi after the demisc of Gangadhar Rao, and had con-
sultations with rani Lakshmibai which contact he kept up at
frequent intervals since then.? The rani also procured promise
from the puar thakurs and obaridars of Oodgaon, Nonri and
Jigna who had lost their oban righis in several of their villages,
10 join her.® There were many other disaffected chiefs such as
those of Jawahir Singh of Nanikpur and Mangal Singh of Jakh-
lon whose estates had been in whele or in part resamed. The
former along with ks son Ganeshjoo commenced plundering
even before the military insurrection of 5 June. The British
officers had obtained intelligence of an intended attack of the
puar thakurs of Karera pargana on the first day of the month.#

All these seem to indicate that the rani was in a state of
contumacy, and she has been severcly indicted by British his-
torians as the organiser of the mutiny at jhansi, But the state-
ment of contemporary British officers to the effect that Lakshmi-
ai was directly privy to the mutiny of troops at Jhansi, the 12th
regiment infantry and the 13th jrregular cavalry, and the
murder of the Europeans, has not been proved in the light of
more convincing evidence. On the contrary, the recent work
of an eminent historian cstablishes on firm ground that the
rani of Jhansi had no share ‘in instigating the mutiny of the
sepoys, in June, 1857, and took no part in the massacre of
the Europeans’.? The mutiny commenced on 5 June with a

1NE. i, 551

= Statement of Asi Duaga Md. Sbamsher Khan of Tilangarh, Orchha, whose
father and grand-father served in the army of Banpur, referring to the condition of
Jhansi in Pikzami 1914 (i e. 1857 AD.) and 1915,

2NE. i, 550.

tXE.§, 552

s Majuradar, of. cit, 149, 151, 152. Dr. Majumdar finds that the report of
captain Pinkney, the commissioncr {dated Jhansi, 20 November, 1838} does nat
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march for the star fort and on the next day the whole force
mutinied 1n accordance with a concerted plan when one
Ahsanaly called the musulmans to prayer and murdered their
officers 1n cold blood. The Europeans who took refuge 1n the
fort held out till the day following despite the desertion of
Raghunath Singh of Noner, but they had to surrender on 8
June when nearly sixty one of them fell victims to the fiendish
cruelty of the troopers imuated by Bakshisaly, the juil daroga
All through this period the usual acts of depredation were
committed, viz sacking and burning of government buildings,
cantonments and bungalows and the jml prisoners were
released The rani assumed the reins of government on behalf
of her adopted son, Damodar Rao, a child of eight years
and a proclamation was 1ssued to that effect

The people are god’s, the country 15 the Padshah’s, and the Ray 1
Ranee Luchmee Baee's !

The queen of Jhanst rose to the occasion, she strengthened
the fortifications of Jhanu and Karera (thirty mules west of
Jhans), levied troops, and established a nunt Both Malleson
and Kincaid testified that she proved herself a most capable
ruler The latter wntes that she personally attended to official
business and managed her revenues with thnft and pru
dence Dressed as a man, she lstened to petition® mn open

refer to the parucipation of the ram i the procession of 6 June (Jord 138 9) The
report of Scot which was accepted by mutiny histonans hike Kaye, Malleson and
Holmes 1 also found to be utterly unconvincing m so far as the guwlt of the ram
was concerned a}md 139) Further the evidence of Mrs Mutlow i regard to the
guarantee of safe conduct to the besicged Englshmen by the ram and her paru

@pation n the conflict s contradicted by other more trustworthy statements
(Ifm’ 140-4) All such views referring to the gt of the rant are to a great extent
dhisctedited by the letter of colonel Martin an which he asserted that the mother
of Damodar Rao tock 5o part whatever in the massacre of the Europeans at
Jhanst The government communscation of 18 August 1857 that no pomtive
‘evidence of rani s guilt was available ull then goes to strengthen Martin s conten

tion {Ihid 144 5) Nepative evidence 1n favour of Lakshmibais mnocence are
also not wanting_ Pinkney s report indicates that she was forced under duress 1o
oin the sepovs The fact that she had to pay a large sum to the sepoys to accept
{x:r clams to Jhanst 1n preference to her mal Sadasheo Rao definitely weakens
the theory that the mutiny was the result of a conspracy orgamsed by the rap:
(Ihsd 145-46) The sepoys also deserted her and Ieft Jhanst for Delhi on 12 June

Cf also C A Rancard who used most of the points as above ta disprove rants

complicity mn the mutiny (Lakshon: Bar Ram of Fhanst p 11}

UNE 1 555, FP xx, 206

T hancaid op at, 7
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cowt ancd she was an excellent and fireless rider, The
rebel government with the rani at its head consisted  of
Moropant Tambe, the father of Lnkshmibai? Lalo Bakehi,
the paymaster, Yachman Rao, the dewan, Kashinath, the
tabsildar.? She had five hundred Kabuli pathans in her army
and had immense faith i them,

Rani Lakshmibai is said 10 have entered into close relationy
with Nana Sahil but her subsequent activities present 2
different picture of the sttuation, Kineaid sgprests that her
attempt at sceuring o good adwinistration of the countey hnd
o purpose behing itz she hoped that the governwent in the end
would sanctian hier son's suceession o the throne, In faety in
the letters she wrote 10 Fiskine, the commissioner and agent
of Sugar division, on 12 and 14 June, she asswred the authorities
that she would hold Jhansi ou behalf of the Brivish, Rrskine
did not suspect the ran’s sineerity, authotised her in a formal
communication to colleet the sevenue and evenr assared her
that she would be Tiberally dealt with3

Al these exchanges raise @ strong presumption in favour of the
yan, that she was not in the ey stages of the vevolt o deter-
mined enemy of the English, The sepoys left her undefended
against the English or neighbouring hostile chieflains, the
Bundela fana of Orchia in particular with whom she hiad 2
bragh, Naturally, she was obliged to turn o the Ynplish for
help and indeed depended on them up 10 the carly part of
1058 for proteetion,t but hefugy driven by tortuous diplomacy
she had eventually to range hersell” against the Buglish, The

1FD, by, 028,

& N, 1 555, The rant hiad many other faithf) ndbeients, Than Rotg, Khodn
Tk, Googadbor (idy, Gunbbe Singh, Debi .s'm(m (]Nl,.vl. rmqg. Snlel
Ao the doctor (¥, 1% 246}, Tonk Jhal and Nundiar (NE3, 867), The
pollee, the custone peony, s chnpuy Jolted the arvolt,

8 NE, 1, 5553 Majumdor, ofn city 1404 Sen, o cit, 280, 992, Bt Tasklne's
exhinustive 1eport nrdi‘n |mu\m/u))ln. an Knye thys (t, 37001, does nol contiin
& word about Plalueys statcment that the annt Tmenteed (e Thaust wnsacted,
Rightly enowgh Di. Majumdar cowsides b to be i consplucy of silence whith
srengihens Iﬁr‘ Delier that the Tritish historinne have not tieded to the polniy
Diaving a hem bng on the innotence ol the 1l (i, 147:9)

Kinesid, o eit, 163 Seny afn cify 2834, For nvery ciltienl extimnte of the
po\hll:tl“:iu‘n:xf\l"rlx'n ’l’n “wehich lhu‘- x{\nl \v:|< placed wee Mafuawlar, ap ity 240,
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government however, remained prejudiced against her despite
her friendly gestures. Dr R. C. Majumdar writes:

The attitude of Erskine and Harmilton must have made it quite clear
to the ram that she was already in the hst of war-criminals, and her
fate was doomed. She tried by all means in her powér to remove the
suspicion of the government, but falled In these circumstances the
chaiee of the brave and high-souled Rani of Jhansi was not a difficult
one Many lesser men have chosen to die i the battle fidd rather
than by the hands of a hangman We need not wonder, therefore,
that the noble Ram of Jhansi chose to fight the Brtish rather than
submittoa trial. ... . . 2

During thss time Lalitpur and Chanderi rapidly fell into
great disorder, the thakurs rose in all directions and collected
in ‘large bodies principally at Talbahat’ Mardan Singh, the
raja of Banpur, at first played a double game negotiating for
terms and terntonies, but eventually became an open rebel,
and the master of Chanderi. From Lalitpur, his headquarters,
he, along with the raja of Shahgarh, made demonstrations of
their strength Mardan Smgh also occupied the ghats, intr-
gued with the sepoys and opened a private camel dak to
Jhansi. He 15 also reported to have extorted money from the
trading classes and established a cannon foundry, as stated?
and indeed the official papers of this time are full of accounts
of his rebellious proceedings.

The Central Indian Field Force under Rose captured

+ Rahatgarh and rehieved Sagar with a successful assault on the
Mort of Garhakota. Rose then overcame the opposition of the
raja of Banpur and advanced towards Jhans on 27 February.
On the way he cleared the Madanpur Pass held by the raja
of Shahgarh by a brlhiant charge of infantry on 4 March m
the face of the determined defence of the rebels The army
reached Chanchanpur by forced marches, fourtcen mles
from Jhansi fort! on the 19th. The strength of the fort was
computed at eleven thousand men composed of mutineers,
mercenaries and Jevies, The siege of Jhansi, the stronghold

2 Majumdar, op at, 154

*NE 3, 558, 562

* Malleson, w, 1421

4 For a description of the fort see Malleson, i, 157-8
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of rebel power in Central India, commenced on 29 March,
1858. The skill, vigour and energy with which the Indians
fought at Jhansi made it one of the most memorable of the
wars of the mutiny. Rani Lakshmibai put forward a resolute
and spirited defence, personally inspecting the defences and
taking part in risky operations! For seven days from the
25th, the British batteries opened fire keeping up an incessant
fusiltade. The cannonade effected a breach, and the fort was
in the danger of falling when Tantia Topi rushed with
twenty-two thousand men and twenty-eight guns from the
north, for the relief of the garrison.

On 1 April, 1858, Tantia Topi advanced to the attack on
British forces whose guns failed to check him. The battle took
place in Orchha territory about one mile north-west of Nohat-
ghat where the Nowgong road crosses the Betwa, It was a
fierce cengagement in which Rose was outflanked and was
saved only by the sudden appearance of brigadier Stuart who
threw into dismay the force advancing right in the direction
of jhansi and compelled Tantia to fly away towards Kalpi in
Jalaun. Fifteen hundred rebels were killed. On 2 April, Rose
determined to storm the palace, and a dreadful struggle ensucd
on the next day. The British army gained a footing on the
ramparts in the teeth of fierce opposition which indicated a
general and determined resistance of the rebel forces. Even
the women, as Sir Hugh writes:

were seen working in the batteries and carrying ammunition, The
garden battery was fought under the black flag of the fakir®

The stormers of both parties then united and advanced towards
the palace. Simultancously a fierce street fighting was going on.
The houses on both sides of the streets had been set on fire, and
severe fighting took place in every avenue leading to it. When
the palace was gained cvery room in it was savagely contested,
Thus the palace was taken by storm along with the city,
No lIess than five thousand perished at Jhansi. The mode by

cc of the final assault, the rani was distracted by
i letmes s that on b o o0 Sing to Kincaid the queen wished o

(0. city . n
meet Rose and state her case personally (o cit, 7).
% Martin, 5, 485; Malleson, iii, 160, 162-5. Holmes, o cik, 511-4.
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on 31 May by major Orr, but the revolt in Gwalior encouraged
him to entertam poliical motives and for the time beng he
became very powerful 1 Jalaun Towards the end of July
1858, Mansiram, an adherent of the ram, took the fort
of Mayapur and the rebel bands under Daulat Singh and
Barjor Singh brought Kunch under their control This had a
very bad effect, the puars and other mlcontents were prepar
g to rise They, however, could not hold on agawst captam
Ashburner who drove away Barjor and scattered hus followers
on 45 September On 6 October, 1853, Tanua’s troops
nearly eleven thousand men under the command of Rao
Sahib, agmn entered Thanst near Mayapur and took Pachor
and also occupied Talbahat, where he was joined by all the
Bundelas of the northern part of the Chanden district Tantia
also came swooping down and attacked Chanden on 7
Qctober, but general Michael drove back the mvaders on 14
Qctober Tantia Top: and Rao Sahib then umted thewr forces at
Laltpur, they were also joined by the Bundelas, but Michael
agamn inflicted a crushing defeat on the combined forces at
Khapuria near Smdwaha on 18 October Tantia with his
host fled to Sagar with a pursuing British army at s hee
Tor some time he roamed about 1n the Narbada terntory, and
held out Fighting as he fled and flymg as he fought,’ until 7
April, 1858, when he was captured while asleep i the Paron
Jungles, ten mules from Sipn to the west of Jhanst in Gwator,
by the treachery of Man Singh Man Singh was a vassal
lord of Sindhia, a disaffected chuef, and a nephew of At
Smgh of Gwalior, another stormy rebel Tanta Topr was
tried and hanged on Apnl 18, 1859, at Sipn for waging war
agamst the Kiog His bearng was calm and fearless to the
last 2
2 3d 56870

aMartin 1 498 Russells description of Tantia publshed m the Tumes
(17 Janvary 1850), will be of mterest at all times to alf lovers of this great heto
of India s struggle Tor Ireedom  He marched 30 or 40 smiles a day  up mountum
over mvers through rawines on he goes backwards and forwards cvasiye 45
Proteus® For detnls of the romantic tscapades and the hero ¢ exertionsof Tantia
1n the perod between June 1858 and Apnl 1858 and the way 1 which his captire
wag effected by Meade of Meade s horse see Malleson, i 319 387 But T‘anuas
rushes and forays were not p: d with g 1n the ol pop

The following are some of the adherents of Tantla ~Thakur Narayan Swgh

Ajt Smgh Thakur Ganga Swingh raja Man Sngh pawab Adi Mo-
hammed and Imamab This 1 known from Tantia Topi s vofuntary depasition
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SAGAR

In Sagar and Narbada territories the disturbances were
general. By the end of July 1857, the Sagar district was nearly
all in the hands of the rebels, The fort of Rahatgarh, twenty-
four miles from Sagar in the western border, was taken posses-
sion of by Fazil Mohammed, nawab of Amabapanni in Bhopal,
who also styled himself as the Prince of Mandasor. The strong
fort of Garhakota! about thirty miles from Sagar in the east was
occupied by the Shahagarh troops. At the same time the raja
of Banpur with more than a thousand men moved dows
from the north and took up position at Niraoli, about nine
miles from Sagar.? The whole of Damoh was swarming with
rebels Jed by Kishori Singh, the chief of Hindorea, a place
twelve milesfrom Damoh,3 By the end of August, all places to
the north of the Narbada with the exception of the sadar sta-
tions were in flames, police stations were deserted, malguzars
forced to join the rebels and deks and all communications were
closed.t On 15 September, the Banpur raja even repulsed the
expedition of lieutenant colonel Dalyell sent to storm his
entrenchment, in which the loss of the attacking party was
severe.5 Other rebels connected with the Sagar rising were Jun-
gah Singh,¥ Bulbhudar Singh, talukdar of Sohagpur, Lachman
Singh, the brother of the raja of Shahagarh? and nawab
Kandar Khan Pindari.$ The most famous of the Sagar rebels
was Daulat Singh who was said to have been the ringleader
in the Sagar mutiny and for whose apprehension a reward of

taken on 10 April, 1859, by major Meade (J6id, i, 514-524). Also sec Sylvester,
Recollections of the Campaign, etc. 197f; 217E and Sen, op. it., 371f. Richard Hilton,
in his book an the Indian Mutiny, recently published writes that the exploits
of Tantia are comparable to those of Christian De Wet at the end of the Boer
War, or Von Lettow Vorbeck in German East Africa. (The Indian Mutiny,
194).

1P, iv, 4, 15,

1 FP, iv, 250,

3 NE. i, 597: Report by major W, . Evskine, commissioner of the Jabalpur
Division.

¢ NE. §, 600, .

8 Malleson, i, 106-07.

S FP. vi, 193,

TFP. ix, 614,

¢ FP. ix, 850.
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rupees one thousand was offered by the govermment 1 With
his followers he swept through Jalaun, Jhansi, Hosangabad
and Rajputana

JABALPUR

Meanwhile trouble was brewing in Jabalpur Raja Shankar
Shah, the last of the gonda chiefs and a proud descendant of
rant Durgavat: of Garhamandla and a pensioned chief of the
government, residing close to Jabalpur, was suspected to be enga-
ged n plotting with the sepoys to attack and Inll the Europeans
on the last day of the maharam On searching the raja’s bouse
several documents were found, particularly a piece of paper on
which the raja had wmtten a prayer invoking his diety to
aid hum to upset the Briish government and estabhish hus own #
A sumilar prayern the handwnting of Tus son, Raghunath Shah
swas also found They were arrested on 14 September and were
tned for plotung agamnst the companyray 3 The father and the
son were tied to the mouth of a cannon and blown away on 18
September 4 The old man with his snow white hair main-
taned a haughty bearing to the last The entire act was made
public and people were called to witnesy this scene Half burnt
remains were collected on behalf of the ram, while European
officers ‘looked on with a smule of gratified revenge on ther
hps '8

pDurmg this time Jabalpur was 1 ferment In Sthora and
Sleemanabad, the thakurs plundered 1n all directions, and Peb
Singh, Jagat Singh and Bahadur Smgh assembled therr forces
in Burg pargana to the south of the Narbada These three,
according to official report, were 1n league with Shankar

1 The Enghsiman quoted m the Hindu Pairiot 3 December, 1858 Sujat Khaa
Pundars and nawah Adil Mohammed Khan are mentioned as rebels of Bhopat
(NE u, 323)

SNE 1 602 The prayer 1s very sumilac 1n content to the famous hypmin
honour of sakts :ompo!‘;d); few years later by the celebrated Hengah povelst
Bankim Chandra Chatterjec

$ The Engliskman 1 October, 1857

4FP vis, 277, 2812

¥ Marhn, 1, 49}
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Shah in his meditated attack on the Europeans.! The army
they brought to the field at this time was further swelled by
the contributions reccived from the Shahgarh raja, Indra
Singh and from many others such as the malguzars and the
Ramnagar chiefs. Their main object was to attack Damoh.
Extensive preparations were made which received support from
Arjun Dawa, Maharaj Singh Dawa, Ramprasad Pulhulwan,
officers of the Shahgarh raja, as also from the Lodhis of the
district.? The young raja of Bijeraghogarh, raja Sugjurprasad
Singh, raised an army, strengthened his fort and succeeded in
closing the Deccan road for months, He was in open rebellion
and led 2 band of three thousand men with some guns. He
was sentenced to transportation in the Andamans but he ended
his life with a dagger.$

The tension in the country to the north of the Narbada
continued for a long time, On 30 November, 1857, Debi Singh
the burgi leader attacked and burned the Jabalpur thana of
Shahpur on the road to Narsinghpur# On 9 January, 1858,
about four thousand rebels from Rahatgarh and Bhopal
including two hundred and fifty pathans under Adil Moham-
med Khan of Bhopal, Bulbhudar Singh of Singpur in Sagar
aided by Delan Shah, Narwar Singh and others of Narsinghpur
attacked Tendukhera to the north of the Narbada® Malleson
says that captain Terman defeated the invading rebels at
Madanpur in the month of January.$ Apparently it had no
effect, as on 26 April, 1858, nearly five hundred rebels under
Ranadhir Singh, Pratab Singh, Debi Singh and Hiramat
Singh again attacked and destroyed the Mujhoti thana in
Jabalpur.”

3 ER. i, 272,

+FP. ix, 276-7.

» B, i, §78.

A NE. 5, 614; FP.ix, 2712

NE.§, 618, e St

« Malicon, i, 10809, The other xebels of Jabalpur were Jagat Singh o
Berkonr (b §72.3),  Thakur Hindupat (FF: vi, 281.2) Tntita Singh (FP.
a7y, vaia. Mahipht Singh of Baigaon, Bhup Singh, Nimbhers Sakss,
Kuman Singh (FP. ix, 578), Babadue Singh, A\!z\u%hsr i (EP. ix, 272, 583),
Sheodan malguzar and Murat Singh (FPL ix, 271).

*NE. }, 626, 628.

@ erta—15
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NARBADA TERRITORIES

The swell of the great wave of rebelion was felt an the
Central provinces In Mandla all the petty chiefs were
n rebellion followed mostly by the gonds armed with match
locks They had their headquarters at Ramgarh and Sohag
pur The principal rebels were Bikramyit, the raja of Rimgarh
Byaya Singh of Shahpur wnd human Singh of Mhoka® and
one Asajt2? Captain Waddmgton 1n a series of operations
suppressed the nsing of the seditious populace who were
headed by the thakurs of Shahpur, Bhao Singh and Himmat
Singh, 1n an action at Mandla i Apni 1858 3 He then marched
to Ramgarh where the rani, the consort of rya Bikrampt
raised the standard of revolt and prepared to resist the Bntish
offensive The estate of the raja was managed by the court of
wards which was resented by the queen of Ramgarh But she
could not hold on and was dniven to the pont of surrender
Yet she did not give herself up, but like the celebrated ram
Durgavati stabbed herself to death m defence of her honour
and prestige On her deathbed she adnutted that the country
people had been stirred to rebellion by her inducement

Narsinghpur was attached by nawab Adif Mohammed Khan
of Bhopal and Mirbhan Singh, a noted local leader, in October
1857 The lattercame with about eight hundred Bundelns 4 The
burg gonds were led by Sheo Baksh Lodh 5 Mention 15 k0
made of one Jodht of the village of Sumwarh® and of others
such as Rao Bahadur Singh,? Dewvt Gunten® and Ganjan Singh
of Singpur® who took part 1n the destruction of the thants and
nterrupting  commumcations 1n the Narbadn terntories
Ganyan Simgh and all his follow luding one D~lgany:
were killed m the encounter with captams Wolley and Robe

1FP ix 583 NE : 618 626
1FP 1x 839 NE.x 617

S NE : 627

4 FP i 571 576
3FP w 579 583

¢ FP x 571 579
TFP w 609 613
*FP ix 615

*FP ix 802 609
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in the month of November.? In May 1858, Himmat Singh and
Bh:.xo‘ _Singh of Nimkhera still continued their plundering
activitics and it was suggested that two companies and two
guns were to be kept in the Deccan road to keep the dak
communication open. Delan Shah of Narsinghpur who had
been leader of a simifar revolt in 18422 was still going strong
]ag\d l;mnched another attack on British outposts on 16 May,

58.

The district of Hoshangabad passed through a series of
convulsions, In the Harda pargana the police broke out and
raised the mahomedan standard. Early in the month of
Octaber, 1857, Nemawar pargana of the district north of the
Narbada was seized by one Ramkissen, a self-styled agent of
the Gwalior darbar, who hoisted the Maratha flag.? He had
with him a following of three bundred and fifty men and was
further aided by a f{orce of mewati rebels, two thousand strong
under Daulat Singh, the rebel thakur of Rahatgarh.® Ram-
kissen was seized and cxecuted on 13 October. But Daulat
Singh carried on his hostile activities and won over Kalyan
Singh, a jamadar of police, to his side. Kalyan with Lal Khan,
a mewati chief, held the fort of Sutwas two marches from
Nemawar. But they were taken by surprise and hanged on 17

* Malleson, ii, 108.

2 Chaudburi, Giil Disturbances, 177.8; NE. i, 618

5 The official papers give the following description of the activities of Delan
Shah, Tn January 1836, the British force made a long march dashing into the
rebel viflage of Mundenpoor (Saugor Narbada Territories), surprised all, captured
some rebels (amongst whom were a son and a grand-son of Delun Shah, the rebel
Jeader o 1842, and akso in this insurrection) and killed others (NE. i, 618).
About the middle of March 1858, Mirbhan Singh and the rébd leader, Delun
Shah met avith severe punishment at the hands of the Deputy Commissioner and
Tx. Walton of the 28th Madras N.L. who took them by surprise in the jungles
somewhere on the bank of the Narmada (NE. i, 625-7).

On the 16th May, 1858, the rebel leader Delun Shah of Nursingpore who
had long been hiding 1 the jungles, attacked Muddunpoor on the right bank of
the Nerbudda, his former residence, but was gallantly met by the police, who heat
i off, followed him and seized him. He was a leader of nate in the rebellion of
1843, and had been released. He was now tried by the deputy-commissioner (as
special eommissioner) and Fanged, This settled Nursingpore for good, 1 hope;
Tt we stll awant the other leader Mirbhan Singh, whose father rebelled in 1843,
andwas bung in jail (Report of major Erskine, commissioner, Jubbalpore Division,
10 August, 1858); [NE. 1, 6281

£ NE. i, 6080
s FP. ix, 571, 575
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October, 1857 Ram Singh, son of Kalyan Singh, was sen
tenced to impnsonment for life mn transportaton! In Aprd
1859, the Bhopal leader, nawab Adil Mohamed Khan sup-
ported by one Bhabhut Sgh, a jagirdar of Harralot, surred
up a commotion which called for big engagements of the
Madras mfantry Bhabhut and his cluef subordmate Holt
bhai were caught in January 1860 2

Nimar 15 famous 1n the mutiny annals as the place where
ongipated the mysterious cakes, which unsettled the minds
of the people, but no organised nising took place there, and
1 fact the peace of this distnict as of Betul, Chhindwara and
Seoms was scarcely disturbed excepting when Tantia passed
through the distnets m s wsual forays One such march of
Tantia 1 October 1858 across this country to reach Nagpur
was fraught with a grave danger of Maratha nsing but 1t was
too late A lodhi landholder of Scom commutted himsell
agapst the government

CENTRAL PROVINGES

Nagpur, recently annexed, would have been the scene of a
rebellion, but no nsmg took place there except the revolt of
Narayan Singh, zammndar of the hilly estate of Sonakhann the
south western extremuty of the distict The Sonakhan rajas had
always been noted for their hostle atutude to the Britsh
occupation of Nagpur R Jenhuns rcported aganst the then
noted leader Ramrm which necessitated the adopmon of
mubtary measures i 1810 Narayan Singh was suffening a
term of imprisonment in the Raspur jml at the nme of
the mutiny He effected his escape and stirred up a widespread
disturbance which was joined by many other msurgent elem
ents Narayan Singh was hanged in 1858 3 In other parts, as in
Chanda, the gonds mamfested a rebelhous disposttion and
along with the rotullas openly remamed 1 a state of vevolt

£FP 1 580

1 DG Hoshangabad, 3839 The rajs of Chandghar was reported 1o be
disaffected (FP 1 591)

DG Nagpur 61-62 Another leader Dadal Singh was sentenced to death by
hangng (FP iv 46) 1 Nagpur
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They were led by Bapu Rao, a chief Mollampalli who carried
on a desultory fight from the jungles! and Venkat Rao, a
zamindar of Arpalli.? In March-April 1858, they assumed a
posture of strength at diffcrent outposts, but with the capture
of Bapu Rao the rebellion died down.

In Hyderabad, the disaflected muslim community were
kept in check by the exertions of Salar Jang, the able minister
of Nizam Afzaluddaulah, Great commotion prevailed calling
upon the faithful to murder Europeans, and the green flag
was hoisted. On 17 July, five hundred of the rohilla troops and
four thousand of the people of Hyderabad rose in insurrection
but they were sent back reeling by a fire of grape. The ring
leaders were Torabaz Khan and maulavi Alauddin. One
Chida Khan, a jamadar, also took a prominent part in the
conspiracy.?

MARATHA COUNTRY

In general, Bombay did not manifest any symptoms of mass
rising during this period though the chiefs in some cases were
not well disposed to the government. The sepoys manifested
a disposition to revolt, but the situation was saved only by skilful
management. The raja of Sholapur was captured.? Trouble

- was brewing in Satara as sympathy was felt for the adopted
sons who had been deprived of their estates. Other feuda-
tory chiefs were disgruntled for similar reasons. All the elements
of discord existed and a plot was even hatched, but the attempt
of Rango Bapuji to seizc the government proved a'tmrgivc.5
The mahomedan population of Belgaum formed a conspiracy
which had its ramifications at Kolhapur, Hyderabad and at
Poona.t Kolhapur was sixty-five miles distant from Belgaum.
Malleson says that the regiments in these stations and also

* Hindi Patriot, 3 January, 1838,

= FP. vill, 169 .
e e 7 B | STl i s o . 90 s
to have been drewn from the daily.

* FP. viii, 100, 106.

- % Holmes, of. cit., 448

© Malleson, if, 32-33.
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the one at Dharwar were showing symptoms of mutiny and
Were I ¢ ation for 1 I acuon They were
secretly supported by the discontented chicfs and openly by
the Mahomedans Accordingly, the 27th at Kolhapur rose in
arms on 31 July, and though they were effectively challenged,
the commotion could not be suppressed The nsing 1t
Kolhapur soon assumed 2 formudable character and had con
siderable strength behind 1t The Gadkan nsing 1t holhapur
m 1844 showed the strong feching of hostiity of the people
agamst the Bnush?! In the willages within eight mules of
Kolhapur about a thousand men collected with arms to resist
the enforcement of the disarnung act They were moastly
villagers and not sepoys On the morning of 6 December, 1857,
the rebels entered the town of Kolhapur and took 1t by surpnse
They were soon attacked, defeated and thirty six of them were
executed 1 the course of a diy The insurgents appeared, as
the Poona Observer wrote (December 12), ‘no better than 1
set of half starved willagers and beggars 2

Shorapur on the southern border of the Nizam s terntory in
the district of Gulburga was the scene of a poliical tragedy The
rya Venhatappa Natk who had been sentenced to transportt
tion for treason blew out s bramns 10 escape this dishonour
His family had ruled for thirty generitions in that country 2
The people of the southern Maratha country were exoted to
dangerous discontent by the action of theinam commussion 4
The ermssanies from Nana Sahib also must have worked there
to produce convulsions which indeed took place, and 1 the
country both 1bove and below the ghats, the British authonty
mct with resistance 3 Nargund, a small place 1 the southern
Marathn country, offers the last instance of the bloedy reaction
agnst the British policy on adoption Baba Sxlub e chef

t Chaudhun CGic ! Dusturbances 165

2 The Querlend Bombay Times LSth to 16th December) 1857 p 234 Halt
Patriot 24 December 1857 Sce also Malleson 11 237

# Mayun 15 486 For details of the smart action at Shorapue
1 1259

¢ Holmes of ot 448 e dea®

* For the dwaffected populace and chicfs of the Maratha country the
of b ttur_and the cblefamrgund—srr Malleson 11,2930 For \hr; s ok of the
desans of kattur 1 the pre.m it ny period see Co§ Dsturbances op o

sec Malfeson
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was denied the right of adoption in his family which had held
possession of the state for two hundred years. The inam com-
mission had also roused bitterness in his mind. So he declared
war against the British government on 27 May, 1858. Mal-
Ieson’s treatment of this episode would show that the revolt
of the Nargund chief brought into existence a national rising
in the southern Maratha country. Having declarcd war he
commenced his depredations in which he was joined by Bhim
Rao, the chiel of Kopaldrug, but was captured on 3 June. He
was tried on 11 June and in his defence he pleaded that the fear
of arrcst, as in the case of the Jamkhandi raja, had provoked
him to rebellion. He was executed on the next day before
a large number of people. His mother and wife had drowned
themselves previously on the Malaprabha river, to avoid
disgrace.! The rebellion at Savantvadi in February, 1858,
which was excited by the three sons of Phond Savant was a
continuation of the carlier rising.? Far in the south, symptoms
of revolt among the Moplahs were reported in September 1857;
that about four hundred of them had mustered strong possibly
under the influence of the moplah priest, Syed Fazl3

MALWA

In central India Holkar’s troops revolied, religious mendi-
cants made their appearance among the troops on 27 June in
Indore, and the mutiny occurred on 1 July. About twenty
christian residents had been slaughtered and all public build-
ings had been demolished.! Of the popular leaders, the
rehellious activities of the raja of Amjhera were of a very
subversive nature. Along with his agent and three officials he
was tried, found guilty and sentenced to death Ajida,

* Malleson, iii, 238-246; Hindu Patriot, 29 July, 1858.

* Chaudhuri, Giuil Disturbances, 171

2 The Englishman, 19 Scptember, and 12 December, 1857, The Indian Mutiny
pussibly raised echoes also in Martaban where act 14 and 16 of 1857 was extended
(Hindy Patriot, 14 January, 1858).

¢ Kaye, iii, 33In. For the alleged implication of Holkar in the revolt, iid.
338 Also Maliosa, 3, 226-33.

s FP, viii, 100; FP. ix, §85. Onc Baba Apte was also bung during this period
(The Englishman, 91 Junc, 1838).
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RAJPUTANA

In Rayputana comprising eghteen ‘native’ states, the mutin-
1es and rebelions had not taken the same form as
upper India. Nimach was threatened by attacks from the
Mandasor rebels who seized Jiran towards the end of Octoher
and defeated a party of British pickets ! In the preceding month,
on 8 September, nearly 4,000 men laid siege to Nimach, which
lasted for fifteen days 2 Many other disaffected chiefs scem to
have been engaged 1n the rising at Nimach They are the raja
of Narwala® Rahimal of Aligarh,' Rao Ramkishore the
deposed mimster of Dholpur,® and Seth Amurchand Batua,
Sindha’s treasurer.® The conduct of the chief of Mewar was
not marked by impartial and disinterested devotion to the
companyraj, the inducements to shake off the Briush rule were
present.’

The revolt of the troops at Kotah in the month of Oetober
assumed the shape of the mutinies of the north, but 1t left no
repercussions on the civil population. In Marwar nearly all
the chiels acted n hostihty to the government 8 Kusa! Singh,
the thahur of Awah, the second noble of Marwar, 1n conjunc-
tion with other thakurs including the Rowa thakur was openly
1 rebelhon ® He continued an obstinate struggle for many
years. But his quarrel was mainly with his liege lord and not
with the Britsh The population of Amjer gave no trouble to
the British and so also the people of Jaipur 1 There 1s only the
recorded nstance of Rawal Sheo Singh, the ex-muuster, who
was suspected of tampering with the loyalty of the troops

I NE 1,290 Narratne by brig-g 1, G St B 1 Agent, Rajp
States
1NE n, 291
SFP v, 1412
4 FP v, 156
3 FP. vin, 166 Another chief Ram Ahun Singh formerly 1 the service of the
rana of Dholpur was cqually disaffected (Hindu Patriol, 16 September, 1858}
S FP v, 169
7 NE u, 307
¢ NE u, 306,
® Ihed 292-3
2 NE u, 288
NE n, 283
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But the Rajputs in general remained ‘a rock of strength’ to
the British power during these critical days,* and the s];()radic
commotions that occurred during this ime seldom took the
shape of actual hostility to the government. Throughout the
country a feudal system prevailed and the disturbances of
the time only excited the feudatories, the thakurs, and
hereditary nobles to go against their licge chiefs.2

PANJAB

The position of the government in the Panjab was fairly
strong, the sepoys stationed there numbered thirty-six thousand,
but the nationa!l antipathy between the Panjabis and Hindus-
thanis and the religious antipathy between the Sikhs and
Mahomedans helped the government in a general way to
check the growth of rebellion in the country districts. Ten
thousand British soldiers, gathered in the province along with
some thirteen thousand Panjabi irregulars who remained loyal
to the core, strengthened the hands of the government to cope
with the crisis. And the officers of the Panjab, such as Lawrence,
Montgomery, Edwardes, and Nicholson worked upon an
integrated policy to crush the revolt wherever it raised its head.
The scpoys of the cantonment, of Mainmir, Lahore, Multan
and of other stations were adroitly and timely disarmed and
the mutinics, as and when they occurred, were promptly
repressed by Nicholson's movable column. Even so mutinies
occurred as in Mardan, Naushera, Jullundur, Ferozepur and
Sialkot and in the last two places the insurrections were of a
violent type. In Sialkot, in partcular, al.] the neighbouring
villages, roused by the tales of the restoration of the Moghul
dynasty and the extinction of the British power, joined in the
fray® but on the whole the disarmings at Peshawar, Lahore
and Multan saved the Panjab and helped the recovery of
Delhi. -

In the Panjab the risings were mainly of a military nature

1 NE. i, 315.
* FP. ix, 502.
3 Cooper, The Crisis in the Punjab, ctc. 140.
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and were not followed by any orgamised avil rebellion, though
n some parts there was extreme mamfestation of seditious
feehng In Ludhiana military preparations on the part of the
aty populace were going on n such a scale that the city had
to be disarmed and elesen cart loads of arms were seized
Despute these measures the people jomed the Jullundur mutine
ers 1n their passage across Ludhiana, in burnmg the churches
and m pillaging the premuses of the Amencin mussion
The population of Ludhiana w1s of 2 mixed charcter consist
ng of many turbulent elements, the habulis and the hashmins,
and the mahomedan gujars 1n particular, who were excited to
2 high state of fanatcism by 1 maulavt All of them were now
foremost 1n plundening the government stores, 1 destroying
the printing presses and 1n other outriges* ITn Ambnla the
threat to the government ansing from the intensity of popular
disaffection was indicated 1n the extensive execution of the
avil populace by the process of law In the Montgomery
district, the mutiny provided an occasion for the nsing of the
turbulent Rawvi tribes, the khurruls who were led by Ahmed
Khan, a resident of Jhamra and Sarfaraz hhan of Khimaha
The outbreak 1n the Gogarin jail on 26 July was attributed to
the mstigation of Ahmed, but more formdable was the mnsur-
rection of 17 September which he stirred All the Rav tnbes
and the murdanas of Mohammadpur jomed lum Ahmed led
many successful forays with a large body of rebels, but was
Lilled on 21 September whence the struggle was contnued by
Waldad, and Mir Bahawal Tatwnah leaders of the tnbes
But they could not hold out for long and were eventunlly
routed 2

In east Punjab where the population was muxed, more akin
to the Hindusthans than to the Panjabis, and more amenable
to disruptive nfluence owng to the wflux of mutinecrs
from the east, the nulitary nsing was turned 10to 1 mass
mosement, and the country was secured only with the armed
assistance of the rajas of Patalia, Nabha and Jhind and of the
Sikhs and other loyal clements of the population

The Hanana hght mfantry and the 14th wregular calry

! haye u 506
2 Cave Browne The Punjab and Deths i 1857 n 20023
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stationed at Hissar, Hansi and Sirsa broke out into revolt on
various dates, at Hansi on 29 May, foliowed by the revolt at
Hissar on the same day in the wake of the former, and in each
case it was attended with fearful massacres of the Europeans
and the Christians and the destruction of their bungalows. In
Hissar after the murder of the collector the uproar became
universal, the Indian troops, the sowars and the custoras peons
all joined, the convicts in the jail were released. In ali twenty-
three Europeans and Christians were murdercd at Hissar
and Hansi. One Mchammed Azim, an assistant patrol on the
customs line who styled himsell Shahzada, put himself at the
head of the administration.? At Sirsa the European residents
found time to escape. The mutineers plundered the treasury of
some cight thousand rupees, the hindu inhabitants of the town
fled in dismay, and the mahomedan population of the sur-
rounding villages began to plunder the town and the neigh-
bouring villages. The tahsildar of Sirsa and the revenue
sherestedar were murdered and the records of the district
office were torn and scattered about. The anarchical condition
was reinforced by the predatory habits of the ranghars and
pachhadas of Hissar and the bhattias of Sirsa. In the military
engagements, the rebels could not take their stand though in
the encounter that took place at Odhan on 17 June some five
thousand bhattias under the nawab of Ranea, a government
pensioner, had mustcred strong.? Even the Shahzada who re-
turncd from Dethi with an accession of strength and was aided by
Jamalpur rebels and the insurgent ranghars, failed to make any
impression on the British army. By the end of September order
was restored.  Many villages were carried by storm and burnt
and altogether one hundred and thirty-three persons were
hanged. The Musalmans, in gencral, took an active part but
the Jats, Sikhs and deswalis maintained a defensive attitude,
the inferior officials actively combined for plunder but others
vemaincd at their posts.

In Karnal the mutinous 5th regiment was disarmed on 14
July. The history of Karnal during this period offers the

1 Chick, op. ¢if, 719. Mention &5 also made of Kabir Khan, the mewat
jamadar of Hansi
* Chick, op. cit, 714
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singular mstance of a cwil revolt breaking out spontan-
eously mdependently of the military nsing and even 1n opposi-
tion to 1t In Pampat, sixteen of the largest Jat willages
refused to pay thewr revenue and drove out the government
village watchman Nineteen other large villages, mostly in the
Bhaist and Korana, noted, burnt government bmldings and
commutted various robberies and murders and refused to pay
revenue The gwars plundered generally about the country
In the city of Pampat open sedition was preached specally
1n the shrine of Bauh Qualandur and an attempt was also
made on the collector’s camp Retributory pumshments fol-
lowed, properties were seized, pensions were confiscated and
disaffected tahsildars were removed In other parts of the dis-
tricts, 1n Nardah, the posit:ion was even more serious Ranghars
of many large villages ike Siwan, Asandh, Julmana, Balla broke
Joose n deeds of violence, but the noteworthy feature 1s that
‘these willages, however, had no sympathies in common with
the mutinous soldiers’ This 1s clear from the fact of ther
robbing, even to a state of nudity, fugitve soldiers on their
way from the Panjub to Jomn the rebel force at Delln They
also positively refused to pay ther revenue which called for the
1mposition of military restraint

The Meerut mutiny of 10 May, and the seizure of Deliu on
the day following, inflamed Rehtak and when an emissary
of the Delhy hing, Tafazzal Hussan by name, entered the
district with a small force on 23 May, the situatton was past
control John Adam Loch of the Bengal Civil Service who was
1 charge of the distrrct deserted the station on the same might
with the rcsult that rebellous elements burnt the court
bulding and record office and commutted other outrages
The rehel toops of the Hamana hght infantry passing
through the district burnt the tahsil of Mehan The 60th reg-
frent whitch was mutndus (o the corg, was eseorted 10 Robtak
under captain Seaton on 31 May. There they found that the
Harsana troops had passed through the distnct the day before
As for the devastations commutted by them, Seaton reported

The pubhc buildings, the Judge's Court and offices and Collector's
"Freasury had been burnt down and were stll burning The rebels
had torn up all the public records, papers, and docurnents, vast rolls
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and piles of them, and after breaking up the chests and racks in which
they had been kept and piling all up in the centre of each building,
they had made huge bonfires of the whole, and then gone off to Delhi.

Even the 60th which was required to suppress the ris'm’g
broke out on 10 June, it was alleged, partly for want of payment
but the emente was general, not a single officer remained true
to his colours, all vestiges of British government now dis-
appeared. The mutineers killed Bhurikhan, the thanadar of
Rohtak. The ranghars and others of this class set up the
mahomedan green flag and round it all the rebels collected.
Till the middle of September lawlessness continued, the
whole country presented a long scene of mad rioting.

Babar Khan, the chicf of the ranghars of Rohtak, fought des-
perately against the British.! Hakim Abdul Hag, one of the
foremost rebel chiefs of the Gurgaon district, was executed on
November 2, 1857.2 In Rewari the rebellious proceeding of
Tularam caused anxiety to the government, His fort of Ram-
pur near Rewari was equipped with eightcen guns and a good
many standard arms and other ordnance stores.? Sanad
Khan, a near relative of the nawab of Jhajjar, occupied the
village of Narnic on 16 November. When colonel Gerrars
marched against his entrenchment, the rebels fought fiercely
in a gallant conflict but were foiled,* The conduct of the
nawab Abdur Rahman Khan of Jhajjar® was investigated
by a military commission presided over by general N,
Chamberlain and he faced his trial on the 14 Decem-
ber. It was found that the nawab, on occasions, had offered
assistance to the English, but he did not possess sufficient
loyalty or courage to render effective help to them. What was
urged against him was that while he made professions to
Greathed, two hundred and fifty or threc hundred Jhajjar
troops under his father-in-law,® Abdus Sammad Khan, fought

+ BP. vi, 1065 Forrest, Selections, vol. §, pp. 353, 462.

= FP. vi, 192; FP, ix, 653,

* FP. vifi, 565 The Bombay Ouerlond Times (November 1857, pp. 201-02). He
had nlso » gun fotndry in which brass guns were neatly turned out,

¢ Malleson, i, 109-16. ]

& FP. vi, 30. For the operations against the nuwab of Jhajjar, see Mackenzic
Muting Memairs, 125-33.

© Chick, op. cit,, 719-21.
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agamnst the Brinsh at Delhi. The charges agamst the nawab
were laid under act w1 of 1857 of which he was found guilty
It was one of the most vicious of the mutiny trals for
though there were many eatenuating circumstances, he was
hanged His treason can hardly be designated as of
the worst type The nawab of Farruknagar! the nawab of
Dadr? and the raja of Ballabhgarh were also executed for
their opposition to the British 3 In Ferozepur a fakir named
Shyamdas harbouring political motives was detected The
popular character of the revolt can ako be judged by the
ncrease 1n the number of fakirs and the government’s attempt
to set 1n motion an extensive espionage system among all the
classes of the civil population 4 In other neighbouning areas
as mn the lower Hazara district, the mhabutants were temp-
ted by the prolonged resistance to the Brtish power at Dellu
and formed a plot to nise but 1t was discovered and the leaders
were arrested &

VFP v 59 72

SFP vu 125

LFP ¢ 654

* Cluck, op ot 2434 255
$ Malleson 1 3034



CHAPTER FIVE -
SHAHABAD

The return of Kunwar Singh to Shahabad was long
expected. It raised the hopes of the rebels and encouraged them
to persevere in their struggle. When it was known that he
would make an attempt to enter the district, it produced con-
sternation in the government circles and preparations were
made for preventing the mischief which was likely to follow
should he succeed in his attempt. The collector’s cutchery at
Arrah was fortified and adequate military preparations were
made to ensure the protection of that place. Detachments of
brigadier Christie were sent down to Arrah, as also the Sikhs
from Adhaura; further, two companies of a regiment from Dina-
pur and one hundred Sikhs from Dehri were ordered to move
there. This was not all; a party of scamen was directed to halt
there, and the fort of Buxar too was strengthened. The zamin-
dars whose cstates were on the banks of the river were made
responsible for watching the ghats and roads and were ordercd
to give instant intelligence of the approach of the rebels. It
seems that a report was received that Kunwar was making
his way towards Ballia ghat and so the Meghne was sent to
cruisc off that place. The steamer Agra had likewise been sent
down the Ganges to intercept the rebels and the steamer Jumna
was moving down the Gogra for the same purpose.!

The earliest report as to the way in which Kunwar crossed the
river was furnished by a telegram sent by the commissioner of
Benares on 23 April, It stated that Kunwar Singh with a party
of his sepoys had crossed the Ganges at Sheopur ghat on the
21st instant. He was assisted by the villagers on the right
bank of the river who supplied many boats raised from the
place where they had been sunk.? The weekly report of th_e
governmentdated 12 May repeated the samestatement: after his

LFP, ix, 549, 552; viii, 147.

1 FD, vifi, 147, 150. The spontancous help which Kunwar received from the
people only highlights their disaffection which is repeatedt in the
Inilitary despatches of the period. Lugard complained of the extremely scanty
i i ble for military i

a.: eRIM~16 241
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defeat at Bansdih on 20 Apnl, the Shahabad leader hod fled to
Sheopur on the Ganges and crossed the river on 21 Apnl with
the assistance of the zamindars. It, however, added that so
closely had they been pursued by brigadier Douglas, that all
their guns and treasure and even Kunwar Singh’s own palanguin
had fallen into hus hands,! Anather official report alsostatesthat
he was feasted by the Sheopur babus who provided lim with
twenty boats but Kunwar Singh, 1t appears, was attacked
1 the act of crossing, ‘though he was not wounded’.2

M. Broadhurst, the officating magistrate of Arrah, was
ordered to enquure 1nto the manner 1n which the boats had been
obtained by Kunwar and hus followers to transport themselves
across the Ganges at the Sheopur ghat He reported that an
attack was made on Kunwar Singh’s party at the tme of
crossing and that boats had been provided by the people of
Sheopur on the oppostte bank of the Ganges. Some of the
boats which were coring up from the east Liden with sugar
mght have been seized, as stated by a sepoy in his deposition
and others might probably have been raised from the water
where they had been previously concealed by the people on
ather sidé of the rver, The rebel leader Nishan Sigh who
was blown away from a gun at Sasaram on 7 Junc, 1858,
mentioned 1n his deposition that Kunwar himself crossed over
the mver on an dephant. As a result of the enquiry, the
magsstrate, however, could not come to any conclusion as to
the particular ghat where the rebels had crossed, as the length of
the Ganges forming the northern boundary of the Shahabad
district bemng not less than one hundred miles, and the season
being dry, the rebels might have crossed over in one of the
numerous ghats within this distance. Neither could he ﬁnld
fault with the Europeans for their inability to intercept their
passage because even in the month of July when the river was
full it was found impossible to hinder the Dinapur mutincers
from crossing over the Son at Kailwar ghat® .

On reaching Shahabad Kunwar entrenched Tumsellat Jagdis-
pus and was burning all villages 1t was reported that he deter-

SEP x, 534
*FP 1,828

3 Letter 1o the Commussioner of Crewt, Patnz, No 71 of 14 June, 1838
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mincd to take his stand at Jagdispur or dic there if he eould not
dobetter. The rebels had their outposts as far south as Piru seven
miles south-woest of Jagdispur.® It was even apprehended that
Kunwar would march upon Arrah?® and various estimates were
made of the total strength of his army® but soon he died
probably from the cffects of the wound he received while
crossing the river.d According to onc official source he lost his
arm and was wounded in the thigh.® The rumour of Kunwar’s
death was reported on 23 April; more confidently in the
official report for the week cnding on 1 May. The death
of the old chief was carefully concealed from his followers
and Harkishan Singh and Nishan Singh werc directing their
affairs as their leaders.S In the next weekly report the death
of Kunwar Singh was considered a certainty and it was added
that great confusion prevailed in the rebel camp.” No doubt
however remained of his death soon after, and the official
report ran:

OFf Koer Singh’s death, there was no longer any doubt. He is said to
have been wounded by a grape-shot on the wrist while crossing the
Ganges, and to have died at Jagdispore very soon after. His body,
it was stated, was buried instead of being burnt, and his death was

1 FP. vili, 148, 152; ix, 831-2.
* PP, viii, 148.
3 Official statements in respect of the troops of Kunwar Singh at Jagdispur
were very conflicting in nature. They arc tabulated belows
" Beadon's letter from Calcutta, dated 23 April~2,000 men (CRO.
Secret Letters from India, copy No, 417). .
Report from the magistrate of Arcah, dated 24 April—2,000 or 3,000
smen of whom 500 or 600 were scpoys. .
Telegram of Officer Gommanding at Benares, dated 25 April—1,500
scpoys and a rabble of up to 4,000 or 5,000 (FP. viii, 152). ~
Telegram of the district magistrate of Sasaram dated 27 Aprit—2,000
to 3,000 sepoys and about 400 sowars (FP, ix, 832),
elegram of the Commissioner of Patna, dated 27 April—1,500 men
(Fge;(\;r?sfzrl)m the commissioner of Patna, dated 7 May——5,000 sepoys
and 3,000 sowars (FP, ix, 561).
See also Dodd, op. cit., 466.
+ Report of R, Taylor, joint-magistrate of Jaunpur (NE. i, §0). Malleson says
that he might have been wounded in the action at Mannahar (1ii, 478).
5 FP, ix, 824. The Meghna Steamer met about 200 rebels crossing into Shaha-
bad at Haldea at seven o'clock in the morning of 21 April.  One boat with scpays
on board was sunl (FP. i, 828).
© FP. ix, 557.
7 FP. ix, 561,
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kept a secret from his men, a figure bemng dressed up to represent
him, and orders being constantly issued 1 hus pame

Kunwar Smgh died, as Holmes says, on 26 Apnl® He
was the first in castern India to rise agamnst the Englsh Of
the great heroes of modern India Kunwar Smgh was mdeed
the first to die for the cause of the country The only foeman
of the British worthy of thesr steel and the foremost of the
leaders, a great strategist, he had displayed throughout the
revolt both skill and courage ? When Haveloch died an Enghish
poet composed a poem m his honour, but the Indsan hero
fell ynhonoured and unsung

The Arrah magtrate, 1 his letter to the commusnioner,
dated 24 Apnl,* while grving a detailed account of the sad result
of the expedition of captamn Le Grand states that 1t was at one
time contemplated by the garnson at Arrah to move out 1n the
evening of the 215t mstant to Bibigany, a place en route between
the ghats at which the rebels had landed and Jagdispur, with
the obyect of preventing the enemy from proceeding to thelatter
place The troops were actually paraded for this purpose, when
the officer-n command, Le Grand changed Ins plan on the
ground that the force to be left behind would not be sufficient
1o hold the entrenchment and protect the town in case the
enemy entered Arrah from the north and attacked the station
So the expedition was abandoned, but on the following day,
22 Apnl, when 1t became known that all the rebels had
crossed over the Ganges and had fied to Jagdispur, 1t was
decided that the force which was to have marched to Bibigang
should leave Arrah that mght for Jagdispur, before the rebels
could have tme to entrench themselses or strengthen thar
paston  The magistrate considered the projected expedition
advisable
knowing that there was no likebhood of tranquiity bemg restored
to Shahabad district, or m fict 1o the provce of Bukar as long as
Koer Swgh remamed at large

tFP x 56¢
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The fact that major Eyre had on the same ground come off’
victorious against far greater odds was another consideration
in favour of the intended expedition and Broadhurst along with
his assistant Calvin accompanied the force which left Arrah
for Jagdispur on the evening of 22 April. It may be that there
was an understanding that Le Grand should wait for brigadier
Douglas before attacking Jagdispur.

The attacking force consisted of one hundred and fifty men
of queen’s 35th regiment, fifty European sailors, one hundred
Sikhs of Rattray’s police battalion, and five European artiitery
men with two guns. Their camping ground was not reached
till late in the night, and the march was resumed early on the
morning of 23 April. Aftcr advancing about three miles they
arrived at the village of Dullaur where the rebels had thrown
up a small entrenchment across the road which was cleared.
The troops then passed through the villages without opposition
and entered the jungle leading to Jagdispur. They had not
proceeded above a mile into the jungle when they were fired
upon and nearly surrounded. With a view to extricating his
party from this position, the officersin-command, captain Le
Grand, gave the order to rctreat. But the men became so
panic-stricken that the retreat soon assumed the shape of a
precipitate flight which all the exertion of their officers could
not check—the rebel sepoys and sowars following them up
from Jagdispur to within three miles of Arrah. Broadhurst says
that of about threc hundred Europeans and Sikhs in the army
half the number was killed including captain Le Grand
himself.2 The magistrate thought that the disaster was due to
bad tactics. He submitted:

In my humble opinion we retreated when we should have advanced
and T cannot but think that if we had dope the latter we should have
been successful®

The sad turn of the expedition recalled the worst days of

*FP. ix, 824,

* The list of the killed 2nd wounded as furnished in another official report puts
the figureat 135 (EP. i, 830). Maddock, the deputy-collector of Busar, communi-
cated the report of the spies to the cffect that only a few Europeans and Sikhs
rete seen retuming 1o Arrab (FP. viii, 152), The news of the disaster appeared
in ofcial communications of the same day (FF. vili, 76, 148).

° FP. ix, 828.
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the July rebellion of the previous year It was expected that
the rebels would advance from Jagdispur on Arrah at any
moment ! An express message was sent to Douglas to cross at
once and a steamer was sent to assist him 2 Movement of troops
was directed * Sir Bdward Lugard arnved at Ghazipur with
ammunition and provisions for Douglas who crossed the Ganges
on the 25th and by the 30th had already dispatched to Amah?
two companies of the 84th regiment with one hundred and
fifty Sikh cavairy and two horse arnilery guns, he himself
reaching there the day following As his force was not con
sidered sufficient to encompass the cnemy he waited for
Lugard Lugard crossed the Ganges on 3 May 8 Colonel
Corfield commandwng at Sasacam and bngadier Chrste
commanding at Dinapur were ordered to co operate with
m*®

Meanwlile the rebels were entrenching themselves m dif-
ferent parts of the Jagdispur jungle and established a hne of
outposts as far south as Pru They constructed breastworks
and other obstructions prncipally on the road from Arrah to
Jagdispur Parties of them were scouring the whaole country
1o the north of the trunk road, collecting supphes and burning
those villages which refused to assist them The nature of the
preparations 1ndicated that the rebels were awatting atrach
in these jungles The Britsh spies further reported that they
were detcrmmed to attack Arrah, Buxar, and Dehn the
event of the Britsh maling delay n renewmg  their off-
enstve Their number when they first arnved at Jagdispur
was estimated vanously as noliced, and it was reported that
they were badly off for ammumition The posttion, however,
improved when Amar Singh joned them with Tus followers
Numbers of discharged sepoys and other bodwes were daily
flocking to their camp from the nexghbounng dustricts, and by
the end of Apn) therr force was stated to have renched nearly

LEP v 153

1FP v 26, 828
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nine thousand of whom three thousand were sepoys, some four
hundred sowars and the rest armed rabble—thousands of
armed villagers. The disaster of the Britsh forces on the 23rd
had the effect of strengthening their stock of ammunition2
The attitude of the people of Shahabad, according to official
reports, differed at different places. The people of the south
were represented to be unwilling to give any assistance or
information to the government.® The expedition of general
Lugard was well planned. From Arrah he had moved to Bihia,
a village in the north-west cornerof the jungle of Jagdispur, on
7 May. Next day he repulsed the threatened attack of Amar
Singh, who issuing forth from the jungle with his followers
made a move in the direction of Arrah.® On 9 May, Lugard
halted at a plain, a little to the west of Jagdispur.! He avoided
the dircet road through the jungles which was strongly defended
by the rebels. They calculated that the invading force from
Arrah would attack by this route as previously followed by
Eyre and Le Grand. Discovering his real intention the de-
fenders threw themselves hastily into the village of Hetampur
at the entrance of the space between the two jungles which
gave access to Jagdispur from the north-west. For want of time
they could not make preparation for the defence of this posi-
tion. The British forces delivered the attack on a side which was
not guarded. The rebels were driven out and pursued to
Jagdispur which was captured. In these skirmijshes Harkishan
Singh and Judhar Singh were said to have been killed along
with others. The rebels then evacuated the whole of the
northern portion of the jungle and rctreated to Chitaura in
the southern portion where Kumwar had built a bungalow.
Lugard's force attacked and took the place on 11 May. On
12 May, Lugard marched inte Piru, and Colonel Corfield
marching from the south and storming the rebel posidon at
Burbun vnited his forces with Lugard’s on the same date.

€ Ball, f e, i, 287, Malleson pufs the mumber at eight thowsand. (5, 479).
o e A R Yaung (25 Apri to 1 May), ko FP. is, 357, 832,

£ FP. ix, 831
* Malleson, i, 47960,
& FP. vii, 157, 160; ix, 561
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Together they marched back to Jagdispur wher they repulsed
another attack of the rebels on 15 May 1

The above account shetched from official sources 15 not
wholly 1 agreement with the detuls supplied by Dodd and
Malleson ® But both agree that these victones did not crush the
rebellion The rebels dispersed to reunite 1n nearfy the sume
strength as before They avorded 4 regular engagement and
retreated mto the yungle after desultory shirmushes A most
harassing hind of warfare ensued The outposts of the rebels at
Arrah, Jagdispur, Ltawarpur, Hetampur, Bihia, Piru and
Chutaura were no doubt controlled by British patrol parties
but this could not prevent them from recombiung for the
purpose of scouring the cotntry n roaring bands and piralys
ng the hold of the government n those reas Meanwhile the
Englsh soldiers fell 1 numbers from the ftigue of jungle
fightng and sun strohe Lugard even suggested the 1den of
withdrawing the troops from the jungle and locating them
i distant parts which was countered by Samuells on the
ground that 1t would have all the effects of a defent®

Dunng the weeh extending from 16 May to the 22nd the
rebels cid not abate their wigilnce but continued ther warfare
with success Lugard attacked 1 wilage of Amar Singh named
Nirtha situnted on the edge of the jungle The Bntish troops
shelled the vuflage for 1hout an hour, but failed to make any
impression, 1s 1t w1s found to have been evacuated and the
rebels had managed to carry off the guns to Dubiapur A spot
mvestigation showed that the Indian fighters were not cven
then 1 want of aither ammumtion or caps On the 20th
Lugard attached the rebels At Dubapur and very nearly

Narrauve of Eventsby A R Y oung for the week from 9 10 15 May w0 FP ';\xf
564 As noted betdre the death of Judhar $ ngh 31 reported'is cororad oo By
Dreschce 1 Palamau towards the tnd of ths year 1858 (spra pp 186-7)

» after the defeat of the rebels at Jagdupur th retreatrd 10
Dodd says that after the defeat of the rel J«%)Thc oy

d
date at Helampur which being taken the acces to Jagdipur <was secured 2ri
n: the lnzb the Britsh fook Chitarra Mo mention ¥s made of L-uam‘:‘wr
(Dodd op it 486.7) Dr Sen abo says that Amar S ngh took shelier in Lra
warptr (op et 264)

*FP x 564
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succeeded in cutting them off from the jungles, but they could
not be cleared. This naturally strengthened their spirit and it
was not improbable that other leaders who were watching the
scene would come to their rescue, 1t was rumoured that they
were awaiting the arrival of raja Debi Baksh Singh and Davies
of Azamgarh also reported that a large body of rebels had
collected at Tanda intending to cross over to Jagdispur.!

Colonel Corfield’s force hiad in the meantime been removed
from the neighbourhood of Piru which gave a favourable turn
1o the position of the rebels; being free from that restraint they
broke out in every direction. The punitive force was billeted
there with the object of creating difficulty for the rebels
in procuring food which would compel them to abandon
the jungle and leave their strongholds. The ncighbouring vil-
lages had been burnt and grain removed or destroyed. But all
these measures, short of war, could not be enforced now, and
Corfield’s departure was taken advantage of by the rebels to
collect large supplies of grain? In the mecantime Lugard
marched towards Duliapur on 26 May, sending another
force under Douglas. The rebels being charged fled and wore
pursued for several miles. Duliapur, with a large house belong-
ing to one of the chicfs, was destroyed.® On the 28th the general
shified his camp to Narainpur, a village on the castern side of
the jungle on the road from Jagdispur to Arrah.?

In the month of June the Shahabad rebels still maintained
their position in their mountain fastnesses. Though beaten they
were able to rally at a distance and return by a circuitous route
to the corner of the jungle. General Lugard marched on the
morning of 2 June to Keshwa on the eastern side of the jungle,
brigadier Douglas advancing at the same time to Duliapur
which was on the western side directly opposite to Keshwa.
Between these he cut a broad road imtersecting the jungles,
which he occupied with a line of posts. Using this line as a
base he surprised the rebels at Akurwa on 3 June and routed

1 Nassative of Events (for the week 16 ta 22 May) in NE. ii, 265. 268. Malleson
assigns the battle of Dalilpur to 27 May (i, 481).

* NE. i, 267; Special Narrative, Government of Bengal (Judiciah, No. 33,
dated 16 June, 1858.

3 P, vid, 163.

* NE. i, 268. -
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them They were pursued next morming on the 4th, and defeated
with great slaughter, over one hundred Indiins having been
killed That might the rebels led by Amar Singh evacuated the
Jungle and marched to Surajpur near Buxar They broke up
mto small parties and commenced depredations on a wide
scale 1n Gahmarq, a wvillage in the Zamamah pargana of the
Ghazipur district (fourteen mules west of Buxar near the mouth
of the nver Karmanasa), and 1 Buxar and Dumraon regions
In the last place an indigo factory was burnt to the ground and
the house of the raja’s dewan was plundered as akso the bunga-
low of one Mr Bock The willage of Surajpur near Buxar was
completely pillaged, and the ratlway bndge works 1t Kar-
manasa 1n Gahmaro were destroyed to the minutest detail, with
all 1ts coal, wood, and workmen’s sheds etc, and the fac
tortes of M1 Coomber !

Whale the struggle was gomg onin Shahabad the neighbour
g districts were thrown anto a ferment The magistrate of
Gaya reported on 15 May the stoppage of all payments of
government revenuc, partly owing to the doubts of the results
of the contest across the nver 2 The rajwars were robbing
and looting 1n the east, and to the south of the distnct oue
Fatteh Singh was said to be fortfying lus house and collecting
people3 So great was the tension that the commussioner of
Patn proposed the complete stoppage of the traffic on the
Ganges between Ghazipur and Dinapur to prevent the rebels
from crossing over from the northern side of the nver 4

Tor the time being the British were successful in driving away
the rebels from Jagdispur, but the latter spread havoc i other
directions On 5 June, Amar Singh and hus party marched
westward from Surajpur, sacked the willage of Dhunsuks and
passing through Sumya crossed the Karmanasa on 7 June
They then proceeded to the willage of Gahmaro, where they
were jomed by many of the inhabitants of the place together
with those of Barh and some other rajput villages Brigadter
Douglas reached Buxar on 9 June, crossed the Karmanasa

1 Narratve of Events dated 23 June, 1838 (for the week 30 May-—5 June) 1
NE u 274 Dodd,sp at, 487

2 FP 1 565

*NE n 265 Special Narrative {Judicial) No 32 dated 8 June 1858

4NE n 268 Special Narrative, No 33, dated 16 June 1858
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and on the }H.h arrived at Gahmaro which was burntl the
villagers baving openly sided with the rebels.? But Amar Singh
with the principal part of his force had left Gahmaro pre-
viously eluding the pursuit of colonel Cumberlege, who was at
Zamaniah, The whole area on the borders of Ghazipur and
Shahabad districts on either side of the Karmanasa river was
cotirely at the mercy of the rebels who ravaged the country
with impunity. Parties of them crossed and recrossed the river,
burned down the Chusa thana and another party proceeding
to the Mominabad tahsil near Ghazipur raided it. They also
went on to Rasra and threatened to attack Ballia. When
brigadier Douglas returned to Buxar on 12 June. Ghazipur fell
into utter confusion and the whole district was reported to be
entirely disorganised. and on the 13th, almost every thana and
tahsil was bumt. The official report stated that Ballia was
about to be attacked and the government stud depot at
Korantadih opposite Busar in Ghazipur was menaced. In
Jagdispur Lugard was at Duliapur on the western side of the
jungle and captain Rattray at Rupsagar. They were taking
measures to reorganise the police and the thanas and to
ferret out the rebels who were siill lingering about the villages
armms in hand, but beforc anything could be done Amar Singh
and his force recrossed the Karmanasa and returned to
Shahabad which threw the country again into confusion. The
situation becarme critical as the rebel Al Karim was stated to
be at a place about cight miles above Tanda with about
threc hundred men. He is said to have been in regular cor-
respondence with Amar Singh ywho was reported to have urged
Al Karim to come over to assist him with as many men as he
could collect.? .

By the middle of Junc the state of affairs in Bihar again
deteriorated. Nishan Singh and his brother Buchan Singh, two
of the principal followers of Kunwar Singh, were captured by
sergeant Nolan! According 1o onc official source dated 12

{NE. i, 27980 Special Narrative, Government of Bengal (Judicial), No. 35,
dated 30 June, 18

N i, 279: fal Nz sive, etc., No. 35, dar_td 30 June. 1638. Dr. Sen
e S abous the rumow. of Awar Singh aftacking Denares (¢
it 263). .

4+ NE. ii, 275: Special Namative, etc., No. 34 dated 23 June, 1838.
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June, Nishan Singh was blown away from a gun at Sasaram
four days ago, 1¢ on the 8th 1 This was a great blow to the
rebel cause and must have made Amar Singh, the worthy
brother of Kunwar and now the only surviving leader, des-
perate It has been nouced that he returncd to Shahabad and
sought the help of Ali Karim, but owmg to the mcreasing
pressure of the Braush forces at Jagdispur, he with hus followers
turned eastwards, creatng great havoc and destruction on the
eastern side of the Jagdispur jungle, hunting down and murder-
ing all who had done the British service 2 A whole line of indigo
factories on the bank of the nver Son was burnt down and the
rebels crossed and recrossed the mver at will Amar Singh
humself seems to have left Jagdispur on 14 June towards the
river Son to cross into Bihar,® and on the next day his puty
which probably proceeded ahead of him, reached the thana
at Bilkran, sixteen miles from Patna which they sached Other
rebels crossed the Son on ther way to Tikart m Gaya and
Lugard was requested to cross the nver at Arwal at once But
the strain of the jungle war had so much upset Sir Edward
that he resgned from bad health on 17 June, and colonel
Longden recerved orders to pursue the rebels 4 All these show
that by the middle of June 1858, Ghazipur, Ballia, Shahabad,
Patna and Gaya districts yet remaned to be protected agnmst
the ncursions of the rebels Even the coolies who were cutting
up the Jagdispur jungles were scared away by the rebel sowars
The situation as described m a Caleutta paper ments quota-
tron if only to convey an tmpression of how the contemporanes
looked at 1t .

Every part of the provnce (Behar) 15 mfested by marauders whese
spectal pastime 1t has become for the trme to murder and mutlate
the native officialé A number of factonies, thanahs and cutcheries
have been burnt down  The nver for many mules 15 become
impassable except to armed steamers and the post 15 stopped ot

: 3 1al, convicted of rebellion and blown
O Th) i ety s s shon i e s
agamst him was carried out on 7 June (K h Dutta 1o Pawa Univermty Journ:
vol No vin 1924}

SFP v, 170-01

3 FP wis, 169
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various routes. Meanwhile the military arrangements for meeting
these predatories have been paralysed by the weather, the want of
troops, the difficult nature of the country. We repeat this question
why Jagdispore has again been abandoned ™

The answer is that the indomitable spirit of the peopie of
Shahabad rendered all attempts of the British to suppress it
unavailing. They were strong in a conviction of real
success in the past. If ever a dead man continued a struggle it
was Kunwar Singh of Bibar. The history of the civil rebellion
in Shahabad is the history of a long continued conflict with
the British power, unlike any the epoch of the mutinics saw.
Again on 7 July, 1858, ncarly ayear after the sepoys from Dina-
pur had broken into Arrah, the rebels of Shahabad approached
the rear of the town and set fire to the house of one Mr. Victor
of the railway department which was sitnated at a distance
of about three quarters of a mile from the fort. The rebels
being pursued, separated into three parties and went off.
Licutenant Beadon following one such party going in the
direction of mauza Surthoa situated at a distance of between
five and six miles to the south of Arrah, came up against the
main body of the rcbels, cavalry, infantry and others gathered
near to the village, A British regiment and Rattray’s Sikhs
went into action and drove them away, The village of Sarthoa,
as the magistrate wrote, belonged to Amar Singh and his
nephew Mahabirprasad Singh and the villagers showed their
refractory conduct by siding completely with the rebels for
which the village was burnt down.? The incursion carried out
in the hcart of the distrct town at a time when the British
power was re-established with vigour indicates the strength
of purpose of the rebels. In fact, soon after they carried out
another devasting raid on 3 August. A body of them said to be
one thousand strong assembled at Umirain Nowada, twelve
miles west of Arrah on the road between Arrah and Belanuta,
probably to draw off the British troops from Arrah. Colonel
Walter advanced against them on 2 August and proceeded
upto the military outpost at the last mentioned place, The party
marched back to Arrah next day, but before they could reach

: féffrfglﬁfc"iilmf;: of Gircuit, Patna, from M, Broadhusst, officiating
magistrate, Arah, No. 81 of 8 July, 1858, *
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the town, 1t had been attacked by a band of rebels at eleven
am The prisoners were released, shops were looted, and the
house of a loyal zamindar was burnt. A body of two hundred
sepoys and four hundred other badmashes, principally residents
of Tappa Karan near Arrah, entered the town, but the magis-
trate learnt that a body of one thousand rebels remamed on
the ousskirts of the town with similar intention and when
charged retreated 1n the direction of Jagdispur.

This impumity to incursions encouraged the rebels to a sull
more bold act of besieging a body of Sikhs under lieutenant
TFreeman at a place called Rasara untl relieved by Douglas and
mn the meantime Amar Singh occumed the greater portion of
Shahabad, fortified Jagdispur and even established thanas and
prisons and his own government. Officers were appomted to
carry on the admmistration of the country and estates were
sold for non-payment df revenue. The independence attaned
raised the Shahabad movement to the digmty of a national
revolt which ‘was supported’, as Samuells observed, ‘by many
of the minor zamindars’ and more or less openly by all the
rajput population of the cstrict.? Early in September the
rebels appear to have been defeated with great loss at 2
place called Rampur, twelve miles south-east of Arrah, and
on 28 September at Suhjanee These harassing skirmushes
showed no signs of termmation. As however this intermuttent
struggle was going on the general mass of people must have
been suffering beyond endurance. We have no means of
ascertaining their reaction but ghmpses are afforded here and
there 1n the contemporary dailies of the state of ther mind.
Finding no escape whatsoever from these chronic disturbances,
many labouring families of Shahabad seem to have moved to
Manrstius, The series of notifications of the collector of Shaha-
bad advertising 2 number of zamindans in that district for sale
for arrears of revenue point ta emigration or desertion of the
home country on a pretty large scale?

Suppression of the yebellion was long overdue and so the
British offensive was resumed when the weather permtted itin

2 Xrd No 100 of 5 August, 1858

* Quoted wn Sen, 0p at, 264 See also Rajani Kanta Gupta, Sipahr Yuddher

ihas, v, 260
3 Hindu Pairiot, 26 Avgust, 10 September, 30 September, 1838
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October, 1858. The operations were not confined to Jagdispur
but extended over the whole of Shahabad. New Icaders sprang
up who at the head of small bodies scoured the country, way-
laid British patrol parties and harassed a few officials. But the
initiative had passed into the hands of the British who now com-
menced a series of roping in operations and netted the leaders
here and there. Early in October a smart action was fought
near Dumraon in which forty sepoys were cut up, but two
officers were lost, captain Mason and captain Douglas. In
about the samec time, as an cxpress from Garstin, deputy-
magistrate of Buxar stated, 2 strong column marched on the
night of 6 October to seize Meghur Singh who for some tdme
had established himself at the village of Khyress twenty miles
south of Buxar. The rebel leader escaped, but the government
claimed that sixty rebel scpoys had been killed. Another rebel
chief was Sidha Singh who with his band was contacted by a
strong Buxar column on 14 October at Barkspur on the Arrah
roadl He was defeated with a heavy loss and repaired to
Jagdispur, On the same day brigadier Douglas fll upon
another party of the insurgents at Karisat and drove them
away and the operation was renewed two days after on the 16th.
The rehels hovering round Chewgaon were also compelled
to fiy to Jagdispur before the British offensive where a portion
of colonel Turner’s column inflicted another defeat on the
rebels at Chukea, west of Piru, on the 17th. All these were in the
naturc of mopping operations but in the battle at Kampsagar
near Buxar on 16 Octobes, the Buxar wing under colonel
Durnford met with a fierce and determined resistance from the
rebel fighters. The Indians were posted beyond a nullak, some
distance farther from which position they opened a heavy fire
of musketry. The two guns they used did cons.derable execu~
tion, but when taken proved to be of wood, lined and bound
round with iron and copper, and the whol» cevered with
leather, Eveniually they were defeated and fled to Jagdispur.
Durnford then turned south to meet another rebet formation at
Puprodh.?
S Sidha Singh is mentioned in the official report of R. Taylor (NB. &, 51).

© Offiial Reports as quated in the contemporary dailies in particular io he
Hints Pt Dosobar 1, 21, 28, 1858, Malloson's doscription of these cambats

is very meagre (i, 486)-
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These successful operations were partly the result of a con
certed plan made by Douglas to drive away the rebels from
different sectors towards Jagdispur and then to hem 1n the
different sides of the jungles He set i motion seven different
columns, the object of all being to drive the rebels before them
to Jagdispur Startng from three opposite ponts of the
district the converging columns should form the outer ning of 2
arcle withm which the rebels were to be trapped He also
covered the jungles with roadsand sent trusted sepoys 1n dis
guise to elctt information from them Four columns from
Buxar, one from Sasaram forming a connected line from the
Ganges and the Son, with two advaneing from the west would
complete the process of encirclement 1 The plan was put to
execution on 13 October and increasingly the ring within
which the rebels became confined drew closer, but as one
column could not close on stmultwneously when they came
very near to Jagdispur the rebels rushed out through the gap
in the crcle and struck eastward towards the Son, with the
pursuing British army under colonel Turner, brigadter Douglas,
and major Sir Henry Haveloel, on their heels The main body
of the rebels fled m different directions ‘doubling agawn and
agam’ but the chase wis mantamed by mounted infantry
armed with enfield nfles supported occastonally by a force of
cavalry or an mfantry column Shut out and barncaded m
willages, hills and caves, hundreds of them werc hunted down,
shot or sabred when they darted outin utter despalr At many
2 place the Shahabrd rebels took a last stand 2 Officral reports
refer to hectic movements of the pumtwve force from 19 t0 23
October 1n these confused operations, to Kaelwar, Nonsagar
on the bank of the Son, to villages between Jagdispur and
and Pulwar, and to Busar, Sheopur and Buneeth six miles
west of Nonady, and Behta on the Son At Sukreta the rebels
desperately fought ngamnst their enemies but were averpowered
Thus by the end of October Jagdispur was cleared® and Amar
Singh left hus country His ‘movable assets to the value of about

* Holmes op o, $356

3 For detasls of the avengmg expedition of Havelock, how the rebels were
falled like rats sce Malleson, u, 488 92

» Officisl Reporws quoted an the Hiodu Pammot, 28 October, 1858
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thirty thousand rupees were seized. Messes Burn and Com-
pany of Calcutta were given the contract for clearing the
Jagdispur jungles.!

Some of the vebels succeeded in escaping into the Kaimur
hills. On November 24, Douglas again surprised the main body
of the rebels at Salia Dahar in the Kaimur hills.? In Decernber
a news spread that a body of sepoys under Sidha Singh and
Ram Bahadur Singh had taken refuge in Palamau where they
would probably be joined by Harkishan Singh and Meghur
Singh.3 Another interesting message was that A. Money going
unescorted into the rebel camp carried on negotiations with
.the Shahabad rebels who wanted an unconditional pardon for
them and held back the masses through their influcnce from
accepting amuesty. Ultimately all of them surrendered but
Amar Singh appeared to have retaken to the hills with the
remnant of his followers.!

Though hardly the equal of his brother in military skill
‘Amar Singl’; as Malleson says, ‘was not one whit below him
in energy and resolution,’® Ubiquitous to a degree, and unbend-
ing and firm like steci, Amar Singh also combined personal
influence with qualities of leadership without which he could
not have conducted the war for a long time from 25 July, 1857
to December 1858. A brother, and a devoted follower of
Kunwar, Amar Singh lived up to the reputation of that great
Shahabad hero.

3 Hindu Patriot, November 4 11, 25, 1858.

* Malleson. ii, 492.

3 Eindu Potriot, 9 December, 1858,

4 Hinde Patriot, December 23, 30, 1858, It is «
Rarusay's report of October 1859 quoted by Dr. 8. 3
Singh of Jagdispur_had lately (September-Octobe
the Terai and was Jikely to nssume command ot *

+ i, 478.
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CHAPTER SIx
THEORIES ON THE INDIAN MUTINY

It will have been noticed that the bifurcation of the subjecy
of (he‘grea( revolt of 1857 1nto two distinet histoncal aspects,
the military mutiny and the cwvil rebelhon, has the ment of o
new approach and offers the most intelligible clue to 2 proper
understandimg and a rational evaluation of the main character
of the revolutionary maelstrom That the sepoys struch the
first blow is not demed, that their grievances flowed indepen-
dently of any external pressure and originated from the condi-
tions of the existing military service also appear quitc probable,
But their apprehensions and fears about the intentions of the
British to destroy their caste and religion were exactly those
which troubled the minds of the avil population and the
feudal aristocracy as well This connects the two aspects of
the revolt in the histortcal process. When the sepoys had created
the field and attained a certain measure of success, sections
of the aristocracy and certain civil elements put themselves
at the head of the movement, with the result that the military
complexion of the msurrection was changed. The change was
bound to take place as the sepoys did not produce a single
competent commander who could canalize the activities of the
rebellious troops.! Naturally enough the imuative and Icader-
ship passed into the hands of avilian leaders who turned the
movement (o their advantage and even led the soldiery to
the attack. The scpoys had no plan and resources either it
appears, of carrying on a protracted struggle under their own
management, and in many cascs they saught the help of the
landed dignitaries and even coerced them into leading }llcm
if they wavered.? After the explosion at Meerut the mutinous
troops made for Delhi where resided Bahadur Shah, the emperor
according to the Indian legitimists, which gave the movement
a traditional countrywide base. The local troops having in a
farge measure accomplished their plan of overthrowiag the

b on, The Story of ort, 43, Majumdar, op at, 207

. :’{’w\l:':‘)l' thg“uc ;fn ’K‘lmwkzr {IECZ:I:Q:‘SH o Jtht Statement of Nibsan

Singh that the sepoys demanded the presence of Kunwar Sigh (K. K. D,
m“igma Unizernty Journal, vis, 1954) Alo the case of Nana Safub
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British authority in their respective regions proclaimed that
the hukumat or authority belonged now to the country chief
who had exercised it in the past?

These are factors which irresistibly toned down the military
character of the revolt and produced conditions favourable
for the merging of the military rising into a popular rebellion.
Few circumstances are more observable throughout the revolt
than this ferment in the civil populace accompanying the Indian
mutinics. Anything less than this (with so widespread a sepoy
war to encourage honest and natural motives of a patriotic and
territorial character) would have been cxtremely improbable
in all conditions of political kife, ancient or modern, A rumour
that the British power was gone unsettled the minds of the
people and the tremendous events of the time ignited the
embers of all latent discontent.? Even as early as 21 May,
the Hindu Patriot of Calcutta which was known for its moderate
views observed:

‘They mark not the demeanour of the Indian people at the present
crisis. ., . There is not a single native of India who does not feel the
full weight of the grievances imposed upon him by the very existence
of the British rule in India—grievances inseparable from subjection
to a foreign rule.?

If it was so, it was not unlikely that the British had to face a
really national and revolutionary sitnation growing out of the
mutinies. A sense of righteous indignation against the British,
whose feclings are so different from those of the Indians and
whose gods are so different, must have naturally flowed from
the war of the mutinies which gave it the character of a just
and righteous revolt, ‘in reality a great and formidable rebel-
lion’, as Disracli said in the House of Commons. Instead of
being a partial military mutiny, a hectic revolt of the Bengal

1The terms are: the people are God’s, the country Padshal’s and the order
ar goverament is proclamation was made in Cawnpore (Forrest, Seleations,
3, App. p. xii), Bijnour {NE. i, 511), Moradabad (NE. {i, I8) Banda (NE.}, 526),
Jhans: (NE. i, 535), Singhbbum (NE. ii, 182-3), and in many other places.

* Cooper, The Critis, etc. 139, Thorahill of Mathura was able to ohserve that
the people in general did not regret the end of British rule. They liked the freedom
they were then enjoying and the excitement of the time. Life \was now for them
full of anticipations (T4 Personal Adwentures, etc. 114-6).

2 CF. the statement of Henry Lawrence: “Those who are loudest in our praise
cannot forgive our victory” (Kaye, I, 14).
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Army alone, the outbreak gradually approached the character
of a nsing of the people?

The most immedate factor working out this change was the
rehgious element which actuated the masses to sacnfice their
Inves The many references to the jehads and the cry of religion
1 danger which was echoed and re echoed 1n the scditous
proclimations of the penod? entered mto the composition of
the upsurge 3 The extreme ferocity of the mutineers at Meerut
and 1n other places may be explamed by the belief of the rebels
that they were waging a religious war The insurgents sacked
the convents and slaughtered the mssionartes, ‘yust as if they
were Angheans’ Mrg Persico, apostolic vicar of Agra, related
that 1n lus vicanat alone the rebels had destroyed a magmficent
cathedral, twenty five churches, two colleges, two asylums
and five nunnertes 4 Madness produced by fanattsm often
outweighed All other feehngs The excesses of Insh rebellions
and the French revolution are pertinent mn tlus connection
Very authentic mtelligence obtamed from Luchnow m the
period between 25 November and 2 December runs

The war 13 now fully believed throughout Lucknow to be a religious
crusade and numbers of peaple are flocking mto the capital from the
dustracts to take part mn the struggle ®

When Lucknow fell finally in March, the British authonties

* The Enplishman 17 November 1857

*For the prodamations of Bahadur Shah sec Tral etc 71 1486 116 1767
Also Mur Records of the Intell gence Department et 1 39 u 4 6 175 194
Mayumdar op o 228 243

3 the proclamation msued by Prince Mirza Mohammed Fieuz Shah dated
17 February 1858 Since the real purpose of this war 1s to save religion
{(Dodd op at 411) Nanas proclamation breathes the same rel gous anmosity
which as Mowbray Thomson says influenced the coursc of the rebell on (o at
143 7) Shepherdsays that Nana s proclamation was widely eirculsted (Nerratice
etc 50f) For the Bare [y proclamation of Rhan Bahadur Rhan see Raye @
290

« Montalembert A debate on Ind a  the English Porl ament {Tius appeated on
99 October 1858 1n the Correspondent 3 Toonthly organ of the hh«alc;asd\n‘}xé
party 1n Trance) p 19n Sherrmg estmated that the total fosses sustE n 2377416
‘American Presbyterian Missions in the North West provinces was &5 e
{Tha Ind an Church Durwng the Great Rebell on 226) The I\fahqmcdan!} nggr%c;! s
showed a great zeal m coverung the Chnstians (16 4 85 1630 18 e
For the destruction of Church property i Dellu Nagpur Ludhanz IO; ?m 4
seepp 70 313 320 307 For the descerat on of the church propert rQ" 1;; zg;eub
Jhans: see Sylyester Recollections of the Gampa g etc 50-01 €6 an for P by
Bo rctuer E ght Aonths Campa g 183 and Coseas and Wallace op o

S CRO Secret Letters from Ind a vol 163 p 434
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were struck by the overwhelming number of placards and
pamphlets which sere hung up in every nook and corner of
the city urging the people to dic for their caste and creed.?

The religious feeling mingled with the racial issue—the
universal hatred of the English aliens which gave the revolt of
1857, a national colouring. By no wisdom, by no system, as one
contemporary British officer says, could they have prevented
the antagonism of race.? This aspect of the revolt, namely, the
determination of the rebels to tear the English out of the land,
root and branch, explains why the war in the last phases
partook of the character of a war of extermination, That some
of the Indians gave shelter to the Europeans or harboured
good feclings towards them cannot be urged as conclusive
against numerous proofs to the contrary. Kaye quotes from
a writer of the Celeutta Review to show that the genius of the
revolt was to destroy everything that could possibly remind
onc of England; the telegraph posts were dug out, and even
the milestones, so decidedly English, were ‘defaced’.? The
innumerable manifestoes offering rewards for the destruction
of the English also support this contention.! British officials
like major Williams of Mecrut, F. Thompson of Allahabad
and M. Thornhilt of Mathura were convinced that as a rule
the extirpation of the British was the object which prompted
the rebels to adopt ruthless measures. The massacre of the
Europeans in the parade ground at Farrukhabad reflects the
same sentment, There was no proclamation to that effect.
The day was rainy, yet there was a great assemblage of people
to witness the dreadful spectacle. In Delhi too, great crowds
assembled to witness a similar scene on Saturday the 16th
May.?

'that the people in general were in sympathy with the rebels

2 Dodd, The History of the Indian Recolt, $27.

2 Robertson, op. at., 190; Thornhill, op. cit., 333.

3 Kaye, i, 368-0n.

<. viii, 52; Robertson, of. it 21

€NE. i, 4-6, 93. See also the letter of Dr. Russell, headed Sahib and Nigger to
she Times, London, in which ke ascribes the resulting popular commotion to the
indignities with which the Indians were habitually treated by the Englishmen.

€NE. i, 1345, 136; Report by C. R. Lindsay, officiating magistrate.

« Chick, op, eit, 159: Namative of oceurrences by Chunilal, the newswriter;
Kaye, ii, 99-100.
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may also be judged from the selfless spint which 15 seen on a
large scale 1n different regions of India dunng the epoch Very
few rebels craved for hife or seemed to care to purchase it They
often courted death defiantly, like the Spartans ! What agamn
was very remarhable was that the villagers did not betray
their rebel leaders and very rarely, if ever, they earned ‘blood
money’, even though hahitually poor Military commumea
tions bear out the fact that the Bntish punitive forces were
constantly misled and musinformed as they went out to ehat
information for mibtary reconnaissance Lugard while pursuing
Kunwar Smgh was hampered and often troubled by the bel-
licose and ronchalant attitude of the villagers A Money, the
officiating magustrate of Bihar going 1n pursut of Al Karim,
found that the heart of the whole country was with the rebel
and consequently could not get any assistance or information
from the willagers regarding Kanm'’s whereabouts, although
he offered large rewards # Many other officers entrusted with
the same mussion expenenced a similar situation In fact, from
the rarity of the occasions on which the British forces were
able to surpnse the rebel forces, 1t seems more than fihely that
the rebels were helped by the villagers all around them who
kept them acq d with the mo of the enemy troops
It 15 also a noteworthy fact that dunng the mutimes the
British mulitary command established flying corps This wndi
cates that they commanded only the spots of ground held by
their own troops i different scattered areas while for commu
mcation between the digomed members of their army they
depended on flymg columns They could depend neither on
their sepoys nor on the countrypeople to keep the communica-
tion lnes open between the far-flung mulitary posts This 1s
what the French had o go through m the Pemmnsular War

1 See Walberforce 8 description of how the Panjab mutincers met ?:21\!; “\ﬁ;la!;‘l

equansmty (An Unrecerded Chapter, etc 42 3) Al M Goopland quo
u(rlndar ppyﬁ(t ,172 3 For the fighting quahities of the sepoys and in V’dfﬁh“? of
herotsm see Holloway Essays ete 165 213, 225 262 273 291 3 330 é: fear,
of the bayonet s pomnt proved a deterrent no less effective was the shaf'Pl; Zg;
the Indian swm'g0 The English had the advantage of supcrior armi, 7 r
ohserves that the enfield helped to overthrow the mutineers (nﬁh at Zfd ) o

AFP v App A 90 In Lucknow Sit James Outram did all he coufd to obtas
the release ol‘pgw European prisoners and offered 10 0001 for each of ljlt;‘ In:;l
but Rees says that the msurgents wanted terms and not money (4 Perso
Narratwe ete 268)
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in the face of the Spanish national rising. Apart from the fact
that this military situation demonstrated the actual insuffi-
ciency of the British forces, it also brought into relief the
prevalent spirit of disaffection. According 10 records, flying
columns were scouring the Panjab, Rajputana, Central India
as well as Qudh.! All these are proofs of the fact that a vague
feeling of patriotism lay behind the mutiny and rebellion of
1857. Official reports about men wandering in the guise of
fakirs and unusual numbers of them appearing in the country-
side tampering with the villagers or carrying correspondence
between different bodies of mutinous sepoys concealed in their
bamboo lathies or employed in other emissary or recon-
noitering work are too well-known to require detailed refer-
ences.? The government measures to combat this menace
underline the dimension of the peril. Of a station in the
Panjab, Cooper, the deputy-commissioner of Amritsar, said
that treason and sedition were dogged into the very privacy
of the harem, and the sanctity of the mosques. He continues:

As with the detectives of Vidocg, there were spies in the market-
place, at the festival, in the places of worship, in the gaols, in the
hospitals, in the regimental bazars, among the casual knot of gos-
SIPEIS. v uur.s s among the bathers at the tanks, among the village
circle round the well, under the big tree, among the stone breakers
of the high-ways...... 3

The magnitude of the rcbellion is manifest from the returns
of persons tried and punished as furnished by the district
officers. On 13 May, when it was known that the mutiny of
the scpoys had been followed in many places by rebellion of
the populace, the government lost no time to enact act x of
1857, to try persons guilty of rebellion, of waging war against
the queen, and punish them with death. The rigour of the

2 Hope Grant, op. cit,, 281; Martin, b, ¢it., ii, 487; Nash, of. cit., 122, Letter
m’Mm}zia(cd L:z’népan, 1857, published in N York Herald Tribune and quoted in
India Today, vol. it, September, 1952.

? Coaper, The Crisis, ctc. 23.4, 117; Chick, op. dit., 253-6; FP. v, App. A 89
i6id, Ap B. 84, 464, 469, 490; Maude and Sherer, ii, 430, Wilberforce records an
{nstance of effective spying by the Indians. The Birdsh council of war had sewled
the final plan of assaulting the Kashmiri gate on 13 September. When it was
taken next morning the exact details of the assaulting columns, the plans and
points of atiack as drliberated secretly by the British were found in the order book
D the vebel atray {dn Umecorded Chapter, 146-7). Also sec Cooper, op. dit., 193.

 Cooper, The Crisis, etc. 24-5.
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law was further extended by the act xiv passed on 6 June by
which prowsion was made for capital pumshment of persons
convicted of exciting mutiny or sediion The scnes of acts
which followed namely acts, xv1, xvnn and xxv of 1857, werein
the nature of retributory measures to meet the challenge to
the government from the cavi} populace Not only mere
martial law was not proclamed but very extensive measures
were taken for the summary trial of offending persons of every
class of people, civil as well as military Other severe measures
were also adopted Even burmng of offending willages was
considered a necessity where the mass of the mhabitants hd
committed 2 grave outrage and the perpetrators could not be
traced 1

Such unltmuted powers over life and death for the punish-
ment of crimes, and the admmstration of law n ats utmost
seventy, were considered unavoidable by the local officials
if only to produce the requisite impression when the w hole
country was seething with opposition So the work was carned
on, to terronse the teemmng mulkions to submission and to
establish fear and awe for the government 2 Shordy after the
outbreak, 1n the first phase of the revolt, cvery law of nature
and man was set aside by the army of retnbution As Maude
and Sherer who fought 1n the war frankly adnutted, ther feel-
ng was naot so much revenge as a desire to strike terror 3 Indis-
criminate slaughter of men, burmng of whole tracts of inhabited
country, blowing up of rebels by hundreds became general ¢
Whole lines of villages m the track of the army were bumnt
down and for mles corpses hung from trees R H Dunlop’s
pumitive forces first ulled alf the males and then burnt down
the willage of Akulpur The same happened 1n Busoudah,

+ Sessional Papers of the Houte of Lords vol x1 1857 58 pp 46

1N\E 1, 269, Raye, u 403

* Memortes of the Mutmy, 1 70 u 526 re el s order yegarding the blood,
Nlackenzte, Mutery Memarues, 71 ol who bebied 2 e

N 36, 604.6 4023 605n A French Catholic who behiey
leguulr::t):’al;dzneccsary, o ascendancy of the Christun West over e Iniug
perunsula admtted that the yust measure of suppression has overst e !’»‘I "
thae the eveenuons of the conquered sepoy e masie will mpnint an R
stamn ypon the hustory of the English Fmpire in Tndia (unateenbestyop et 21
See alsa Bartum A Widow's Remmsscences, 86 Majendie Up amamg the Pandus,
274.6, Holmts op at 220
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anather village of Mecrut? Brigadier Neil's course from
Benares to Allahabad was marked by corpses of villagers, and
the riversides for miles presented an array of demolished
houses, As he saw it, the rising was becoming something morc
than a military mutiny and he had not the tenderness to deter
him from striking root and branch ‘the people who were rising
into rebellion on the ruins of the Native Army.’2 A message
dated 6 July runs: “The trunk road now passes through a desert,
the inhabitants having fled to a distance of four or five miles.”
In Arrah, in consequence of the gencral nature of the rcbellion
obtaining there, the wholesale burning 2nd destruction of all
villages was recommended.? Similar atrocities were perpeirated
on the villages of Iradat Jahan in Jaunpur.* Colonel Forster
swhile moving on to Porahat destroyed over thirty villages and
seized all the grain stored there.® In Palamau the whole puni-
tive force was fed entirely at the expensc of the bhogtas.®
Instances of this nature need not be multiplied, but the few
given above would show that the war of the muiinies was
turned into a war of revenge and extermination. The violence
of the British press rose to great heights. The Engliskman of
Galcutta wrote that sufficicnt vengeance had been taken at
Delhi, but a long account of blood yet remained to be settled,”
and for this inadequate requital the Times of London cried out
for inflicting a terrible retribution, to destroy the “whole of
this foul, craven mab’,? that upon the standard of England
‘vengeance’ and not Sustice’ should be inscribed.? To the
licentious fury of the British soldiers'® was added the fiendish

SFP. ix, 8968,

* Kaye, i, 261,

3 FP. v, 60: Navrative of Eveats to0 12 September.

CEP. v, 275: Magistsate of Jaunpur 9 October. Also FP. vii, 22, and The
Hindu Parioh, 8 July, 1858, for niher cxoeses committed. See Martin, 289, for
the most graphic account of the experience of a Highlander regarding the
scene of destruction. With the exception of Mowbray Thomsan's Cawnpore, there
& wothing more touching in the whole renge of mutiny liverature, Also Thompson,
The Other Side of the Medol, The Jatest reatment of “the subject from Dr. R, C.
Majumdar {op. ¢t 93-113} is both illuminating and instructitc.

s FP. ix. 381,

§ FP, ix, 403-%: Narrative of Events to 20 March.

7 8 Qctoher, 1857, -

® Quoted in The Englishman. 6 October, 57 9 November, 57.

v Partiamentary debates, quoted in The Euglishmen, 17 November, '57.

™ Kaye, fi. 406n.
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spint of the special commussioners Rajas and nawabs were
strung up as also men of less note in large numbers, and no
estimate was attempted of the number, as Russell says, who
perished by the ewil sword 2 This produced disastrous results
The wholesale immigratton of the Indians oversess com
menced from this period Terror stricken, the populace
mgrated espectally for Mauntius In 1850, they numbered
twelve thousand, five hundred sixty two, but at the end of
1857, the Indian populanon of the island was ope lakh, seven
thousand, and seventy two males and thirty five thousand
four hundred and sixty-two females * The pohey of unreason
ing vengeance, the abdication of the government fancuon m
favour of a commuttee of butchers’, produced other results®
A sens¢ of exasperation drove the rebels to band together in
large numbers with g view to retaliation This brought on a
deadlock The people, particularly the agncultural classes
were prevented from returning to their occupations £ In hus
commumication to the Court of Directors of 11 December,
1857, Canmng referred to the chronic disaffection of the
villagers and the readmness with which they renewed ther
rebellious activities, attesting the 11 effects of this remorseless
bloodshed This was confirmed by perfectly trustworthy
accounts Some days after, on 24 December, Qanning agant
represented to the Court of Directors that the undue action of
the awil authontes could not be cheched-—mdiscnminate
hangings and burning and plunder of villages had given colour
10 the view that the government meditated a general bloody
proscention  Consequently, the mutmy which he argued, at
the beginmng was hitle more than a military revolt was fast
growing mto a widespread 1nd implacable feud between the

1 ning refused 1o pubhsh some papers llustrating the brutahty
dng:zfé.zm@fww W.!\'.‘l:pw—d & F i thom e s 32 A to have
sud Mo 1 had rather st bt to any obloquy than publih 1 the world what woufd
B crbly digrace sm, countrymen (R © Dutl, quowed o fida St
Freedsm (1945) by B N Mukherjec) For a hist of persons condemned by coust
sl and specsal comumuss oners see Mur Record of the Jriel gevce Depa tment 3
335

1 Hundu Potriot 29 April 1858 )
* Even the Times suggesied that the English generals should execitte mid ey
Just ce soberly and temperately (Quoted 11 The Englshman 11 December 18a7)

S FP v App B 309 11 C Beadon sccretary 10 the government of India.
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‘agricultural classes and their civil rulers’. He referred to many
official and unofficial communications on this anarchical con-
dition which besides aggravating the rebellion had brought
cultivation to a standstill, and concluded with the expression
of a sentiment worthy of the noble ‘Clemency’ Canning,

(No) Government can punish in anger. ...and that the Government
which has punished blindly and revengefully will have lost its chief
title to the respect of its subjects.

All these official missives show that the government of India,
at least so far as thesc records are concerned, did not look
upon the events of 1857-58 from a particular racial angle, but
in their proper perspective, only in the context of a vast
wsurge of people. The assumption that the mutiny was
actually a popular rebellion indicated the level at which it was
to be tackled. Many officers applied themselves to the task of
mitigating the tension by removing the causes of exasperation
of the civic communitics, Willlam Muir, secretary to the
government of North-West provinces, writing to district offi-
cers, on the subject of ‘means of revenue’ on 10 April, 1838,
cautioned them to confine their demand to the Kharif instal-
ment, that is, those for November and December only. This
virtually amounted to an admission of the legitimate de facto
tenure of the usurping rulers in the preceding months, when
the landlords had withbeld payment to the British treasury.
The officers were further advised to take into account the
financial condition of the proprictors. who were favourably
disposed in the matter of payment of revenue. It would be
inexpedient, he emphasised, t© “trench upon their capital’
already wasted by plunder and rapine.® But on this po'm_t a
controversy was raging between two e,_xpent.nccd. officials
regarding the propriety of the measure swhich brings into clear
refief somé of the issues of the civil rebeliion. In the Mathura
district over one hundred and fifty villages had becn confis-
cated and transferred to other hands for default of payment of
revenucd in addition to the usual penaltics of death and destruc-
e R Houseof Lo ot LT ol o, o
ning erred on the side of severity (T Jndian Mty 208-09).

% ¥P. ix, 931 W. Muir, secretary, Allababad, 10 Apdl, 1836,
S The Fhindu Patrio says for offering armed resistance 20 Ma, 1058.
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non for the commssion of revolutionary acts M Thornhl]
the officer of the distnet, justified this measure on the ground
that this passive resistance to pay revenue to the government
was more difficult to deal with than active opposition As a
matter of fact he treated thus contumacious refusal to pay as
rebellion and visited 1t with confiscation? G F Harvey, as
already referred to, considered this measure of Thornhull to be
indiscreet and imprudent Such transfers of large estates for
balances of revenue to quasi loyal landholders who were
utter strangers to the land would only generate further feelings
of hostility to the government by mcreasing the number of
ousted landowners This coercive process was also considered
1o be extremely unnghteous huang regard to the practical
difficultzes myolved 1n the matter of payment at 1 nme when
the whole country was swarming with rebels, the thait offices
subverted, and the British strugghng precariously in a few
beleaguered posts It could not be expected that the unprotect
ed malguzar should become such a ‘muracle of loyal devotion
a5 to rish therr lives m carrying hists to the government camp 2
The fact that many people suffered, and were even punshed
capitally for the smple reason that they were forced to submut
to the rebel wuthorites, 1n consequence of the Englsh fahng
to Afford protection, created resentment also m the Bntsh
circles 3 Better sense, however, came to prevail with the
authonties at a later time when the first blast of mutiny was
over R H Davies of Azamgarh wrote on 3 February, 1858
that the number of men mplicated 1 the commotion wis 50
great that if law was allowed to take 3ts course the yarls would
not hold them He suggested some sort of clemency i view of
the excitement and temptation born of or brought on by
subversion of authonity An offical curcular was 1ssued on 8
March, drawng the artention of the local authonties to the
governor general’s intention of making a disinction between
subversive acts mmed to overthrow the Brish power and
4¢cts of plunder and violence of a non poliical nature

INE 1 94

3 Narrat ve of Evepts by & F Harvey Commusioner P 2%

2 The H nd: Patnot of 17 June 1838 quotes Russell s report on
and 2lso refers to the speech of Mr Buxton m the Parliament who eens
govemment for hanging to death the raja of Ballabhgarh,

the subject
ured the
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when the restraining power of the government was in
abeyance.!

It is notorious that the British were within an ace of losing
India.2 They were at the end of their tether, so to say, and
applied all means to survive the crisis. European planters were
recruited to run the different services, Serious attention was
given to organise the goalas, dosads and lathiols and other such
rabble into a force of footmen.® Nearly ten thousand fighting
men of the ghatwal, tabedar and jagirdar class living in the tract
between Burdwan and Hazaribagh were proposed to be
requisitioned® and so also the Kukis of Assam.3 European
sailors of Calcutta were formed into a ‘little navy army’ and
posted in different centres® A number of seamen confined
in the jail of the Bombay Presidency were said to have been
released on condition of their promising to join the Indian
Navy.? Influences were brought to bear upon the mahajans
and zamindars to form combinations and to counteract the
hold of the rebel leaders.®

The financial position was extremely desperate as already
noticed. The Company begged for loan in different quarters
and fell back on contributions received from chiefs and a few
interested persons in some periods of the struggle.® The reve-
nue receipts in the period naturally fell. A glance at the state-
ment!® of land revenue demand, collections and balances in
the districts of the Agra division (towards the end of October
1858), as given on the next page, will show that the authority
of the government was still disregarded with impunity, and
was not yet firmly re-established.

1 FP. ix, 930

2 Q. the serious importance Nicholson attached to the situation (Wilberforce,
An Unsecorded Chapter, 33)

2 FP. v, App. B. 64: W. Tayler, commissioner of Gircuit, 11 July, 1857.

4 Ibid. 286.

s FP. ix, 81: R. J. H. Birch, Fort William, 22 December.

 FP. ix, 903.

* The Englishman, 14 December, 1857,

» FP. ix, 239: C. Chester, commissioner of Allahabad, 7

* Supra, p. 28n2.

1o Narmafive of Events by G. F. Harvey, commissioner, Agra Division, p. 43
{app.).
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Dernands far Coallectians f B
Dustricts October, 1859 | Oerobr, 1858 | Qi {ory
{InRs} (InRs) (In Rs)
Muttra 4,272. 6- 8 399 1.7 3,959- 5- ¢
Agra 8,483 5- ¢ 1,783- 5. g 6,710- 0- 0
Farrukhabad 2,25,415- 7-11 7,300-10-10 | 2,18,114.13- 1
Mampun 1,13,596-15- 2 9,770-12- 8 | 102,82 2- 6
Etawah 1,09.468- 2- 5 13,721- 2- 4 95,747- 0- )

Making allowance for the difficulties of the time which pres
vented the loyal elements to send money to the coffers of the
government, 1t cannot but be admitted that a consderable
portion of the landed class was certainly influenced by a
feeling of uncertainty as to the tenure of the Brinsh which kept
them back I But whatever the reasons, revenue receipts at
several treasuries 1 the Benares and Allahabad divisions
duning October and November show that the collection was
serously affected by the continuance of the rebellion 2

Let us turn to the economic consequences of the sepoy war
and the rebellion The immediate reaction of the outbreak was
that early in the month of June public secunties had fallen
exceecingly low at Lucknow, and Gubbins, the financial
commissioner, was informed that government promissory notes
of one hundred rupees were offered for sale for half that sum,
or even at, eghty-five or eighty-eight per cent duscount. No
merchant could negotiate a hundi or bill and all credit was
gone, so much so, that the government was obliged to fssue
orders that officials should not, till things looked up, be pad

1FP wn, 267-9 Return of collection in the Azamgarh Dastrict
S FP ix, 215-6. Narrative of Events to 14 November
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in full.? Rees further says that no credit was given by Indians
to Europeans. The anxious manner in which the former
desired to part with Company’s paper showed that they had
Tost all faith in the stability of the government, People laid in
large stores to meet the impending crisis.2 The demand for
gold® rose as the mutinous sepoys were anxious to exchange
silver for gold. Similar effects were produced on the Bombay
money market. An immediate panic seized the Indian capita-
lists, very large sums werc withdrawn from the banks and
government securities proved unsaleable.® Effects of these pro-
cecdings were felt also in Bihar about the same time. The
district officer of Champaran informed the authorities on 20
June that the indigo planters and others engaged in the trade
were in great difficulty as the bankers and mahajans were
refusing to make their usual cash advances.? As this unsettled
condition reacted heavily on cultivation, cvery endeavour was
made by the government to check amy tendency towards
agricultmral depression. The governor-general syrote to the
Court of Directors on 16 July on the necessity for encouraging
and inducing the people to return to their villages and cultivate
their ficlds.® The collector of Allahabad strained every nerve
to promote cultivation so as to compensate the loss of grain
caused by fire and plunder and stoppage of the import of the
commodity from Rohilkhand. Difficultics were cnhanced by the
fact that cultivation was not possible in deserted villages and
even where the people returned, it was too late in the season
for a plough to be put to the ground.” The inland river trade
was entircly suspended as the Oudh talukdars completely
commanded the course of the Ganges between Allahabad and
Cawnpore. No boats could ply above Aliahabad and the
usual trade from Farrukhabad and Rohilkhand was sus-

1 Qubbins, op. cit,, 186; Forrest, Selections, i, App- B. p. ix: Letter of G.
Couper. Ste also Anderson, 4 Personal Fournal, etc. 11

3 4 Prrsonal Narrative, 29. Similas cffects were felt i a far distant hill station of
the Panjab (Cooper, The Crisis, etc. 116).

2 Gubbins, op. cil., 191-2.

¢ Karl Mar, o, cit, Jndia Tedag, vol. t, September, 1952,

s FD. v, App. A. 92.

¢ FP, v, 98.

7 FP, vii, 67: M. H. Court, collectar, Allahabad, 19 Septerber.
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pended T Shortage of food came 1n the wake of these disloca
uons Already in the month of August reports were recened
of the great merease in the pnce of articles of consumption 2
In the month of October scaraty reached the peak and great
distress prevailed in Benares and the neighbounng regions of
whrch a report was piven by F B Gubbins, the commussioner,
in the same month He wnites

The price of gramn continues to be as lugh as dunng the last week
and the musery of the low er classes 1s rather mereasug than otherwise
Children are now openly sold at one rupee per head to any one that
will take them, while many others are abandoned by their parents on
the gh wavs 3

The government credit remained low, 1its papers being nego
tated at thirty four per cent discount n the Cawnpore
marhet 4 In eastern India opum advances had commenced 1
October though not in the Shahabad region  Towards the end
of the year secunities were at the lowest ebb It was then well
mgh 1mpossible to borrow upon them To make matters
worse, ncarly five hundred millions sterling were mvested in
ratlways A depression 1n these stocks naturally caused alarm
among European and Amencan banbers who held enormous
sums therem A Mirzapur report of 7 December indicated
that the mahajans had stopped all business and that drafts
of the best description could not be placed at four times the
usual rate of discount Inaidentally, the hfe msurance com
pames also passed through a ternble ordeal On a modest
calcultion four fifths of the officers of the Bengal Army
were insured and about one thousand persons penshed 2t
Cawnpore alone Naturally, the magmitude of the death
claims was beyond the capacity of these institutions to meet 8
Sambalpur expenenced another difficulty  Salt trade had
almost ceased since the outbreak and no finds were av allable
to meet even admumstrative demands? All these features,

VFP 1x 2012 Report by M H Court 17 September

SFP v App B 448

VEP 1x 215 See also the report from Bhagalpur FP vu 26

YEP 1, 228

SFP w 14

& The Enghshman 4 10 11 December 1857

YFP x 385



THEORIES ON THE INDIAN MUTINY 273

though not treated in details, are sufficient to indicate that
the economic system was thrown out of gear kike the political
one. The collapse of authority was also reflected in many other
spheres of public life, Education was either stopped or inter-
rupted, civil justice could only be exercised in a few isolated
spots, public works absolutely ceased, and the survey had to
be suspended.!

The scene of alarm, scarcity and distress presented here
brings into prominence the revolutionary character of the
objectives of the rebels. It was sure enough not 2 mere wish
to humble and humiliate the British government. The total
subversion of the British autherity in many sectors was only

hed by the establish of a rebel government of a
determined character aiming to replace the former rule in all
aspects, though many forms were not changed as new ones
could not be devised on account of the exigency of the times.
Otherwise most of the new governments aimed at justice and
equality and embodied to a great degree the spirit of the times,
The rani of Jhansi proved hersclf a most capable ruler®
Mohammed Hasan of Gorakhpur was equally foreeful in the
administration of law and order. In regard to Farrukhabad,
W. G. Probyn reported:

The procedure for the criminal court was also detailed, and very
great care, it appears, was bestowed on the suppression of crime. A
monthly report from the thanadar was ordered to be sent in a pres-
cribed form. . . .and the Register of daily occurrences (Roznamcha)
was ordered to be despatched each cvening from the thanas.?

Ewery article of food and every other thing was taxed, the
income from which averaged above rupees five hundred 2 day,
but such impositions, as Probyn ascertained, did not cause t_he
slightest vexation or amnoyance It however appears quite
plausible to maintain that nowhere during this period was any
attempt made to establish the prineiples of democracy and self-
government in the administration of the country. Ideas of a
frce and independent government meant rothing farther

* Holmes, op. at., 143.

* Mallesoa, i, 191.

3 NE. §, 136,

CNE.1, 140, 144.

o erin—I18



274 CIVIL REBELLION IN THE INDIAN MUTINIES

than the restoration of the power of the local chiefs and were
not concen ed 1n the context of the repudiation of the monar
chical principle India in the mid pineteenth century did not
possess the matenal requisites for advanced political sdeas and
the wsufficiency of her economic hfe rendered impossible any
real extension of the revolution Nor was there any socinl
servile war, an upnsing of the lower agamst the higher classes

But this does not mean that the people i general were
mcapable of social and pohtical itiative The el rebellion
of the mutimes was mamly 2 talukdann movement The
movement was a challenge to the Brtsh  system of
faw, revenue, production and property relatons It repu
diated the British policy of transferring the ownership of land
to a new set of proprietors, the auction purchasers wnd the
village headmen Evidence n support of this contention hasbeen
profusely noticed 1n the preceding pages haye quotes Heary
Tucker to show that i Benares a few days sufficed to produce
a revolution of property—so sudden a rising of the ousted
landholders as could never have been thought of The settle
ment of the North West provinces, a great triumph of the
Brtsh admimstraton, had sumlarly collapsed, suddenly
resulting 1n a revolution of landed property T Most conspicuous
in these proceedings were the Oudh talukdars who, 1s 1lready
recorded, ever snce Havelock’s repeated fulures to reach
Lucknow, helped themselves 1n seizing the willages from which
they had been wrongfully deprived # By the end of September
the whole country between Gopigany and Allahabad was 10
the hands of the Oudh talukdars who were acquinng quitc
systematically village after wiltage® and collecting rents ¢ The
long bist of the forcible sexzure of villages by the ex zamindars,
as furnished by Mayne$ 7 also many other isolated nstances
bring out m clear rehef much of the somal content of the
rebellion of the mutmics In February 1858, G Couper,
secretary to the chief commissioner of Oudh, reported that the

1 haye n 23¢ 412

1¥Pav 105 Officer Commanding Allshabad 19 August supre pp 30-01 3

SFP vu 34 The governor general of India to the Court of D rectors Fort
Willam 18 Qctober

‘184 261

3 Ihid 262 3 Gopgam 3 October
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powerful landholders were determined to resort to their posts
and carry on a guerilla warfare until they get back their
former estates.! This is an evidence of great value in that it
explains how the war in Lucknow was converted into a war
of the talukdars and the renewal of the struggle in a more
intensive form against the confiscation proclamation of
Canning.

Yet the rebellion of 1857 was not the work of the dispassessed
talukdars alone. The war of the talukdars was made possible
only by the co-operation of the general mass of people. the
country people, the villagers of different social status, A very
singular circumstance which was apparent and worthy of
consideration was that the low castes and the cultivators who
received attention at the hands of the British government
displayed the most marked hostlity to it? In Oudh the
British were fighting not a mutny, but the revolt of 2 people
under its hereditary chiefs® and leaders. In Budaun the mass
of the population rese in a body and the work of rebellion
after the sepoys had Icft, passed into the hands of the rural
clements.t In some parts of Saharanpur, as Kaye was able
to find out from the materials at his disposal, even the sepoys
were regarded as protective elements by the British as against
the inhabitants of towns and villages who turned out fiercely:
the British officer could hardly realisc this rapid change
amongst the peaceful villagers.® In Deobund. the resistance
offered by the townspeople had been determined and the
rebels were numerous.® In Mathura the whole country had
Hsen almost instantaneously. immediately after the outbreak

" of the sepoys.? The authorities at Ghazipur were resisted by
villagers who were orgamised in bodics of thousands in

+ Forrest, Sdectisns, 1, App. B. p. x. Notwithstanding this restiveness to seze
lands it was 1o be doubted whether the rebellion had not diminished the value of
Janded property in its ultimate consequence, a5 the capitalisss were Jikely to bang
back from wmvestment in land from 2 feeling of insecurity of tenure (Sze Report
by R. Spanlic, of Saharenpur in NE. 1. 226, 490).

* Thorahill, ep. cit, 334

3 Ludlow, 4. Papil ou the Wer = Oudh 50

+ Kaye, iif, 286.

= fbid, 250-01.

* Robertson, ¢b. ¢it, 138,

7NE. §, 95,
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July 18571 Sherer, the magistrate of Fatchpur, while leaving
the station and wandenng 1n search of a place of safetv, found
the peasantry of the countryside in a ferment, m a state of
Jacquerte of the agricultural type 2 The people of Jehanabad
(Bihar) were also m open rebellion® Al official sources agree
m stating that 1 Allahabad the peasantry rose at once under
their old talukdars, specially the rural oppulation of the Doab,
and ‘all the muscle and sinew of the agncultural races’ were
arrayed aganst the government 4 In Rewah the whole of the
population was hostile® and the cauntry was secured only by
the courage and resourcefulness of captan Osborne® In
Shahabad the rebeliion of the people was found to be most
determined and protracted of s kind TheSagar and Narmada
countries were 1n a blaze, sedihous conspiracies were fomented
m Belgaum, Hyderabad and Poona and popular msimgs took
place 1 far distant Kolhapur, Savantvad: and Nargund
The commotion at the last named place took the form of a
national resistance 7

This sample survey tiken of this vast and sombre scene
of rebellion may confirm the view that the so called mutny of
1857 has an internal consistency, only if we regard 1t as both a
mutiny and a rebelhion unmistakably umted 8 In general, popu
lar nsings were excited by military disturbances yet sometimes
the fermentation appeared on the surface even wathout them
It 15, however, not very easy to determune the duranon of
these occurrences, nor the sequence 1 which one act of revolt
followed another but m most of the districts, as shown i the
present work, elements of revolt and embers of disaffection

LFP v,App A 66 H G Wake Arrah 11 July, 1857

3 Maude and Sherer 1 130

TFP v App B 427 vu 4

4 Kaye u 260

3 FP w1 87,89 The Officer Commanding at Benares 13 October

¢ Maude and Sherer, 1 170

7 Supra p 230 Y o

8 Cf the remarks of F Williams the commussioner of the BMeerut Divis on
who was commussioned to snstitute an enquiry anto the ongun and character of bt:e
revolt  Those who have lived in the mudst of it and who should be d;c 5
Judges cannot but feel that the theory that it was a purely mibtaty revolt a&\
the other that it was a national effort to shake off tyrants are equally far from the
truth (NE 1 288)
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continued to smoulder long after their re-occupation by the
British. There is no gainsaying the fact that rebellion gripped -
many parts of India; even where agitation was not violent,
there was no mistaking the unrest in people’s minds and it is
to be doubted if all acrimony was spent quickly. The village
people were not certainly properly organised, and too often
they broke out into small parties without any competent
leadership, yet they fought heroically and even showed
capacity for co-ordinated action. Captain Harrison of Dun-
bar’s party in the expedition against Arrah said that the people
of the country turned against them.? Mention of the villagers
being recruited in the rebel army frequently occurs in official
papers® and increasingly as the revolt progressed, they
replaced the sepoys and formed the bulk of the fighting forces.
They actively participated in the revolt without bothering
much about their destiny and were not dismayed in any way
by fear of the coming retribution. Such an attitude cannot be
inspired simply by the temptation to take advantage of the
disappearance of all authority attendant on the mutinics. The
rapidity with which the revolt developed, the preparcdness
of the villages to accept rebel authority, and the extensive
plundering of many places suggest a readiness for revolt,? the
rebellion of a united people against the state. In Meerat, for
instance, as major Williams the commissioner of military
police who collected a vast amount of evidence on the subject
of the rising reported that the situation was perfectly normal
on that fateful day, the shops open, the vendors plying and
travellers journcying unarmed, but fearful scenes were enacted
the same day n the afiernoon and soon the country rose.* In
Mathura ac. cding to official reports the people were in pro-
found tranguility @ month before the outbreak but this sudden
change to anarchy struck the magistrate as incomprehensible.?
Similarly in Benares, the suddenness with which the rebellion
developed in the interior was astounding. It was not duc to
the instigation of the sepoys, as Kaye says,

LFP. iy, 137, ' .
* FP, v15, 75; Report by P. Carnegy (Mehndi Hasan had 10,000 men consisting

4NE.i, 2

+ NE. i, 9
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but a great movement from within was beginming to make atself fely
upon the surface of the rural Society, and all traces of British nyle
were rapudly disappeanng from the face of the land *

So also n Allahabad, the character of the general nsing of
the people was such that 1t could not have been any the
stronger and more formudable even 1f it had been slalfully
planned 1nd deliberately matured 2

In ali convulsions popular fury 1s naturally directed against
the institutions of their oppressors and throughout the rebellon
the first thing the rebels did on getting a footing 1n a station
was to burn the government offices and property 3 Usunlly
records of every desenption were destroyed, as these were
regarded as the machmery by which the Brtsh enforced
taxation 4 Police stations tahsils and telegraph poles were also
targets of attack & but there scemed to be an especial rge
ag unst the railway lines which were thrown out® and a great
fear of the engines which were battered to preces 7 But st has
been sufficiently demonstrated that plunder was not the
inducement to disaffection 1 many cases as the villagers were
found to be wealthy and their resources strong ® In Sharan
pur, the zamindars were one with the lower orders and rebel
lion and not plunder prompted their actiities There the
rebels were content not merely to burn or destroy the bamya
houses and throw the accounts mnto the flames, but the
account books were carned out of the town with them and
torn up in the highways The same thing happened 1t
Mathura ?

There 15 no mdication 1 the official papers of the role the
class of wage earners of Indinn society played in the great
revolt of 1857 Nevertheless a few detals are ayulable There

*haye u 23¢

* lbd 256

3 At some places plunderngy were 50 extensive that they could hardly be
regarded 2y work of men Cf Roberts letter to hus wife Ratherme {4 3 dows
Remnuscences 77)

4 Thomhul The Personal Adoentures 87

5FP w 105 w1 200

¢ FP vt 197

* Kaye u 2570

*NE 1 231f

? Robertson op at 134 Raye 1 250 Thorohill ¢p at 106
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were some factories lying scattered in the whole country
and coffec and indigo -plantations run by Europeans, where a
working class allied to the toiling population must have
worked. The dismantling of the factories at Shahjebanpur,
Saran and Hazaribagh and the wholesale destruction of indigo
factorics at Shahabad and in many other places as already
noticed,! were a challenge to the system of exploitation and
the instruments of production—the primitive demand of the
nascent proletariat. The fact that a proclamation had to be
issued by the government for the recovery of indigo seed only
serves to underline the resentment of this class against the
planters? and the cultivation of cash crop in general.
Litile is known of the facts relative to the social composition of
the rebels. In gencral they may be classified as people who
lived by profession of arms, agricultural workers, religious
mendicants and priests, civil servants, shopkeepers, boatmen
and other professionals of this type, The commercial and
industrial classes, the bankers and mahajans, were on the side
of order and government and were the targets of attack in
almost every place. So universal was this feature that G. H.
Freeling of Banda could not help reporting that in no instance
the bankers and traders, the class favoured by them, had been
able to keep their own in the struggle.? But the influence of
the big ‘native princes’ and chiefls operated in a different
direction. They actively sided with the government, and
strangled the revolution and utilised only such results of this
countrywide upsurge as were of advantage to them. Had they
joined the movement, no carthly power, as Colvin said, could
have saved the British from destruction.? The pillars of Indian
feudalism kept aloof from the revolt so often characterised as
feudal.

A very significant feature of the movements Aof the rcbel
leaders was that they did not confine their activities t.nerely to
their respective regions but moved to the ncighbouring areas

1 Supra, pp. 173-4.

2 FP. i, 242: Commissioner of Bepares, 19 October, 1857,

* NE. §, 548; Muir, Records of the Intelligense Deporiment, i, 2, 5-7, 92. .
4 There were also quite a few instances of the fidelity of the scpoys and their

contradictory impulses which weakened the strength of the mutinons regiments
in some a:r:-xys (Kgy:, %, 500). Also Mowbray Thomson, The story of Caunpore, 41.
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to carry on the general struggle against the English Not to
speah of the military operations of the Fyzabad manlaw
Firuz Shah Tantia Topy, the ram of Jhann Rao Sahib and
Runwar Singh, a host of other leaders also made themselves
conspicuous in many fronts of the war throughout the whole
of upper Indin Thus Madho Singh of Bhognpur was reported
to have joined the rebels at halpr after the re occupation
of Cawnpore by the Briish Bem Bahadur Singh of Nasrat
pur with a halter round his neck fought at Allahabad and
later on jomed the ranhs of the rebels at Lucknow Mehnd:
Hasan of Sultanpur donunated over the distncts surrounding
Qudh nd surrendered only when the struggle was nerly
over Rana Bem Madho Baksh of Sankarpur struggled
to the last and fied to Nepal rather than accept the amnesty
out of his loyalty to the royal begam and the same stand
was taken by Mohammed Hasan of Gorakhpur who carmed
his arms as far as the borders of Fyzabad Pnthwipal Sgh
covered a wide Feld of mubitary operations Mansabal fought
many a smart action resisting the advance of British forces all
the way from Cawnpore to Lucknow on the one side and on
the other 1n the Sultanpur road Liakatah of Allahabad stuck
to the last fighting 1n many fields The patwar chief Madho
prasad of Birthar extended his activities as far as Azamgarh
Udresh Stngh was present 1n the fight at Lucknow, Gorakhpur
and Azamgarh and sumdarly, Amresh Swgh of Akbarpur
came to the support of the rebels at Gorabhpur and Azamgarh
and very sumlar were the actities of another rajcoomir
chief Chandresh Smgh When hunwar Singh was on his
tustonic march to Kalpr, Amar Singh sturred out of Shahbad
to help hum? and when the old lion was digging i at Azamgarh
Pargan Singh, Indrant Singh and Rana Bem Madho anczll
others assembled together to take therr force over the Gogra

In the country to the south of the Jumna Barjor Singh domt
ted the entire region from Kunch to Kalpe and the Sagar
Jeader Dault Sngh swept through Jalaun, Jhansi, Hosanga
bad and Rajputana There are many other mstasices to show
that the leaders of the rebellion looked beyond their own
smmediate aircle, and showed a combiation of wide wsion

1FP 1 598
‘CR&X Secret Lasters from Indua vol 164 p 939 (NO 81A of 1858)
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and patriotic solidarity. Though they were mostly engaged
in local rebellion. they frequently united their forces against
the English in many sectors of the war to deliver the country
as a whole, and not simply parts of it. from the yoke of the
British rule. )

This combination s all the more remarlable as it cut across
all barriers of caste and creed. and of regions and provinces, and
united the Hindus and the Mahomedans—despite compunal
flare-up here and there which broke out during this period—1!
in a common cndexour to shake off the fetters of British rule
and demonstrate their hatred of the regime in 2 pesfectly
national way. Disraeli’s attack against the government in the
House of Commons on 27 July was typical of the British
imperialists whose motto was divide and rule. yet it was an
admission of the fact:

For the first time in the histors of vour rule, you have the Hindu
and Mahomedan making common cause agajpst you

The numerous proclamations of the time which wrged the
people to combine and slay the British 3 added with the mea-
sures adopted by Bahadur Shah,? the nawab of Furrubhabad
and Khan Bahadur Khan of Baricllv and many others to placate

$ For the communal question of this penod see Muir Rrrds of the Inidligenee
Deborimr, ete, i, 378, 39, +43. 473, 507, 510. n 4, 3, 26,42, 13 179,
Kaye, i, 288f: Majumdar, ov ', 223 s pre. pp 112 11577, 157,

* 7% Erqleire-, 16 September, 1857 The wellknown fact that Azl
Khap and Sobharam were the advisess of Nana Sahib and Kh Bahadur Khan
respectively highlights this nssumption

* An excerpt from a letter isued by manlast Rootzh Shah 1n respect of jornt
alliances of the Hindus and Mahomedans ran as follows

1 conjure the Hindus m the name of Ganga Tuls and Sabhram and
the Mubarcdans by the name of Ged and the Korar to jom us 1o destroying
the English. for their mutual welfare The Milmg of cows beane: esteemed one
of the greatcst sins amorest the Hindus the Muhamedan chicls have agreed
10 shoheh that tustom fom the dav the Hindus come forward to Lill the
Trucopeans —oon . Tt not ths oppertumty_pass away (FP w8513}
Excepting for the purpese of urutiog the Hindus and Vahomedans the
e efeston of the perod put forword by the rebdl feaders are
chararterised b the entire absence of any competent analvs of the el
cffects of the Butish rule which caused this mutiny and rebellion The
proclamation fsswed by “Nana Salub on 6 Juls, 1857, quoted m Kave and
S \Dijumdar (b rit. 133) I a fupe, of wendacious propaganda it was
N riedon The proclamation teted by the roval begom of Lucknow was
of a dafferent cort

1§y p69 Also the evidence of Mrs Aldwell in the Triel of Bahedur Sraf.

9
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the Hindus, roused 1o 1 great extent, a new feeling, a feehing of
sohidanity which reached sts peak dunng the seige of Luchnow
whenin theface of a great impending danger the Hindus swore
on the Ganges and the Mahomedans on the Koran and rushed
out, crying chalp bhar, to wipe out the Enghsh at Alambagh !
Similarly at Delht 1t was a national defence which the Batish
confronted Colvin informed Havelock that the spiat
which both Hindus and Mahomedans acted together at Dellu
was very remarhable 2 W Tajler of Patna communicated to
the government that the letters discovered 1n the house of
Peeral: Khan disclosed that for the purpose of the successful
execution of the conspiracy a common cause was made
by merging all rehgious differences® At Jhans the Maho-
medans were wholly on the side of the ram Even in Rohil

khand where communal tension prevailed, efforts of all hnds
were made to raise the Hindu population agamnst the British 4
On this question of a common opposition to British rule by the
Indian populace m those memorable years the evidence 1s of
so compelling a nature that to Forrest, the histonan of the
mutiny, the great revolt only ponted to the starh fact that the
Bntish domimon rested on a thin crust He observes

Among the many lessons which the Indian Mutiny comveys to the
histortan and admunustrator none 15 of greater importance than the
warnng that 1t 1s possible to have a revolution 1 which Brahmin
and Sudra, Mahomedan and Hindu, were umted agamst us®

Contemporary sources refer to smlar other nstances of
soctal brotherhood which was remarkably exinbited m a
number of places

The commencement of the revolt at Meerut and the spread
of the mnfection of mutiny and rebelion wath 2 bewildenng
rapidity made 1t ewdent that the Bnush goiernment had
acquired but a shght hold upon the affections of 115 Indian
subjects § England s domuaton 1 India was mndeed bult by

1 Forrest, Selectons 1 3778 Intro
1FP i 140 Fort Agra 22 July 1857
3¥P v App. B 8 Pama, 15 July
*FP 1x, 852

* Forrest Select ons 1 150 {Intro)

¢ Holmes op at 143
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the sword and also upheld by the reliance on it. The rule of 2
céntury might have produced other strings for its upkeep, but
the events of May-June demonstrated that it had no other
firm suppoit excepting the sword. That unfortunately was the
result of the British policy, for by the end of that period certain
trends were emerging out of the confused mass of events which
indicated that the mutiny was gradually merging into a rebel-
lion. In a sense all mutinies turn into a mass movement when
they attain a certain measure of success but the Indian
mutinies of the year 1857 had the peculiar featurc that the
rebel Bengal Army had from the beginning drawn the sym-
pathies of the countrypeople. “The scpoys were not so much
the avengers of professional grievances as the exponents of
general discontent’.! They revolted against the authority,
which they had sworn to obey, on grounds of national interest.
The justification of sacrificing the military obligations rested
on a widely based belief that their religion was in danger and,
since they were children of the soil, though mercenarics and
had not abnegated their obligations to the country, their
countrymen viewed them as martyrs to a greaf cause, holy
and national, and as a district magistrate said, willingly
supplied their wants in almost all instances.®

Macaulay in his last two volumes of English history said that
the violence of revolutions is generally proportioned to the
degrec of maladministration which produced them. The
excesses committed by the Indians only explain their frantic
attempts to throw off the yoke of their foreign masters whom
they considered to be their oppressors. Such observations as
the rebels were not actuated by a feeling of patriotism,? and
that the mutiny was only an outbreak and not a revols,? really
do not cover all the issues of this human tempest. Another
writer ignores the national content of the revolt on the gl‘.Dufld
that revolution is easy in a country where the vast majority
of the population is agricultural as it was in France? The

1 Disracliin the House of Commons (Hamsard’s Parlismentary Debates,
July, vol. exivi, p. 444).

* Robertson, gp. it., 61: Holloway, Essays, etc. 26001

3 Forbes-Mitchell, op. cit., 99-100-

* Maude and Sherer, 1, 160.

* Medley, 4 Zear's Campaigning in India, 195-
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analogy with France does not hold good, as the fact of foragn
domunation 1 India gave edge to the grnevances of a socal
nature which widened the basis of the revolt In fact, of the
rebellion as a whole, 1L 13 not quite easy to present a umform
pattern as 1t differed considerably from region to region, wnd
political and soctal motwes got mixed up mn the process
The total subverston of the Britsh mlttary control 1n India
was undoubtedly the objective of the muhtary classes The
subversion of the Bnush system of admimstrayon 1 all as
aspects by the abasement of the Btish rule to1ts utmost extent
1ts extinction 1f 1t could be managed, was the ruling mowve n
general of the non mulitary classes The tnter action of the two
1deas, increasingly as the mutny was turned into a rebelhon
generated such 4 wave of popular feeling as can fauly be
distinguished with the name of a nttional movement i its
meipient form

The comersion of the mutiny 1nto a popular rebethon has
been doubted by many scholars both Indin and Bnnsh of
contemporary and later periods The greatest protigomist of
the theory that the revolt of 1857 was only 2 mutiny of roops
was Willam Muir secretary to the government of North
West provinces His thesis was that it was essentially 1 military
mutiny, 1 struggle between the government and 1fs soldiers
From the lach of exatement 1n some places and wclcome
gwen to Brtish soldiers 1n other places and sundry other signs
of returning loyalty of the people as reflected s improved cof
lections, from the desertions from the rebel forces, the loyalty
of the Panyabis the splendid crop of a few 1solated stretches
and above all, from the occasional mamfestations of communal
distemper he argues that there w1s o controiers) between
the people and the government } This amounts t0 1 neganon
of the fundamental proposition of the present worh If there
was no contraversy between the people and the government
then the Iatter would not have commtted whuman atrocities
upon the unarmed populace as 1s eyident from the details
recorded above In a vast upsurge ke the rewolt of 1857
engulfing a major porton of a sub-continent Dihe Indit

1 Records of the Intel] gence Department 1 31 35 20203 248 289 3345 k)
313 360 405 491 505 n 112 145 153 155 202 237 266 3356 363 372
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variations and fluctuations of conditions cannot be regarded
as anything unusual and should not have any undue bearing
on the overall historical estimate. The faulty nature of the
observation of Muir is also made clear in his remark on the
revolt of Mathura. He says: “The most remarkable proof of
the people being not opposed to us is found in Muttra’? The
report of Mark Thornhill, the British officer of the station who
certainly had more opportunities to watch the situation than
Mouir who depended only on reports, however gives a different
version,? The picture Muir gives of Saharanpur? again appears
to be a twisted one when seen in the light of Rohertson’s
District Duties.

A very trite argument which is used to question the popular
character of the revolt is that the proportion of the civil
populace who joined the rebellion was insignificant when
compared with those whose sympathies were with the govern-
ment. F. Williams, the commissioner of the Meerut division,
for instance, furnishes a table of the population of Saharanpur,
Muzaffarnagar and Mecrut and of the troops stationed in
each of these districts, the former overwhelmingly in excess
of the latter, and concludes that had the mass of population
joined, those small bands could not have held out.# This view,
namely that a considerable section of the peaple even of the
affected regions remained sympathetic to the English, has
been echoed and re-echoed in many contemporary and later
works.? It is of course evident and is not disputed that in many
districts quite a few of the chiefs and landholders, large sec-
tions of the common people, and specially the English-edncated
classcs, actively supported the government in their trial.® The
peculiar feature of the mutiny, as Kaye says, was that though
the English were fighting against the Indians, they were in

1 Muir, of. eit., i, 46.

* Supra, pp. B1-B2.

53,191,

¢ NE.j, 288.

* Nafizs Fidelity during the Afutinyz The Mutinies and the People (1859) by 2
Hindu which atiempts to vindicate the Indians from the charge of universal
disloyalty. The author is Sambhu Charan Mulbapadhyya. This is not to be
confused with another work entitled The Mutinies, the Government and the
People by = Hindu which is wually ascribed to Kishori Chandra Mitra.

“¢ R, C. Majumdar, oh. cit, 223, 2256,
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reality sustamned and supported by them 1 But thesc circum
stances are of a nature which do not touch the fringe of
the problem? and are of value only m that they enable us to
understand better how the Englsh came out successful n
their contest In most of the convulsions of history, the brunt
of the struggle 1s borne by a small portion of the population,?
and the fact that rebellions aganst foreign rule, parallel 1
causation, character and extent to the revolt 1 India, have
occurred 1 the past and are occurring even now, should
counsel caution 1n all calculations about the nature and extent
of the revolt As for the princely order and the various ruling
chiefs who matenally helped the Bnfish cause, it 35 well to
consider that the loyalty of this class with the diffienlties and
dangers attending them only brings out 1n bold rehef and
renders more promment the universal rebellion round them 4

The very fzcile argument that the rebellon that emerged
was the rebellion of the nff-raff and other disturbing elements
of society who enriched themselves by all unscrupulous means
wAs one which was used mostly by the contemporary British
press and wrters to play down the popular content of the sepoy
mutiny Even Indians like Syed Ahmed Khan freely spoke of
robbers and dncaits 1n the context of the rebel lenders® This
view however did not find fasour with Kaye, Malleson and
Forrest who were the first series of mutiy scholars to discover
the cnormity of the 1ssues of the great revolt and could not
necessanly advocate such lame theones But the notion sull
persisted 1nd Holmes, the author of the *best Justory of Sepoy
Mutiny’ accordng 10 VA Smuth, allowed his mpersabist
sentiments to outweigh other considerations of historical studies
i at least one page m his great work But even a great
work, cannot possibly redeem such an unbalanced observation

Just as 2 general mutmy of the London police would be

followed by a violent outhurst of erime on the part of the Londtgl
thieves and roughs, so would the talukdars, the dispossessed Jan

1 Kaye, u 6030

2 Cf the remarks of Dr § N Sen that no community, chiss or caste as uch
was entirely for or agamnst the government (o al,

 THus porat has been developed by Dr S N Sen (op at, 411]

1 Robertson Dustrict Dutus etc 188

$0p at, 180
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Eoléiers, t}zt: gujz;rs and the budmashes of India have welcomed the
rst symptom of governmental weal i ifyi
e selﬁgh e c‘:.; H kness as a signal for gratifying
It has been shown that the support cxtended by Holmes
-to the theory of Tnnes in respect of the non-helligercncy of the
Oudh talukdars has not been substantiated by adequate evid-
ence.? This when rcad along with the above remarks points
to a trend of thought which characterised the early school of
mutiny scholars. Robber bands, the riff-raff and others of this
tribe certainly joined in the Indian revolt as they do join
in cvery country whenever law and order is threatened. We
may search all history in vain for 2 movement of emancipation
which was not joined by people harhouring impure motives.
But the foregoing pages must have shown that there were many
others, possibly the bulk of rebels, who were not robbers by
profession but people of decent social status to whom the revolt
appeared to be the only legitimate means of redressing their
grievances. Many scholars following Holmes and Raikes have
preferred to express similar views.® But British official papers
themselves, as shown in this work, point to a different estimate.
A very simple but a substandally correct appraisal of the
situation may be found in the following lines:
The question whether the mutiny was a mere military revolt or a
popular rising when calmly considered leads to the conclusion that
the army revolted, the population left to itself itted overt acts
of hostility against the government. This is rebellion.t

1 Holmes, op, sit., 560.

* Sce Appendix D:The behaviour of the Talukdars of Oudh during the Mutiny.

2 Dr, R. C. Majumdar in his recent work seems to have given an overemphasis
10 the depredations of the anti-social elements {op. crt., 51, 220-02, 224, 268).
Dr. Sen (gp. cit., 406-7) also makes a derisive reference to the gujar King Fatua
of Saharanpur. But if three thousand people of this and other allied communities
could assemble together for hostile purposes the mavement cannot be dismissed
28 a mere instance of predatory activity (swpra, 77), Poor Devi Singh of Mathura
has heen too much nidiculed by Thomhill who was otherwise very sober in
his observation, The fact is that when the striking power of the government
was reduced it gave inducement to royal pretensions. Devi Singh, as Thornhill
himself states, took his new pesition very seriously and organised a government
of his own. Then what about the gujar leader of Dholpur who mustered an
army of nearly three thousand men (supra. 83)? Further, Shahamal, the Jat
leader, was not one whit less in energy and resolution than the ieaders of the
other classes (supra, 64-5). It docs not appear quite reasonable that 1857 should
be dismissed as a string of depredations of the gujars and ranghars.

4 Thornhill, The Personal Adventures, 330f.
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very borders of Bengal ! In Bundelkhand, and in Sagar and
Narbada terntones, and also in portions of the southem
Maratha country the great bulk of the people rose agamnst
British rule and so also 1n the North-West pravinces where the
nsings of the people and the sepoys were almost simultancous
m pont of ime, and the alliance between the mibtary and
agncultural classes was the closest of 1ts kind ® In Rohulkhand,
the country of the hardy rohullas, who had not forgotten therr
hereditary rancour, the movement took the form of a maho-
:ned:m nsing and was marked by communal distemper, yet
the national heart’, as Kaye says, ‘was turned aganst the
Enghsh *® Throughout Rohilkhand disorgamsation 1 the et
government preceeded the mutiny 1n the cantonments, and
snfection of sedition and disaffection spread in the Gangetic
tracts which had been i open rebellion 4

The affairs 1n Oudh had assumed special sigmificance dunng
this period of struggle The governor-general had always this
question uppermost m lus mind and urged with hs com-
mander that the country should be taken in hand wth the
least possible delay nd British authonty re-established m the
centre and caprtal of Oudh, at Lucknow, which had scarcely
been in ther possession for two years He could not, from a
lustorical pomt of view, forget that Bntish relations with Oudh
were not above board, and were in every Indian’s mind for
the last two years There were also other reasons for givmg
immediate attention to the affairs of Oudh The revolt in
Oudh, according to all contemporary writers, early assumed
the character of a war of mdependence As the Times of
London observed ®
There 1t 13 not fanaticsm or rebigious pamc which holds the gmding
spring, there 1t 15 love of freedom—the dislike of foreign rule that
actuates the people

und

B S e T
revolt was a personal matter of hunwar and also because the province as 2 whole
remaned loyal (¢f Sen, 9p at, 408 9)

* haye, m 194

$lbid 251 The 1897 13 of the view that the masses of ‘Rohilkhand m
general were not bhund the revolt (Sen o ait, 409}

4 Edwards, Personal Adventures etc. p 3

* 31 March, 1858
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The siege and capture of Lucknow and its defence by the
Indians which were attended with indications of a national
resistance raised many issues of the rebeflion of the scpoy war.
Lven before the fall of the city, Canning dirccted the chief-
commissioner at Lucknow that his proclamation was to be
issued 50 soon as the British troops have possession or command
of the city, and in no case before its fall. The proclamation
dated 14 March, 1858, declared that, except in a few specified
cases, the talukdari lands would be Jiable to forfeiture:

The Governor-General further proclaims to the people of Oudh,
that, with the above mentioned exceptions, the proprietary right in
the soil of the province is confiscated to the British Government
which will dispose of that right in such manner as to it may seem
fitting.t

This confiscation clause in the Qudh proclamation was
almost universally condemned as being singularly injudicious,
and even Lord Ellenborough, then secretary of state for India,
resigned on this account.? The secret commitiee of the Court
of Directors of the East India Company urged the mitigation
of the severity of the decree of confiscation on the ground that
the rehels of Qudh were under very different circumstances
than their compatriots in other provinces.® More emphatic
was the protest of the chicf commissioner of Oudh, Sir James
Outram, who pointed out that the effect of the proclamation
would be to confiscate the entirc proprictary right in the soil
since there were not a dozen landholders who had not borne
arms. They could not do otherwise, even if they had no
gricvance (o complain of, under the shocks to which the
British rule was exposed in Oudh. As they arc honourablc
enemies, they deserved a better treatment, or clse, the com-
missioner warned, guerilla war will again commence.?

The proclamation was s0 opposed to the usually conciliatory
attitude of Canning that his defence of the measure lends
interest fo the question. In his letter to Outram dated 31

t Forrest, Selections, i, pp. 5034

® For the general emotion which was excited in London on this measure, see
Montalemhert, A debate on India, 27H.

3 House of Lords, Sessional papers, vol. xi (Returns ete)), p. 6.

+ House of Lords, Sessional papers, op. ait., (Fresh Returns), p. 1.
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March, he admuts that the talukdars of Qudh, who had suffered
a loss of property by the introduction of British rule recently
established, should be treated differently than the rebels of
the old provinces It was no marvel that this class of people
should hasten to shake off therr new aflegiance when the
British rule was found to be dissolving But he expressed his
doubts if the case of the suffering landlords was not over
dramatised The attempt to introduce 1nto Oudh a system of
village settlernent 1 place of the old settlement under taluk
dars mught not have been expedient, but st ws certamly the
nght one, as he thought 1t, on a question of justice, for the
lands and willages from which the talukdars were disinhented
were mostly those usurped by them through fraud and vio
lence In support of lus contention that a sense of justice and
loss was not always the factor which provoked the hostle
activities of some of the most active rebels, the governor
general proceeded to show that the raja of Churda did nat
lose a single willage by the summary settlement, not to speak
of the fact that s assessment was materiafly reduced, and so
also was the case with the raja of Blunga The raja of Gonda
lost thirty willages out of four hundred and his assessment was
also Jowered by some ten thousand rupees The young raja of
Nanpara was saved from the dissolution of his estate by the
Brtish government, he was recognised as sole propnetor of
the estate losing only six villages out of more than a thousand,
yet he was one of the earliest to join the rebel forces The case
of the raja of ‘Dhowrera’ was simular and 50 also was the post
tion of Ushraf Box Khan 1

The ohservation of the governor general that ijustice at
the hands of the new admimstration has not been the cause of
hostility, at least 1 these recorded instances, can be mter
preted to mean that the Oudh chiefs 1n general appear to h?v:
been actuated esther by patriotic or sclfish motves Newfier
of this 1s agamn wholly untenable The talukdars canmot
certamnly be dissociated from patnotic motes Gublins gives
many 1nstances of the attempts made by the government t0
secure the fidebty of the landed chuefs, whose friendship or

¥ f51d See also fanes op af, 2900
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rivalry were matters of consequence, by promise of high
reward and grant of perpetual jagirs, as in the case of raja
Nawabali of Mzahumdabad, raja Gur Baksh Singh of Ram-
nagar and raja Man Singh and others but failed to work upon
their cupidity.!

The war of the mutiny in Qudh took the character of 2
social war, a legitimate war of independence. Yet it cannot be
denied, as Canning analysed:
the moving spirit of these chiefs of Oudh must be looked for elsewhere
mainly in the repugnance which they feel to suffer any restraint of
their hitherto arbitrary power. . . . to a diminution of their importance
and to the obligations of dishanding their armed followers?

The assumption is that the rebel chiefs appear to have been
actuated far [ess by a feeling of loyalty for their late king and
patriotic interests than by motives more selfish. It is known that
the whole population of Oudh was inspired by martial instincts
and that for centurics the nobles of that country constituted a
power superior to that of the King. Beforc the British conquest,
the country had not been held by a strong central power which
favoured the growth of fortified places held by feudal chief-
tains, and indccd, on this, and on many other aspects, nothing
could he so opposed to each other as the condition of Oudh
and of the Panjab immediately after they were respectively
brought under Pritish rule, which accounted for the revolu-
tionary excesses of the former country and the restrained
course of the rebellion in the latter during the sepoy war.
While thercfore the territorial instincts of the zamindars of
Oudh played their part in the causation of the rebellion in
Oudh, 1o Tess potent was the higher motives of independence
and freedom from foreign rule which must have been pro-
duced by the shock and tension of the situation. The noble
part played, and the sacrifices made, by the chiefs of Oudh

1 Gubbins, g5, cil., 193.

* House of Lords, Sessional papers, of. ¢il.

s Lord Staniey in his Despateh to the governor-gencral stated that in Scptem-
ber 1856, the number of fortified places hefd by the great landholders and other
infucatia] persons a Oudh amounted to 623, of which 331 were in good repair.
{Quoted in Tnnes, Lucknow and Oude fn the Mutiny, App.x, para 23, p. 324), See
Sion Montalersbert, op. cit., 39, Stanley further says that they had largs bodies of
Snmed yolainers and retained i concealment their serviceable guns despite the
proclamation for the surrender of military stores on pain of legal conscguience.
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for their hang, thewr country and ther religion put out of court
any congderation postulatng mere personal and sclfish
motwves 1 the Oudh Jeaders !

But what constitutes the chief objection to Cantung s theory
15 that numerous talubdars of OGudh who yoined the rebellion
had actually suffered most and lost thewr all by the willage
systemn so recklessly iatroduced It 15 adle to contend that the
reversion of the former taluhdan system 1o favour of 1 village
system had nothing to do with the rebelhon in Oudh as
Gubbins would have us believe He failed to realise that i
India the village system was not complete without the zamn
dars and that 1t was not destroyed by allowing a class of
farge propnietors to exst, 1t simply lay behund them The fact
that the superority md influence of the landed classes had
formed a necessary element 1n the social constitution of India
was 1gnored 2 This was the tragedy of the avihan settlement
as demonstrated m the revolt m Qudh 3

In looking at this great hustory of the sepoy war as a whole,
we shall not take a Just account of 1t unless we consider thatst
was far more than a mibitary and munly feudal 1nsurrection
y hich 1t looks ke 1n 2 first view The sepoys were no doubt the
spcathiead of this violent upheaval, but ultimately they fell
1nto the ranh of camp followers and swelled the number o
feudnl levies The landed chiefs remamned n the field almost
from the beginmipg to the end and shaped thar actiities
according to palitical and economue conditions of thewr respec-
trve localitses, but they did not necessanly play a reacttonary of
conservatve part or show any spint of feudal obscurantsm
On the contrary, they became the unconscous toot of a
vague feeling of patnotism while combating the antt feudal
tendencies of the British settlement operations

Thas 1s chsputed by Dr R C Majumdar He observes
The miseries and bloodshed of 1857 58 were not the buth pang ofa

1 Gf the case of Bery Madho and Mohammed Hasan

2 Townsend The Annals ete (1860) vol v p 18

3 Referr ng to the battle of Chanda {30 October 1857) which was stoutly
contested H G Tucker quoted the remark of a thakut ‘and comemented I mett
fion 1% 11 the present connection to show that f the supreme government docs nat
take steps to preserve the wo co-exsung rights of talukdar as well = of gllaz

zam ndar we may fully expect 1o have 1o fight every oot of our way 1
(FP wx 709)
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freedom movement in India, but the dying groans of an cbsolete
autoeracy. .. .1

He argues his case by stating that if the talukdars of Oudh
are to be Jooked upon as fighters for independence of India,

can we withbold such claim or recognition from Wazir Ali of Avadh,
Pyche Raja of Malabar, Dhundia Wagh of Mysore. ... Vizieram
Rauze of Vizianagram. . . . Vellu Thampi of Travancare, Jagabandhu
of Khurda. ...

The whole subject was for the first time discussed in all its
Ybearings in my book, Cioil Disturbances During the British Rule
in India (1765-1857) to which the attention of the readers may
now be drawn, Details recorded in that book of the activities
of the above leaders will certainly show that they were fighting
for their territorial intcrests in defiance of British authority.
Wherever such activities called forth the support of large
bodics of common people, as distinet from personal retainers
or mercenaries, wherever some initiative in the struggle
passed to the inhabitants of the affected area, the historian
cannot in fairness deny the existence of a resistance movement,
not very far removed from a national movement of some kind.
But the whole question is not frec from difficulties. A critical
perusal of the above book will show that in the pre-mutiny
period outbursts of violent types broke out mainly in Bengal,
Orissa, Madras, Travancore, Mysore and Malabar—roughly
speaking the region where the mutiny call of 1857 hardly had
any responsc. The leaders referred to in the above list except-
ing Wazirali camc from this belt of country which was the
aldest possessions of the English in India. But in the countres
which were later on acquired at different stages, that is to say,
the whole extent of the sub-continent extending from the
Panjab to Bibar and from Dehra Dun to Kolhapur, no
formidable anti-British movement originated {excepting
those at Barcilly and Benares) in the carly period though it
was particularly the arca where the drama of the revolt of 1857
was enacted. This aspect of the question very forcibly illus-
iratcs a Line of demarcation which cannot be casily ration-
alised. Nevertheless, 2 tentative proposition may be offered in

2 Op. ¢ity, 24,

® Op. cit., 287,
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that wn 1857 there was the greatest dishke of Brush authorty
where 1t had not yet been long established; and conversely,
there was the least effort towards change i those parts of
India which had longest been subject to Bntish rulel
This explanation does not really cover all the factors which
made for the presence, in the new countries and the absence m
the old, of the revolt and unrest of 1857, Yetin a way it pomts
to a state of acclimatization and adjustment coupled with the
experience of frequent previous suppression that had broken
the spinit of many men which prevented the people of the
old areas from renewing their offensive 1n the year 18572
The many sources of discontent and affliction, which were
breaking forth in an almost wninterrupted chain of violent
current 1n this area mn the pre-mutiny period, did not widen
and merge with simular trends of the new arcas s 1857,
This provided the occasion for the emergence of the northern
and the central regions of Incha into a positon of relative
smportance Besides the talukdars of this period were fighting
in the background of the wuperial traditions of the Moghuls
and Marathas which raised the civil movements of 1857 much
above the level of previous more isolated nsings, The outbreak
may not be regarded as an all-India war of independence, but
even 1f it was not so, Beni Madho, Narpat Singh, Kunwar
Singh, and Daulat Singh were not far removed in character and
outlooh from the period of themavement of independence.whwh
began later Tutu Mia, Jagabandhu and Velu Tampi were
lone figures of an earlier age. In the pre-mutiny period there
had not been much combination between the dlﬂ‘?rcm dis-
affected elements of the country, the milttary, aristocracy,
pniesthood, and commenalty, The sepoy mutimes and the
cwvil commotions had run on two paralle] Ines It was
the revolt of 1857 which brought about a link-up of all these
clements3 on a massive scale with a formidable challenge to
The sty st prodnce o he Fomt s Soowe by good e

the mfluence of a
the old province of Bihar was lost for some time owing to
;;daxy:uf po;ulzr leaders like Kunwar, Nilambar, Arjun and Surendra

the taukdsrs
T f Dayram of Abgarh as foreshadowng the revolt of
1 anﬁieﬁir‘,’ Butyins son was the most actve loyalist o the munay penod
{supra, p B0)

# Corl Dusturbanges, 219
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thc_alicn rule. As such, the 1857 upsurge was undoubtedly
national unless we restrict the term unduly.

There. is no dpubt that the strong under-current of popular
disaffection which was frequently manifesting itselfl in open
resistance against the British in the early period culminated in
the sepoy war of 1857.1 A few instances of the civil commotion
of the mutiny period were really the continuation of earlier
outbreaks® and some of the leaders of the pre-mutiny period
such as Delan Sha, the gond chief of Narsinghpur,® Apa
Sahib of Nagpur? and Chakra Bisayi, the leader of the khonds®
are also referred to in the official communications of the mutiny
period as entertaining hostile designs, The disturbances of the
carlier period pointed to a settled disaffection of the people
and clearly anticipated their participation in the rebellion of
the mutinies. Yet it cannot be denied that the background
and the unique situation created by the 1857 mutinies released
forces which immensely strengthened the popular uprisings
of the sepoy war. The combination and scale of operations
stretched out to wide fields and all the clements of discontent
and disaffection being focussed in a limited period of two
years and not diffused over a century as in the early pesiod
gave a new force and direction to the spirit of opposition
to British rule in 1857. Viewed in this light the revoilt of that
year appears to have been the first combined attempt of
many classes of people to challenge a foreign power. This is a
veal, if remote, approach to the freedom movement of India of
a later age.

The aristocracy of India was neither dying nor had it yet
become obsolete. Though fighting for their lands and rights,
the local landed chiefs sgll could function on a national plane
since they brought together an alliance of the diverse people
of all classes who made common cause with them in complete
disregard of the forces of estrangement which might otherwise
exist n the social and cconomic kife. This combination of the

e 1(98' . p. 196 £, Gicil, etc. 1520), the outbreal at Savantvad
(Gt Distimbanees, 170) ;niﬁrn ’c?édkari'ﬁsing’ and the Kolhapur revolt (J5id. 166-7
and supra, 230) Santal insurrection. .

* Jbid. 178, and supra, . 227.

* 2bid. 117.8, and suprz, pp. 57, 89.

s hid. 111, and supra, p- 202.
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local landed chiefs all over the country who were bound by
community of mterests, added with the grouping of ther
followers at cross sections, created possibilities for the founda.
uon of a nitional (ront and i consequence umted a tag
portion of India agamst foragn domumation as never before
Thus old feudal nstincts and the anti-alien patnatism became
mixed up 1in 1857 n a cunous process The latter was not yet
of the purc advanced political type, as the leaven of fendal
discontent was still strong  Yet the yearning for freedom which
was latent m these instincts stood out as the outward emblem
of a national outburst against foresgn rule which was rendered
intensive by reason of a socio-rchgious and economic discontent
Here, surely, we have objectively an antcipation of the future
and not a mere recol to the past

Apparently enough the upsurge appears to have been
erratic, solated from large regions and even sporadic It was
also charactensed by lach of effiuent organisation on a hig
scale But 1t 1s no less obvious that the revolt also presents
evidence of consistency 1n so far as the spontaneity of the far-
flung movement 15 concerned The sepoys starting the con
flagration, the British authonty superseded, the lacal leaders
setting up independent governments, the landed chiefs re-
occupying their estates, and the common people nsing 1n the
interior—and all these taking place m utmost regulanty, as
though 1n response to a mysterious claron call, bespeak,
at least n a vague and mchoate form, the elements of a
national resstance movement agamst an alien impenal
domination

The want of a concerted plan which was discermble in the
rebellious proceedings was mewvitable as the rebels though
conscous of ther object had no precise 1dea as to the ways
and means to be adopted for the destruction of the Briush
power They taok a leap 1n the darh, people who could not
be dreamt of joming the resolt even at the instigaton of
Mephistopheles were on ther feet wichout thinking of con
sequences The movement fled for vanous reasons, pohtical
immatunty, defective mihtary command! and ndufferent

3 Mur, Reords, etc 1, 41, 61, 106, Holmes, op at 272, Majumdar, op et 63,
73,1323
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leadership.! The excesses committed by the sepoys had also
to a great extent alienated the sympathies of the people in
many places.? Yet it cannot be denied that it was not 2 move-
ment of the disgruntled clements alone but a rising of the
people, at any rate a considerable section of them, who felt,
however dimly, the stirring of a common impulse. The char-
acter and content of the upsurge that put its stamp on the year
1857 point to a conflict that was larger in significance than that
of a mutiny in the barracks. The legacy of a revolution is often
faid up in the subconscious mind of the race. It is difficult to
trace the causes that work noiselessly to a certain end that is
hardly in sight. Who knows that the inception of the
nationalist movement was not contained in the rising of 1857
after the fashion of the oak in thc acorn? Because the

" revolt of 1857 was not merely anti-British but a movement
expressing profound desires for freedom.

1 Dr. R, G. Majumdars chapter on the Sepoys thaugh based only on, the

accounts of the Dethi Chronicles and 2 yictimised Bengali Is 2 welcame addition

1o mutiny studics (pp. 1720 . .
* Far the causes of the failure of the movement se€ Majumdar, of. cit., 270-09.



It is to be feared that many excellent actions, much private
heroism, and moral as weil as physical chivalry of the Indian
rebels have escaped merited notice: but if any omission
has been made, the author offers his apologies to the descen-
dants of those unnoticed warriors of 1837.




APPENDICES



APPENDIX A

MzyoranpUM OF ResEL ForGEs v Fyzasap Districr

From the Secrctary to the Government of India with the
Governor-General
To the Chicf of the Staff, District Camp, Allahabad, 24th
February 1858

Forerex Depr.
(Secret)
Sir,

I am directed by the Governor-General to forward for the
information of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief,
copies of papers noted in the margin received by His Lordship
in a private letter from General Macgregor.

Allahabad, I have etc.
The 24th February, 1858. G. P. EpMONSTONE.

Mzmoranpuat oF Reser Forces v Fyzasap District

Raja Man Smieu has with him about 4,000 men and con-
siderable number of guns—they arc not in the field, but......
for defence of his fort at Shahgunge. He is entirely neutral and
may be excluded from the list of our opponents.

Basu Mapru Persap Zamindar of Pargana Birhur in the
district of Fyzabad bordering on Azimgarh is a powerful chief
of the Birhur Rajputs inhabiting that pargana, He could, had
success attended him, have raised from 4,000 to 5,000 men,
but at this present moment he has not more than 1,000 men
with him and two guns.

Bapvu Uprr NarAvAN also a Zamindar of Birbur and Pulwar
chief now opposed to us with some thing under 1,000 men and
two guns,

Apres Smon, CHunpREs SiNveH, Usresn SwveB Zamindars
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of Dhoorooa Pargana, Aldemhow, Distnct Fazabad—power-
ful Rajcoomar chiefs fought agamst us 1 Azmgarh and
Jaunpoor and also lately under Brig Franks at Secundra
supposed to have 5 guns and 4 or 5,000 men They are with
Mehndee Hassan formerly Chuchladar under the Nazim of
Sultanpore They are said to be still on the other side of the
Gomtee and 1t front of Bng Franks

BaoMik Hosemn anp GuaznereR Hosem® Khangadas and
large Talukdars of Russcor Perg Akbarpoor, Distnct I'yzabad
said to be with Gholam Husan and Mohammad Husan
Pescendo( ®) Nazim of Gorackpore with 5,000 men and 5§ guns
at Reeazpore, 8 mules south of Tanda This force includes also
Rayputs brought to Gholam Husan’s, standard by small zemun
dars of the Distnet Bagmur Hosem 15 also a landholder of
Azmgarh—and remained faithful for 2 long time asaisting us
even to hold Thanas and Tahseels m that district agamst
Madhu Persad and others and protectmg the native officials
of Fyzabad who all escaped through his means

Raja Assas ALt of Tanpa he 1s at present m the viamty of
Tanda with only 4 or 500 men and 2 guns, he has however
furmshed Mohammad Husan with about 2,000 men and
these will be included 1 the tabular statement under s name

Mp Husan Pescendo Nazm of Gorachpore formerly Nazim
of Gonda under the old Regime has with hum about 5,000 men
and 4 gans These men have been furmshed to hum by the
Raja Abbas Ah and a number of the smaller Zamindars of the
District such as Abaidut Singh, Jyont Singh, Nadir Shah, and
ather Rajput Chieftains

Koor Smou of the Arrah Distnct has brought with um
from Lucknow six Regiments chiefly Bhojpoorees numbering
n all about 6000 muoneers, mcluding 1,500 who had pre-
viously been with Hur Kishun Stngh nephew of Koer Singh
1n Gorackpore They have 9 guns with them

There are, also a small body of mutineers at Fyzabad
Distnct from the above, about 500 men with 12 guns whom I
will include with the above 1 the tabular statement for Koer
Singh—and the prncipal leader of the mutmeers, ay distn-
guished from the rebel Zamundars

RAjan Jevias Smyou and Benee Madhu Singh sons of
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Ghalab Singh, a Koormu Zamindar of the Fyzabad and
Azimgarh District 2,000 men and 3 guns.

Drvi Bux SixcE Raja of Gonda, now encamped at Nawab-
ganj opposite Fyzabad—not likely however to oppose us on
this side of the Gogra—since the small action at Shahgunj near
Bilwa, his following has never exceeded 4,000 men and 7 guns
with about 300 Cavalry, equal to the annual run of the District
s0wars.

Raja oF Bamea in the Gonda District not likely to meet
this force: said to have 2,000 men—number of guns not
known—perhaps 4 or 5.

Raja oF Maxkurroor of Gonda District—1,500 men and
4 Guns.

February 20, 1858 Sd./- W, Forsss, c.s.

[ CRO. Secret Lelters from Tndia, 1858, volume 163, No, 158, p. 349.1
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List or RepELs

(Receroed from the Zamndar of Chardz )

19tk November, 1857,

Name of Zamindar

Mehndei Hussun Nazim 1 person ..

Nujeeb regts. .

Raja Hossan Al .

Kalka Buksh of Runpoor

Sugra Bibee of Munyarpur

Raja Allie Buksh Khan of Mokndes-
gaon

Buchgotee tnbe

Qodres Singh *oopoor

Umres Simgh of Do

Issuj Smghof  Do.

Dulput Sah of Bhadayan

Baijnath Singh of Shugweb

Bukhtoor Khan and others of Dunhut

Seetula Buksh Singh of Nunder

Sowars Nonkur Sunkon

Arjoon Singh and Juggeswar Buksh

of Budlapoor-Junpoor,
Burruar Singh brother of Roosmm
Sah of Dehra. .. .

[CRO Secret Letters from India, 1858, vol 163, p 419 ]
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Number
of men

900
2,000
700
200
400

400
400

300
300
200
100
200
100
160

50
300

7,050

Number
of guns

1
6



APPENDIX C

Tre Benaviour of THE TALURDARS oF OUDH
DURING THE Murmny

Rice Holmes finds no positive evidence that the talukdars
took the field in person on the side of the mutineers and agrees
with general Innes in considering that the participation of the
talukdars in the war had been more nominal than real until
after the proclamation issued by Canning.! He comes to the
conclusion by relying on the statement of lieutenant Crump
and invalidating by a twist the open statement of Gubbins and
others,

That the talukdars, with a few exceptions actively aided and
abetted the mutineers during nearly the whole of the struggle
stands confirmed by authentic evidence. Even Innes says that
at the battle of Chinhat three of the talukdars joined the
mutineers.? This strengthens the authenticity of the statement
of Gubbins that by the first week of July some of the talukdars
had joined the besieging army. But Innes asserts that the
talukdars of Qudh did not join in the attack of the residency
till Havelock’s withdrawal in the early part of August, and
that even on the 10th of the month, the mass of the talukdars
was holding aloof. Later on, the presence of their retainers was
noticed in the attack on the residency on September 5, but as
a body, they had not, he maintains, taken any active part in
the war or shown hostility to the British. This view, he repeat-
edly introduces in his book and also observes that the talukdari
troops did not fight well; in fact they hardly fought at all®

As early as 12 June, Henry Lawrence reported against the
militant attitude of the talukdars who had been arming them-
selves.? Even before the second action at Bashiratganj on 5
August the English army, according to Crump, whom Holmes
quotes, had to contend against a few talukdars who were on the

+ Holmes, of, cit., 624f; Tnnes, Lucknow and Oude in the Mutiny, 42, 47.
* Tnnes, of. cit. 19
s Itid, 32-33, 201, 204, 260, 267, 276, 307, 523
+ Malleson, i, 410.
309
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side of the mutineers and he further says that m that battle
they had to fight agawmst the wholc population According to
another officer, lteutenant colonel Tytler, the zanundars were
all around the invading army 1n bodtes of five or s hundred
It has been seen that the retrograde movement of Haselock
wmyjured the British cause but Innes gives the impression that
the attitude of the tiukdars remamed unchanged and that
even 1f they had participated the participation had been more
nomnal than real

The argument that the taluhdars were rebels only m 2
techmcal sense because they only sent their retainers looks lihe
arguing a case and 1gnoning the substance of st. But the fact 18
that they did not merely send retainers but joined the mutinecrs
1n person 2 As noted before when Haveloch recrossed the
Ganges, the zamundars of Qudh were seizing the willages and
jomed the masses? The talukdars of Unao openly fought
agamst Havelocks forces,? and Man Smgh according 1o Innes
opposed Havelock's advance through the strects of Lucknow
on 25 September Offinal intelligence obtaned from Lucknow
1n the month of October quite emphatically stated that Man
Singh, Hanumant Smgh Bem Madho Baksh, Buswanath
Balsh and Sugram Singh were fighting agatnst the Enghsh at
Lucknow’ and many others had entered into an obligation 0
attack Alambagh All these completely refute the observation
of Sir George Campbell (Judicial and T'napcial Comrmssioner
m Oudh in 1858) whom Holmes quotes, that only after
November 1857, when Sir Cohn abandoned the city, did the
talukdars go into full rebellion The number of the rebel forces
concentrated at Lucknow towards the end of the year,® and
Gubbins list of Oudh leaders who actnvely partiapated 1n the
conflict” and the governor general’sreference to the rebellious
actwsties of the rajas of Churda, Blunga and Gonda® would

t Supra p, 30

3 Supra, pp 31,33 130-01

* Supra pp 33-34 3738 93.94 290§

«Sypra p 127

3 RO Secrei Latters from Judia vol. 163 pp 4033

*Supra p 304

* Supra, p 131

2 Supra, p 132,
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point {0 a situation not comprehended by Innes. The hostile
preparations made by the Oudh Chiefs and their presence in
Fyzabad in the month of February along with their levies as
reported by Macgregor also go against the theory of Innesl?
Reports from British Intelligence Officers in respect of the
government of the royal Begam and the countrywide prepara-
tions she made with the support of loyal chiefs completely
contradict the gencral’s presentation of facts.

The way in which Inncs invalidates the statement of Outram
shows a kind of obduracy which even Holmes, his supporter,
was at pains to explain. He admits that Qutram’s statement of
30 March, 1858, referring to the few talukdars who did not
take an active part in the rebellion virtually points to the
general revolt of the talukdars. But this he says originated
from a confusion: Outram mistook the retainers of the talukdars
for the talukdars themselves and he applied the same argu-
ment to controvert the cqually emphatic statement of Sir
Robert Montgomery who succeeded Outram in April 1858,
Sir Robert who naturally had the whole of the evidence
before him remarked on a review of the situation that between
June and November the whole country (Oudh) was in arms
against the British government. Besides, the interpretation
that is given of Qutram’s statement is extremely misleading and
is not supported by an earlicr communication of the same
officer. Edmonstone wrote to G. Couper, secretary to the
commissioner, on 3 March, 1838 enclosing a copy of the pro-
clamation and directing the chief commissioner to issue it as
soon as the British troops took possession of Lucknow. Outram
in arguing against the proclamation directed his secretary to
write back on 8 March 1858, in the following terms:—

The chief commissioner desires me to obsoroe that in his belief there are not a
dozen landhalders in the province who have not themselves borne erms.®

This is sufficient to clear up the misconception regarding
the behaviour of the talukdars of Oudh during the mutiny.
Innes certainly exaggerated the friendliness and hostility of the

1 Supra, p. 121; Appendix A
# Sessional Papers, House of Lords (East Todia Mutinies); vol. XI (Rewrn,
etc. Fresh Return) p. 3 and p. 1, Ttalies of the author. i
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talukdars 1 the pre and post procl phares r !
of the rebelbon and yet Holmes would not ‘refuse to arccept hus
theory’ and very frequently 1troduces 1t 1n hig work If as he
says, 1572 forts had been destrayed and 714 cannons captured!
excjusine of those taken 1n course of the suppression of the
revolt of the talukdars, it could not posably have been effected
all 1n the penod from March to November 1858 There 13 no
gawsaying the fact that the mutinies of 1857 roused the taluk-
dars of Ouch nte desperate hostility  Official despatches refer
to many such people who crowded Lucknow at one time or
other duning the war In addinon to those already mentioned
we have the following hst of xebel leaders 1n other accounts
Hiravant Stng, nazim of Salone, Basant Smgh of Simarpatra,
Raghunath Singh of Ra: Bareily, Jagannath Bax, talukdar of
Namn,? Rajpal Singh of Busna Burctha, Bhumdeo Singh of
Jungh, Bulbhudar Smgh,® Bhao Singh of Bilaspur,5 Mabacay
Singh of Dundy,® Ajmur Singh of Tardy, Chatrapat Singh of
Shampur,? Sarabdin Smgh of S1ady? Falr Baksh of Jhon,
Mohao Stngh, Biseswar Baksh sou of Sugram Singh of Sm
graur, Kunwant Singh of Kalakankar, Bulber Singh of Dhoba,
Swvdas of Meh, Fazal Hussam of Utram,? Sheora) Ghulam
Singh0 of Binapur, Hatbaran Sigh,* and Hyder Hussain®
of Lucknow Rajabali Baksh and Kalla Baksh were two other
rebels 1n the ranks of the tzlukdars, the former held Phapha-
mow and made an mroad to Azamgarh*

1} olmes 506 fn , subra 29303
3 See 2lio Holloway Essays ote. 165 Hutchsmson Narrahoe of the Mutines ete
70.01

17P = 616

4FP x 224f 229 237
VFP ix 228

4 FP 1x 234 239
TFP vu 145

PP v 47

) FP vu 262

»FP x 717

uEp ix 10

n

A 00 o5 608 Maulew Luskatal of Allsbabd sio parcepart 2
e stosggle at Luckaow (FP v 162 3) and it appesrs be dd pot S0
and mvesded detention for a long tme According to onc SOUTCe i o i
hended on 5 July, 187] and was condemned to tranepactal
27 July 1872 {Vinoent Dictonart 567)
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Procravamox rEGarDme Kuwwar Sieu

454 Page No. 1
463 Copy No, 581
PROCLAMATION

Allahabad
Foreign Department
The 12th Aril, 1858

It is hereby notified that a reward of Rupees Twenty-five
thousand will be paid to any person who shall delix er alive at
any British Military post or Camp, the rebcl Baboo Kooer
Singh of Jugdespoor.

It is further notified that in addition to this reward a free
pardon will be given any Mutineer or deserter, or to any rebel
other than thosc mentioned in the Government Proclamation
No. 470 of the st instant who may so deliver up the said
Kooer Singh.

By order of the Right Hon’ble the Governor General.

Allahabad Sd/- G. F. EDuONSTONE
Foreign Department Secretary to the Gozermment of
Secret No. 16 D[30th April. India with the Governor General
No. 581,
No. 36.

{ CRO. Secret Letters from India, vol. 164, No. 581, p. 463.]1
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APPENDIX E
Tue Historic Marerr oF Kunwar Smven

Jacpispur To Lucknow

The commussioner of Patna informed the secretary to the
government of Bengal on 13 August that a reward of rupees
ten thousand had been declared for the apprchension of
Kunwar Singh Several days after he agmn wrote to the officer
that orders had been passed confiscating tus estates under act
xxv of 18571 Thus Kunwar Smgh was dislodged from his
country but only to play a more sigraficant part 1n other sectors
of this vast field of struggle Ongnally he had no plan of going
ather to Cawnpore or to Delln His object was to attack
Benares, but the concentration of British troops at that station
on their way 1o upper India where Havelock was at bay obliged
fum to detour to Mirzapur Lakshman Singh of Mirzapur and
lus chandel malcontents were 1n open commumeation with the
Shahabad rebels The party of the Dmapur mutineers who had
zbandoned Kunwar after his defeat at Arrah had already
reached Mirzapur pasung through Jehanabad and the un
frequented road through the Chainpur jungles? There they
exated a disturbance of a serious character but were repulsed
at Amoy, seventeen miles from Mrzapur on 15 August®
Kunwar had not yet crossed the borders of Shahabad, but the
defeat of the rebel forces might have induced him to turn his
steps towards Mirzapur where he arnved with hus force by way
of Pannagan) on 24 August, 1857 When he encamped himself
at Ramgarh, the chandels and other malcontents followed him
and a spontaneous movement of the people was stirred up 4

The official despatch forwarded by the governor general m
counci! dated 3 October, 1857 to the Court of Directors
admutted that the confhicting reports about the movements of
Kunwar had baffled attempts to pursue hum It was, however,
ascertamed that the 40th regiment which had mutimed re-
mamed with im and that he and his party who had been

1 Patna Collectorate Records Nos 810 827, 919 of 1857 FP v 51
1FP v 45 App B 407
#NE 1 47
sS.pra p 158
314
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threatening Mirzapur, entered Rewah but were obliged to
leave it immediately. Then they crossed the Tons and were
on the march through the pargana Bara towards Banda. The
governor-general further informed the home authorities that
there was a report worthy of credit that Kunwar intcnded to
offer his services to Nana Sahib, and if they were not accepted
by him, to proceed to Delhi This above report refiects to some
extent the importance of the historic march of Kunwar; that
his great intention was to unite his veterans with the Central
Indian Revolutionary Forces, the Gwalior regiments in parti-
cular, who never tasted defeat in any battle. The fall of Delhi
in the middle of September and of Cawnpore even earlier, left
the movement without a steady and effective command. Noth-
ing could be expected from Lucknow where the Fyzabad
mauiavi was only crying for a jehad and intriguing against the
royal begam to depose her and to make himself king.?
Nana Sahib was reported to be crossing the Ganges every
day but it proved to be no more true than the proverbial wolf
attacking the flock of sheep. That being the situaton, only 2
combination of Tantia and Kunwar—the boldness of the former
and the strategic skill of the latter—in a planned attack either
on Delhi or on Cawnpore could have relaxed the grip of the
British offensive partics over the plains of northern India. As,
however, he marched, Kunwar Singh gradually matured his
plan and increasingly rcalised the great possibilitics of his
intended attack on Cawnpore.

The reports of the local officers of Bihar in respect of the
movements of Kunwar Singh and his followers after their
flight from Jagdispur preseat a tangled mass of marches and
counter-marches, occupying posts at will and moving to and
fro in contrary directions. A report of 13 August indicates that
the Dinapur mutinecrs reached Nowbatpur on the the trunk
road. On the 14th, major Eyre wrote to the assistant adjutant-
general that Kunwar had gone towards Rohtas, On the way
he seems to have halted at Sasaram® which is confirmed by
Shah Kabiruddin’s letters to the secretary to the government

1FPR.iv, 171, 191; v, 84
2 CRO. Secret Letters from India, vol. 163, p. 449,
2 FP. iv, 38, 93, 97, 160.
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(15 August) He reported that Kunwar had reached Sasaram
wsth two thousand mutinous sepoys and then moving down the
hills, burnt captamn Dichen's bungalow and plundered Dhom
dar, a verylarge village with a large quantity of grain belongin
to him? On 19 August Kunwar Singh mo e
ved to a willage

six mmiles south of Sasaram,? but on the same day, according
to another official message, hessued further south of Akbarpur
close to Rohtas At this time s brother Amar Singh was
hanging on the fulls flanking the grand trunk road to Sasaram
and continued a system of devastanon between the former
place and Dehn His emissaries went out in dufferent directions,
threateming and cajoling all who werc i the government
service or were pro-British 3 Lieutenant Stanton’s electric tele-
graphand A R Young’s narrative make out that Kunwar was
at Rohtas or Akbarpur tll 21 August with upwards of ane
thousand men, four elephants, fourteen camels, a lot of horses,
but no ammumtion His adherents consisted of Bhojpur pen-
sioners and other chief leaders Iike Nishan Singh, Juhan Singh
and Thakurdayal Singh As noticed before he entered Mirza
pur on 24 August and by the 926th at the latest hunwar with
fus one thousand men was at Byaygarh? The telegraphic
message that by about 23 August, Kunwar was passing through
the country to the south of Mirzapur,® ss an nstance of offieal
confusion But another such message refers to Kunwar’s pre-
sence 1n Allahabad districts three days later on the 26th

Mirzapur 15 the key-stone to the Deccan, leaving aside the
fact, of its being the depot of the heavy supphes of gramn which
came through and from Rewah So all the avalable Britsh
forces from the neighbouring regions wese diverted to Mirzapur
to counteract the influence of hunwar Smngh ¢ Kunwar passed
through the southern parganas of the district? plundering as bis

ITP v, App B 4256

VT 57 111 From deputy supenntendeny, Tlectn Telegraphy

dated 20 August.
SFP v, 172,v, 51

i detals
7 Kunwar 1s said to have passed by Chalua, Abraura and Sukit, and def
of these movements are prc?:rvcd s a number of unpublished records ‘l'htr
reference to lus movements through Ahraura road Chala 1n the northera %
the district as preserved 1 those fecords do siot agiee wath the voute of fus
through the southern portion of the district which he serms 1o have taken
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party went to Shahaganj, Robertsgan] and Ghorawal which
were burnt and sacked, but ultimately he left the country and
was found marching through the parganas to the south of the
Jumna. The commissioner of Allahabad reccived the intellig-
ence that the rebel party was at Sabarka in the pargana of
Khairagarh on 26 August, but as yet they could not cross the
river Tons on account of high flood. The report of 2§ August,
however, indicated that they had crossed the river and plund-
ered a town called Sankrajpur about thirty miles southwest of
Allahabad.? The disorganised band of sepovs who followed
him were more keen on plundering and destroying public
property which marked his passage across the country:® By
9 September Kunwar, with the Ramgarh and six hundred of
the Dinapur mutineers, had reached the Kuttra Pass,* his
force consisting of five thousand men.

The Rewah episode of Kunwar has been the subject of
numerous official dispatches and reports, all of which purport
1o the same end thar the Shababad Jeader met with a rebuff
from the raja of that country.? The narrative of events for the
week cnding on 3 October by Licutenant-colonel R, Strachey,
secretary to the government of Central provinces, runs that
Kunwar Singh at the head of a party of rebels actually entered
the Rewah territory with the connivance of a party in that state
hostile to British interest. But as the people of Rewah did not

“respond to the call of rebellion the invaders retired almost as
soon as they had crossed the fronter and the whole force of
Kunwar marched to Banda® Many official despatches con-

LFP. iv, 167,

£FP, iv, 116, 171

3 FP. iv, 185. The report of the collector of Mirzapur that Kupwar marched
westward from Ghorawal on 20 August is obviendy wrong (FP. &, 190). The
ather report of the Mirzapur officer that Kunwar was at Barwungha or in
Aunda in the west of the district on 7 and 8 September is equally misleading
(EP. iv, 197, 225) for by that fime he was on the Allahabad side of the Tons and
was preparing to enter Rewa from the northwest. See also the letter of the 8th
N. L to the king of Delhi referring to Kunwar’s presence 2t Bands on 28 August
{Sen, op. cit., 261n).

& FP. iv, 259, 275.

s FP, i, 201, 223, 241, 260, 263, 269; v, 69.

TP, vi, 260, The Tmearithei-Baghdthend by Rohamanali (an official of the
Rewa S Geies e caplot of Rumwar Singh 2t Rewas docs nor
‘apptar 1o have been compiled with much care. On 18 August, the Shahabad leader
was still bovering in his Gwn country and o the reference to bis encounter with
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firmed the news that Kunwar Singh had got int
the Kuttey Pass through the help ofi[ashmf:'xh an% ];151‘;3?33
Raja ! Inthe absenceof official necounts regarding this phase of
s actinities 1t would be DECEssary to see 1f other contemporary
accounts throw any light on the Rewah episode of hunwar
‘The Rewah correspondent of the Caleutta Engliskman veported
that when Runwar Singh ascended the ghats at Kuttra with
about 4,500 mutineers (the number s varously gien 1 officinl
messages], colonel Hinde had 10 fall back on Mangawan to
cover Rewah This shows that the mvaders had actually
dominated the northern portion of the country It was further
dhscovered that the extent of disaffection among the officers of
the raja’s troops was so great that ‘there was no chance of get
ting a force to opposc Kooer Smgh with the slightest hope of
success’ A pame ensued, raja Raghura) Singh begged the
political agens, hieutenant Osborne, 1o Jeave the terntory, as he
humselfintended to bolt But Osborne knew well the danger of
swrendenng this place  He exerted himself greatly to secure
Rew1h By ‘sowing dissensions’ among the rebel ranks, and by
sending agents to ther camps who represented to them the
strength of the Brztish position, he was able to neutralse the
offensive of the Shahabad leader Kunwar was allowed to
maxch through Bundelkhand unmolested When he passed
through Kalimar on the road to Banda, the troops under
heutenant Remimgton refused to attack the mvaders, but pro-
vided them wath rassad ®

The tnumphal march of Kunwar Singh from place to place
caused consternanon in the Briush curcles Numeraus tdegrams
and despatches exchanged dunng the last two weels of
September by the authonties serve to give an 1dea of the naturt
of the danger which the British sensed 1 hunwar's unopposed

m

Ao S i o G s L Y

FP v 2289

* The Englihman 19 25 Scptember, 14 October 1957, FP w 259 The
name s Pas camtl bowver, be a7 e Koo e B

r there 13 & place called Khatra an 1he great Docoan Rosd between
gax?gawa) ”‘:« and gllahxgad below Teonthar winch 552 toagree with tie ;end:'
tions of humwar a attack from the trans-Jumaa parganas through whschk; mﬂ
travering There 35 another plave calied hutra on the above road, lzt::e
Madhar snd Rewah in the south of the district which 1s not tbe place meant

{See Map in the above gazestecr)
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march. Nagode, Jabalpur, Damoh and Sagar were threatened?
and even the officer commanding at Fatehpur was alerted.2
‘When he was marching within twenty miles of Nagode and his
approach was known, the ammunition in the magazine was
thrown into a well, and when he was within six miles of the
place, the 50th stationed there mutinied and on the 16th they
commenced their mareh to join Kunwar, Two days later, on the
18th, the ‘52’ at Jabalpur rose and left their cantonment. Tt was
impossible not to realise that Kunwar’s influcnce prompted
these simultaneous risings. His bright sword attracted thousands
to flock under his banner with whose help he intended to
attack various stations in that part of India.® His great person-
ality and his indefatigable energy were factors which rendered
him almost unconguerable in military contests. An army
engineer, major Gordon of Jabalpur forwarded an intelligence
to the official quarter on 9 September, to the effect that:

A few days ago Koer Singh, with guns, in one day crossed two rivers,
and marched thirty miles, and that over a country, where there was
no road.t

Tt is not clear from official correspondence whether Kunwar
Singh actually occupied Nagode but the deputy-commissioner
of Jabalpur informed the authorities that the Dinapur mutine-
ers were expected to reach Nagode on 18 September.® He also
reported that the Banda rebels estimated at four thousand had
taken possession of Nagode being invited to do so by the 50th
of that place.® The movements of Kunwar during this period
appear to have been a little hazy and the question was raised in
the official circles as to his whereabouts, Not being able to
effect a passage through Rewah he possibly rounded the ter-
ritory of that state and in the process approached Nagode.?
The reports of heutenant Osborne and licutenant Clerk (deputy

1FP, iv, 227-8, 259-60, 262, 265, 267-8, vii, 293

* FP, iv, 295,

5 FP, jv, 250; The Englishman, 18 September (Sagar lettcr of 3 September,
3, 13, October, 1857), Hindu Pafriof, 15 October, 1857,

¢ FP. iv, 260.

s FP. iv, 266.

° TP, iv, 267-8, 271

*FP. v, 2723,
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commussioner at Jabalpur) make out that the Shahabad party
left Rewah on 10 11, September * Did hunwar go straght to
Banda from Rewah at about that time? Clerk says that on 14
September the Dmapur and Ramgarh mutineers arrvved at
Kalinjar from Banda en route to Nagode The combrned tesh
mony of all these reports scems to lunt that Runwar retraced
tus steps to Kalinjar from Banda for an attack on Nagode?
possibly at the request of the 50th of that station, but this1sa
position which cannot be definstely ascertamed The polittcal
agent for Bundelhhand telegraphed that Kunwar Jeft Kabnjar
for Banda on 27 September This agrees with another official
communcation1n which 1t 1s anounced that on 29 Septeraber
Kunwar with two thousand men reached Banda where he was
received with great honour It ss further stated that he stayed
there tl the {8th October when he went away towards Kalp 3
The spint of revolt smouldering m Banda afforded a wel-
come home to the struggling spints to flock there,? the dis
affected Bandelas jotned them m large numbers The fall of
Delh increased the mportance of Banda as a rallymg powut
and Kunwar and others took advantage of the situation to
renew ther offensive The followers of Kunwar Singh 1o~
creased 1 number to nearly 18,000 men, according to an
official narrative, though 1t may not be taken ta be absolutely
correct 5 Nana Sab and the Gwalor forces also had an eye
an ths strategie pomt and a move seems to have been afoot
for a comb of all these el ts at Kalp: for the pro-
sected assault on Cawnpore It cannot be defimtely ascertained
who actually formed this bold plan, but 1t cannat be demed
that Kunwar Smgh kept some such plan of attacking ather
Delhy or Cawnpore steadily 1n view and the degree of success
be achieved sn marching from Bibar to Banda smght have
encouraged Tantia Topt and Nana Sahub at two other ends, to
bring to a head this combmanon of the Central Indian Revola
nanary Farces wath the smouldermg remnants of Dinapur,

3FP s, 228
$FP av, 275
FP w 68

¢NE 1 5312
FFP v, 257
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Ramgarh, Nagode and Bandz. That the British were quite
aware of the possibility of an attack is made abundantly clear
in colonel Durand’s communication to the governor-general
dated 15 October. He wrote that Nana’s agent, Tantia Topi,
would march with the Gwalior forces to effect a juncture with
the Banda rebels. It was probable. he believed, that Nana
Sahib would also make a simultaneous move from the north
in which case thousands of Bundels would be up in arms?
Sherer of Cawnpore also contended that Nana would attempt
to cross the Ganges en renfz to Gwalior but Muic's (of Agra)
reading of the situation was that his object was not to go to
Gwalior but to attack Cawnpore at the head of the Gwalior
contingents, They were said to have ‘been located one hundred-
fifty miles of Cawnpore by the middle of October and thirty-
six miles on the Jalrun-Kalpi road on 23 October? Reparts
from various sources confirmed the fact that the Gwalior
mutineers led by Tantia marched on the 15th in the direction
of Kalpi. The fall of Dclhi and the defeat of the Indore and
Mhow rebels by colonel Greathed at Agra on 10 October,
strengthened the posicion of the Sindhia which cbliged the
mutineers to leave the country.3 All these were the drecum-
stances which developed into 2 corbination on 2 grand scale.
Nana Sahib was waiting for them near Cawnpore and another
leader Jawahir Singh, nephew of Golab Singh of Lahore was
encamped at Chaubepur twelve miles west of Cawnpore with
2 large force.t

1t has been noticed that Kunwar left Banda for Kalpi on 18
October. He seems to have reached the Iatter place on the day
following, that is on the 19th. Both J. W. Pinkney. commissioner
of Jhanst and other officers state that the party reached Kalpi
on that date. Subsequenty on 7 November, the Gwalior
mutineers came and joined Kunwar and the united forces
then marched to the attack on Cawnpore some time after.®

*NE. 8, 355,

FP, +i, 31; The Englisinar, 7, 11 Noveaber, 1857.

SNE. 5,553, 579, The mesage sent by the politicel esistoat of Bundelthand
(ot S Shobakad leaddor Lok Banda om 20 Octaber (FP. Ti 1, 31) thows that the
hectic movements of Kunwer produced confision in the Brtkth cireles.

e erin—21
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According to Burch, the secretary to the government, the
mvading party was at Kalpi on 11 November ! But rumours of
the movements of the rebel forces threw the whole country
along the Jumna mto a confusion The Calcutts Englishnan of
12 November reflected this spirit of exaitement The daily gave
1t as a news that hunwar was hovenng about the neighbour-
hood of Allahabad

Various estimates are given of the strength of Kunwar’s force
at Kalpt Many batches of rebelsand mutineers must have left
Banda ‘at different dates to flock at Kalp: "2 But in all probabi-
Ity he had with lum four hundred followers consistng of hus
own men, the 40th regiment, and one other regiment from
Banda ® There 15 perhaps no basis for the statement of M
that Kunwar Singh reachcd Kalpt with a ‘wretched undiscip-
ned rabble ** There 1s one pomt 1 particular i respect of
the movement of Kunwar during this period which cannat be
satisfactorily settled While marching from Banda to Ralps,
the Shahabad leader scems to have halted at Kupsah and then
proceeded to Mandaha Near Kupsah Kunwar and s party
were said to have been attached and defeated by some zamm-
dars of Banda which oblged hm to make for Gwalior
while gnother wing of his army crossed the Jumna at Chulta-
¢ara® The Hwde Patnot of Caleutta’ also reported im
the weekly register of imntelhigence dated 9 November, that
Kunwar had fled to Gwalior, on bemg defeated by 2 zamindar,
Tt 18 very difficult to credit such flying rumours and the place of
the occurrence also varies m all these accounts The tahsidar,
possibly of Badausan the zilla Banda, represented thatthe Bant
nawab had defeated Kunwar and his followers at Kadaura
near Kalpt and further that he had been hilled? Tt may be
noticed that Nishan Singh also did not say anythuing about
{hns encounter when he was mterrogated about 1v® Further,

1FR w1 136

*FP w1 44

YFP vu 121,1x 231 3435

* Quoted n Sen of ety 262

8 Thy Englishman 7 November 1857 FP w 46

+ 12 November, 1857

TFP ix 573

# K., k. Datta 1n Patna Unnersity Journal,
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Kunwar left Banda on the 18th and reached Kalpi next day,
he could not possibly have been detained on the way, and the
simultaneous arrival of the Gwalior mutineers on the Jalaun-
Kalpi road at this time precluded the possibility of Kunwar's
flight to Gwalior.

The march of Kunwar and the Gwalior contingent caused
such a consternation in the British headquarters that a spate of
panicky reports on the day-to-day advance of the invading
forces had to be furnished. By 21 November they crossed the
Jumna and Kunwar Singh’s men who formed the advance
guard of the army were already within five miles of Akbar-
pur on that day. According to the intelligence received by
general Windham! on 25 November, the invading force was at
Sachendi six miles from his carap on the canal.2 The Cawnpore
correspondent of the Englishman furnished a very critical
account of the second seige of the city based on intelligence
obtained daily through the leading people, the mahajans and
shroffs, The plan of the invading army swas found to have been
a concerted one, to deliver a simultaneous attack from two, if
not from three, sides. Nana Sahib and his brother were to have
led the attack from the north via Sheorajpur and Sheouli
(fifteen miles from Cawnpore); Kunwar was to advance with a
portion of the Gwalior men from Kalpi via Akbarpur, Runia
and Raipur from the south, and possibly another column, via
Ghatampur and Sarsaul® The military operations at Cawnpore
in which Kunwar Singh took a leading part as stated by
Nanakchand and Forbes-Mitchell have already been noticed.*

Tmmediately after the defeat of the rebel forces Kunwar
Singh scems to have been hovering round Mirzapur and
Benares for some time, but it was not long before that he started
towards Lucknow. P. Carnegy reccived intelligence which
was corroborated by other officers that Kunwar had gone
1o Lucknow after the defeat of the rebel forces at Cawnpore.
He received honours, and twelve regiments and twelve guns

1 FP. i, 136, 147,

*FE. i, 175.

* The Englishman, 16-17 December, 1857,
< Supra, p. 106.

& The Englishmen, 18, 29 December, 1857,
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were made gver to him, and lys pay was fixed at twelye
hundred rupees a month It was also gathered that husintenpipn
was t0 march on to Benares and reconquer his natne place
Arrah Carnegy’s communication was dated 7 January, 1858,
which shows that within a month after the battle of General-
ganj, the Shahabad leader repared to Luchnow ! Brigadier
G H Macgregor while forwarding copies of mteligence to
Ingher authonties on 10 Pebruary, 1858, m respect of the
movement of the rebel leaders, referred to the Ppresence of

Kunwarwith resnfor samewhere between Luck and
Dariabad? which was on the high road from Fyzabad to
Lucknow G F Ed , I his o on the

rebel forces in the Fyzabad dustnet dated 24 February, smularly
recorded that Runwar Singh of Arrah had brought with hum six
regiments, chiefly Bhojpuns, numbenng m all about si% thou

sand mutmeers This number ancluded one thousand and five
hundred men who had previcusly been with Harkishan Singh
n Gorakhpur Kunwar wasstill at Darabad towards the end of
that month  In the month of March he passed through Fyzabad
en roulz to Azamgarh A service message forwarded to Edmon-
stone at Allahabad ran to the effect that Kunwar vath one
thousand sepoys and two thousand and five hundred followers
was at Mandon, ten miles from Azamgarh, on 24 March with
the object of getting nto Shahabad ¢

KUNWAR SINGH AT AZAMGARH

Offictal reports in respect of the situation n eastern Oudh
mn February March, 1858, repeatedly asserted tha:t Harkishan
Singh, erroncously described as the nephew of Kunwar, had
massed about two to three thousand men of whom some
hundred or more had been sepoys at Tanda 1n Fyzabad Thesr
intention was to cross the Gogra It was stated that Mohammed
Hasan was with lum  This movement scems to have been 2

L CRO Swret Letiers fiom Indias vol 163, p 449
*15d p 413, No 161

2 Appendix A CRO Secret Letters fiom Ind a, vol 164 p 231
# Ihid vol 164, p 231 copy No 200
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part of the scheme of conquering Gorakhpur which was well
in hand. It transpired that Kumwar Singh was also expected
to join them.! At the time when the war in Lucknow was
going on, the castern districts became drained of troops which
encouraged the rebel leaders to renew the offensive against the
British outposts at Gorakhpur and Azamgarh in March 1858.
This facilitated the plan of Kunwar to pass through Azamgarh
with a view to attacking Shahabad and reconquering it. He
sent the advance guard of his main army with several guns
assisted by Ghulam Hussain to Atrauli, a village twenty miles
from Azamgarh on the road to that disirict. The rebel forces
plundered the place on 20 March.® Azamgarh was only fifty-
six miles from Benares and so Kunwar’s offensive menaced the
safety of the region lying between the rivers Gomati and Gogra.
Meanwhile colonel Milman who was encamped at Koclsa,
seventeen miles from Azamgarh. quitted his entrenchment to
attack the advance guard of the rebels in possession of
Atrauli. On 21 March he surprised them int some marngogroves
and drove them away, but the main body of Kunwar’s troops
coming up in overwhelming numbers beat him to a precipitate
retreat, Milman was obliged to Jeave behind him his guns and
baggage.? Milman being put to flight, first retreated to
Koelsa with the pursuing Indian rebels at his heels and even-
tually took refuge in the entrenchment at Azamgarh. Kunwar
followed up his advantage and gradually advanced towards
Azamgarh with one thousand sepoys and two thousand and
five hundred followers, and was at 2 place called Mandor, ten
miles from Azamgarh on the 94th.4 On 26 March, he taok

1 FP. ix, 618, 854, 859.

= The official namation of events distinctly states that Atrauli was plundered
on 20 March, and that colonel Milman’s engagement tock place next day (FF,
i, 150; fx, 866), but Hotmes places the tn0 cvents on the 172k and 20t March
respectively which cznnos be accounted for {op. <it, 452). Malleson also assigns
these enconnters to 17 and 18 March (i, 455)-

3 The following official report dated 20 March, IB:'J?, will make it clear that
Milman's action at Atrauli took place on 21 March: ‘Colope] Milman with 2
weak wing of H. M’s 37¢h proposced marching on the 21st to mect _k}n':m, and,
detained a portion of the 4th Madras light cavalry at Koelsa to assist him’ (FP. ix,
£66). But Malleson says that Milman Started on the 21st March and confronted
the £nerny on the 22nd (i, 455). Again, Charles Ball places the event on the 20t
o refony o the loss sustained by Milman (Hisory of the Indian Muliny 5, 285),
though the official reports are nof very expressive on this peint (FP. 130).

4 GRO. Secret Leltrs fiom Indis, vol. 164, p. 2315 copy No. 290; FP. ix, 415.
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passession of Azimgarh without opposiion He was now at the
peah of hus power and actually held the town for a few weeks

The government reports indicate that s men had put ther
guns i positon agunst the entrenchment and were prepanng
scaling ladders and even attacked the entrenchment Their
number was estimated at four thousand strong wath four guns,
and three thousand apd more were sad to be comuing up from

3

the rear There was thus ol Iy an of gth of
the rebel forces far in excess of the fighting force which the
Shahabad leader c ded when hing aganst the

town !
Kkunwar 1o the meantime registered another victory over
colonel Dames With a force of two hundred men of the queen’s
37th regiment, Dames had hurried from Ghazipur but was
repulsed with heavy loss when he attacked the aity on the 27th
He then retreated to the entrenchment along with the remnant
of the 37th where they were shut up without supphes and
ammumtion Dames was mstructed to act strictly on the defen
sive and on no account to renew his attacks on the town 2
The news of the capture of Azamgarh caused grave anxiety
1n the offictil arcles Sir Colin conndered that nothing could
be more important than the protection of that nich distnct and
requested Lord Canping to consent to the movement of a
strong brigade of infantry, cavalry and artillery from Lucknow
by Sultanpur and Singramau to Azamgarh The message was
sent on 28 March, and all reports ongimating from official
sources stafe that Sir Edward Lugard was despatched from
Luchnow on the 29th for the relief of Azamgarh 3 Meanwhile,
1n response to an appeal from colanel Dames, brigadier Gordon
from Benares sent hum remnforcements via Ghazipur and
Samuells from Patna sent up the Jumna steamer {0 cruise off
Bhogpur # But the gravity of the danger lay i the posubility
of Kunwar $ingh making a raid upon Benares and drsrupting

 palleson u 470

AED v 1 130 133 1x 416 7 413 Martnsa that Dames action took place
on the 26th (n 4913 but Malleson ass gns it to the 2T (s 438) 1) st

: s 133 1 4167 Both Ball (1 284) and Martin (x state
L gafé’ st:‘rlted from Lucknow on 20 Mar(nh b\u) Malleson says that he started ot
the 20tk {1 468 9)

SFP x 413 4167
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the line of communication between Calcutta and Lucknow. So
Lord Mark Kerr was immediately sent from Allahabad to
relieve Azamgarh, He reached Benares on 31 March, and
picking up troops from all stations started again on 2 April, and
pushed forward with such rapidity that Sarsena, a place eight
miles from Azamgarh, was reached on 5 April. When Kerr
moved out next morming he discovered that crowds of armed
men were lying in ambush in a number of banked ditches on
cither side of the road, waiting to intercept him. The rebels were
estimated at three or four thousand and were commanded with
superior skill. They spread out all round and though they
could be cleared by a smart action, the convoy in the rear
could not be protected, against the attack of the Indians. The
position of the British army at one period of the struggle was
extremely critical but Kerr reached Azamgarh on 6 April?
The officer commanding at Benares wrote:

The party wynder Lord Mark Kerr after a severe encounter with the
enemy forced his strong position on the Bepares road and reached
Azamgarh bridge yesterday (6th). The loss of the 13th appears to be
heavy.2
In Azamgarh, Kunwar remaincd supreme for the time being
and the country became free again for a short period. Many
docurments in the national archives refer to _this memqr:.xblc
coup at Azamgarh and a number of preserved despatches vividly
describe this phasc of his activities. Bat, however, successful
he was in playing with strategy and guerilla warfare, he could
not take the fuilest advantage of the situation opencd up by his
victorious arms. That was the time when the old rajput leader
should have formed a strong confederacy of all the dxsai_?{ccted
clements of the country, the palwar rajputs, the baiswara
chiefs, the rajevomars, as a sort of makeweight agz_tmst the dc_:ad
pressure of British army in western Oudh, and rc\q\'edthye dying
cause of the rebellion. But notbing like this happened. Kunwar
Singh was only a traveller in the field of war and nowhere did
he consolidate his position. His Bhojpuri men only wanted 1o
return to Shahabad to avenge their previous defeat and be

* Dodd, oy cit, 4695 Holmes, 433,
* FP. vili, 146.
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himself made no secret of hus plan to return to hus home pro-
vince No attempt was made to orgamise the forces of rebellion
Tor to establish a stable government Everything was within
his grasp had he only stretched out his hand Malleson’s
estimate cannot be disputed that Kunwar was not as great
2 tacucan as he was a strategist? There were also many
difficulties attending the posthion of the invading forces, the
famne that was raging round affected procurement of military
supplies and the brave palwar rajputs who 1 the early penod
of the revolt had fought aganst the Bntsh were now won over
by the distnict authonties to their side?

The Bnush entrenchment could not be stormed Fne
thousand rebels under Kunwar Singh held the town of Azam-
garh while the Brtish troops held the entrenchments to the
south of it warting anxiously for the armival of general Lugard 3
QOutside the borders of Azamgarh, the leaders of Oudh and
the neighbouring areas seem to have been making a plan to
_Jom Kunwar 1n a body at Azamgarh, but something occurred
to frustrate this plan Some unpubhshed records give a confused
account of some sort of a joint move which seems to have been
afoot It transpired that Pargan Singh, Indrapt Singh, and
Rana Bemt Madho Baksh (who was connected with Kunwar
by inter-marriage) dehberated to take their force over the
Gogra When Burar Singh, brother of Rustam Shah sur-
rendered to P Carnegy, early in Apnl, 1858, he informed
Tim that Ghulam Hussain’s forces at Jalalpur of 1,500 sepoys
had received order from Kunwar to jomn lum at Azamgarh 4
A rebel band also gathered at Tanda possibly to make a move
in tus support This apart, the Bhojpun people, and also the
people of eastern Oudh seem to have been ready to march to
the aid of Kunwar 3

Sir Edward Lugard was ordered to march straight upon the

1y, 4656,

1NE. 1, 46 Report by Taylor

*FP 1x,472 Report by commissioner of Benares, dated 4 Aprl.

S CRO Sucret Lettess from Foba, vol 164, No 14, p 315 -

x Secret Latters from India, volume 16+ p 339 (ho B1A of 1858), volume
166 )?é?s (rofmgn Dc‘;t Secret, Allahabad N 19 of 25th Mag Avother such
Zetter states that hunwar was expectng Bom Madho s brotber (Jaylal) to com
o hus suppart (hid vol. 164, p 489, Mo 233)
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rear of the rebels at Azamgarh by Atranli, but Kunwar
Singh by destroying a bridge over the Gomatl at Sultanpur,
impeded the advance of this column. This compelled Lugard
. 1o take a circuitous route by Jaunpur on 5 April. At Tigra
some miles to the north-west of Jaunpur, on the direct road
from Sultanpur, he cncountered Ghulam Hussain the rebel
chackladar and dispersed his force which had got into his rear.
This happened on 11 April! and on the next day he reached
Jaunpur and ultimately rcached Azamgarh on 15 April.2 Kun-
war collected his forces along the banks of the river Tons to
stop the advance of British forces, but realising that he had no
hope against the combination of Lugard and Kerr, he
evacuated the tawn quietly with a part of his followers on 13
April3 The remainder of his men and guns marched on the
next day and so when Lugard entered Azamgarh on the 15th,
the rebel forces were quitting the city on the other side of it.
Even so, at the bridge of boats which crassed the river Tons
at Azamgarh, Lugard encountered a portion of Kunwar’s army
which had been lcft to cover his retreat. In this great battle
2t the bridge over the Tons, the Indians fought with determi-
nation and it was not before a severe struggle that they were
defeated. Though the fighting was merely with the rearguard,
the British met with stiff resistance at cvery step. The rebels
eventually retrcated and were pursued for about 2 dozen
miles, but even while retreating, they maintained good order.
As the retreat of Kunwar spelt danger to the Lower provinces,
gir Edward sent off brigadier Douglas in pursuit of him, on the
16th who had with him the 37th and 84th regiments, some
cavalry and artillery.

The successful retreat of Kunwar Singh from Azamgarh and
Tis intention of marching to Shahabad threw the castern
provinces into a ferment. There was great alarm both at
Chapra and Arrah and it was reported that the r(':bds had
collected ninety large boats on the Gogra. The omcxal report
‘was that the northern portion of the Shahabad di;t_nct mxg}‘uAbc
invaded on any day. Apart from this grave political position

* Malleson, i, 469-70.

2 FT. vili, 145.

* The day was considered to be auspicious for the movement of troops (FP,
ili, 143).
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which arose from the menacing threats of Kunw e Sigh, the
situation from a mulitary pont of view was cqually desperate
The commssioner of Patn sent frantic despatches to the higher
authonties pomnung to the evils of divided command m 2
district ke Shahabad which was newldy defenceless rgamst
the 1mpending attack Therc were only eighty Sikh police at
Arrah, a detachment of queen’s 35th under brigadier Chnstie
1n the north, hieutenant Batt’s brigade of one hundred strong
at Buxar, and colonel Michel's Sikhs at Dehn But the
authonities were parilysed as Chnsue would not send two
compantes to Arrah unless the Sikhs were moved down from
Debirt to support them to which Michel would not agree?
Another official letter of 31 March from Boyle of Arrh fame,
gives us a ghmpsc of the Shahabad distrct of that tme He
refers to the defenceless condigon of Shahabad, open cvery-
where to the wruption of a hostle force, and 1ts mulitary
stations defenceless agamnst the incursions of the rebels, the
want of a hnk between Busar and Arrah only forty four miles
apart, the ralway staff spreading out Iike a cham of unsup-
ported sentnes, and the immedite need of adopting measures
of sccurtty m a distniet which had witnessed the most surnng
events Further, he obscrved that there was an increasing
uncasness and feelng of nsccunty sprexding among i
people

Tt 18 Koer Sings mntention to return to Shahabad He has made this
antention widely known The people are expecting tum and large
numbers are prepared to jon Tum 2nd T foree®

AZAMGARN TO SHAHABAD

The firght of Kunwar Singh from Azamgarh to Shaliabad
15 » memorable event of the war of the munnies The senes of
brithant rearguard acuons he fought all the wiy, and th;
tactical moves by winch be autflanked resourceful Bnus!

generals redounded 1o the credit of this great Indian leader

m the Gight agatst Botain It was all the more semarkable

LFP win 1345, 1% 471
2 CRO Sured I'.eum rom Indis volume 164 B 433 {Allahsbad Foreg?

Department Secret, o 16 of 30th Apnl}
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because Kunwar Singh was not a born general, A respectable
dignitary, and an aristocrat of the land who had nothing much
to do with military affairs, he turned a great soldier and a
commander of men towards the end of his life.

The retreat to Shahabad has not been discussed in detail
in any work especially in respect of the route he followed.
Malleson’s account of this historic march on which many
writers have depended does not accord with official despatches
on the subject, which also so far as available ones go, do not
furnish many details. Malleson states! that brigadier Douglas,
in pursuit of Kumwar, reached Nathupur on 16 April. He
makes no mention of Kunwar’s halt at Ghosi which was at 2
distance of twenty-four miles from Azamgarh, the pargana of
Nathupur lying further up on the right bank of the Gogra on
the north-east corner of the district. Malleson further says that
Kunwar halted at Naghai about fourtecn miles from Nathupur
where he was attacked on the 17th and was forced to fall back
slowly on Nagra, Here Kunwar displayed great tactical ability,
for while he ‘kept Douglas at bay’ he secured two lines of
retreat for his main column. Naghai secms to have been a
place very near to Nagra, as according to Malleson, the pur~
suit was taken up again on the following day, the 18th, as far
as Nagra, which he says was cightecn miles distant from
Nathupur. But Nagra, the wellknown thana, is at a distance
of twenty-four miles from the headquarters of the Ballia district
and eight miles distant from Rasra (Ballia), the tahsil of which
was bounded on the south by Ghazipur. Maileson continues
to narrate that from Nagra, Kunwar Singh marched to Sikan-
darpur, crossed the Gogra and then pushed on to Mannoharin
Ghazipur where Douglas defeated him on the 20th.2 The
description refers to Kunwar's march through the borders of
Azamgarh and Ballia districts, the river Gogra forming the
northern line of both and separating them frqm Gorakhpur
and Saran respectively. The proximity of Sikandarpur to
Gogra, as mentioned above, points to Sika.ndarpur in the
castern portion of Ballia which was at a distance of three
miles south of the Gogra. Did Kunwar actually_' cross the
Gogra? Malleson’s description docs not accord with facts of

14, 473,

i, 474-5.
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lymg at a distance of two miles south-west of Bansdih on the
road to Ballia Kunwar did not go to Bairia which 15 twenty
mules to the east of Balha m the direction of Saran! as that
would take him far away from Sheopur but when Cumberlege
was moving from Ballia to Baina he got into the rear of Ius
army by a flank-movement and made for Sheopur, and
Douglas reaching the ghat on 21 Apnl in hot pursuit, found
him 1n the act of crossing. He fired a few rounds which sank
one of the rearmost boats and posstbly Kunwar himself also
was wounded 1n the arm 2

To sum up, the Shahabad leader passed through the route
Sagri, Azmatgarh, Ghosi. It s doubtful of he had gone to
Nathupur, farther up, but he scems to have retreated down
to Naghai (?) and fell back to Nagra. He then moved to
Sikandarpur and thence took a hne along the Gogra and
reached Maniar. From Maniar he left the course of the river
and entered 1nto the interor of Ballia at Bansdih and then
passed by Marritar to Sheopur.

The whole of the force of Kunwar did not march along with
him, some following a different route were to have met him
somewhere on the Ganges. Dodd says that after the action at
Azamgarh, Kunwar’s force was divided into three sections, one
of these dvisions wath several horsc-artillery guns marched
towards Ghazipur.? In the express sent by the magistrate of
Azhmgarh on 14 Apnl 1t was reported that a large body of
Azamgarh rebels with two horse-artillery guns had marched off,
1t was supposed, towards Ghazipur, but it did not cause the
government any anxiety as the forces stationed there were
quite equal to meeting the rebel fugmitives.t

A very interesting official letter from R. Daves, the offiaat-
ing-magistrate of Azamgarh to ¥. B Gubbins, the commussioner
of the Benares Division from Sheopur in April, 1858, furnishes
other details of Kunwar’s retreat, not known hefore, which are
completely at variance with the circnmstances of the hero’s

1The repost of the rebels crosung at Saran ghat wat officially distounted
(CRO. 0p cit, p.899).

» Martu, ir, 492

1 Dodd, ap. et , 470,

# FP. vu, 142,
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march described above.! Davies says that as Venables was severe-
ly wounded in the action at the bridge on the west side of the
town on 16 April, he joined the pursuing force at Sir Edward’s
request, as a civil officer. He says that Nishan Singh was at
Azamgarh with two thousand men and two horse-artillery
guns, but left the city on the 13th or 14th. This was very pro-
bably the force which had gonc towards Ghazipur as referred
to in the official sources noticed above. Davies, however,
describes the retreat of the main body under Kunwar, He
says that they were engaged in digging for treasure on the 16th
at a place which may be recognised as Barmau Khas nearly
seven miles north of Azamgarh and despoiled mahajans of
the place to the extent of seventy-two thousand rupees and
burnt tabsil and thana records, They reached Naghai pursued
by Douglas, but nothing is said about the engagement that
took place there on the 17th as also of the other intermediate
stations where Kunwar stopped. On the other haud, Douglas
is said to have broken the rebel bodies on the 18th and rested
for the night at Ghosi. Besides the topographical anomaly
involved in this statement, on the 18th, the brigadier was
supposed to be at Nagra, but Davies represents the bri-
gadier as marching to Nagra on the 19th and the rebels as
visiting Molanpur and Douglas marching to Qazipur on the
20th, some details which do not agree with the conditions of the
movement of the two parties. Further, it is said that the rebels
went to Numeechur in Ghazipur having burned the thana and
indigo factory at Sikandarpur. This place, Nimchar, may be one
of the chain of jhils near Barachar in the Zahurabad pargana
which is bounded on the north by the Rasra tahsil of Ballia.
It has been noticed that Rasra was only eight miles distant
from Nagra. Tt is just likely that a party of the rebels had
moved away from Nagra towards Ghazipur as Cumberlege
might have threatened to cut them off at Ballia, and Sikandar-
pur, mentioned above, was the western pargana of this name,
which with three others constituted the Rasra tahsil of Ballia.
Bat Davics says that at Sikandarpur the rebels made every
possible search for boats. The most interesting part of the
report is that Kunwar Singh found himself amongst friends at

* QRO, Searet Letters from India, vol. 164, p. 425.
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Nimchar where the brigadier contacted him i the morning
of the 2lst and scattered them inflicting a heavy loss. They
then reassembled at a place which can be recognised only as
Sahatwar at a distance of six mules south-cast from Bansdih in
Ballia From that place in several bodies they went off by
different routes to Sheopur, burning the Reot: thana The only
explanation of this confused account is that Davies mixed up
the movements of the different parties of the rebels retreating
through different routes

Very much confused though the account 1s in its present
form, the magistrate says that the Arrah police, the Mallahs ()
and zamindars were all instrumental 1n scuttling the boats and
in furnishing them to the rebels and that the movements of the
pumtive force suffered very much 1n consequence of the
difficulty in procuring supplics and nformation. He alo
noticed that a great enthustasm was extending to the lower
classes in favour of Kunwar Singh.

The Report of R. Davies 15 given below.

(Copy)

425 From R, Davies Esq.,
Offg. Mgt. of Azumgurh.
To
F. B. Guess, EsQ.,
Commussioner of the 5 Dun , Benares,
Dt. Camp Skeopoor the April 1858,
Sir,

1 have the honour to report the progress of events from the
arrival of Sir Edward's force at Azamgurh to Kooer Singh’s
fight across the Ganges.

On the 16th instant Sir Edugard attacked the rebels post at
the bridge on the west side of the town. A slight resistance was
made, but in & very short tune the whole rebel force was in full
retreat on the Bhunul road, They were overtaken at Bhanghi
Daur by the Royal Horse artillery and Cavalry of the force,
and their two guns and onc by one Jub,(?) together with one
hundred and twenty carts taken from them. In this affair
Mr. Venables was severely wounded and the force having
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without 2 civil officer I joined it at Sir Edward’s request.
Kooer Sing fell back on Azumgurh where Nishan Singh with
two thousand men and two harse-artillery guns had heen for
‘two days, having left Azumgurh on the night of the 13th or
14th. During the 16th or 17th they were engaged in digging
for treasure in Balum Persah, and mahajuns house and are
said to have found seventy-two thousand rupecs. They also
burned the tehseel and the thannah records. On the night
of the 17th they retired from a strong position they had
occupied, to the groves about Neghai near the lower Ghosee
road—on the same night Brig. Douglas arrived on the morning
of the 18th, the rebels were found to have stayed at Neghai,
They were attacked by the brigadier and breaking into
bodies retrcated partly by the lower road and partly across the
country to Ghosee where after setting fire to the tehseel they
went on to Bhusouth, twelve miles beyond. The brigadier
halted for the night at Ghosece having marched about fourteen
miles, besides fighting. It was ascersained that Inderject Singh
of taking one hundred men with him had gone
off towards Oudh. It docs not appear that Pargan Singh
ever came beyond Azumgurh.

On the 19th the brigadier marched to Nuggur twenty-four
miles. The horse-artillery and cavalry were pushed on ahcad
but nothing took place except some contact between the sowars
of the picket on both sides. About the time of the arrival of the
infantry the rebels decamped. After burning the tchsecl afnd
thannah, and went to Molanpor, on the 90th the brigadier
marched to Quazecpore early four miles beyond Seeandespoor,
about fifteen miles. In the night the rebels had gone to Nume-
echur in the Ghazeepoor district having burned the thannah
and an indigo factory at Sekunderpoor. It s probable that the
cause of their turning off to Sekunderpoor was the movement
made by Col. Cumberlege which threatened to cut thcm. oft
Bulliah—at and about Sccunderpoor they made every possible
search for boats, but they had either been sunk or burat or
taken down therivers at Nameechur, Kover Singh found himself
amongst fricnds and the want of his tro0ps WCre volun-
tarily supplied by the villages, who were almost umv?rsan)’ m
Tuis favour. Through their collusion our spies were seized and

.8 CRIM~22
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detained and our information surrendered On the morning
of the 21st the bngadier found the rebels still in Numeechur
and took them by surpnise They abandoned one of ther
horse artillery guns with ammumtion waggons together
with some elephants They were dispersed 1n every direction
but during the afterncon and mght appear tohave reissembled
to a great extent near Samturar 2 plice surrounded by very
thick wood Kooer Sing must have been there by the evening
and gone off early, and n this way a stream of fugitives
several small bodies all going by different routes advanced
duning the mght to the river at Sheopoor Ghat as had been
antiapated On their way they burned the Reyotee Thannah
and the Byn1h Thannah and murdered the Reyotee thanadar
The bngadier had the troops ready to march by two O clock
1n the morning, but unfortunately an exaggerated report of the
number of men made by the civalry pichet at Samturar joined
to the thich wood and the obliged lum to postpone
the march until day Light By that tme all had left, but 1t 15
probable that upto two or three O clock a body of about five
hundred men did remain 1n the wood and subsequently went
off 1n parties leaving Bulliah on their left Such a body has
been reported by Col Cumberlege to have been on the 21st at
Bunagron? or ‘cheet’ The 2nd horse arullery gun was aban
doned by the rebels at Samturar and some more elephants
The brgadicr pushed on the horse artillery and cavalry to the
Sheopoor Ghat but on our arrval we had the mortification of
secing almost the whole of the rebels were across the Ganges,
and the hoats which were supposed to have been withdrawn or
scuttled and sunk lying on the opposite bank I am enquirng
1nto the circumstances and there seems every probability that
the Arrah police, the Mollahs and zemindars friendly to h.ooer
Singh were all instrumental 1n decewving the officers responsible
for the withdrawal of the boats and 1n furmshung them to the
rebels The nver 1s deep at this pomt, and though some might
have got off on elephant and by swimmng without
boats, the brigadier must have come upon a very large body
It 1s consolatory to thnh, however, that the sustained
exertions of the force under brigadier Douglas have not beent
swithout efficct To the energy with which he pushed on the
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pursuit in spite of the fatiguc and exposures suffered parti-
cularly by the European infantry the Government owe the
capture of the two horsc-artillery guns, the repeated defeat and
discomfiture of the rebels and the exhibition of Kooer Singh
and his troops flying for their Lives through a part of the
country orly too friendly to his rebellion,

(Paragraph 4} T have as yet no information of the rebels
across the Ganges. It is highly probable, however, that they
will for a short interval disperse to their homes to visit their
relatives and dispose of their plunder. But afterwards it is to be
expected that at least a portion of them will reappear in arms.
The burning of the tehseels and thannahs on the road together
with the murder of onc or two Government officials and the
search made for all, evince that there is a determination to
persist in hostility to Government, These are not the acts of
men anxious only to save their lives and quietly disperse, A
rumour has reached me that Ummar Singh is negotiating with
the Santhals who have agreed to rise. I have no means of
testing the truth of this story, bue that disturbances of some
sort will arise is to be expected.

(Paragraph 5) It is, therefore, important that the victorious
appearance of our troops such as has been presented in this
district, should be maintained. It is cvident from the difference
between the people living in the Azumgurh district, from the
difficulty in procuring supplics and information, from the aid
gladly given to the rebels and a sort of enthusiasm extending
to the lower classes in Kooer Singh’s favour that had he not
been sharply pursued, he would have been joined in large num-
bers. But beaten, hungry, dispirited, despondent, the appear-
ance of his foreshowed that his cause was a dangerous one.

(Paragraph 6) I most strongly recommend that a British
force be at once sent into the Arrah district and that the police
be strengthened as far as possible.

Magistrate’s Office, I have, etc.
Zillah Azumgurh, Camp. Sheopoor, 8d/- R. Davss,
The 23rd April, 1858. Offg. Magistrate.

Allahabad Foreign Department,
Seeret, No, 16 DJ30th April, No. 25B.
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RepeL LEADERS OF SHAHABAD
No 12 of 12 Fanuary, 1858

To
The Commussioner of Circutt of Patni, Camp Jagdispore

Sir,

With reference to your letter No 1726, dated the 28th
November, 1857 and 1ts enclosures, 1 have the honour to
submat the following hst of persons who took a lexding part in
the late disturbances in the district —

Ist on the hst comes hoer Singh of Jagdispur, Becheeah,
son of Sahibzada Singh of the same place He s a tall thin man,
age above 70, large features acquiline nose \nd prominent eyes,
thin whiskers on the cheek bone showed below, thin moustache,
suffers severely from neuralgia

2 Ummar Singh of Metaha Pergannah, Beeheeah, brother
of Koer Singh, age about 45, 1n appearance nearly resembling
lus brother

3 Reetbunjan Singh of Dullipore, Pargannah Beeheeah
son of Dial Singh, brother of hoer Singh age about 30, a tall
powerful man, stout face wore moustache but no whiskers 1
do not know him and this 1s the nearest description I can get of
him

4 Nishan Smngh of Bulder Pargunnah, Sasaram, son of
Raghobeer Singh, age about 60, fair complexion, middle size,
thin, black-teeth, no distngwishung marh, description obtamed
only by hearsay

5 Harkishin Singh a Tahseeldar of Koer Singh, took a pro-
mment part i the rebellious proceeding in this distnict, 1ge
about 30, mddle sized, very fair, wiiskers moustache Jomned,
wore them brushed bachwards like an up country sowar

H C Wakg, Magistrale

310
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No. 13 of 12th Fanuary, 1858.
To

The Commissioner of Patna,

Sir,

I have the honour to request your sanction to a reward of
company’s rupees 500/~ for the apprchension of Reetbunjan
Singh nephew of Baboo Kooer Singh who is proved to have
taken part in the present rebellion.

1 have, ctc.,
H. G. Wake
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Anderson (Capt. R. P.)
Ball {Charles)
Bartrum (K. M)

Bonham (Col. John)
Bourchier (Col. G.)

Cavenagh (O.)
Chaudhuri (S. B.)
Chick (N. A.)
Cooper (F.}

Cosens and Wallace
Crawshay (G)
Dodd (G.)
Edwards (W.)

Forbes-Mitchell (W)

Forrest (G. W)

A Personal Journal of the Seige of

Lucknow (1838)

The History of the Indian Mutiny

(1859)

A Widow’s Reminiscences of the Sicge

of Lucknow (1838)

QOude in 1857

Eight Months’ Campaign against the

Bengal Scpoy Ammy (1838)

Reminiscences of an Indian Official

(1884)

Civil Disturbances during the British

Rule in India (1763-1857) (1955)

The Annals of the Indian Rebellion

(1860)

The Crisis in the Punjab (1838)

Fatchgarh and the Mutiny (1933}

The Immediate Cause of the Indian

Mutiny {London Effingham Wikon,

Royal Exchange)

The History of the Indian Revolt

{known as Chambers’s History}{1839)
{3 Facts and Refections con-

nected with Indian Rebellion

(i) Personal Adventures during

the Indian Rebellion (1858)
Reminiscences of the Great Mutiny
(1893)

(i) Sclections from the Letters
Despatches and other State
Papers preserved in the Mili-
tary Department of the Gov-
ermment of India, 1857-38—
(1893, 1902} _ .

(i) History of the Indian Mutiny
(1904)
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Gough (General, Sir Hugh)

Gubbins (M)

Gupta, Rajam Kanta
Halls (J J)
Hansard’s

Hlton, Richard
Holloway (J )
Holmes (T R)

Hope Grant and Knollys (H )

Hutchnson (Capt. G )

Ingls (Mrs)
Innes (McLeod)

Jacob (Maj -Gen Sir George

Le Grand)
Jones (Capt Olwver J.)

Joyee (Michael) ¢
Kaye (J W)

Keith Young (Col )

Old Memories (1897}
An Account of the Mutinies in Qudh
(1859)

Sipain Juddher Ttthas (1836—1900)
Two Months 11 Arrah in 1857
Parliamentary Debates (1857)

The Indian Matiny (1957)

Essays on the Indian Mutmy (1864)

A Hstory of the Indian Muuny
(1913)
Inadents in the Sepoy War (1857-58)
(1873)

Narrative of the Mutinies in Qude
(1859)

‘The Siege of Luchnow (1892)
Lucknow and Oude in the Mutiny
(1895)

The Causes of the Crisis of 1857-58

Recollections of a Winter Campaign
in India (1859)

Ordeal at Lucknow (1938)

A History of the Sepoy War in India

" (1880)

Kmnead (C. A) .o

Lang (John)

Ludlow (J M.}
Mackenzie (Col A R.D})
Majendie (Lt V. D.}
Majumdar (R G.)

Malleson (G B)
Mariam

Martin (R. M.)
Maude and Sherer

Delhi—1857 (1902)

Lakshm: Bai, Rani of Jhansi
Wanderings i India (1859)

A Pamphlet on the War in Qudh
Mutiny Memonrs (1892)

Up among the Pandies (1859)

The Sepoy Mutiny and the Rey olt of
1857 (1957)

History of the Indian Mutiny 1857-58
(1878, 1879, 1880)

A Story of the Indian Mutiny of 1857,
reproduced by J T. Ianthorne
(1896)

The Indian Empire (1858-61)
Memoties of the Mutiny (1894)
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Medley (J. G2} -
Metealfe (C. T0)

Montalembert

Mowbray Thomson ..
Mair (Sir William)

Nash (J.T.) .-
Norton {J. B} .
Proceedings on the trial of
Muhammad Bahadur Shah,
titalar king of Delh, etc.
Raikes (G.)

Red Pamphler

Rees (L. E. R)
Robertson {H. D2}
Rotton (J. E}

Sen (3. X.) e
Shepherd (W, J.) .

Sherring (Rev. M. A) -
Sita Ram

Showers (Lt-General, C. L)

A Years Campaigning in India

{1858)

‘Two Native Narratives of the Mutiny

at Delhi (1898)

A Debate on India in the English

Parliament (Published ac the Office

of the Continental Review, Bedford

Street, Strend, London, 1858)

The Story of Cawnpore (1839)

Records of the Imdhgence Depart-

ment of the Government of the North-

West Provinces of India during the

Muting of 1857, ed. by William

Coldstream (1902}

Velunterring in India {1893)

The Rebellion in India (1857}

Ofiice of the Superintendent of

Government Printing, India,

Calcutia, 1893,

Notes on the Revolt in the North-

West Provinces of India (1838}

The Mutiny of the Bengal Amay, by

cmc who served under Siv Charles
Napier (asaribed 10 Melleson) (1857}

A Personal Narrative of the Siege of

Lucknow ({1838}

District Duties during the Revolr

(1859)

The Chaplains Namative of die

Siege of Dethi (1858)

Eighteen Fifiy-Seven (The Publica-

tfions Division, Government of India,

1957)

A Personal Nareative of the Out-

break and Massecre 2t Cawnpore

(1579)

The Indian Church during the Great

Rebeliion {185%)

From Sepov fo Subadar (Trans. by

Norgate, 1911}

A Missing Chapier of the Indian

AMutiny (ISSS)
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Syed Ahmed Khan .

Sylvester (J H) .

Thackeray (Col Sir Edward)

Thornhll {M ) ..
Townsend .
Urquhart (D) .

Vincent (Benjamin) .

Wilberforce (R. G.) .
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An Essay on the Causes of the Indian
Revolt Trans by Captam W, N
Lees, Calcutta, 1870

Recollecti of the Campaig
Malwa and Central Incha (1860)
Remimscences of the Indian Mutiny
(1916)

The Personal Adventures and Expen-~
ences of a Magistrate during the
Indian Mutmy (1884)

The Annals of Indian Admunsstration
The Rebelhon in India (London,
Paternoster Row)

Haydn's Dictionary of Dates (22nd
LEdition, 1898)

An Unrecorded Chapter of the
Indian Mutiny (1894)

NEWSPAPERS QUOTED

Bombay Times
Hindu Patnot
Englishman

Iniend of India
Saturday Review
Times

Tablet



INDEX

GENERAL

Abbasali, raja of Tanda, 122, 306
baufali Khan, 11
Abdul Hag, hakim, 239

‘Abdul Jakl, 80

Abdul Kadir, 67

Abdul Lauf Kh'm, 78

Abdullz

Abdullah l\han, 129

Abdulrauf Khan, 25, 116

Abdut Walid, 83

Abdr Rahaman Kl of Jhaffar, 63,

Abdur Rahaman Khan of Budaun, 115

Abdus Samad Khan, 230

Abu Bakr, 68

Abul Fazt, 110

Adil Mohammed Khan of Bhopal, 222,
224.6, 228

Aga Mirza Sahib, 204

Aga Mohammed, hakim, 153

Afraluddaulah, nizam, 229

Aga Ujimali, 91

gha Hasan, 1
Ahidali Khan, 110
Ahmedali of Farrukhabad, 88

Ahmedali of Allahabad, 90
Ahmedali Khan of Faruknagar, 68
Abmedali Khan, 101

Ahmed Khan, 236

Abmed Shah Khan of Bareilly, 111
Ahmed Shah, 115

Ahmeduliah of Bithur, 100, 105
Ahmedulizh of Bijnour, 109
Ahmedullah of Patna, 162
Almedylizh Khan of | Barcnlly, 112
Ahmed Yar Khan, nazim,

Ahmed Yar Khan, lahsnldnr u7
Ahmedzuh Khan, 110

Ahsanali, 216

Ahsanullal, hakim, 67, 72-7¢
Ameun, t., 23

Ajida, 2.

Aj\t Smgl\, 132, 222

Akbarali of Cawnpore, 100
Akbarali of Moradabad, 110
Akbarali Khan of Bareiily, 111
Akbarali Khan of Pataudi, 68
Akbar Khan, 123

Akbar Singh, 84

Alhund of Swat, 68

Alnali, 110

All Hissain, 162

Ali Karim, 148, 162, 251

AR Khan, 152
Ali Noki Khan, 135, 204
Al Nasar, 149

Amanat Khan, 159

Amar Singh of Adampur, 1

Awmar Singh of Shahabad, 42 49, 160,
179, 180, 184, 2461, 3]6 335 540

Aminuddin, 173

Amirali, 116

Amjadali, 90

Amvuthan Singh, 140

Anand Rao Puar, 232

‘Anderson, Capt., 128

Anson, Maj., 27

Apadbik Dhias, 101

Apa Sahib, 57, 89, 297

Adgum, 1

Atjun Dawa, 225

Arjun Singh, 192f.

Asadali Khan, tahsildar, 81

‘Asadali Khan of Moradabad, [10

Asaf Hussain, 162

Asajit, 226

Ashan Hussain I\han, 204

Ashburner, Capt., 22

Asheat Khan, 87

Atcocities Commitied, 47, 77, 90-81,
178-9, 264,

Ayodlxya Smgh 83
Ayuby Khan, 110

im Khan,
Azlz\lddm Husam of Paln:\ 168-71
Azimullah Khan, 81, 93, 1
Azizahmed, 115
Azeezun, 101

Baba Apte, 231
Baba Bhat, 100

Babarali, 132

Babar Khan, 239

Babn Sahib, 230-01

Babus of Dharmmar, 149
Babus of Pandapur, 147-8
Bachgotis, 120, 308

Bdridas Aganvls, 100

Bagho Deo, 19

Bahaduriang thg of Dadri, 68
Babadur Kha

Pakadur Shah, 24, 661, 258
Bahadur Singh, 162, 2845

347



350
Dx‘rg:prxud. ran, of Sachend, 103,
[tN

Purgapratad of Baredlly, 111
Durgaprasad Pandopadhays, 13
Durjan singh 81

urnford  25%

Leonotue Comequences of the War,
63-73

Edwardes B, 235

Ldwardt W of Radaun 6 15, 14, 19

Ellenborough £arl 791

Enficld nffe, 5 175 262

Enkine My 36

Frelegh Bng  141-2

Lyre My 103 168 17784

Lxatements (Speeches  Procrevons),

2025 100 128 1343, 320

Factones destroyed {see abo Indigo),
41, 16 163 172 182, 190-01,279

Far Mohammed Khan 117

Fazuddin Muktear 207

Fakir Baksh of the Doaly, 92

Fakir Baksh of \hizapure, 158

Farak hhan 115

an]ulm Col . 81

Fasahasulish, 115

attahali 90

Fattchali Beg 149

Fatteh Singh 250

Fatehram Singh, 101

Fatmal 100

Fatua 77

Farat Jalan 150

Fazd \Mohammed, nawah of Amabs-

Fazlali, 14

Fazl Azim, naih nazim, 39 50, 91, 153

Faxl Hag 11213

Feraan 151 203

Yir':lnznl Position of the Bnwh 28 33,

Firuz Shah_Prinee ALirza Nlohammed,
60 £6 B8 113, 115, 117. 126,139,
144, 2320

Fischer, Col., 189

Flang, Colummns 58 77,7623

Tort, of Malagarh 78, Sampther, 8%
Dahyn 92, Malskankar, 16 42,132
R 114, Sankarpur, 118,
Shahgany 119:20, of Ma X

120, Ramprkaua, 121, 142, Budbs
n 123, Donah 1243, Amab,

24, 142, Nawatpur, 132, Dundiae

Khera 2 Gl 148,

Afutarskpar 150, Tigra 153, Mas

hul 154 Avaul 1554 Tikan 163,

Ralpe 2123 Jhamd 216 2189,

nore

Rahararh 223 Laala 223
!""1\13‘ 233 War 313 Nt en

Foater, ol , 14

branks, P 4345 8% 1230 )58

Freehng G

tyanah 163

Fyzaba tmoulass 25,57 17, 110
130 139 313

Gadhary 230

Gajadhar Sangh 144

Gamblis Sangh 213 217

Ganehyo 215

Ganetra 112

Ganesh wang), 103

Ganga {har Ran roler of [t ana 2H

Gangathar, 216

Gangansravan 201

Ganga Singh of Acra 83 ¥

Ganga Singh of Farnuihabad 4301

Ganjan Singh, 20

Garur Singh rad of Rsmeat 24

Gaur tntws of Cawnpore H1L {05 1

Gaturm qribm 1T ro‘iﬂ;

Crausemohammed Khao 72087 1LY

Gayapraad 10}

Ghal' b Undo port 71

Ghanmbyam Sinrh 26

Ghara 7380, 110 313 VS A3

Ghulam Abbas of Deits 92

Ghulam Abbas of Pamns 2

Gholam Ahya 173

Ghulamal Rhan 81

Chutam Nusam, tyrd) ¢ actisbiee
Aldamau 45 (24,159 152 39 3 °

Chalam Hytder 90

Ghulam Hyder Khan, 112

Ghulam Tsmul %0

Ghulam hadir Kan 1167

b ulam Moartess 02

Guliam %ab 149

Golunda Pabw 159

Golanda Ballav Suing!

Golnnda Singh, 2

Gobinds Suliar 201

Crolal Siegh, 3 UT

Gotaty ungh ol Bimat

Golab Singh of Seonl §

4 UL

1w,

1"y

19 11
0%

Gradam Capt, 85 173

Crant linpe, 115 118, (20 126 15
132, 140 1826

Greased Canteutyes B0 ¢ T o

Greathed 14 21,7, 72 P11



INDEX

Green ﬂng (Standard of Islam), 79,

90-01, 100, 101, 108, 117, 126, 128,
151,2 , 227, 239, 232, 239
Gubbins, M., financial commissioner,

ns,
17, 18, 96, 270, 309

Gubbins, F, B., Judge,

Gujass, 6435, Yo.70 sa mg, 236, 238,

Cuuamn of M 110

351

Hati Singh of Unao, 101, 127

Hati Singh of Sambalpur, 19

Havelock, Sir H., 29, 357, 127 131,
244, 309

Havelock, H, Capt,, in Bihar, 2561

Hazratmahal, see begam of Lucknaw

Hedayctali of Dibrugath, 206

Hadayetali of Farrukbabad, 87

Guljarali of Basti, 145

Gurdat Singh, 107

Gurubaksh Singh, raja of Ramnagar,
124, 131, 293

Gualior contingent, 38, 4648, 59, 82,
84.85, 105-05, 15, 331.3

Habibullah Kban, 112

Habshees, 132

Hafieali, 110

Hafiz Liabi Balsh, 149

Hafiz Rahamat Khan, 111

Hafiz Kullan Khan, 112

Hakim Ahsanullab, 22, 34, 67f.

Hakim Sadatali, 112

Hall, Col,, 141

Haliiday, Lt.-Gov., 164

Hamid Hasan Khan, 116

Hanuman, 50,

Hanumant Singh, talukdar of Dharu-
pur, 16, 121, 130, 139, 141, 143, 152,
319

Haralal, 111

Hardat Smgh of Bahraich, 130

Hardat Singh of Churda, 130, 139

Hardeo Baksh, 121

Harichand, raja, 3

Harkishan Singh, 172 180, 247, 257,
324, 340

Harmutali Khan, raja, 183

Harmut Khan, 7

Harprasad, zhc chackladar of Khaira-
bad, 125,

Hamutt, _‘udgc—advnc'xw, 23,92

rvey, G, F., commissioner, 11, 268

Hasanali Baksh, 149

Hasanali Khan of Dojana, 68

Hasanali Khan, rajz, 153

Hasan Askari, 53

Hasan Khan, Kotwal, 79

Hasan Khoda Baksh, 133

Hasan Mirza, 81

Hasen Yar Khan, chackladar of Jaun-
pur, 151

Heshmatals, 318

Hastings, W., 177

Hastings, marquess, 22

of Tilbar, 117
Hedayetali, sheikh, his views, 1
Hennessy, Maj,,

Hewitt, Maj.-Gen., 62, 175
Hikmatullah Kh:m ]0
Himmat Singh, 255.6

Hinde, Ct
Hira Singh, 103

Hirat Singh, raja, 75

Hiravant Singh, 312

Hitnarayan Singh, 181

Holas Singh, 101, 106

Holibhoi, 228

Horne, officer, 153

Hume, magistrate, 84

Huruak Singh, 203

Hussainali, raja of Hasanpur, 124
Hussainali Khan, 90
Hussainbaksh Khan, raja, 183
Hyderali, 87

Hyderali Khan of Gaya, 181

Tllahi Baksh Khan, 204

Tmamali, 222

Tmamuddin, 162

Impey, Maj,, 199

Inam Commission, 13, 74, 230-01

Tnayetali Khan, 75, 109

Indigo factories destroyed, 80, 115,
154, 158, 173-4, 191, 252, 279

Indra Smgh the raja of Shahgarh in
Sagar, 225

Indes Smgh of Gaya, 183

Indrajit Smgh 328, 337

Inglis, Cal., 31

Iradat Jahan, raja ul'MahuI 150-01

Irish Tenant Right Bill, 15

Trish rebellion, 260

Ishan Chandra Manikya Bahadur of
Tripura, 204

Ismail Kh'm, son of Walidad Khan,

1

1smail Khan of Bareilly, 117; of Fateh-
garh, 88; naib ol'Fyznhad 121

lsn Singh, 103, 105

Teri Prasad, 157

Jswari Baksh, 132

Tswar Nand, 112

Jackson, Coverley, 17
Jacquerle, 211, 876



352

Jadu Many 190

Jaffarali 149

fTaralk Rhan 111

Jegannath sa (La\a) 180 188
Jagat Singh, 2

Jegncswar Bam' 153 308

Jagu Dewan 1934

a ap Rao Sindhn 220

alaluddin 109

Jamuna Singh 183

anardan Rao 211

Jang Bal adur 119 121

Jasa Siungh of Tatebpur Chaurass 88
127 131 tsson Narpat S agh 106

Jats 65 79 109 237

Jawae Siagh of Batuli 81 of Cawn
pore 103 106 321 of Namkpur, 215

Javralapragad 100 106 114 133 141

Jaydayal 83

Jaymal Smgh 1112

Jayalal Singh raja  warmunster at
Lucknow 122 131,1334 nazm of
Azamgirh and Jaunpur 45 151,
1545 son_of Ghalb jJang 151
brother of Bem Mad! o of Awaul
154 305 328

]eh:xd and Jehads 69 110 113 132

jenkm!. 229

Jesbadal 0,

Jharu hour 2

Jhunya § ngh 95 157 158

Jreantal 163

Jivantal e hus account 66 67

73
Jodha 8 ngh 106-7
Jod

2 Su\gh 189
:}ogral Rashore 101
Jomes Bng 109 117
Judhar Smgh of Satubgan
Judhar Smgh of Gaya

185-6 2
]uhan Smgh 181 816
Singh 27 23
jﬁ:ﬁnaha\gm or Junno Bhar 221
Jyotprasad contractor, 211

4% 186 1821

kabir Khan 238

hadam S“n‘ﬁ: 65

hafayuts

kaxl:sy;xl uCh:mdm Sinha  author of
Raymala 204

I\alu;'darmr Goshain 104 106

Ralprasad 170

halka of Hara, 101

Talka Baksh talukdar 132

halkaprasad of Shahychanpur 25

INDEX

Kalu hhan 113
Ralyan S ngh 227
Ramadar Rhan 233
kamal Singh 200
Randar Khan Pindan 223
l\n%l:l‘iirpnwar Singh 2 of Asam

Ranu Mal 111

Ranu Manp 160

Rapinath Sm of Sl 180

Ranmal

hanm Rhan 202

harl Marx quoted 27)

Rhastum Sheikh 162

Rashmath 217 22

Raz Ghulam Hanza 111

Raz Wanuddin 101

RNazy Mmhabbub:ﬂ 76

Relly Cot 142

Keramatali of Mathura 82

Reramatah of Jaunpur 152

heramat Khan

Keh Rao 212

Khageswar Deo 200

hahairat Rhan Pindan 76

Rhanali Khan of Shat yehanp r 116

Rhamali  Kban  commander—rcbed
forees at Lucknaw 126 131 139

Khan Ba} ad r)\h:m 59 69 HIF 115

Khan 8§ ngl

i\luwaja l{\mzmah Rhan 162

Khoda Baksh of Jtanm 217

Khoda Baksh so1 d sant charkladar of
Jaunpur 45 152

‘hhurrul tribe 23

Khushal Chand

Fang of Delh\ 65 76 I 8283 %0
11001 162

hashan hashore Chand 149

HKashan Prasad 120 150

Thaushore Smgh 102 223

Koel S ngh 153

lxuhlr Gomar 180

kuber Chandm Rc{ 203
Ruber Singh lol 03 106
uddum Singh §

dratali Khan 75
}\u!zb Shah 111
human Singh of Mhoka 2756
'l\umarS

unjah Smg

hunpah Sneh 20 10 107
F\unjabchan Sngh 112
Runjatlal 111
Runkura g}n‘;m t .
R Sgh 18,8 i
158 lCO 163 165, 1B) 188 2



INDEX

219, 241, 306, 313, 840; his historic
march in the Appendix E, 3141,
Kunwar Zohar Singh, 85
Kurbanali, 189
Kurjaprasad, 207
Kurmi Singh, 102
Kushal Singh, raja of Chilkarmagar, 85
Kushal Singh of Gaya, 183
Kushal Singh, thakur of Awal, 234

Lachmanpsasad, 10405
Lachman Rao, 217

Lachman Singh of Agra, 83
Lachman Singh of C'lwnpure, 102
Lachmen Singh of Slmhgnrh, 23
Laikar Shah, 141

Lakshman Smgh, 158, 3
Lazklcgmbm, rani ofjhansx, 24, 59,214,
Lala Iswaridayal, 100

Lala Indranath Sai, 190

Lala Shyamsuadar Sai, 190

Lal Man Mewati, 227

Land and Land Revenue, 8-10, 294
Lasrence, Sir H,, 16, 129, 309
Lawrence, Sir John, 28, 255
Le Grand, Capt., 58, 2
Leigh, Gapt., 198-
Liakatali o(Alluhnbnd 58, 80, 100, 812
Likha Singh, &
Lloyd, Maj.-Gen., 171, 175
Lloyd of Hamirpur, 211
Loch, Br. Officer, 238
Lodhis, 225
Loni Singh, raja oFMthnuh 127, 1312
Longden, Lt Col.,
Lutali,
Tugan, 4 Bivacd, 56, 152, 246, 249,
326, 3281
Lujiram, 65
Lusa Manji, 190
Lushington, 194

Macaulay, 2!

MacGregor, Bng,, 121, 311, 824

Mackenzie, a;., 4

Madarali Khan, 1

Madhoprasad Sm , palwar chief of
Birhar, 45, 51, 1 0 122, 150, 1545,

305

Madho Singh (Lal), raja of Amethi
(Sultampur), 118, 121, 124, 130 m,
ia1-

Madho Singh of Akri,
Madho Singh orBhugmpur, 82, 105
C. t CRIM~23

353

Madhu Gharatia, 202

Madhu Mallick, 205

Madhukar Sai, 197

Madhu Rao, 209, 210

Madudali, 100

Mahabatali, 163

Mahabbubali Khan, 67

Mahabbub Khan, 79

Mahabirprasad Smgh 180, 233

Maharaj Baksh, I

Mabaraj Singh ol'Rampw', 108

Mazharaj Singh Dawa, 225

Mzhatabchand, raja, 159

Mzhatab Singh, 8

Mahsumali, 87, 89

Mahtulnarayan Singh, 159

Mahendra Singh (rana), 85

Mabhipal Singh, 153

Mahipat Singh, 225

Mainuddin Hasan Khan, his account,
7, 14, 66, 68, 70 03

T\I:lkdam BaL'fn

Makdam Balsh of Bareilly, 15

Makhdum Baksh of Jaunpur, 152

Makun Singh, 163

Malik Mchnch Baksh, 151

Man;::n; Khan, 114, 126, 1334, 139,

Mangal Pandey, 7

Mangal Singh, 80, 83; of Juaosi, 215
angal Khan, 25

Manik Smgh 103

Manipur princes, 205

Manasram,

Maniram Datta, 204-05

Mansabali of Rasulabad, (04, 124, 127,

\I:nsaha'h of Serai Mir, 149-50
Man Singh, raja of Shahganj, 16, 116-
20, 172, 129-31, 135:4, 140, 156,
5,

Man Singh, the chief of Narwar, 222-3

Mansur Beg, 115

Manuruddgulah, 1334

Maratha, Confederacy, 29; tactics, 221;
counu-',,229f flag 227

Marathas, 10:

Mardanali I\l\an

Mardan Singh, ra]a ® ot Banpur, 205,
215, 218

Mark Kerr, Lord, 327

Martand Rao, 210

Masimali Khan, 88

I\%’zh imgh 1032

Maughar, raja,

NMankal ol S Sobtas, 203

Maulavi Ahuddm,

Maulavi Mehadi, lEZ

Maulavi Mann, 111



354

Maulasi Mohammed Alszn, 111
Maulay Rabimulfah Khan, 111
Maulav] Sarfarazals, 24, 110, 116-7

Mawa Singh, 182 /

Mayne, F O, 37-38,93

Mazhar Kanm, 25

Meghur Singh, 255, 257

Mel an, raya, 183

Mehnd: Hasan, nazum of Sul
37, 45, 51, 9! 120, 123-4, 141 145
150, 152

Mian Salub, 117
Michacl, Gen , 222
Maharen Beg, 211
Muurbanali, 110
AMidman, Col, 325
Mar Bahawal I'ahvanah, 236
Mor Balar H 121
Mur Bakshal
Mirbhan Smgh 214 2267
%/Iu’}')os!ah 11,24,

Lr Jung 02
Mir Insagl?;h 208
Mir Mobammed Hussa, 151
Murza Abbas Beg, 69

»  Agaullah, 93

» Al szah 72

Hus:
» Ghaﬂ'\u‘ Beg, 124
» Harda

»” Mobamm:d thkodh 129
» Rahim Beg, 207, 211
Wllayat !{asan 209
str Baynath, lll
Matchell, Col,
Mitrabhang Szu, 196
Mohammed Adnl ,214
" Khan, 112, 127
" Azxm, 237

42F, 306,
‘Humayun Khan, 129
» Hussain,
X 21t

Khas

» ShaG, 112
” Sirdar Khan, 208
n Tawo 101
w Tk, 87

"

Baredly, 115
Mohanlal, munshs, 13
Mohants, 121

an, nazim  of
Gorakhpur, 43, 50.01,
59,122, 154 136, 140.01,

Yar Khan, nath nazim of

INDEX

Molur Singh, 76

Moncrieff, Qapt,

l\(oncy,A ufGaya,G 34, 181, 262
Montgom

Moplabs, eray

Mompam'l'ambc 217

Mubarak Shah, 115

Mubarak Shah” Khan, 111
Muyoo Khan, 110

Muir, Sir W, 7, 287 284 321
Mukhenee, B N, 266

Mukunda Siagh of Mulgaon, 103
Mukunda Singh of M:uh:u‘, 207
Mulchand Naib, 112

Multan Khan, 87, 115

Munga Khan, 116

Munir Kban, 78, lll 115

Mum Singh, '102

M

twal, 8

Muradals hb.:n ol' Mbow, 232

Murat Smgh

Musahubaly, 140

Musakuza, 110

Mushraf Khan, naib-nanim, 148

Musi-Uz-Zaman, 132, 161

Mustafagh Khan, 101, 129

Musumalt Khan, 57

Muthab Smgh, §3

Muthn Singh, 102

Muzaffaral, 133

Muzaffar Hussan Khan, 11
Muzaffar Hussaig (akas Aga Mobam-
med Sahib), 204

Muzaffar Jahan, son of Iradat éahan.
raja of Mahul, 151 -2, 154, 15

Muzaffar I\han,

Nadir Shah, 121, 306
Nahar Singh, raga, 68
Napb Khan, 117
Nakfours Muktear, 193
Nakhaut Manp, 189
Namadar Khan, 182
Nanakchand, hu dnz.ry, 66, 99f, 3
Nana Salub, 24, 48, 54, 57, 60, 75 93,
118, 119, )30 135 143, 143 5, 209,
211.2, 217, 220 230, 315, 32001, 225
Nanak Smgh
Nanda Sungh, 1 2
Napuer, Sir Charles, [
Napoleon, 1
Narayan, 79
Nm)mndayal 19
Narayan Muet, 101
Narayan Rao of Kurwi, 208-10
Narayan Singh of Nagpur, 228



INDEX

Narayan Singh of Bareilly, 111
Narayan Singh of Sambalpur, 197
Rarendraji Siagh, 205

Narhan Singh,

Narpat Singh o Ruya, 106, 114, 126,

Narpat Singh of Akulpur, 65
Narput Singh, son of Arjun Singh, 196
Narwar Singh, 225
Nasimullah Khan, 79
Nasi an, 116
Nathi Singh, 104
Nawab Ah khan 208f.
Nawab of Banda, 213 220
» o Dadd,
s 1 Farrukhabad, 84-85, 114
» ‘arruknagar,
7 7 Khusjapur, 66
»» Malaghar, 52
\’a\\‘ab Moharamed, 149
Nawab of Ranea, 237
Nawab Racs of Fatchgarh, 88
Nawabali Khan of Mabmudabad,
125-6, 181, 293
Nawabuddaulah, 89
Nazim Khan, Sa
Nazirali Khan,
Neill, J. G., Ool., 29, 35, 80-0t
Nepal Singh, 206
Newalnand, 112
Niaz:
Niaz Mohammed Khan, 89, 115
Nicholson, John, Brig., 7, 66, 233
Nilambar Sai, 4, 1841, 1878
Nim Khera 'I'hakurs, 235
Nimtshal Thakur, 200
Nirbloy Singh, raja, 206
Nilman: Siogh, raja of Panchet, 201
Niranjan Smgh B;vf.
Nircul Singh, 5
Nishan Singh, 170 180, 242, 252, 316,
322, 335, 340
Nizamati Khan, 114, 116, 125
Norton, Capt., 185, 188
Nurluste Kamaruddin Hussaiz, 88, 108

Ochterlony, Sir D., 11

Obaridars of Jhansi, 215

Qorut Koer, 205

O, M, 122, 235
Osborne, W, Lit., 276, 3143

O Malley, 197

Ovtram, Sir James, 14, 31, 85-35, 47,
54, 311

Paddam Smgh 158
Paget, Sir

Pairag Dhobl, 208"
Palwan Singh, 88, 108

355

Patwars, 51, 120, 150, 153, 1546
Pandey, Ganapa: Rm, 18.7) 188
Pandit Kisl
Pandit Ofharnath, 111
Pandits of Jalaun, 210
andxt Pitambar, 88
andit Tantia Ganvu!y, 212
P:m_]ab Singh,
Pargan Smgh 156, 398
Parichat, 20!
Parjori Smgh 102
Pasis at Lucknow, 1

. Pathans, 87, 110, 140 181, 217, 225
163

Patna rebels, st o
Peasants and Culmaton, 19, 21, 91,
104, 2756

Pecrall, 161E.

Peaiasular \War, 262

Peshwa Singh, 104

Phillips, A. L. M., 81-83

Phend Savant, 231

Phul; Singh, 1534

Piakney, J. W, 217, 321

Pitambar Say, 49, 1845

Pitam Singh, 85-86

Plantation and Planters, 173; opium,
34, 41, 88

Pokban Singh, 89

Polandar Stugh, 88

Folluck, A R., 43, 155

Ponsonby, Briz.,

Popular i ommevah, 58, 64,
81, 102, 126, 137.8, 156, 175, 176.9,
186-7, 191, 208-11, 220, 240, 259,
261-2, 339

Position of the British, Critical, 28,
30-02, 38, 42.48, 53, 260%.

Pratab Singh, 225

Prem Singh, 103
Prithvipal Singh, palwar chicf of B;
tera, 17, 126, 132 115, 145, 150, 155

Probyn, W. G, 131, 278

Proclamations, Gmmment, 22, 27;
Queen’s proclamation, 57, 605 Con-
fscation proclamation, 57, 291, 303,
311; of the Rebels, 26, 69, 109, 116,
260, 261

Panakali, 105

Qadirali Khan, 25, 116
Galaadar Khan,
Opudratali, 25, 116

Raghoba, 209

Raghubir Singh of Gorakhipur, 149
Raghubir Singh, rajz of Singraul, 189
Raghudeo, 195

Raghunath Kunswar, 121

Raghumath Shab, 234



356

Raghunath Singh of Raspur, 130:01
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A SYNOPTIC TABLE

THe INCGIDENTS OF THE InDIAx REBELLIOX

1857

Rebel offenstve checked at Hindan Bridge
British register 2 victory at Badli-Ki-Serai .
Bhattias muster strong at Odhan .
Disastrous defeat of British forces at Chinhat .,
Imposing victory of the rebel forces at Shahganj
Jat leader Shahamal dies fighting at Baraut ..
Dunbar's til-fated expedition to Arrah .
Wake’s wonderful defence of Ak

Shahabad rebels take a strang position at Blbx—

i
Havelock encounters desperate opposition at
Bashiratganj
Kunwar's resolute stand at Dullaur
Havelock fights another bartle at Burhia-] !\1-
Chauki

Hard contest at Bithur o
Koit rebels fight stubbornly at Aligarh .
Rattray thrown off his feer at Gaya .-
Eyre scores a victory at Kundunpati .

Assault and recapture of Delbi ..

Rajn Beni Madho confionts the gurkhas at
Mandari

Havelotk’s success at Mangabyar .. -

Relief of Lueknow by Havelock and Quteam ..

Rebels defeated at Gulaothi . .

Ramgarh mutingers routed at Chatra

Expedition to Khamini against Judhar Smgh
foiled

British army cut up Nawab's forees at Kanayj. .

Severe contest at Chanda for the control of the
Lucknow road

Victory of British arms at heavy cost at Khajwa

Rebels invade Azamgarh .-

Relief of Lucknow by Sir Colin C:m\p\:dl N

Windham beaten to prostration at Cawnpare |,

Splendid victory of the British at Gencralgang,

Cawnpore
Farrukhabad rebels scattered at Kasganj -
Chirtagong mutineers defeated at Latu .

865

31 May, p. 27
8 June, p. 66
17 June, p. 237
30 June, p. 128
5 July, pp
18 July, p. 6

29 July, p. 175
July-August, p. 177
2 Avgust. p. 137

82

5 August, pp. 20-30
12 August, p. 178
12 August, pp. S0, 127

16 August, p. 81

24 August, p. 79

§ Septembes, p. 182
11 September, p. 103
14-20 Scptember, p. 53
20 September, pp. 1545

21 September, pp. 33, 127
25 September, p. 33

97 September, p. 78

2 Qctober, pp. 42, 18%
early in October, pp. 42, 182

23 October, pp. 31, 89
30 October, pp. 128, 151

1 November, p. 108
4 November, p. 155

17 November, p. 46

27-28, November, pp. 48, 108
6 December, pp. 49, 106, 152

14 December, pp. 52. 81, 89
18 Decomber, p- 203
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Seaton’s victory at Paual
Gorakhpur rebels fight at Sohanpur

1858

Sir Colin clears the passage to Farrukhabad at
Kal Nadh and hhodagany

Britssh forces engaged at Manseths

Lushington ambushed at Mogra

Fieres encounter at Anantaram

Expedition to Haldiwam repulsed

Second battle of Chanda

Read to Lucknow forced open by the battle of
Sultanpur

Rose clears Madanpur Pass

‘War of Liberauon at Lucknow commences

Rowcroft confronts rebels at Amorah

Recapture of Lucknow

Kunwar Singh attacks Atrauli

Rehels surround Chakradharpur

Tantia Top: repulsed at Orchha

Storming of Jhans:

Lord Mark herr clears the road to Azamgarh

Struggle for the possession of Aptmal

Fyzabad Mavlavi at Ban

Narpat Singh beats back the best Prissh column
m Ynda

Lugard opposed a3 Azamgarh

Fuunwar fights a rearguard action at Naghat

Kunwar defeated at Bansdih

Acton at Mandla

Biynour rebels suffer defeat

Disastrous attack on Jagdupur by Le Grand

Budaun rebels surrender at hakrala

Fyzabad Maulav: beleaguers Bntsh troops at
Shahyehanpur

Bareully ghazs fight at Nakatia Brdge

Tanta Tops dusputes the passage of Brituh armms

“Lugarh sarprets e Srekaked, 1ls 2 Hatame

pur

Brilhant encounters of the Fyzabad Maulan at
Shahyebanpur

Fall of Kalpt

Ghahabad rebels charged at Duliapur

Ramt Lakshmubas at gates of Gwalior achion at
Baragaon

Second battle of Amorah

SYNOPTIC TABLE

End of December, pp 52, 83
26 December, pp 147-8

2 Janvary, pp 53,89

early 1o January, p 92
14 Jenuary, p 194

7 February, p 85

10 February, p 117
19 February, p 123
23 February, p 124

4 March, p 218
1 March, pp 136-38
45 March, p 146
21 March, pp 57, 138
21 March, p 321

25 March, p 195

1 Apnl,p 219

3 Apnl, pp 38,219

6 Apnl, p 827

11 April, pp 8588

14 Apnl, p 126

14-15, Apnil, pp 114, 139

15 April, p 829

17 Apnl, pp 332,335

20 April pp 242,333
Apnl, p 226

21 Aprlp 109

23 Apnl, 224

27 Apnl, p 115

8-11 May, pp 117,139

5 May,p 113
7 May,p 218
0 Yay,p W
15 May, p 118
23 May, p 213
26 May, p 249
1 June, p 220

9 June, pp 59, 124, 140, M6
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War of talukdars at Nawabganj ..
Rani of Jhansi leads the defence at Kotah-Ki-
Seral

Defeat of Mohammed Hasan at Harah .
Storming of the fort of Dahain .. .
Indians fight gallantly at Sultanpur =
Shahabad fights to the last .. .

Harichand attacks Sandila . .
Jagdispur encircled by British troops R
Arrah leaders fight desperately at Immpsnga:

Chiefs of Central India defeated at Khajuria ..
Shahabad rebels ferreted out . .
Mandasor rebels attack Mihidpur ..
Nimach rebels digging stubbornly at Garoria ..
Talukdars contest the passage of British troops at

Nawabganj o
Firuz Shak’s smart action at Hmcbnndmpur

1859
Balz Rao fights at Kundakot .
British forces pierce Biskobur Pas in I\c‘p:\] .

14 June, pp. 59, 126, 140
17 June, p. 221

18 June, p. 146
14 July, p. 92
26 August, p. 141
July-August-September
PP, 2534
3 October, p. 141
13 October, p. 256
16 October, p, 235
18 October, p. 222
19.23 Qctober, p, 256
8 November, p. 233
24 November, p. 233
97 November, pp. 124, 142,
144

8 Decemnber, p. 86

4 January, p. 144
10 May, p. 143



BY THE SAME AUTHOR
A COMPANION VOLUME

CIVIL DISTURBANCES DURING THE
BRITISH RULE IN INDIA
(1765 - 1857)

WITH AN INTRODUGTION
By Prof. 8. C. SARKAR

MAURICE DOBB, Trinity College, Cambridge—

-+« . This scems to me a maost valuable piece of research into popular
conditions during that period and of the origins of the national move-
ment, and I am most gratefu] for the opportunity to rvead it....

E. J. HOBSBAWM, Birkbeck College, University of London—

-...1 feel sure that your careful survey of these numerous popular
movements for which you extract the evidence from sources which
are otherwise difficult of access, cannot but add to our knowledge of
Indian history in the British period and will certainly make the work
of future students and researchers 2 great deal easier. The work
certainly told me a great deal I did not previously kmow. . ..

PROF. €, H. PHILIPS, School of Oriental and Aftican Studies,
University of London—

. ...Jt was enterprising of you to take up a subject on the margin of
social and political history, and....you had succeeded in putting
the Indian Mutiny into its appropriate context. 1 think you have
contributed to our understanding of that outbreak, and have also
incidentally thrown much bight.. ..

PROF. DR. STEFAN BORATYNSKI, Warsaw, Poland—

....1 am very happy indged Eaﬁng the opportunity to read your
highly interesting book. . . .. The book is an excellent source for the
knowledge of India. I will suggest also the translation of your book
into Polish and publication by one of cur publishing firms.



THE HINDU (November 20, 1955)—

Thus 13 a careful and scholarly study of the mature of the oppoa
tion of different sections of the people of India to the establichment
and contnuance of Briush rule in the country Tor the Ight
which 1t throws on one generally unknown aspeet of Britsh nile the
book 15 of speaial value

THE AMRITA BAZAR PATRIRA (December 4, 1955)—

The author has already ewned well deserved reputation by lus
valuable contnbutions to anaent Indian fustors The volume under
review demonstrates his ability to handle historical matern! of 2
different type  teverlstous an aspect of Brtsh rule to which
Brinsh hustorians have so far gwven scant attention

JOURNAL OF INDIAN HISTORY (December, 1955, pp 361-
363)—

The mutiny 15 generally regarded as the elimax of opposttion
to the foreign rule, but much 13 not kriown about the Atutade of the
people before 1857 1t s thus gap that Professor Chaudbun fills The
author has made good wse of scattered mitenls 1 depictng the
nature of the Brtsh rule and the various cases of ducontent
which 1t produced The bookis 2 welcome addition to ot knowledee
of modern Indian History

INDIAN HISTORICAL QUARTERLY (December, 1955, pp 303-
384)—

His fine achievernent lies 1n the judicious selection of materal,
1n uts proper handling and in hus cautious spasul attempt o relate
these facts Particular attention of the readers should be drwn to
three well written sechions 10 the book, viz Approach 1o the Sn\ucci’.
Hustorical Background, and Concluding Remnrks The autbor’s
style and presentation add substantially to the mitnve mterest of the
book while he seems to be qute free from the arcumseription of 3
speciabst He has attempted \aluation and apprasal  the proper
perspective

NEW AGL. (May 1936, pp 62.65)—~
. 'Tlus 1s 1n many ways 2 pioneer %
before us a worthy example Ina
factunl to the pomt of bemng exhauwsting,
of pamstalang and thotough reserrch

ork  Dr Chaudhurs has sct
book copously documented,
he has collated the frut



THE AMERICAN HISTORICAL REVIEW (July 1956, pp.
1014-3)—

-+ This work provides carefully documented analyses of fifty-three
civil disturbances accompanied by an introductory essay on their
historical background.. ... Hehas combed the relevant sources with
such thoroughness as to provide everyone interested in the subject,
especially the sociologist, with a laboratory for the study of many
types of unrest:....Each case study is a separate unit, docketed,
numbered, and illustrated with quotations from authorities which
are, for the most part, well chosen. The book is, therefore, not easy
reading, despite the plan of regional treatment, with disturbances in
each region taken up in chronological order. ...

Horpex Fureer,

University of Pennsylvania

INDIA QUARTERLY (Vol. XII, October-December 1956,
Pp- 304-05)—

- ...As a study from a new angle of a material not hitherto subject to
careful scrutiny the book is of great value, and it is sure to be of much
use in correcting the errors of many Anglo-Indian historians who
had closed their eyes to the limitations of British rule.

THE INDIAN ARCHIVES (Vol. IX, Number 2, p. 167)—
....The work is well documented, and is very suggestive of the
trend of feeling that prevailed in the country against the British. ....
We have no doubt that it will appeal to all those who are cager to
know some aspects of the long and eventful struggle of the Indian
people against the British Government.

A SURVEY OF RECENT STUDIES ON MODERN INDIAN
HISTORY By Dr. K. K. Datta (pp. 116-9)—

... This volume is a critical historical work prepared after a scarch-
ing scrutiny of authentic sources of different kinds. The authar has
in fact unfolded 2 new chapter in the history of British Rule in India
by describing the reactions to the growing political authority of the
English in India. . ... Popular commotions and discontents, finding
expression in civil disturbances, have been critically examined by
him with reference to various socio-economic forees. .. .



